
BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 1777 BROADWAY 

Tuesday, June 2, 2015 
6 PM 

AGENDA 
 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 
 
2. OPEN COMMENT and COUNCIL/STAFF RESPONSE (limited to 45 min.) 

Public may address any city business for which a public hearing is not scheduled later in 
the meeting (this includes the consent agenda and first readings).  After all public 
hearings have taken place, any remaining speakers will be allowed to address Council.  
All speakers are limited to three minutes. 
 

3. CONSENT AGENDA (to include first reading of ordinances) Vote to be taken on the 
motion at this time. ( Roll Call vote required ) 

 
A. Consideration of a motion to accept the April 14, 2015 City Council Study Session 

Summary regarding Fire Department Operations, Service Sustainability and 
Resilience 

 
B. Consideration of a motion to accept the April 28, 2015 Human Services Strategy 

Update Study Session Summary 
 
C. Consideration of a motion to approve a twenty-year right-of-way lease for an 

encroachment (portion of a historic garage) located at 1900 Bluebell Avenue 
(REV2014-00023)  
 

D. Consideration of a motion to approve the disposal of an interest in Open Space 
lands pursuant to Boulder City Charter Section 177 through the conveyance of up to 
five (5) acres of Right of Way plus an additional 7 acres for the associated slope 
easements to Boulder County for the realignment and rebuilding of Lefthand 
Canyon Drive between Buckingham Park and James Canyon Road and a further 
recommendation to accept fee ownership to all lands currently owned by Boulder 
County between the boundary of the new Right of Way and Left Hand Creek 
 

E. Consideration of a motion to approve an intergovernmental agreement between the 
City of Boulder and Boulder County for the Sustainability Matching Grant 
funding 

 
F. Consideration of a motion to: 

1. Approve the disposal of an interest in city park lands (Howard Heuston 
Park) through a grant of a permanent easement; and to 
2. Authorize the City Manager to execute documents conveying an easement 
across a city park and two city-owned easements to the Boulder and White Rock 

Packet Page 1



Ditch and Reservoir Company allowing the Ditch Company to access, use, 
maintain and operate the re-aligned portion of the Ditch, including: 

a) A conveyance of the permanent easement crossing city park property      
(Howard Heuston Park); 
b)  A conveyance of a portion of the city’s permanent easement crossing 
Burlington Northern Railways’ property; and 
c) A conveyance of a portion of the city’s permanent easement crossing 
Hayden Place Owners’ Association common property 
 

G. Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution No. 1160 concerning the proposed 
City of Boulder (acting through its Storm Water and Flood Management Utility 
Enterprise) Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, 
in the aggregate principal amount of not to exceed $23,235,000, authorizing the 
notice of bond sale with respect to said Series 2015 bonds; prescribing certain details 
concerning said proposed sale and said Series 2015 bonds; approving the form of a 
preliminary official statement; and providing the effective date of this resolution. 
 

4. POTENTIAL CALL-UP CHECK IN  
Opportunity for Council to indicate possible interest in the call-up of an item listed under 
8-A. 

 
ORDER OF BUSINESS 

 
5. PUBLIC HEARINGS  

Note:  Any items removed from the Consent Agenda will be considered after any City 
scheduled Public Hearings. 
 
A. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8045 

amending Title 6, “Health Safety and Sanitation, “B.R.C. 1981 to add Universal 
Zero Waste Requirements 
 

B. Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt and order published by 
title only, Ordinance No. 8048 amending Section 9-6-5, “Temporary Lodging, 
Dining, Entertainment, and Cultural Uses, “B.R.C. 1981, by providing the city 
manager with authority to waive requirement that mobile food vehicles be 150 feet 
from restaurants if the restaurants approve, waiving the requirement for Planning 
Board review of this ordinance and setting forth related details; 

 
Or in the alternative, 
 
Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt and order published by title 
only Ordinance No. 8049 amending Section 9-6-5, “Temporary Lodging, Dining, 
Entertainment, and Cultural Uses, “B.R.C. 1981, by providing the city manager with 
authority to waive requirements that mobile food vehicles be 150 feet from 
restaurants if the restaurants approve, only in the BC-1 zone district, waiving the 

Packet Page 2



requirement for Planning Board review of this ordinance and setting forth related 
details. 

 
C. Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order published by title 

only, Ordinance No. 8050 amending title 10 “Structures” for the purpose of allowing 
and regulating short-term rentals by amending section 10-1-1 “Definitions” by 
amending the definition of “Operator,” amending the definition of “Rental 
Property” adding a new definition of “Short-Term Rental” adding a new section 
10-3-19 “Short-Term Rentals” and setting forth related details. 

 
6. MATTERS FROM THE CITY MANAGER 

 
 

7. MATTERS FROM THE CITY ATTORNEY 
 

 
8. MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

 
A. Potential Call-Ups 

1. Potential Call-up for concept plan review for a proposed mixed-use development 
(Alexan Flatirons) located at McKenzie Junction, 3600 Hwy 119 
  

9. PUBLIC COMMENT ON MATTERS (15 min.)  
Public comment on any motions made under Matters. 
 

10. FINAL DECISIONS ON MATTERS: Action on motions made under Matters 
 

11. DEBRIEF (5 mins) Opportunity for Council to discuss how the meeting was conducted. 
 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov / City Council.  
Meetings are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-cablecast 
at 6 p.m. Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular council 
meeting.  DVDs may be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library.   

 
Anyone requiring special packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded 
versions may contact the City Clerk’s Office at (303) 441-3002, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday 
through Friday.  48 hours notification prior to the meeting or preparation of special materials 
IS REQUIRED.   

 
If you need Spanish interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, 
please call (303) 441-1905 at least three business days prior to the meeting.  Si usted necesita 
interpretación o cualquier otra ayuda con relación al idioma para esta junta, por favor 
comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 por lo menos 3 negocios días antes de la junta.  

 

Packet Page 3

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


Electronic presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at the time of sign up 
and will NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  Electronic media 
must come on a prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical support is provided 
by staff 
 

 
 

Packet Page 4



CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 2, 2015 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This agenda item provides a summary of the April 14, 2015, City Council study session 

regarding Fire Department Operations, Service, Sustainability and Resilience. The purpose of 

the study session was to provide an update on progress achieving the 33 initiatives identified 

in the department’s 2012 master plan. The session was also intended to solicit feedback from 

council on the Fire Department’s community outreach and risk reduction goals, as well as 

preliminary information on fire station design needs and locations. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a Motion to accept the April 14, 2015, City Council 

Study Session Summary regarding Fire Department Operations, Service, Sustainability 

and Resilience 

PRESENTERS: 

Jane Brautigam, City Manager 

Mary Ann Weideman, Assistant City Manager 

Michael Calderazzo, Fire Chief 

Frank Young, Deputy Fire Chief 

Jeffrey Long, Acting Deputy Fire Chief 

David Lowrey, Chief Fire Marshal 

Maureen Rait, Executive Director Public Works 

Joe Castro, Director Facilities and Asset Management 

Staff requests council consideration of this summary and action in the form of the 

following motion: 

Motion to accept the summary of the April 14, 2015, study session on Fire Department 

Operations, Service, Sustainability and Resilience (Attachment A). 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 1Packet Page 5



BACKGROUND 

The background information for this topic can be found at the following link: study 

session memorandum dated April 14, 2015.

NEXT STEPS 

Staff will incorporate City Council’s feedback from the April 14 discussion and develop an 

Information Packet (IP) item which will be provided to council by the end of the second 

quarter of 2015. The IP will include  updated information regarding the cost of relocating Fire 

Station 3 and the potential sale or use of the existing property. The IP will also include an 

updated funding and implementation plan for the Station Alert System based upon responses 

to the Station Alert System RFP. Additionally, staff will provide information outlining current 

ambulance services and information on the  relationship between station locations, light or 

smaller response vehicles, and the delivery of emergency medical services in the city of 

Boulder.  

The Community Risk Assessment is scheduled to be completed by October 2015.  The results 

of the assessment will address wildland interface access issues and the potential hazards 

associated with the rail line. The assessment will include a “standard of cover” for response 

times to all hazards and incorporate consideration for response system resiliency. It will also 

include an action plan to address vulnerable populations and incorporate consideration for 

making use of smaller vehicles, where appropriate for the response task.  

Staff will incorporate results of its work on community risk, resiliency, public outreach and 

response system resiliency in an update for a City Council study session in early 2016. 

ATTACHMENT  

A: Summary of the April 14, 2015, study session regarding Fire Department     Operations, 

Service, Sustainability and Resilience. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 2Packet Page 6

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20150331_SS-1-201503201445.pdf
https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/20150331_SS-1-201503201445.pdf


ATTACHMENT A: 

City Council April 14, 2015 Study Session Summary 

Fire Department Operations, Service, Sustainability and Resilience 

PRESENT 
City Council: Mayor Matt Appelbaum, Mayor Pro Tem Suzanne Jones, Macon Cowles, George 

Karakehian, Lisa Morzel, Tim Plass, Andrew Shoemaker, Sam Weaver, and Mary Young 

Staff Presenters: Michael Calderazzo, Fire Chief 

Consultant: Danica Powell, Principal, Trestle Strategy Group 

Other Staff Present: Jane Brautigam, Mary Ann Weideman, Frank Young, Jeff Long, David 

Lowrey, Maureen Rait, and Joe Castro 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of the April 14, 2015 study session was to provide an update on progress achieving 

the 33 initiatives identified in the department’s 2012 master plan. The session was also intended 

to solicit feedback from council on the fire department’s community outreach and risk reduction 

goals, as well as preliminary information on fire station design needs and locations. 

Key questions for council consideration were: 

1. Does council have any questions about the department’s proposal to focus more effort

and resources on community resilience with regard to wildfire and life-safety?

2. Does council have any questions about fire station design needs and proposed priorities

involving the relocation and renovation of fire stations 3 and 4?

PRESENTATION SUMMARY 

Chief Calderazzo presented an overview of the Fire Department’s service, sustainability and 

resilience efforts. He gave a brief summary of the 2012 adopted master plan status, highlighted 

the Fire Department’s community risk reduction efforts and  presented information on Fire 

Department response times and the fire station location and needs report.  He concluded his 

presentation with the status of the Light Rescue Vehicle (LRV) pilot program. 

The Fire Department has met 17 of the 33 initiatives across all seven strategy areas in the 

Master Plan.  Chief Calderazzo highlighted some of those to include: station location and 

design analysis, adoption of the wildland fire code, completion of the wildland fire facility, 

and the light rescue vehicle pilot program. The community risk analysis will be concluded by 

the third quarter of 2015. 

Chief Calerazzo described  recent community outreach efforts, including a  smoke and carbon 

monoxide alarm education and outreach effort at Boulder Meadows, where firefighters have 

installed 60 alarms in that  area.   The department has also certified seven car seat technicians, 

providing a crucial service to the community.  Areas of opportunity exist in programs 

targeting community resilience related to wildfire risks, home and disaster preparedness as 

well as a more robust effort with our aging and at-risk populations.. 

Following discussion on the community outreach efforts, Chief Calderazzo turned to a 
Agenda Item 3A     Page 3Packet Page 7



discussion of the department’s response times, indicating that the department’s challenges lie 

in coverage and deployment.  Transitioning to the station location report, Chief Calderazzo 

noted that the department is challenged by the current geographic location of the stations to 

meet national response time benchmarks.  The report recommends moving some station 

locations to better serve the community needs and reduce initial response times.  He added 

that relocation of stations 3 and 4 are the department’s top priorities. 

The Chief further explained that  over 50% of the City of Boulder fire stations were   built 

before 1970, therefore many are not up to current industry standards and are undersized by an 

average of 33%.    This creates operational challenges and affects overall deployment.   

The final portion of the  study session included a presentation of the results from the Light 

Response Vehicle (LRV) pilot program. Chief Calderazzo pointed out that there are benefits 

to an LRV program, but the number of challenges associated with the program in its current 

configuration  does not support the resilience of the overall response system.  

DISCUSSION SUMMARY 

Community Risk Reduction 

In regard to the Community Risk Reduction Plan, city council generally indicated support to 

move forward. There were also several questions from council surrounding the recent fire 

department’s outreach program to install smoke and carbon monoxide alarms. The 

discussion that followed involved identifying and focusing more attention on other 

vulnerable populations within the city. Specific issues such as access to mobile home parks 

and language barriers were discussed. Staff will develop an action plan to address these 

specific issues. There were several questions from council regarding crude oil transport risk 

and the impact the railroad will have on current and future developments. Staff will continue 

to work with local, state, and federal agencies on this issue and continue to improve the 

response plan for potential hazards relared to the rail  line. 

Response Times 

There were several questions from council about response times. Chief Calderazzo explained 

how the analysis was conducted and the impacts associated with response times. In regard to 

emergency medical response and the city’s relationship with American Medical Response 

(AMR), council indicated they  would appreciate additional detailed information. Staff will 

prepare a brief for council which will outline the delivery, roles and responsibilities of both 

AMR and the Fire Department. A discussion on the need for station alerting to improve 

response times followed. Staff is in the process of developing an RFP for a station alerting 

system which will be in the Information Packet provided to council  by the end of the second 

quarter of 2015. 

Station Location and Design Recommendations 

City Council indicated  interest in relocating fire station 3. Council had specific questions 

about the proposed station 3 locations and the challenges associated with securing property to 

build a new station. Staff will work with other city departments to identify possible locations, 

updated costs and funding options for station 3. 

Light Response Vehicle (LRV) Program 

Both council and staff recognize the benefits of using smaller response vehicles for specific 

types of emergency calls. However, the LRV report indicates the staffing model and the 

vehicle type do not improve the overall resiliency of the current response system. Present 

configurations and locations of the fire stations do not support expanding the LRV program to 
Agenda Item 3A     Page 4Packet Page 8



  

the required level to have a positive effect on the resilience of the response system. Staff will 

continue to look for ways to improve resilience with a system that can effectively make use of 

smaller vehicles. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 3A     Page 5Packet Page 9



 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 

MEETING DATE:  June 2, 2015 

 

 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to accept the summary of the April 28, 

2015 Human Services Strategy Update Study Session 

 

 

 

PRESENTER/S:  

Karen Rahn, Director, Human Services 

Todd Jorgensen, Strategic Initiatives Manager, Human Services 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

This agenda item is a summary of the April 28, 2015 Human Services Strategy Update 

Study Session. The study session memo can be found here.   

 

The study session provided an update on the progress of the Human Services Strategy 

development and solicited council feedback on direction, process and timeline. Key 

elements of the study session included a discussion of funding priorities, the role of the 

city in supporting and delivering human services and plans for community engagement. 

Council supported direction in these areas and advised the Department to further define 

the city’s funding priorities and role through the upcoming community engagement 

process. Council requested Human Services to advance facilitation of a coordinated 

intake, assessment and data driven homelessness services system with providers.    

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Suggested Motion Language:  

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 

motion: 

 

Motion to accept the April 28, 2015 Study Session Summary on the Human Services 

Strategy Update 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 3B    Page 1Packet Page 10

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/SS_Human_Services_Strategy_Update_28_April_2015-1-201504300859.pdf


NEXT STEPS: 

1. Council check-in – third quarter, 2015 

2. Human Services Strategy and Homelessness Strategy Updates Study Session – 

October 27, 2015 

3. Human Services Strategy approval – first quarter, 2016   

 

ATTACHMENTS:  
Attachment A: April 28 Human Services Strategy Update Study Session Summary 

Attachment B: DREAM BIG Outcomes Information  

Agenda Item 3B    Page 2Packet Page 11



Attachment A 

Human Services Strategy Update Study Session Summary 

 

City Council Study Session Summary 

April 28, 2015 

Human Services Strategy Update 

 

PRESENT 

City Council: Mayor Matt Appelbaum, Mayor Pro Tem Suzanne Jones, Macon Cowles, 

George Karakehian, Lisa Morzel, Tim Plass, Andrew Shoemaker, Sam Weaver, Mary 

Young 

 

Staff Presenters: Human Services Director Karen Rahn, Human Services Strategic 

Initiatives Manager Todd Jorgensen 

 

PURPOSE 

The study session provided an update on the progress of the Human Services (HS) 

Strategy development and solicited council feedback on direction, process and timeline. 

The update focused on funding priorities, the role of the city in supporting and delivering 

human services and plan for community engagement.   

 

OVERVIEW OF PRESENTATION 

Staff provided an overview of: 

 Purpose and background of the HS Strategy update, including the shifting 

community context since the last Master Plan update in 2005; 

 Guiding principles and frameworks that set the direction of the HS Strategy 

update; 

 The city’s role in supporting and delivering human services, community funding 

and the community engagement process; and 

 Next steps for the HS Strategy update including Phase II activities and dates staff 

will return to council with updates.   

 

Staff reviewed examples of current city initiatives or ideas that incorporate the guiding 

documents and themes and the city performs three different roles (service provider, 

funder and leader/partner) in supporting and providing human services and the need to 

evaluate balance of effort in these roles.   

 

Discussion points for funding included the following examples for incentivizing policies 

and themes suggested by the Phase I data analysis, frameworks and themes and prior 

council direction: 

 Innovation Fund – set aside separate funds to incentivize such priorities as 

prevention, integrated systems and outcome measurement. 

 Tiered funding – to allocate existing resources toward these priorities. 

 Staged changes – shifts in policy would be phased over time to support partners in 

system change.   

 Technical assistance – the city would fund support for grantees to help them attain 

key system change goals.   

 

Agenda Item 3B    Page 3Packet Page 12



Attachment A 

Human Services Strategy Update Study Session Summary 

 

 

Staff reviewed Phase I data analysis which identified seven key impact areas for further 

focus and prioritization and the community engagement process.  

 

Staff provided information on facilities planning and the West Senior Center including: 

 West Senior Center – the Strategy update, in alignment with the Civic Area Plan, 

will include an assessment of future space needs and a potential joint facility 

assessment with Parks and Recreation. 

 Co-located services – will provide opportunity for coordinated access to services 

and information at one location and expanded partnerships with other department 

and city programs to facilitate more convenient access to a variety of city and 

community services consistent with best practice. 

 

COUNCIL DISCUSSION 

The following comments, themes and requests for information emerged from council 

discussion: 

 

Family Services 

 Council discussed the DREAM BIG initiative as an example of a Collective 

Impact project, funded in part by the Education Excise Tax (EET). 

 The DREAM BIG discussion included questions regarding other partners, how 

families can become involved, intended outcomes, the role of Boulder Valley 

School District (BVSD) and duration of the pilot. Attachment B provides current 

available information.  

 Council discussed the Child Care Assistance Program (CCAP), Gap and Cliff 

programs. Council asked about participation rates and if the need has grown over 

time. Staff will provide additional information in a future Information Packet.  

 

Senior Services 

 Council discussed the broad definition of “senior” potentially including age 60 to 

100, including the varied program eligibility definitions.   

 The city should clarify the parameters that define the senior age group.   

 Within a broader definition of senior, and given the varied needs and abilities of 

the aging baby boomers, the Strategy update should identify the range of 

programs that meet the needs of seniors. 

 The city will not be able to serve everyone or address all of the need, so it needs 

to determine a suite of programs that provides the most services to those most in 

need.   

 Staff should identify those state and federal policy barriers that make it difficult 

for the “sandwich generation” to provide care to aging family members and 

include for consideration for the legislative agenda.  

 

Funding Priorities 

 Because the city cannot meet the entire range of human service need, funding 

criteria should be established to prioritize needs.   

Agenda Item 3B    Page 4Packet Page 13



Attachment A 

Human Services Strategy Update Study Session Summary 

 

 

 As the city develops funding priorities, it should identify and measure gaps 

through data analysis and ensure it does not create additional funding gaps. 

 Staff should identify a specific section of the Strategy update where funding 

criteria is addressed.   

 Staff should identify grantee management practices to help implement the city’s 

priorities.   

  

Transportation 

 Review the Transportation Master Plan (TMP) and the HS Strategy update goals 

and objectives and align to address the transportation needs of underserved 

populations.   

 

Homelessness April 7 Information Packet 

 Council discussed the accomplishments listed in the April 7 Homelessness 

Information Packet. Accomplishments include few disturbance calls at Lee Hill, 

Ready to Work program progress and behaviors guidelines. These successes 

should be highlighted and given a higher profile to ensure public awareness.   

 Council discussed the need for more progress in better coordination of homeless 

services.  

 The city should include funding criteria for homeless services which address 

system changes needed.   

 While there have been successes, council wants to see progress in areas such as 

coordinated intake and assessment, day and summer sheltering and other areas for 

service improvement.   

 The city should evaluate metrics for meeting Boulder County Ten-Year Plan to 

Address Homelessness goals on an annual basis. 

 Council discussed a recent City and County of Denver Auditor’s report on 

homelessness funding that found limited outcomes compared to expenditures.  

This exemplifies that addressing homelessness is challenging and needs to be 

achieved through coordinated, regional efforts.   

 Because resources to address homelessness are limited, the need for coordinated 

intake and assessment and efficient services is critical.   

 Council discussed Salt Lake City’s success in housing veterans.  HS explained 

that this success is the result of focusing resources such as housing and supportive 

services on a defined list of high need homeless veterans.   

 Council pointed out that a significant number of Boulder’s homeless are families 

with children. 

 The city should consider establishing a housing board to advise on cross-

departmental housing issues.  

  

Requested Follow-up Information  

Council requested the following additional information: 

 DREAM BIG project – outcomes and number of children served. See Attachment 

B for information from DREAM BIG’s EET midyear funding report.  

Agenda Item 3B    Page 5Packet Page 14



Attachment A 

Human Services Strategy Update Study Session Summary 

 

 

 Homeless High Utilizer Project – outcomes in reducing demand on Police and 

Municipal Court. HS will provide follow-up information in an Information 

Packet.  

 Lee Hill – outcomes. HS will provide follow-up information in an Information 

Packet. 

 Mapleton warm water therapy pool - whether HS should be included in 

discussions. Staff will follow up with Parks and Recreation. 

 Child care programs – including the CCAP, Gap and Cliff programs, number of 

children and families served and the growing gap in funding the total need. HS 

will provide follow up information in an Information Packet.  

 Affordable Housing Programs – linkage with homelessness accomplishments. HS 

will include city investment in affordable housing programs in city homelessness 

accomplishments to be made more accessible to the public on the website and 

through other public information distribution mechanisms.  

Agenda Item 3B    Page 6Packet Page 15



Attachment B 

DREAM BIG Outcomes Information 

 

 

I Have a Dream Foundation 

DREAM BIG Project 

Midyear Outcomes Report* 

 

DREAM BIG, a long-term collaboration between the I Have a Dream Foundation, 

Boulder Housing Partners, Boulder Valley School District (BVSD) and other community 

partners, aims to support student participants, or Dreamers, from cradle to career to close 

the academic achievement gap. Specifically, DREAM BIG’s goal is for at least 90 

percent of the Dreamers to graduate high school prepared for post-secondary education or 

a meaningful career, and of those who graduate, for at least 85 percent to continue to and 

through post-secondary education. 

 

The I Have a Dream Foundation was awarded $91,155 for seed funding from the City of 

Boulder Education Excise Tax (EET) in 2014-2015 to launch the Oak Dreamer class and 

to pilot the DREAM BIG Project during the 2014-2015 school year.  

 

In April 2015, DREAM BIG launched its latest Dreamer class. Classes consist of low-

income, largely Latino youth. The 80 new students in the Oak Dreamer class are Boulder 

second graders at Columbine Elementary School and second and third graders from Red 

Oak and other Boulder Housing Partners sites.  

 

There are currently 207 individual Dreamers that are City of Boulder residents ages seven 

to 18. Students participate in daily after-school academic, extra-curricular and social 

support programming, plus weekend field trips. While outputs and outcomes are not 

currently available for the new Oak Dreamer class yet, information is available for the 

Phoenix Dreamers and Iris Dreamers. The Phoenix class is comprised of seventh graders 

at Casey Middle School. The Iris class serves middle school students at various schools 

in Boulder and high school students at Boulder High School. Currently available data for 

Dreamers indicate that all are meeting outcomes related to literacy and other academic 

standards. 

 

Direct Service: Literacy and Science, Technology, Engineering and Math (STEM) 

Academic Support, Tutoring and Mentoring 
 

Short-Term Outcomes Measurement Tool # of Boulder residents who 

achieved outcome at midyear 

100% of participants will be 

paired with a private tutor, as 

needed 

“I Have a Dream” program 

records 

127 with tutors as needed 

At least 75 Dreamers will be 

paired with a one-on-one 

mentor 

“I Have a Dream” program 

records 

69 with mentors 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 3B    Page 7Packet Page 16



Attachment B 

DREAM BIG Outcomes Information 

 

Intermediate Outcomes Measurement Tool # of Boulder residents who 

achieved outcome at midyear 
100% of Dreamers will 

advance grade level 
BVSD – report cards and 

attendance records 
127 on track to advance 

The average daily attendance 

in school for Dreamers will be 

90% or better 

BVSD – report cards and 

attendance records 
115 students have a 90% or higher 

attendance 

 

 

Long-Term Outcomes Measurement Tool # of Boulder residents who 

achieved outcome at midyear 
At least 90% of Dreamers will 

successfully graduate from 

high school 

BVSD – graduation statistics 12 of 12 on track to graduate 

 

EET Funding Goals 

 

 What direct service 

will be provided? 

Target population 

demographic 

Output (number 

of City of 

Boulder 

residents to 

receive service) 

Closing the 

achievement gap 

Literacy and STEM 

Academic Support, 

Tutoring and 

Mentoring 

Low-income youth, 92% 

Latino, aged 9-18 in 

grades 5-12 (Dreamers) 

183 

Interventions to help 

reduce risk factors 

Family Outreach and 

Support 

Dreamer parents and 

guardians, majority Latino 

193 

Intervention to help 

reduce risk factors, 

closing the 

achievement gap 

Service learning and 

summer enrichment 

program 

Low-income youth, 92% 

Latino, aged 9-18 in 

grades 5-12 (Dreamers)  

183 

School readiness, 

closing the 

achievement gap 

Pre-collegiate and 

career planning 

Low-income youth, 92% 

Latino, aged 9-18 in 

grades 5-12 (Dreamers) 

183 

School readiness, 

closing the 

achievement gap 

Expanding the Dream, 

college preparation 

Youth, 49% minority, 

aged 11-13 in grades 6 

and 7 from Casey Middle 

School 

320 

 

* Information and data are from the midyear funding report.  Advancement towards goal 

attainment can be expected within the remainder of the performance year.   

Agenda Item 3B    Page 8Packet Page 17



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: June 2, 2015 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE 
Consideration of a motion to approve a twenty-year right-of-way lease for an 
encroachment (portion of a historic garage) located at 1900 Bluebell Avenue 
(REV2014-00023). 
 
Applicant:  Martha and Neil Palmer 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Bob Eichem, Finance Director /Acting Executive Director of Administrative Services,                                                     
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Sloane Walbert, Planner I 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Pursuant to Section 2-2-8, “Conveyance of City Real Property Interests,” B.R.C. 1981, 
City Council approval is required for lease terms that exceed three years. 
 
The purpose of this item is to obtain City Council approval to authorize a twenty-year 
lease for 55.6 square feet of right-of-way encroachment at 1900 Bluebell Avenue and 
authorize the City Manager to execute the necessary documents to accomplish this 
transaction. The subject encroachment is a portion of a historic garage on 19th Street, 
which was constructed in 1938. Refer to the proposed Right-of-Way Lease in 
Attachment A. The area of encroachment was previously leased from the city via a 
short-term lease originally approved in 2005. However, considering the permanency of 
the encroachment a long-term lease is appropriate. 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 1Packet Page 18



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to approve twenty-year right-of-way lease for a portion of a historic garage 
located at 1900 Bluebell Avenue. 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Economic: No direct economic impacts are anticipated.   
• Environmental: None anticipated. 
• Social: No social impacts are anticipated. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

• Fiscal: Annual rental rate of $100 per year, escalating annually by increase in the 
“Consumer Price Index” for the Denver/Boulder Metropolitan area. The lease rate 
was determined based on the nature of the encroachment and the single-family 
residential use of the property. There has been no added fiscal impact on the city, 
as the request has been reviewed through the provisions of the standard processes 
and is within normal staff work plans. 

• Staff time: The applicant has paid the required application fee to cover the staff 
review time of the proposed lease.  

 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
This item is being heard as part of the consent agenda and has been advertised in the 
Daily Camera.  
 
BACKGROUND 
Any lease term of three years or greater, up to twenty years, must be approved by the 
City Council. The City Manager is authorized to permit encroachments within the public 
right-of-way for a period of three years or less. See Section 2-2-8, “Conveyance of City 
Real Property Interest,” B.R.C. 1981, and the City Charter Section 111, “Terms not 
longer than twenty years – compensation.”  The encroachment at 1900 Bluebell Avenue 
is permanent in nature and can be leased for a period exceeding three years only upon 
approval of the City Council. A copy of the proposed Right-of-Way Lease is attached 
(see Attachment A).  
 
The subject property is a 9,604 square foot lot located on the southeast corner of Bluebell 
Avenue and 19th Street in the East Chautauqua neighborhood (refer to Figure 1: Vicinity 
Map). The property is located in a Residential – Low 1 (RL-1) zone district, which is 
defined as “single-family detached residential dwelling units at low to very low 
residential densities” (section 9-5-2(c)(1)(A), B.R.C. 1981).   
 
 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 2Packet Page 19



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The brick bungalow portion of the existing single-family home on the property was built 
circa 1909.  The property was historically the site of the J. A. Deavenport poultry farm, 
which closed in 1951. The subject garage was added in 1938. The current property owner 
and applicant applied for a building permit in 2005 to change the roof style of the garage 
structure and install new siding to match a new house addition. The encroachment into 
the right-of-way was identified at that time. A short-term revocable lease was approved 
the same year for the west side of the garage structure that encroaches into the 19th Street 
right-of-way (refer to Figure 2 below).  
 
The proposed Right-of-Way Lease would cover the 55.6 square feet of public property 
directly beneath the portion of the garage located in the right-of-way. The west side of the 
foundation of the structure encroaches one foot into the right-of-way (18.2 square feet) 
and the associated eave and attached gutter encroaches an additional 1.6 feet (37.4 square 
feet). City Transportation staff has reviewed the request and no public roadway 
improvements are planned for 19th Street that would be affected by the encroachment. If a 
revocable lease is denied the property owner must resolve the area of encroachment. The 
encroachment may require removal at the owner’s expense or purchase of enough right-
of-way to accommodate the encroachment.  
 

Figure 1: Vicinity Map 

 
20

TH S
T 

BLUEBELL AVE 

 
19

TH S
T 

Project Site 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 3Packet Page 20



 
 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
Since the encroachment is permanent in nature, a long-term lease may be approved, if the 
following criteria are met, pursuant to section 8-6-6(f), B.R.C. 1981: 
 
1. The encroachment does not constitute a traffic or other hazard. 
 

The portion of the historic garage does not encroach onto the established roadway and 
does not create a traffic hazard.  

 
2. The encroachment does not destroy or impair the public’s use of the land for its 

intended purposes or serves a public purpose that cannot otherwise be accomplished 
without such minor impairment. 

 
The encroachment does not impair the public use of 19th Street and the leased area is 
not part of the street surface. Adequate space has been preserved in the 19th Street 
right-of-way for future public roadway improvements.  
 

3. Encroachment on a sidewalk in commercial areas maintains a minimum clearance of 
eight feet vertically and horizontally of unobstructed pedestrian way. The 
requirements of this paragraph may be modified by the City Manager if reasonable 
passage is provided on the sidewalk and the safety of pedestrians, bicyclists and 
motorists is not impaired. 

Garage 
encroachment 

Figure 2: Map of Encroachment 
 

19
TH S

T 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 4Packet Page 21



 
Adequate space exists horizontally to safely accommodate pedestrian and vehicular 
traffic.  
 

4. A longer term use of the public property for the specific term approved will not be 
contrary to the public interest and ultimate use of the public right-of-way or public 
easement; and there will be no public need for the leased area during the lease 
period. 

 
A twenty-year lease to allow for the encroachment is not contrary to the public 
interest. There is no contemplated public need for the leased space during the term of 
the lease since there are no plans to expand the roadway section on 19th Street. 

 
5. Adequate compensation is provided to the city throughout the lease term. 
 

A lease rate of $100 per year has been established by the city, escalating annually by 
increase in the “Consumer Price Index” for the Denver/Boulder Metropolitan area. 
The lease rate was determined based on the nature of the encroachment and the 
single-family residential use of the property.  
 

OPTIONS 
City Council may: 

1. Approve the twenty-year lease as proposed.  
2. Deny the twenty-year lease, but direct the City Manager to approve a three-year 

short-term lease. The applicant renews the lease in three years, as directed by the 
city. 

3. Deny both the long- and short-term leases and require removal of the 
encroachment. 

 
ATTACHMENTS  

A. Right-of-Way Lease, Exhibits 

Agenda Item 3C     Page 5Packet Page 22



 
 

 

Attachment A - Right-of-Way Lease, Exhibits

Agenda Item 3C     Page 6Packet Page 23



 

Attachment A - Right-of-Way Lease, Exhibits

Agenda Item 3C     Page 7Packet Page 24



 
 
 

 

Attachment A - Right-of-Way Lease, Exhibits

Agenda Item 3C     Page 8Packet Page 25



 

Attachment A - Right-of-Way Lease, Exhibits

Agenda Item 3C     Page 9Packet Page 26



 

Attachment A - Right-of-Way Lease, Exhibits

Agenda Item 3C     Page 10Packet Page 27



Attachment A - Right-of-Way Lease, Exhibits

Agenda Item 3C     Page 11Packet Page 28



Attachment A - Right-of-Way Lease, Exhibits

Agenda Item 3C     Page 12Packet Page 29



 

Attachment A - Right-of-Way Lease, Exhibits

Agenda Item 3C     Page 13Packet Page 30



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: June 2, 2015 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE  Consideration of a motion to approve the disposal of an interest in 
Open Space lands pursuant to Boulder City Charter Section 177 through the conveyance 
of up to five (5) acres of Right of Way plus an additional 7 acres for the associated slope 
easements to Boulder County for the realignment and rebuilding of Lefthand Canyon 
Drive between Buckingham Park and James Canyon Road and a further recommendation 
to accept fee ownership to all lands currently owned by Boulder County between the 
boundary of the new Right of Way and Left Hand Creek. 
 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tracy Winfree, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Jim Schmidt, Property Agent 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Boulder County Transportation Department (County) currently owns a 60-foot wide 
roadway commonly known as Lefthand Canyon Drive which bisects a number of Open 
Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) properties in Left Hand Canyon (see Attachments A 
and B).  The flood of September 2013 destroyed much of this road and left a huge debris 
field where Left Hand Creek had previously been peacefully bubbling down towards the 
plains. While quick repairs and fixes have been made to re-open the road to traffic, 
Boulder County has now identified a federal funding opportunity to permanently fix the 
road and restore the creek through a realignment and rebuilding project.  The new road 
alignment will be located farther away from the creek and farther uphill from it. This will 
permit more capacity for water to move down the canyon and thus the realigned road will 
be far less likely to sustain damage during future flood events.  In order to build the new 
road at the desired location it will require a cut in the hillside north of the old road.  
Boulder County will thus need up to an additional five (5) acres of Right of Way (ROW) 
as well as perpetual slope easements from OSMP to stabilize the cut hillside.  The new 
road will consist of two (2) 11-foot wide lanes plus an additional four feet of paved 
shoulders on each side of the road. All of the County-owned land lying between the edge 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 1Packet Page 31



of the newly constructed roadway, currently estimated to be three (3) acres, will be 
deeded to OSMP, thus the “net” disposal of the Open Space will be roughly two (2) 
acres.  A major benefit to OSMP from this disposal is associated with the opportunity to 
improve ecological conditions of the aquatic and riparian ecosystems along Left Hand 
Creek on and around Open Space lands.  Another benefit offered by the County’s 
proposal is converting several crossings of the creek by the road from culverts to bridges, 
and upgrading crossings of tributary drainages from corrugated pipes to culverts. Lastly, 
the County and the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) have committed to 
perform significant river restoration as part of the project. 
 
Funding for this project has been found through the Central Federal Lands Highway 
Division of the U.S. Department of Transportation.  However, in order to use this funding 
source the construction project needs to commence by October 2015, triggering a 
construction bid advertising date of August 2015, which in turn requires Boulder County 
to have all necessary new ROW acquired by that date.  This requires the Open Space 
Board and City Council to have approved the requested disposal by the June 2 council 
meeting, given the 60-day period following council approval for the tolling of the 
citizen’s petition period. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to: 1) approve the disposal of an interest in Open Space lands pursuant to Boulder 
City Charter Section 177 through the conveyance of up to five (5) acres of Right of Way 
plus an additional seven (7) acres for the associated slope easements to Boulder County 
for the realignment and rebuilding of Lefthand Canyon Drive between Buckingham Park 
and James Canyon Road, and 2)  a further recommendation to accept fee ownership to all 
lands currently owned by Boulder County between the boundary of the new Right of 
Way and Left Hand Creek. 
 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Economic – This project will rebuild Lefthand Canyon Drive between the 
Buckingham Park area and the James Canyon Road cut-off area. This improved 
roadway will provide a safer and more reliable connection for mountain residents 
to the main county road system. 

• Environmental – This project will improve the aquatic and riparian conditions and 
ecosystems along Left Hand Creek through Open Space lands. The project will 
result in the destruction of hillsides on what is currently OSMP lands comprised 
largely of conifer forests.  No rare plant populations, critical habitat or plant 
communities of special concern have been identified in the areas proposed for 
disposal.   Lands owned and managed by city, county and federal agencies in 
Boulder County protect extensive areas of similar habitat. 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 2Packet Page 32



• Social – The paved four-foot wide bike lanes on either side of the new roadway 
will enhance safety along a popular bicycle route. Lefthand Canyon Drive is an 
important route for emergency services as well as providing access to homes, 
businesses and public lands in the Left Hand Creek watershed. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS  

• Fiscal – There is virtually no non-personnel costs to the Open Space Fund 
associated with this project. 

• Staff time – Staff has been and will continue to be involved in the review and 
approval of this project; however, this will not necessitate staff to eliminate other 
projects from its yearly work plan, especially since completing flood recovery is 
one of the department’s top priorities.    

 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
At its May 13, 2015 public meeting, the Open Space Board of Trustees unanimously 
approved and recommended that council approves 1) the disposal of an interest in up to 
five (5) acres of Right of Way plus an additional seven (7) acres of associated slope 
easements to Boulder County, and 2) acceptance of fee ownership to all lands currently 
owned by Boulder County between the boundary of the new Right of Way and Left Hand 
Creek. 
 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
This item was heard at the May 13, 2015 Open Space Board of Trustees public meeting, 
advertised in the Daily Camera on May 10, 2015.  A Notice of Disposal of Open Space 
Lands was published in the Daily Camera on May 1 and 2, 2015 pursuant to Section 177 
of the City Charter.  There were no comments from the public regarding this agenda item. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The benefit to Open Space of this disposal is primarily associated with the opportunity to 
improve ecological conditions of the aquatic and riparian ecosystems along Left Hand 
Creek on and around OSMP lands.  The most critical element is increasing the distance 
between the roadway and the creek.  The proposed design increases the distance by an 
average of 15 feet from the pre-disaster location; and in some areas the road is moved as 
far as 25 feet from the creek.  This increase in distance creates more opportunities for 
ecological restoration by modifying the channel, and establishing larger riparian buffers.  
This change in the roadway alignment will make it more feasible to restore the creek in a 
manner consistent with the Left Hand Creek Watershed Plan, creating a more resilient 
roadway and river system. Under the proposed concept plan, seven acres of hillside 
would be disturbed, the city would gain three acres of riparian area and a total of six acres 
of river would be restored. 
 
Another improvement offered by the County’s proposal is converting the four crossings 
of the creek by the road from culverts to bridges, and upgrading crossings of tributary 
drainages from corrugated pipes to concrete culverts.  These upgrades will give the creek 
an opportunity to better transport debris and sediment, and improve connectivity for fish 
and other aquatic organisms.     

Agenda Item 3D     Page 3Packet Page 33



 
Lastly, the County and FHWA have committed to perform significant river restoration as 
part of the project.  This commitment recognizes the necessity of completing channel and 
riparian modifications at the same time the roadway is being rebuilt.  The restoration 
work will include rock placement, root wad installation, the establishment of floodplain 
benches and seeding. In order to accomplish this work, FHWA/County will include a 
river restoration consultant on the creek design and construction teams to oversee and 
integrate the ecological restoration work with the rest of the project.  The overall 
approach of combining ecological and transportation restoration has already caught the 
attention of the Colorado Water Conservation Board and has the potential to garner 
financial support from that and other public and private partners.   
 
Other advantages for OSMP are improved aesthetics.  The alternative proposal, in which 
the road would be restored in its current alignment, would necessitate the installation of 
retaining walls alongside the road—essentially creating vertical walls instead of riparian 
areas.  The FHWA proposal would use riprap excavated from the new road bed to shore 
up the roadway.  This rock would in turn be buried with soil and seeded, creating a more 
visually appealing experience for those travelling through the canyon.   
 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
A. Vicinity Map 
B. Location Map 
 

Agenda Item 3D     Page 4Packet Page 34



Approximate property boundaries from 
Boulder County Assessor's data.

VICINITY MAP - Lefthand Canyon
ATTACHMENT A - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks

BoulderBoulder

LouisvilleLouisville

LongmontLongmont

I
0 1 2 3 4 50.5

Miles

SUBJECT

City of Boulder OSMP
Other Public Lands

Subject Property© 2015 City of Boulder, Colorado

All rights reserved. The map information contained hereon is
intended for the sole use of the purchaser and may not be copied, 
duplicated or redistributed in any way, in whole or in part, without 
the expressed written consent of the City of Boulder.
The information depicted is provided as a graphical representation 
only. While source documents were developed in compliance with 
National Map Accuracy Standards, the City of Boulder provides no 
guarantee, express or implied, as to the accuracy and/or 
completeness of the information contained hereon.

Path: \\osmpmap\Data\MapFiles\Property\dispositions\LefthandCanyon\VICINITY-LefthandCanyon.mxd

Agenda Item 3D     Page 5Packet Page 35



Le
fth

an
d C

an
yo

n Dr.

Lee Hill Rd.

Geer Canyon Dr.

ATTACHMENT B - City of Boulder Open Space & Mountain Parks
LOCATION MAP - Lefthand Canyon

0 0.5 1 Miles I
 © 2015 City of Boulder, Colorado
All rights reserved. The map information contained hereon is
intended for the sole use of the purchaser and may not be copied, 
duplicated or redistributed in any way, in whole or in part,
without the expressed written consent of the City of Boulder.
The information depicted is provided as a graphical representation
only. While source documents were developed in compliance with
National Map Accuracy Standards, the City of Boulder provides no
guarantee, express or implied, as to the accuracy and/or 
completeness of the information contained hereon.

OSMP Land

Document Path: \\osmpmap\Data\MapFiles\Property\dispositions\LefthandCanyon\LocationMap-Lefthand.mxd

Agenda Item 3D     Page 6Packet Page 36



 

 
 
CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: June 2, 2015 

 

AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to approve an intergovernmental 
agreement between the City of Boulder and Boulder County for the Sustainability 
Matching Grant funding. 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS 
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Kendra Tupper, Energy Services Manager  
Elizabeth Vasatka, Business Sustainability Coordinator 

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this item is to seek City Council approval of an intergovernmental agreement 
(IGA) with Boulder County (county) to receive funding from its Community Sustainability 
Matching Grant Program (Attachment A).   

 
The IGA with the county will provide funding in 2015 through its Environmental 
Sustainability Matching Grant Program (Program) to each town or city within the county.  
The Program is made available to all communities in Boulder County to help further 
sustainability objectives. The City of Boulder has been awarded $15,000 towards the 
evaluation and refinement of energy and greenhouse gas (GHG) saving calculations for the 
equipment rebates issued through the Commercial EnergySmart program.  Refining deemed 
energy calculations for efficiency rebates are a standard practice for demand side management 
(DSM) programs. This is a timely and beneficial effort because it’s been four years since 
EnergySmart eligible equipment savings calculations were evaluated and new custom rebates 
will be added to help support new requirements through the Commercial and Industrial (C&I) 
Energy Ordinance .  Updating deemed savings calculations to reflect technology advances is a 
utility best practice. Funds from the matching grant will be used to hire a consultant to 
updated and develop new deemed savings calculations for commercial Heating, Ventilation 
and Air Conditioning (HVAC) equipment rebates to ensure savings estimates are as accurate 
as possible by industry standards.     
 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 1Packet Page 37



 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION  
 
Suggested Motion Language: 
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to authorize the City Manager to enter into this intergovernmental 
agreement between Boulder County and City of Boulder concerning the award of 
the Boulder County Environmental Sustainability Matching Grant 

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Economic – The attached IGA is crafted to create efficiencies and to leverage 
intergovernmental resources in a way that benefits the Boulder community, its 
employees, residents and businesses, while showing progress towards the 
community’s Climate Commitment goal.  

• Environmental – The primary purpose of the IGA is to promote environmental 
sustainability in a way that leverages regional resources and shows 
accomplishments towards the community’s goal. 

• Social – Within Boulder County, many people work in one community and live in 
another.  By expanding the reach of the City of Boulder’s efficiency services in a 
way that serves the Boulder County community, recipients receive consistent 
quality services and messages that minimize confusion and costs -- no matter 
where a participant lives or works. Additionally, the “energy advisor” service 
delivery model provided through EnergySmart is designed to cut through cultural 
and educational barriers to facilitate action. Continuous improvement and refined 
accuracy with this program’s reporting can better show accomplishments toward a 
goal all members of society can contribute to and participate in.  

 
OTHER IMPACTS  
• Fiscal – The grant IGA commits $15,000 of commercial Climate Action Plan (CAP) Tax 

funding toward hiring a consultant to evaluate and refine the commercial equipment rebate 
energy savings, as a dollar-for-dollar match is required to receive the $15,000 grant from 
Boulder County. These funds have been accounted for in the commercial CAP Tax budget 
and had been allocated to this project prior to receiving the grant. 

 
• Staff time –An estimated four to six (4-6) hours of additional staff time will be required to 

fulfill the tracking and reporting needs of the Boulder County grant, over the remainder of 
2015.  The Local Environmental Action Division (LEAD) staff managing the commercial 
EnergySmart contract with Boulder County Public Health, the program administrators, will 
be well-suited to manage the quarterly reporting to Boulder County. 

 
BACKGROUND 
In 2009, the City of Boulder, in collaboration with Boulder County and other industry 
professionals, restructured and redesigned its energy efficiency programs provided to residents and 
businesses. The outcome of this effort was the creation of a one-stop-shop program that delivers 
information, services, incentives and financing options in a manner that overcomes the barriers 
typically associated with energy conservation and efficiency and waste reduction. The newly 
designed one-stop-shop residential and commercial programs were eventually named 
EnergySmart.  
 

 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 2Packet Page 38



 

In 2009, the city collaborated with Boulder County, the City of Longmont, the City and County of 
Denver and Garfield County to apply for a Department of Energy (DOE) grant from the federal 
Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block Grant (EECBG) competitive funding pool. From an 
award totaling $25 million for all the jurisdictions, $12 million was allocated to residential and 
commercial EnergySmart services throughout Boulder County. The city also dedicated CAP Tax 
funds to portions of the EnergySmart services within the City of Boulder.  
 
Collaborating with the county on the application for EECBG competitive grant funds provided 
significant additional financial and administrative support for the city’s CAP Tax funded services 
and increased the effectiveness of the services by broadening the city’s one-stop-shop approach to 
a county-wide service territory.  
 
Since that time, the city and county continue have worked together to deliver these services 
county-wide. Now that the federal grant funding has ceased, the city and county continue their 
partnership to provide the EnergySmart services at a reduced level to the community.  

 
To continue fostering collaboration and transferability of sustainability initiatives, in May 
2013, the county introduced its first Community Environmental Sustainability Matching 
Grant program. This program is available to all communities in Boulder County to help 
further sustainability objectives.  This year, the city’s Sustainability Matching Grant project 
will be to reevaluate commercial equipment rebates of energy and GHG savings calculations 
for continuous improvement on our data accuracy and tracking.  With the county grant funds 
providing $15,000, the city will provide matching grant funds up to $15,000 in CAP Tax 
already allocated to this project.  
 

ANALYSIS 
The City of Boulder proposes to undertake the reevaluation of the commercial equipment rebate 
calculations through Commercial EnergySmart which will provide renewed confidence in the city’s 
rebate funding for commercial building equipment energy and GHG savings.  The city is committed 
to assisting the business community and commercial and industrial building owners in making their 
tenant spaces and buildings energy efficient.  As a matter of good business practice, deemed savings 
calculations for efficiency rebate programs should be evaluated every four to five years. The 
updated savings calculations will be used to update and inform existing commercial EnergySmart 
rebates, and also inform the development of new custom rebates that will be used in the potential 
commercial and industrial building energy efficiency requirements.  All city energy efficiency 
programs and requirements strive to have a high level of accuracy and confidence behind program 
metrics. This grant will ensure the city is being prudent with programmatic and regulatory estimated 
energy savings.   
 
NEXT STEPS 
City staff will draft a request for proposal for the work needed to perform the commercial 
equipment energy and GHG saving calculations.  The selected consultant will complete industry 
specific protocols and standard exercises to compute and evaluate the savings for the HVAC 
equipment rebates that are currently available through Commercial EnergySmart, as well as develop 
a method for determining savings for new customer rebates. City Council will continue to receive 
periodic updates on programs including; participation, energy savings, GHG reductions and other 
metrics. 
 
 
 

 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 3Packet Page 39



 

ATTACHMENTS 
A: Draft Intergovernmental Agreement between Boulder County and City of Boulder regarding 

the distribution of grant funds from Boulder County to the City of Boulder.  
 

 

Agenda Item 3E     Page 4Packet Page 40



Intergovernmental Agreement 
Between Boulder County and City of Boulder 
Concerning Boulder County’s Environmental  

Sustainability Matching Grant Program 
 

This Intergovernmental Agreement (the “Agreement”) is entered into by the County of 
Boulder, a body corporate and politic of the State of Colorado (“Boulder County” or “County”), 
and the City of Boulder, a Colorado home-rule municipality (the “Recipient”). The County and 
the Recipient may hereinafter be referred to individually as a “Party” or collectively as the 
“Parties.”  

RECITALS 

A. The Colorado Constitution Article XIV, Section 18(2)(a) and C.R.S. §29-1-201 
et. seq provide that political subdivisions of the State may contract with one another to provide 
any function, service, or facility lawfully authorized to each of the cooperating units. 

B. In 2013, Boulder County created and implemented the Sustainability Matching 
Grant Program (the “Program”) , which provides an opportunity for governmental organizations 
within Boulder County to undertake environmental sustainability priorities within their 
communities and helped the county collectively set goals for collaborative efforts, leveraging 
resources for a more regional approach to environmental sustainability. 
 

C.           In March 2015, Boulder County proposed recipients of the sustainability grants 
awarded under the Program, including this award to the Recipient for a study of the energy 
savings afforded by improved heating, ventilation and air-conditioning systems in commercial 
buildings (the “Project”).  

AGREEMENT 

In consideration of the covenants set forth herein and the mutual benefits to be derived by 
the Parties hereto, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of 
which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties do hereby agree as follows: 

1. The Recipient’s Obligations.  The Recipient shall complete the Project, 
expending no less than $15,000.00 of its own funds on such Project (the “Matching Funds”), 
supplemented by an estimated $1,800.00 in staff project management time and an estimated 
$1,200.00 in staff time contributed by Boulder County Public Health.  In accordance with the 
scope of work proposed by the Recipient in its grant application, incorporated here as Exhibit C, 
the Recipient shall report to the County on the progress of the Project on the first day of each 
quarter (July and October 2015 and January and April 2016) using the format of the reporting 
template attached hereto as Exhibit A.    

2. Grant Award.  Boulder County hereby awards the Recipient $15,000.00 (the 
“Award”) in support of the Project.   The Award shall be paid to the Recipient upon presentation 
of monthly invoices, of form and substance substantially similar to the form attached hereto as 

Attachment A - Draft IGA between Boulder County and City of Boulder

Agenda Item 3E     Page 5Packet Page 41



Exhibit B, including a detailed reporting of Award Funds and Matching Funds Expended.  
Monthly invoices shall be due by the 15th day of each month for the prior month’s expenditures. 

3.  Term of Agreement.  The term of this Agreement shall be as the date of its 
execution as set forth on the signature page attached to this Agreement.  Subject to the annual 
appropriations, this Agreement shall remain in effect until the completion of the Project, as 
indicated in Exhibit C, or April 30, 2016, whichever is sooner.   

 4. Modification.  This Agreement may be altered, amended, or repealed only on the 
mutual agreement of the County and the Recipient by a duly executed written instrument. The 
financial obligations contained in this Agreement may be adjusted from time to time, subject to 
annual appropriations of the governing Party. 

 
 5. Assignment.  This Agreement shall not be assigned or subcontracted by either 
Party without the express prior written consent of the other Party. 
 
 6. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors 
and assigns of the Parties. 

 
 7. Choice of Laws.  The laws of the State of Colorado shall govern the 
interpretation and enforcement of this Agreement.  Any litigation that may arise between the 
Parties involving the interpretation or enforcement of the terms of this Agreement shall be 
initiated and pursued by the Parties in the Boulder Courts of the 20th Judicial District of the State 
of Colorado and the applicable Colorado Appellate Courts. 

 
 8. Waiver of Breach.  Any waiver of a breach of this Agreement shall not be held 
to be a waiver of any other or subsequent breach of this Agreement.  All remedies afforded in 
this Agreement shall be taken and construed as cumulative, that is, in addition to every other 
remedy provided herein or by law. 
 
 9. Integration.  This Agreement cancels and terminates, as of its effective date, all 
prior agreements between the Parties relating to the services covered by this Agreement, whether 
written, oral, or partly written and partly oral. 
 

10. Indemnification.   Neither Party indemnifies the other Party.  The County and the 
Recipient each assume responsibility for the actions and omissions of its own agents and 
employees in the performance or failure to perform work under this Agreement.  It is agreed that 
such liability for actions or omissions of their own agents and employees is not intended to 
increase the amounts set forth in the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, now existing, or as 
the same may be later amended. By agreeing to this provision, the Parties do not waive nor 
intend to waive the limitations on liability which are provided to the Parties under the Colorado 
Governmental Immunity Act § 24-10-101 et seq., C.R.S., as amended. 
 
 11. Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is found to be invalid, illegal, or 
unenforceable, the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be 
affected or impaired thereby. 

 

Attachment A - Draft IGA between Boulder County and City of Boulder

Agenda Item 3E     Page 6Packet Page 42



 12. No Third Party Beneficiaries. The enforcement of the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement and all rights of action relating to such enforcement shall be strictly reserved to 
the County and the Recipient, and nothing contained in this Agreement shall give or allow any 
claim or right of action whatsoever by any other or third person.  It is the express intent of the 
Parties to this Agreement that any person receiving services or benefits under this Agreement 
shall be deemed an incidental beneficiary only. 
 

13.  Not Agent or Representative.  Neither Party is an agent or representative of the 
other Party and shall have no authority under this Agreement or otherwise to make 
representations or commitments, verbal or written, on behalf of the other Party without that 
Party’s express prior consent.   

 
14. No Multiple-Fiscal Year Obligation.  All of the Party’s financial obligations 

under this Agreement are contingent upon appropriation, budgeting, and availability of specific 
funds to discharge those obligations.  Nothing in this Agreement constitutes a debt, a direct or 
indirect multiple fiscal year financial obligation, a pledge of either Party’s credit, or a payment 
guarantee by either Party to the other. 

15. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed by facsimile and in any 
number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original instrument, but all of which 
together shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have set their hands and seals this ____ day of 
___________, 2015. 

 
       
 
      BOULDER COUNTY 

 
__________________________ 
Michelle Krezek, Commissioners Deputy 
Boulder County 
 

 
 
Attest: ________________________  
 Clerk to the Board  
 
___________________________ 
Date 
 
 

[Further signature page follows] 

  

Attachment A - Draft IGA between Boulder County and City of Boulder

Agenda Item 3E     Page 7Packet Page 43



RECIPIENT 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
_____________________________ 
 
City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:    
 
____________________________City Attorney 
 

Attachment A - Draft IGA between Boulder County and City of Boulder

Agenda Item 3E     Page 8Packet Page 44



Exhibit A 
 

EXHIBIT A 
QUARTERLY REPORTING TEMPLATE 

 
Objective/Goal for your Sustainability Matching Grant:  
 
 
Please list final desired outcome(s) as well as 3-4 intermediate milestones:  
 
 
 
Please list the progress to date on your sustainability project below:  
 
 
 
 
Please describe any challenges you are facing with implementation of your project.  
 
 
 
 
Please list the measurable outcomes of this project to date. (Quantitative or qualitative)  
 
 
 
 
Are you still on track to meeting your goals and your timeframe for project completion?  
 
 
 
 
If applicable, please attach plans, projects, photos or data that showcases your accomplishments for 
this quarter.  
 
 
 
 
Submit photos, videos or similar so we can share your successes publicly. 

Attachment A - Draft IGA between Boulder County and City of Boulder

Agenda Item 3E     Page 9Packet Page 45



Exhibit B 

 

Attachment A - Draft IGA between Boulder County and City of Boulder

Agenda Item 3E     Page 10Packet Page 46



Exhibit C 

 
       

Attachment A - Draft IGA between Boulder County and City of Boulder

Agenda Item 3E     Page 11Packet Page 47



 

Attachment A - Draft IGA between Boulder County and City of Boulder

Agenda Item 3E     Page 12Packet Page 48



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: June 2, 2015 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Consideration of a motion to: 
 
1. As part of the flood mitigation objectives of the Wonderland Creek Greenways 

Improvement Project, approve the disposal of an interest in city park lands (Howard 
Heuston Park) through a grant of a permanent easement; and to 
 

2. Authorize the City Manager to execute documents conveying an easement across a 
city park and two city-owned easements to the Boulder and White Rock Ditch and 
Reservoir Company allowing the Ditch Company to access, use, maintain and operate 
the re-aligned portion of the Ditch, including: 

 
a) A conveyance of the permanent easement crossing city park property (Howard 

Heuston Park); 
b) A conveyance of a portion of the city’s permanent easement crossing  Burlington 

Northern Railways’ property; and 
c) A conveyance of a portion of the city’s permanent easement crossing Hayden                    

Place Owners’ Association common property. 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works  
Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Yvette Bowden, Director of Parks and Recreation 
Jeff Haley, Parks Planning Manager 
Annie Noble, Acting Principal Engineer for Flood and Greenways 
Kurt Bauer, Flood and Greenways Engineering Project Manager 
Ward Bauscher, Flood and Greenways Engineering Project Manager 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 1Packet Page 49



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This agenda item seeks council authorization for the city manager to convey, or assign, 
three permanent easements to the Boulder and White Rock Ditch and Reservoir Company 
(the “Ditch Company”) in areas currently owned by the city or upon which the city has, 
or will soon have, existing easements.  Each easement would convey to the Ditch 
Company an 85-foot wide ditch easement for the purposes of maintaining and ensuring 
conveyance of decreed water rights.  The general location of the easements is located 
west of Foothills Parkway beginning in the far northeastern portion of Howard Heuston 
Park.   
 
These easements will complete a vital portion of the city’s obligations required for its 
Wonderland Creek Greenways Improvement Project federal grant.  The realignment of 
the ditch is required to complete flood mitigation improvements and construct an 
extension of an important missing link in the city’s multi-use path system as part of the 
Wonderland Creek Greenways Improvement Project.   
 
 The ditch easement is 85’ wide and located on a portion of Howard Heuston Park owned 
by the City of Boulder, a common parcel owned by Hayden Place HOA and within the 
Burlington Northern and Sante Fe railroad right of way.  The relocated portion of the 
existing ditch will be filled in, planted with native species and the prescriptive easement 
abandoned.  A portion of the project’s funding is through a federal grant obtained through 
the Transportation Improvement Program (TIP).  In order to avoid losing federal funds, 
the city will need to have finalized these conveyances to the Ditch Company prior to June 
15, 2015.  This project was approved through a Community and Environmental 
Assessment Process (CEAP) in 2010.   
 
An affirmative vote by at least four members of the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board 
(PRAB) is required for disposal of the easement located on Howard Heuston Park.  On 
May 18, PRAB passed a motion recommending that council dispose of parkland at 
Howard Hueston Park (as a permanent easement) to be conveyed from the city Parks and 
Recreation Department to the Boulder White Rock Ditch and Reservoir Company. An 
advisory recommendation, not binding on the City Council, must also be obtained from 
the Planning Board. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
1. As part of the flood mitigation objectives of the Wonderland Creek Greenways 

Improvement Project, approve the disposal of an interest in city park lands (Howard 
Heuston Park) through a grant of a permanent easement; and to 

 
2. Authorize the City Manager to execute documents conveying an easement across a 

city park and two city-owned easements to the Boulder and White Rock Ditch and 
Reservoir Company allowing the Ditch Company to access, use, maintain and operate 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 2Packet Page 50



the re-aligned portion of the Ditch, including: 
 

a) A conveyance of the permanent easement crossing city park property (Howard 
Heuston Park); 

b) A conveyance of a portion of the city’s permanent easement crossing 
Burlington Northern Railways’ property; and 

c) A conveyance of a portion of the city’s permanent easement crossing Hayden 
Place Owners’ Association common property to Boulder White Rock Ditch 
and Reservoir Company to complete realignment and for maintenance and 
operation of those ditch portions, in the forms generally presented in 
Attachments B - D.   

 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
• Economic – The Wonderland Creek channel between Foothills Parkway and 

Winding Trail Drive is inadequate to convey stormwater resulting from major storms.  
The September 2013 flood resulted in substantial flood damage along a portion of 
Wonderland Creek within the project corridor. This project will provide flood 
mitigation along the project reach and in neighborhoods such as Winding Trail and 
Kings Ridge, reducing the risk to life, property and disruptions or damages to 
businesses.   

• Environmental - The proposed multi-use path would help reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions by promoting non-motorized transportation. Reducing vehicle miles 
traveled helps meet the goals of the Transportation Master Plan and Climate 
Commitment. Use of the trail by commuters will also help reduce dependency on oil 
and other natural resources. Other project objectives include water quality and habitat 
improvements, and mitigation of the environmental damages associated with 
flooding.    

• Social - The proposed multi-use path would provide a connection to the rest of the 
city’s path system, including a safe railroad crossing that can be used by all members 
of the community. The flood mitigation measures would reduce the risk to life and 
damage to property along a portion of Wonderland Creek, including an assisted living 
facility.    

 
OTHER IMPACTS  
• Fiscal - The cost for this project is estimated to be $23 million. Federal 

Transportation Improvement Program (TIP) funding has been granted for this project 
in two phases, for a total of $2.9 million. The city’s contribution is being funded 
through the Flood and Greenways Capital Improvement Program (CIP). Funding was 
initially approved by City Council as part of the 2014-2019 CIP.  Approximately $2.1 
million in funding is also provided by the Urban Drainage and Flood Control District 
(UDFCD).  

• Staff time - Staff time for this project is included in the current work plan.   
 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 3Packet Page 51

https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/17165


BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The Parks and Recreation Advisory Board (PRAB) made the following motion on May 
18, 2015:  

Motion to approve the Park and Recreation Board's recommendation to City 
Council concerning the disposal of park land at Howard Hueston Park (permanent 
easement) pursuant to City Charter Sec. 162, to be conveyed from the City of 
Boulder Parks and Recreation Department to the Boulder White Rock Ditch and 
Reservoir Company as necessitated for the completion of the City's Wonderland 
Creek Project. 

 
The motion passed unanimously (7-0). 
  

Planning Board made the following advisory recommendation on May 21, 2015: 
Motion to recommend to City Council the disposal of park land at Howard 
Hueston Park (permanent easement) pursuant to City Charter Sec. 162, to be 
conveyed from the City of Boulder Parks and Recreation Department to the 
Boulder White Rock Ditch and Reservoir Company as necessitated for the 
completion of the city's Wonderland Creek Project. 
 
The motion passed unanimously (7-0). 

 
PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
There were no public comments at the Parks and Recreation Advisory Board or Planning 
Board meetings. 
 
BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 
The Wonderland Creek Greenways Improvement Project will provide flood mitigation 
from Foothills Parkway north and east along Wonderland Creek to Winding Trail Drive 
along with construction of an important missing link in the city’s multi-use path system. 
Flood mitigation improvements associated with this project are recommended in the 
Flood Mitigation Master Plan for Fourmile Canyon Creek and Wonderland Creek.  The 
trail components of the project are recommended in the city’s Transportation Master Plan 
and the Greenways Master Plan.   
 
Planning for the project began with development of a CEAP.  The CEAP was approved 
by the Greenways Advisory Committee and City Council in 2010. The Parks and 
Recreation Advisory Board reviewed the CEAP and provided input via a representative 
on the Greenways Advisory Committee. The planning and design process included an 
extensive public process.  The project received federal funding through the 
Transportation Improvement Program (TIP).  The federal funding requires the project be 
advertised for construction by June 30, 2015.  It is anticipated that the project will take 
two years to complete.  
 
This request is being made of council at this time in order to meet the federal funding 
deadline.  Unfortunately, it could not have been made at an earlier time as the city could 
not convey the easements to the ditch company until the terms of the conveyances were 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 4Packet Page 52



determined.  The city is in the final stages of completing the BNSF and Hayden Place 
agreements and is therefore able to make this request now.   
 
Completion of the project requires a portion of the Boulder and White Rock (BWR) 
irrigation ditch to be relocated.  The BWR ditch is currently located along the southern 
and eastern boundary of Howard Heuston Park and within the Burlington Northern and 
Sante Fe Railway right of way.  The relocation of the ditch will begin in the far 
northeastern portion of the park and extend west into a parcel owned by Hayden Place 
Owners’ Association.  The project will separate Wonderland Creek from the ditch and 
restrict flows to the decreed irrigation flows of 135 cubic feet per second, greatly 
reducing downstream flood risk.    
 
The ditch company has requested an 85-foot wide permanent easement be conveyed for 
the relocated portion of the ditch. The proposed length of ditch would be approximately 
225’ on Howard Heuston Park.  The length of the existing ditch within the park is 
approximately 185.  The location of the relocated ditch will cause minimal disruption to 
the function of the park.  The new relocated ditch will be approximately 340’ in the 
Hayden Place parcel.  The new relocated ditch will be approximately 100’ in the railroad 
parcel.  The relocated portion of the existing ditch will be filled in, planted with native 
species and the prescriptive easement abandoned.  Attachment A shows the relocated 
ditch and associated easements.   
 
The city currently: 1) owns in fee (Howard Heuston Park); 2) owns an easement interest 
(Burlington Northern Railway); and 3) is in the process of acquiring an easement interest 
from (Hayden Place Owners’ Association), in the properties upon which the BWR ditch 
realignment will occur.  As the realignment of the ditch is being performed at the city’s 
request, the city has agreed to: 1) obtain the necessary easements to build the ditch to the 
Ditch Company’s specifications; and 2) convey any necessary easements to the Ditch 
Company for its purposes of maintaining the ditch and ensuring adequate conveyance of 
decreed water rights.  Attachment B presents the proposed Grant of Ditch Easement 
across Howard Heuston Park.  Attachment C presents the proposed limited assignment 
of an easement agreement located within the city’s easement upon Burlington Northern 
Railways’ property.  Attachment D presents the proposed grant of ditch easement 
located on the Hayden Place Owner’s Association common property.  
 
ATTACHMENTS  
Attachment A: Figure Showing Relocated Ditch Segment 
Attachment B: Proposed Grant of Ditch Easement across Howard Heuston Park 
Attachment C: Proposed Limited Assignment of Easement Agreement for a Segment of 

Multi-Use Path and BWRD within the City’s Easement upon Burlington 
Northern Railways’ Property  

Attachment D: Proposed Grant of Ditch Easement within the City’s easement upon 
Hayden Place Owners’ Association Common Property 

 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 5Packet Page 53



Howard Heuston Park

Spring Creek Pl

Haydel Pl

Fo
oth

ills
 Pk

wy

47
th 

St

Pr
op

os
ed

 B
ou

lde
r a

nd
Wh

ite
 R

oc
k D

itc
h

Existing Boulder and
White Rock Ditch

Wonderland Creek

34
th 

St

Oneal Pkwy

Wonderland Creek Project
Boulder and White Rock Ditch
Existing and Proposed Alignments

Legend
Parcels
Proposed 85' Ditch Easement
Proposed Ditch Alignment
Wonderland Creek
Existing Boulder and White Rock Ditch

¯ 0 100 20050
Feet

Ditch Segment
To Be Abandoned

Proposed 85'
Ditch Easement

Attachment A-Relocated Ditch Segment

Agenda Item 3F     Page 6Packet Page 54



Attachment B-Proposed Easement across Howard Heuston Park

Agenda Item 3F     Page 7Packet Page 55



Attachment B-Proposed Easement across Howard Heuston Park

Agenda Item 3F     Page 8Packet Page 56



Attachment B-Proposed Easement across Howard Heuston Park

Agenda Item 3F     Page 9Packet Page 57



Attachment B-Proposed Easement across Howard Heuston Park

Agenda Item 3F     Page 10Packet Page 58



Attachment C-Proposed Limited Assignment of Easement 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 11Packet Page 59



Attachment C-Proposed Limited Assignment of Easement 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 12Packet Page 60



Attachment C-Proposed Limited Assignment of Easement 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 13Packet Page 61



Attachment C-Proposed Limited Assignment of Easement 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 14Packet Page 62



Attachment C-Proposed Limited Assignment of Easement 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 15Packet Page 63



Attachment C-Proposed Limited Assignment of Easement 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 16Packet Page 64



Attachment C-Proposed Limited Assignment of Easement 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 17Packet Page 65



Attachment C-Proposed Limited Assignment of Easement 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 18Packet Page 66



Attachment C-Proposed Limited Assignment of Easement 

Agenda Item 3F     Page 19Packet Page 67



Attachment D- Proposed Easement within Hayden Place Owners' Association

Agenda Item 3F     Page 20Packet Page 68



Attachment D- Proposed Easement within Hayden Place Owners' Association

Agenda Item 3F     Page 21Packet Page 69



Attachment D- Proposed Easement within Hayden Place Owners' Association

Agenda Item 3F     Page 22Packet Page 70



Attachment D- Proposed Easement within Hayden Place Owners' Association

Agenda Item 3F     Page 23Packet Page 71



Attachment D- Proposed Easement within Hayden Place Owners' Association

Agenda Item 3F     Page 24Packet Page 72



 
 

 

 

C I T Y  O F  B O U L D E R 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 

 

MEETING DATE:  June 2, 2015 

 

 

AGENDA TITLE:  

 

Consideration of a motion to approve Resolution No. 1160 concerning the proposed City of 

Boulder (acting through its Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise) Storm 

Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, in the aggregate principal amount 

of not to exceed $23,235,000, authorizing the notice of bond sale with respect to said Series 

2015 bonds; prescribing certain details concerning said proposed sale and said Series 2015 

bonds; approving the form of a preliminary official statement; and providing the effective date 

of this resolution. 

 

 

 

PRESENTERS: 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 

Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works 

Jeffrey Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 

Tom Carr, City Attorney 

Kathy Haddock, Senior Assistant City Attorney 

Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer 

Cheryl Pattelli, Director of Finance 

Ron Gilbert, Assistant Controller 

Claire Stratton, Accountant II 

Ken Baird, Financial Manager, Utilities 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

City Council is asked to consider approval of a resolution (Attachment A) that authorizes the City 

Manager to call for a public sale of City of Boulder Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue 

Bonds, Series 2015, in the aggregate principal amount not to exceed $23,235,000 and to approve a 

Preliminary Official Statement (POS) (Attachment B).   

Agenda Item 3G    Page 1Packet Page 73



 

The bond proceeds will be used to finance storm water and flood management improvements by the 

Utility and to pay necessary issuance costs.  For the specific projects please see the Background and 

Analysis: Key Project Identification section later in this agenda memo. 

 

Staff has also implemented best practices regarding continuing disclosure follow up that is required 

with each bond issue.  These changes have occurred due to actions that have been taken by the 

Securities and Exchange Commission.  One specific part of the requirements that needs to be brought 

to the attention of the City Council is about statements that are made in any setting regarding the 

financial condition of the City of Boulder, and pertains to all elected and appointed officials of the 

city.  The basic premise is that all statements made by people in such positions should be expected to 

reach the investment community and it could have an impact on an investor’s decision. Therefore, all 

statements must be factual.  

 

 

 STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language: 

 

Staff requests council to consider this matter and action and make the following motion: 

 

Motion to adopt Resolution No. 1160 (Attachment A) concerning the proposed City of Boulder 

Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, in a principal amount not to 

exceed $23,235,000, authorizing the notice of bond sale with respect to said Series 2015 bonds; 

prescribing certain details concerning said proposed sale and said Series 2015 bonds; approving the 

form of a preliminary official statement (Attachment B); and providing the effective date of this 

resolution. 

 

 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic:  Property damage and transportation and utilities disruption from flooding can 

cause substantial economic costs.  The project associated with these bond proceeds would 

provide flood mitigation along Wonderland Creek from Foothills Parkway to Winding Trail 

Drive and also along Fourmile Canyon Creek from 22
nd

 Street to 19
th

 Street, reducing the risk 

to life and property and disruptions to business.   
 Environmental:   The flood mitigation measures include water quality and habitat 

improvement components. In addition, the project creates a path connection between 

Foothills Highway and the Diagonal Highway which will help reduce greenhouse gas 

emissions by promoting non motorized transportation. Reducing vehicle miles traveled helps 

meet the goals of the Transportation Master Plan and Climate Action Plan.  

 Social: The flood mitigation measures would reduce the risk to life and damage to property 

along a portion of Wonderland Creek including an at-risk population facility. The proposed 

multi-use path would improve health and safety by providing a trail connection that includes 

a safe crossing of the railroad to the city’s multi-use trail system that can be used by all 

members of the community.    

 

 

Agenda Item 3G    Page 2Packet Page 74



OTHER IMPACTS 

 Fiscal: The issuance of the bonds will address major capital needs of the utility that are 

summarized in the Key Project Idenfification section of this agenda memo.  The rates 

required  to finance the annual debt service payments are included in the rate increases that 

were approved by City Council and implemented in January of 2015.  

 Staff time:  Administration of the revised debt service on this bond issue is part of normal 

staff time that is included in the appropriate department budgets.  

 

 

 

BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 

Key Project Identification:  Projects to be funded by the 2015 Storm Water and Flood Management 

Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 consist of flood mitigation improvements within the City as part of the 

City’s Comprehensive Flood and Storm Water Master Plan and specific master plans for these project 

areas. The proposed improvements include the creation of a 100-year flood control drainage-way 

along Wonderland Creek from Foothills Highway to Winding Trail Drive and flood mitigation 

improvements along Fourmile Canyon Creek from 22
nd

 Street to 19
th

 Street. The proposed 

improvements are designed to reduce flood risk in these areas.  

 

To complete this bond offering, the City Council is requested to approve the attached resolution 

which does two things: (1) authorizes the City Manager to call for a public sale of a maximum of 

$23,235,000 in Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, on such date as 

the Manager determines (currently set as June 16) and (2) approves the Preliminary Official 

Statement (POS) that is included as Attachment B. The POS is required to provide potential bond 

buyers information to make an informed financial decision regarding the possible purchase of the 

bonds.  The bond issue was originally sized at $30 million, and that is the amount Council authorized 

in the reimbursement resolution that was passed on April 7
th

, 2015.  Since then, it has been decided 

that the lower amount will be adequate for this bond issue and is the amount of bond proceeds that 

will be spent within the timeline allowed by the Internal Revenue Service for tax exempt bonds. 

 

Additional Information Regarding a Bond Sale by the City 

 

Ratings - The City has applied to Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s for ratings on these bonds.  They 

are two of the major rating services in the United States.  These ratings will be available the night of 

the council meeting. The current ratings for the Storm Water revenue bonds are Aa2 from Moody’s 

and AAA from Standard and Poor’s.  These are excellent ratings for this type of bond in Colorado. 

Credit ratings are made after analyzing the credit worthiness of the issuer and the quality of the bond 

being issued. The ratings are then used by potential buyers of the bonds as one of the determinants in 

whether they will purchase the bonds or not. The highest investment grade rating given is AAA and 

the lowest is BBB. 

  

Lowest Bid Evaluation – The Charter of the City of Boulder requires that all bonds issued or 

refunded by the city be conducted by competitive bid. Because it incorporates the time value of 

money, the True Interest Cost (TIC) method of evaluating the cost of an issue has become the norm 

in the industry to determine winning bids for competitive underwritings. Technically it is defined as 

that semiannual discount rate which equates the principal and interest payments on the bonds to the 

Agenda Item 3G    Page 3Packet Page 75



purchase price paid by the underwriters to the issuer.  In a competitive sale all of the bonds are 

purchased by one bidder and the bids are submitted electronically. 

 

Continuing Disclosure Procedures and Required Follow Up Over the Lifetime of the Bonds – 

Due to actions taken by the Securities Exchange Commission (SEC) in 2014, continuing disclosure 

and adherence to reporting requirement commitments has become a much more serious concern in 

the eyes of the SEC.  Council discussed this topic at their November 18, 2014 City Council meeting. 

The agenda memo can be found at the following link: 

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/126951/Electronic.aspx 

 

All governments or governmental entities that issue bonds have an obligation to meet specific 

continuing disclosure standards in compliance with the SECs Rule 15c2-12. When bonds are issued, 

the issuer must enter into a continuing disclosure agreement committing to provide certain annual 

financial information and material event notices to the public. Failure to comply with this obligation 

could result in both financial and legal consequences to the City, individuals and could hinder future 

borrowings. The City has always taken this obligation very seriously. Since discussing this topic with 

the Council last November, City staff has implemented industry best practices for the updated 

requirements. They have been reviewed by outside Bond Disclosure Counsel and include things that 

have been learned due to recent actions taken by the SEC in various disciplinary actions. 

Attachment C is a copy of the policies and procedures. The document now clearly defines the key 

participants responsible for disclosure and their responsibilities. The document also clearly identifies 

information that is obligated to be submitted in an annual filing, lists material events as stated by the 

SEC and identifies the parties responsible for making the filings. 

 

 

Staff asks that Council Members please take note of the section entitled “Public Statements 

Regarding Financial Information.” Whenever representatives of the City make statements or release 

information relating to its finances to the public that is reasonably expected to reach investors and the 

trading markets (including, without limitation, all material event notices, statements in the 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, and other financial reports and statements of the City), the 

City is obligated to ensure that such statements and information are complete, true, and accurate in 

all material aspects. This is a new area of concern for the SEC and is very important to comply with 

when making public statements.  There have been recent actions by the SEC that have penalized 

elected and appointed representatives of governmental entities for making what the SEC deemed 

misleading statements about the financial position of the entity being commented on. To ensure 

compliance selected City staff will receive annual training on disclosure requirements. They will 

share the information and requirements with other city representatives who may be involved in 

continuing disclosure compliance issues.    

 

The public sale of the bonds is proposed for the morning of June 16.  At the Council meeting that 

night the bond sale ordinance will be presented for adoption. Council will receive a list of all 

underwriting companies that bid and the TIC rates they submitted. The lowest rate will have been 

confirmed by the City’s financial advisor. Staff will recommend that Council award the bid to the 

company that submitted the lowest bid. The acceptance of the bond sale will be by emergency 

ordinance because the bids are only good for twenty four hours and if not accepted in that timeframe 

the bid is no longer valid. This timeframe is the norm for competitive bond sales in the industry and 

has been in the past for the City of Boulder. 

Agenda Item 3G    Page 4Packet Page 76

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/126951/Electronic.aspx


Next Steps: 

 

 June 16:  10:00a.m. Public Sale of Bonds – Bids received from underwriters for the estimated 

$23,235,000. 

 

 June 16:  City Council Meeting – Adoption of Emergency Bond Sale Ordinance.  Sale of the 

bonds will be awarded to the lowest bidder. 

 

 July 20:  Closing on the Bond Sale – Mayor will have signed documents and the funds from 

the sale will be received. 

 

 

ATTACHMENTS  

 A. Resolution – Notice of Sale   

 B. Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS) 

 C.  Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures 

Agenda Item 3G    Page 5Packet Page 77



RESOLUTION NO. 1160  

A RESOLUTION CONCERNING THE PROPOSED CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO STORM WATER AND FLOOD MANAGEMENT REVENUE 

BONDS, SERIES 2015, IN THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO EXCEED 

$23,235,000; AUTHORIZING THE NOTICE OF BOND SALE WITH 

RESPECT TO THE SERIES 2015 BONDS; PRESCRIBING CERTAIN 

DETAILS CONCERNING THE PROPOSED SALE OF THE SERIES 2015 

BONDS; APPROVING THE FORM OF A PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL 

STATEMENT; AND PROVIDING THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS 

RESOLUTION. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Boulder, in the County of Boulder and State of Colorado (the 

“City”), is a municipal corporation duly organized and existing as a home rule city pursuant to 

Article XX of the Constitution of the State of Colorado (the “Constitution”) and the home rule 

charter of the City (the “Charter”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Council deems it advisable and necessary to issue bonds of the City, 

acting through its Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise, in an aggregate 

principal amount not to exceed $23,235,000, designated City of Boulder, Colorado Storm Water 

and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 (the “Series 2015 Bonds”), to (a) provide 

funds to construct, acquire, improve and equip certain storm water and flood mitigation 

improvements in the City; and (b) pay all necessary, incidental and appurtenant expenses in 

connection therewith, including the costs of issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds; and 

 

WHEREAS, the 2015 Reserve Fund for the Series 2015 Bonds with be funded with other 

monies of the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise; and 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF BOULDER THAT: 

Section 1.  The Series 2015 Bonds shall be, and the same hereby are ordered to be, 

publicly sold; and the Council shall cause sealed bids to be received and to be opened publicly 

for the purchase of the Series 2015 Bonds on June 16, 2015 or on such other date as shall be 

determined by the City Manager of the City (the “City Manager”).  Upon making such a public 

sale date determination, the City Manager shall notify the Chief Financial Officer of the City (the 

“Chief Financial Officer”) as to the date, hour and place that sealed bids shall be received and 

opened.  The City shall indicate in the notice hereinafter described the date, the hour and the 

place that sealed bids shall be received and opened. 

Section 2.  The Mayor of the City (the “Mayor”) and the Chief Financial Officer are 

hereby authorized and directed to provide for the publication of the Notice of Bond Sale in The 

Daily Camera at such times as they deem adequate to give reasonable notice of the proposed 

sale, but no less than once after the date hereof and at least five days prior to the sale date 

hereinabove designated.  The Notice of Bond Sale shall be in substantially the following form, 

with such changes therein, including but not limited to changes in dates, principal amounts and 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3G    Page 6Packet Page 78



  

maturities and completions thereto, as the Chief Financial Officer shall direct and shall deem to 

be in the best interest and to the best advantage of the City, the execution of such notice by the 

Mayor and the Chief Financial Officer to indicate conclusively the approval of any and all such 

changes: 

(Form of Notice of Bond Sale) 

NOTICE OF BOND SALE 

$23,235,000
*
 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

(ACTING THROUGH ITS STORM WATER AND  

FLOOD MANAGEMENT UTILITY ENTERPRISE) 

STORM WATER AND FLOOD MANAGEMENT REVENUE BONDS 

SERIES 2015 

 

PUBLIC NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that electronic bids will be received for the 

purchase of the City of Boulder, Colorado Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, 

Series 2015 (the “Series 2015 Bonds”), more particularly described below.  As more fully 

described in the Preliminary Official Statement, dated June 9, 2015 (the “Preliminary Official 

Statement”), the City of Boulder, Colorado (the “City”), is causing the Series 2015 Bonds to be 

offered and issued pursuant to the Bond Ordinance of the City to be adopted on June 16, 2015 

(the “Ordinance”).  Bids for the purchase of the Series 2015 Bonds must be submitted through 

the BIDCOMP/PARITY electronic bidding system (“PARITY”).  The date and time for 

submitting bids will be as follows: 

Bid Date:  Tuesday, June 16, 2015 

Bid Time: Between 11:30 a.m. and 12:00 noon Eastern Time (Between 9:30 a.m. and 

10:00 a.m. Mountain Time) 

Submit Bid to: PARITY electronic bidding system as set forth in “TERMS OF SALE—

Submission of Bids” 

Delivery Date: July 20, 2015 

Information relating to this auction may be obtained from the City’s Financial Advisor, 

Piper Jaffray & Co. (the “Financial Advisor), at 720-556-0167 or 303-405-0863 (P. Jonathan 

Heroux or Jonathan Ruth) or from PARITY at 212-849-5021. 

To bid, each bidder must have both (1) a subscription to PARITY and (2) requested and 

received admission to the bidding of the Series 2015 Bonds, as described under “TERMS OF 

SALE—Submission of Bids” below.  The use of PARITY shall be at the bidder’s risk and 

                                                 
*
 Preliminary; subject to adjustment as set forth herein. 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3G    Page 7Packet Page 79



  

expense, and neither the City, the Financial Advisor, Kutak Rock LLP (“Bond Counsel”) nor 

U.S. Bank National Association (the “Paying Agent”) shall have any liability with respect 

thereto. 

Neither the City, the Paying Agent, the Financial Advisor, nor Bond Counsel shall 

be responsible for, and each bidder expressly assumes the risk of, any incomplete, 

inaccurate, or untimely bid submitted by Internet transmission by such bidder, including, 

without limitation, by reason of garbled transmissions, mechanical failure, engaged 

telephone or telecommunications lines, or any other cause arising from delivery by Internet 

transmission.  Additionally, the PARITY time stamp will govern the receipt of all 

electronic bids.  The official bid clock does not automatically refresh.  Bidders must refresh 

the auction page periodically to monitor the progression of the bid clock and to ensure that 

their bid will be submitted prior to the termination of the auction.  All bids will be deemed 

to incorporate the provisions of this Notice of Bond Sale. 

This Notice of Bond Sale, and the information set forth herein, are not to be treated 

as a complete disclosure of all relevant information with respect to the Series 2015 Bonds. 

The information set forth herein is subject, in all respects, to a more complete description 

of the Series 2015 Bonds and the security therefor set forth in the Preliminary Official 

Statement. 

SERIES 2015 BOND DETAILS 

Terms.  The “City of Boulder, Colorado Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue 

Bonds, Series 2015” will be issued in the aggregate principal amount set forth in the caption of 

this Notice of Bond Sale, and will be dated the date of delivery.  The proceeds of the Series 2015 

Bonds, together with other monies of the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise, 

are being used to (a) provide funds to construct, acquire, improve and equip certain storm water 

and flood mitigation improvements in the City; and (b) pay all necessary, incidental and 

appurtenant expenses in connection therewith, including the costs of issuance of the Series 2015 

Bonds. 

 

Interest on the Series 2015 Bonds will be payable on each June 1 and December 1 

commencing on December 1, 2015.  The Series 2015 Bonds will mature on December 1 in each 

of the designated amounts and years as follows: 

 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3G    Page 8Packet Page 80



  

Maturity Schedule 
*
 

  

Maturity Date 

(December 1) Principal Amount 

  

2015 $375,000 

2016 1,025,000 

2017 1,030,000 

2018 1,035,000 

2019 1,045,000 

2020 1,060,000 

2021 1,080,000 

2022 1,095,000 

2023 1,120,000 

2024 1,140,000 

2025 1,170,000 

2026 1,195,000 

2027 1,225,000 

2028 1,260,000 

2029 1,295,000 

2030 1,335,000 

2031 1,375,000 

2032 1,415,000 

2033 1,455,000 

2034 1,505,000 

____________________ 
*
 Preliminary; subject to adjustment as set forth in “TERMS OF 

SALE—Adjustment of Principal Amount” herein. 

 

The Series 2015 Bonds will be issued in registered form, in denominations of $5,000 or 

integral multiples thereof.  The Series 2015 Bonds will be issued in book-entry form utilizing the 

services of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), as securities 

depository. 

 

Adjustment of Aggregate Principal Amount and of Maturities After Determination of 

Best Bid.  The aggregate principal amount and the principal amount of each maturity of the 

Series 2015 Bonds described above are subject to adjustment by the City, after the determination 

of the best bid.  Changes to be made will be communicated to the successful bidder by the time 

of award of the Series 2015 Bonds to the successful bidder, and will not reduce or increase the 

aggregate principal amount of Series 2015 Bonds or the amount of the Series 2015 Bonds 

maturing in any year by more than 20% from the amounts shown in the maturity schedule above. 

If the principal amount is modified, the underwriting discount percentage (not the dollar amount 

of the underwriting discount) will be held constant according to the underwriting discount 

percentage imputed in the reoffering yields of the successful bidder.  The successful bidder may 

not withdraw its bid as a result of any changes made within these limits.  By submitting its bid, 

each bidder agrees to purchase the Series 2015 Bonds in such adjusted principal amounts and to 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3G    Page 9Packet Page 81



  

modify the purchase price for the Series 2015 Bonds to reflect such adjusted principal amounts. 

The bidder further agrees that the interest rates for the various maturities as designated by the 

bidder in its bid will apply to any adjusted principal amounts designated by the City for such 

maturities. 

 

Amendment of Notice.  In addition, the City reserves the right to amend this Notice of 

Bond Sale at any time prior to the date and time for receipt of bids by publishing the 

amendments via TM3.com and/or Bloomberg wire service. 

 

Interest Rates and Limitations. Interest from the date of delivery will be payable on 

December 1, 2015 and semiannually thereafter on June 1 and December 1 in each year, as 

calculated based on a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months. 

 

Only one interest rate shall be specified for any one maturity of the Series 2015 Bonds. 

 

Each interest rate specified must be stated in a multiple of 1/8 or 1/20 of 1 percent per 

annum. 

 

The maximum differential between the lowest and highest interest rates permitted for the 

issue is two percent (2.0%) (i.e., the maximum rate of interest accruing on any Series 2015 Bond 

prior to its maturity may not exceed the lowest rate of interest accruing on any other Series 2015 

Bond prior to its maturity by more than two percent (2.0%)).   

 

A zero rate is not permitted.  No supplemental or “B” interest shall be allowed. 

 

The interest rates on the Series 2015 Bonds shall be in level or ascending order from 

lowest to highest. 

 

Optional Redemption.  The Series 2015 Bonds maturing on and after December 1, 2026 

are callable for redemption at the option of the City, in whole or in part in such order of 

maturities as the City shall determine and by lot within a maturity, on December 1, 2025 and on 

any date thereafter, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof plus accrued 

interest to the redemption date. 

 

Term Bonds; Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  A bidder may request that any 

Bonds maturing on and after December 1, 2026 be aggregated to form one or two term bonds.  

Any such term bond will be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption in the same amounts 

and on the same dates as the Series 2015 Bonds would have matured if they were not included in 

a term bond.  Series 2015 Bonds redeemed pursuant to mandatory sinking fund redemption will 

be redeemed at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued 

interest to the redemption date, in the manner as otherwise provided in the Ordinance.  Any 

election to designate Series 2015 Bonds as being included in a term bond must be made at the 

time the prospective bidder submits a bid for the Series 2015 Bonds via PARITY.  See “—

Submission of Bids.” 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3G    Page 10Packet Page 82



  

Security.  The Series 2015 Bonds will be payable from, and will constitute a first and 

prior (but not exclusive) lien on the Net Income (hereinafter defined) and moneys on deposit in 

the 2015 Bond Fund and the 2015 Reserve Fund established and continued by the Ordinance.  

Net Income shall mean the revenues derived from the City’s collection of its storm water and 

flood management fee charged pursuant to Section 4-20-45, Boulder Revised Code, as amended 

(the “Fee”) plus all interest earnings on moneys in funds created the Ordinance, less only 

reasonable and necessary current expenses of operation and maintenance relating to the City’s 

storm water and flood management system, as more fully described in the Preliminary Official 

Statement prepared by the City with respect to the Series 2015 Bonds.  Reference is made to the 

Preliminary Official Statement for a more complete description of the security for the Series 

2015 Bonds. 

 

Additional Bonds; Outstanding Bonds.  The Ordinance will permit the issuance of 

additional bonds of the City, payable from a lien on the Net Income on a parity with, or 

subordinate to, the lien thereof on the Series 2015 Bonds.  The City’s Storm Water and Flood 

Management Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2010 (the “2010 Bonds”) are presently 

outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $1,430,000 and are secured by a lien on the Net 

Income on a parity with the Series 2015 Bonds. 

 

Ratings.  The Series 2015 Bonds have been rated “_____” by Moody’s and “_____” by 

S&P.  See “RATINGS” in the Preliminary Official Statement. 

 

Authorization.  The Series 2015 Bonds are authorized to be issued by the Constitution of 

the State of Colorado, the Charter of the City, the laws of the State of Colorado, the Ordinance 

and the Supplemental Public Securities Act, Part 2 of Article 57, Title 11, C.R.S.. 

TERMS OF SALE 

Submission of Bids.  A prospective bidder must electronically submit a bid for the Series 

2015 Bonds via PARITY.  Bids may be submitted electronically via PARITY in accordance with 

this Notice of Bond Sale, until 10:00 a.m. Mountain time, but no bid will be received after the 

time for receiving bids specified above.  To the extent any instructions or directions set forth in 

PARITY conflict with this Notice of Bond Sale, the terms of this Notice of Bond Sale shall 

control.  For further information about PARITY, potential bidders may contact the Financial 

Advisor at Piper Jaffray & Co., 1200 Seventeenth Street, Suite 1250, Denver, Colorado, 

Telephone 720-556-0167 or 303-405-0863, or Bidcomp/PARITY at 1359 Broadway, 2
nd

 Floor, 

New York, New York 10018, Telephone (212) 404-8153; Fax (212) 849-5021. 

 

Bidding Parameters.  Bidders are required to submit unconditional bids specifying the 

rate of interest and premium, if any, at which the bidder will purchase all and not less than all of 

the Series 2015 Bonds. 

 

Information Regarding Bids.  Bidders may change and submit bids as many times as 

they wish during the bidding; provided, however, that each bid submitted subsequent to a 

bidder’s initial bid must result in a lower true interest cost (“TIC”) with respect to a bid when 

compared to the immediately preceding bid of such bidder.  During the bidding, no bidder will 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3G    Page 11Packet Page 83



  

see any other bidder’s bid, but each bidder will be able to see its own ranking (i.e., “Leader,” 

“Cover,” “3
rd

,” etc.). 

 

Bids Constitute an Irrevocable Offer.  Each bid submitted through PARITY shall be 

deemed an irrevocable offer to purchase the Series 2015 Bonds on the terms provided in this 

Notice of Bond Sale and shall be binding upon the bidder. 

 

Purchase Price.  The purchase price bid shall not be less than 100% of the par amount of 

the Series 2015 Bonds, nor will any net discount or commission be allowed or paid on the sale of 

the Series 2015 Bonds. 

 

Basis of Award.  The Series 2015 Bonds will be sold to the bidder offering to purchase 

the Series 2015 Bonds at the lowest TIC.  The actuarial yield on the Series 2015 Bonds using the 

TIC method will be computed at that yield which, if used to compute the present value of all 

payments of principal and interest on the Series 2015 Bonds as of the date of the Series 2015 

Bonds, i.e., July 20, 2015 produces an amount equal to the aggregate bid price.  Such calculation 

will be made based upon a 360-day year and a semi-annual interval for compounding. 

 

The winning bid will be indicated on PARITY and the auction results, as posted on such 

website, will be subject to verification by the City and the Financial Advisor. The City and the 

Financial Advisor will verify the auction results immediately following the close of the bidding 

period and notice of confirmation by the City and the Financial Advisor of the winning bidder 

will be made by a posting on PARITY under the “Results” link. 

 

If two or more bids have the same TIC, the first bid submitted, as determined by 

reference to the time stamp displayed on PARITY, shall be deemed to be the leading bid. 

 

Sale Reservations.  The City reserves the right (a) to reject any and all bids for any Series 

2015 Bonds, (b) to reoffer any Series 2015 Bonds for public or negotiated sale and (c) to waive 

any irregularity or informality in any bid. 

 

Good Faith Deposit.  A good faith deposit will not be required in connection with the 

submission of a bid for the bonds.  The winning bidder will be required to wire TWO 

HUNDRED THITY TWO THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED FIFTY DOLLARS ($232,350) 

(1.00% of the par amount) to the City as bid security by 3:00 p.m. Mountain Time on June 16, 

2015.  The City will provide wire instructions to the winning bidder.  The bid security will be 

retained by the City and: (a) will be applied, without allowance for interest, against the purchase 

price when the Series 2015 Bonds are delivered to and paid for by such winning bidder or 

(b) will be retained by the City as liquidated damages if the bidder defaults with respect to the 

bid or (c) will be returned to the bidder if the Series 2015 Bonds are not issued by the City for 

any reason which does not constitute a default by the bidder. 

 

Manner and Time of Delivery.  The Series 2015 Revenue Bonds will be delivered to 

DTC for the account of the winning bidder at the expense of the City on July 20, 2015 or such 

later date as the City and the winning bidder may agree.  The winning bidder will not be required 

to accept delivery of the Series 2015 Bonds if they are not tendered for delivery by the City on 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3G    Page 12Packet Page 84



  

July 20, 2015, or such later date as the City and the winning bidder may agree; provided that 

delivery of any Series 2015 Bonds is conditioned upon the receipt by the City of a certificate as 

to their issue price.  See “—Certification of Issue Price” below.  Payment of the purchase price 

due at delivery must be made in Federal Reserve funds for immediate and unconditional credit to 

the City. 

 

The good faith deposit of the winning bidder will be credited to the purchaser at the time 

of delivery of the Series 2015 Bonds (without accruing interest).  If the winning bidder for the 

Series 2015 Bonds fails or neglects to complete the purchase of the Series 2015 Bonds within 

five days after such Series 2015 Bonds are made ready and are tendered for delivery, the amount 

of its good faith deposit will be forfeited (as liquidated damages for non-compliance with the 

bid) to the City, except as hereinafter provided. 

 

Official Statement.  The Preliminary Official Statement, dated on or about June 9, 2015, 

and the information contained therein have been deemed final by the City as of its date within 

the meaning of Rule 15c2-12 of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“Rule 15c2-12”) with 

permitted omissions, but is subject to change without notice and to completion or amendment in 

the Final Official Statement in final form (the “Final Official Statement” or the “Official 

Statement”).  The Notice of Bond Sale and the Preliminary Official Statement may be viewed 

and downloaded at www.meritos.com and at www.i-dealprospectus.com or a physical copy may 

be obtained by contacting the City’s Financial Advisor.  See “—Information” below. 

 

The City, at its expense, will make available to the winning bidder, within seven (7) 

business days after the award of the sale of the Series 2015 Bonds, up to 10 physical copies of 

the Final Official Statement, and additional copies of the Final Official Statement may be 

provided at the winning bidder’s expense.  The winning bidder must cooperate in providing the 

information required to complete the Final Official Statement.  The City will also provide the 

Final Official Statement to the winning bidder in electronic form. 

 

The winning bidder shall comply with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12 and the rules of 

the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

 

Continuing Disclosure Undertaking.  The City has covenanted to provide, in a timely 

manner to the municipal securities information repository at http://emma.msrb.org,  notice of the 

occurrence of specified, material events and to provide certain financial information on an annual 

basis as more fully set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement.  Reference is made to the 

Preliminary Official Statement for a more complete description of the City’s continuing 

disclosure undertaking obligations. 

 

State Securities Laws.  The City has taken no action to qualify the offer or sale of the 

Series 2015 Bonds under the securities laws of any state.  Should any such qualification be 

necessary, the City agrees to cooperate with the winning bidder in such matters, provided that the 

City reserves the right not to consent to service of process outside its boundaries and expenses 

related to any such qualification shall be the responsibility of the winning bidder. 

 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3G    Page 13Packet Page 85

http://www.meritos.com/
http://emma.msrb.org/


  

CUSIP Numbers.  CUSIP numbers will be issued and printed on the Series 2015 Bonds.  

Any error or omission in printing such numbers on the Series 2015 Bonds will not constitute 

cause for the winning bidder to refuse delivery of any Series 2015 Bond.  All expenses in 

relation to obtaining the CUSIP numbers and printing of the CUSIP numbers on the Series 2015 

Bonds shall be paid for by the winning bidder. 

 

Legal Opinion, Series 2015 Bonds and Transcript.  The validity and enforceability of 

the Series 2015 Bonds will be approved by the City’s Bond Counsel: 

 

Kutak Rock LLP 

1801 California Street 

Suite 3000 

Denver, Colorado 80202 

(303) 297-2400 

FAX: (303) 292-7799 

www.kutakrock.com 

The purchaser of the Series 2015 Bonds will receive a certified transcript of legal 

proceedings which will include, among other items: 

 

(a) a certificate of the City to the effect that, as of its date, the Preliminary 

Official Statement was deemed final within the meaning of Rule 15c2-12, except for the 

omissions permitted under Rule 15c2-12; 

 

(b) a certificate executed by officials of the City to the effect that there is no 

litigation pending or, to their knowledge, threatened affecting the validity of the Series 

2015 Bonds as of the date of their delivery; 

 

(c) a certificate of the City to the effect that, as of the date of the Official 

Statement and at all times to and including the date of delivery of the Series 2015 Bonds, 

the Official Statement did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit any 

statement of a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and 

 

(d) the opinion dated the date of the delivery of the Series 2015 Bonds, of 

Butler Snow LLP, Denver, Colorado, Bond Counsel to the City, to the effect that 

although they have made no independent investigation or verification of the correctness 

and completeness of the information included in the Official Statement, nothing that 

came to their attention in rendering legal services in connection with the preparation of 

the Official Statement causes them to believe that the Official Statement (excepting 

financial, demographic, economic and statistical information, any forecasts, estimates and 

assumptions, and any expressions of opinion, as to which they will express no belief), as 

of its date, contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state any 

material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances 

under which they were made, not misleading. 

 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3G    Page 14Packet Page 86



  

Certification of Issue Price.  THE SUCCESSFUL BIDDER SHALL MAKE A BONA 

FIDE PUBLIC OFFERING OF THE SERIES 2015 BONDS AT THE INITIAL OFFERING 

PRICES AND SHALL PROVIDE THE RELATED CERTIFICATION DESCRIBED BELOW. 

Upon award of the Bonds, the successful bidder shall advise the City and the Financial 

Advisor of the initial reoffering prices to the public of each maturity of the Series 2015 Bonds 

(the “Initial Reoffering Prices”).  SIMULTANEOUSLY WITH OR BEFORE DELIVERY OF 

THE SERIES 2015 BONDS, THE SUCCESSFUL BIDDER SHALL FURNISH TO THE CITY 

A CERTIFICATE ACCEPTABLE TO BOND COUNSEL (A) CONFIRMING THE INITIAL 

REOFFERING PRICES; AND (B) CERTIFYING (i) THAT THE SUCCESSFUL BIDDER 

HAS MADE A BONA FIDE PUBLIC OFFERING OF THE SERIES 2015 BONDS AT THE 

INITIAL REOFFERING PRICES; (ii) THAT A SUBSTANTIAL AMOUNT OF THE SERIES 

2015 BONDS WAS SOLD TO THE PUBLIC (EXCLUDING BOND HOUSES, BROKERS 

AND OTHER INTERMEDIARIES) AT SUCH INITIAL REOFFERING PRICES; AND 

(iii) THE PRICES AT WHICH A SUBSTANTIAL PORTION OF EACH MATURITY OF THE 

SERIES 2015 BONDS WERE SOLD TO THE PUBLIC (EXCLUDING BOND HOUSES, 

BROKERS, AND OTHER INTERMEDIARIES).  Bond Counsel advises that (A) such 

certificate must be made on the best knowledge, information and belief of the successful bidder; 

(B) the sale to the public of 10% or more in par amount of the Series 2015 Bonds of each 

maturity at (or below) the Initial Reoffering Prices would be sufficient to certify as to the sale of 

a substantial amount of the Series 2015 Bonds; and (C) reliance on other facts as a basis for such 

certification would require evaluation by Bond Counsel to assure compliance with the statutory 

requirement to avoid the establishment of an artificial price for the Series 2015 Bonds. Any 

questions concerning such certification should be directed to Kutak Rock LLP, Bond Counsel. 

Right to Modify or Amend Notice of Bond Sale.  The City reserves the right to modify or 

amend this Notice of Bond Sale and the Bid Form, prior to the bid date.  If any modifications 

occur, supplemental information with respect to the Series 2015 Bonds will be communicated by 

posting on the PARITY website not later than 3:00 p.m., Mountain Time on the day preceding 

the day on which proposals may be submitted, and bidders shall bid upon the Series 2015 Bonds 

based upon the terms thereof set forth in this Notice of Bond Sale, as so modified by such 

supplemental information. 

 

Postponement of Sale.  The City reserves the right to postpone the date and time 

established for the receipt of bids.  Any such postponement will be announced by posting on 

PARITY prior to commencement of the bidding.  If any date and time fixed for the receipt of 

bids and the sale of the Series 2015 Bonds is postponed, an alternative sale date and time will be 

announced at least one business day prior to such alternative sale date.  On any such alternative 

sale date and time, any bidder may submit bids electronically as described above for the purchase 

of the Series 2015 Bonds in conformity in all respects with the provision of this Notice of Bond 

Sale, except for the date and time of sale and except for any changes announced by posting on 

PARITY at the time the sale date and time are announced. 

 

By order of the City Council of the City of Boulder, Colorado, dated this 2
nd

 day of June, 

2015. 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3G    Page 15Packet Page 87



  

By  /s/  Matthew Appelbaum  
 Mayor, City of Boulder, Colorado 

 

By  /s/ Robert W. Eichem  
 Chief Financial Officer, City of 
 Boulder, Colorado 

 

(End of Notice of Bond Sale) 

Section 3.  Bids for the Series 2015 Bonds shall be received at the time and place and in 

the manner provided in the Notice of Bond Sale as herein prescribed. 

Section 4.  The Council hereby approves the distribution and use in connection with the 

offering of the Series 2015 Bonds of the Preliminary Official Statement in substantially the form 

presented to the Council at this meeting, with such changes therein, if any, as are approved by 

the Chief Financial Officer or the City Attorney. 

Section 5.  The officers of the City and its financial advisor are hereby authorized and 

directed to take all other action necessary or appropriate to effectuate the provisions of this 

resolution.  All action heretofore taken (not inconsistent with this resolution) is hereby ratified, 

approved and confirmed. 

Section 6.  If any section, paragraph, clause or provision of this resolution shall for any 

reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable, the invalidity or unenforceability of such section, 

paragraph, clause or provision shall not affect any of the remaining provisions of this resolution. 

Section 7.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon its introduction and 

passage. 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3G    Page 16Packet Page 88



  

INTRODUCED, READ, PASSED AND ADOPTED this 2
nd

 day of June, 2015. 

[SEAL] 

Attest: 

By   
 Mayor 

By   

 City Clerk 

 

 

Attachment A: Resolution

Agenda Item 3G    Page 17Packet Page 89



 

 

DRAFT 4 – 5/18/15 

 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED JUNE 9, 2015 

 

NEW ISSUE RATINGS: S&P “___” 

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY Moody’s “___” 

 

 

In the opinion of Kutak Rock LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing laws, 

regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, and assuming the accuracy of certain representations 

and continuing compliance by the City of Boulder, Colorado (the “City”) with certain 

covenants, interest on the Series 2015 Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income 

tax purposes and is not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal alternative 

minimum tax.  Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, to the extent excludable from gross 

income for federal income tax purposes, interest on the Series 2015 Bonds is not subject to State 

of Colorado income taxation and is not included in the calculation of alternative minimum 

taxable income for purposes of the Colorado alternative minimum tax.  See “TAX MATTERS” 

herein for a more detailed discussion.  

$23,235,000* 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

STORM WATER AND FLOOD MANAGEMENT REVENUE BONDS 

SERIES 2015 

Dated:  Date of Delivery  Due:  December 1, as shown herein 

The City’s Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 (the 

“Series 2015 Bonds”) are issued as fully registered bonds in denominations of $5,000, or any 

integral multiple thereof.  The Series 2015 Bonds initially will be registered in the name of 

Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), the 

securities depository for the Series 2015 Bonds.  Purchases of the Series 2015 Bonds are to be 

made in book-entry form only.  Purchasers will not receive certificates representing their 

beneficial ownership interest in the Series 2015 Bonds.  See “THE SERIES 2015 BONDS--

Book-Entry Only System.”  The Series 2015 Bonds bear interest at the rates set forth herein, 

payable on December 1, 2015, and semiannually thereafter on June 1 and December 1 of each 

year, to and including the maturity dates shown on the inside cover hereof (unless the Series 

2015 Bonds are redeemed earlier), to the registered owner of the Series 2015 Bonds, initially 

Cede & Co.  The principal of, and premium, if any, on the Series 2015 Bonds will be payable 

upon presentation and surrender at U.S. Bank National Association, at its operations center in St. 

Paul, Minnesota, or its successor, as the paying agent for the Series 2015 Bonds. See “THE 

SERIES 2015 BONDS.” 

THE SERIES 2015 BONDS WILL NOT CONSTITUTE AN INDEBTEDNESS 

OR A DEBT OF THE CITY WITHIN THE MEANING OF ANY CONSTITUTIONAL, 

CHARTER OR STATUTORY PROVISION OR LIMITATION; THE SERIES 2015 BONDS 

WILL NOT BE PAYABLE FROM THE PROCEEDS OF GENERAL PROPERTY TAXES; 

AND THE SERIES 2015 BONDS WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED OR HELD TO BE 

                                                 

* Subject to change. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 18Packet Page 90



 

 

GENERAL OBLIGATIONS OF THE CITY, BUT WILL BE ITS SPECIAL OBLIGATIONS, 

PAYABLE SOLELY OUT OF THE GROSS INCOME TO BE DERIVED FROM THE CITY’S 

STORM WATER AND FLOOD MANAGEMENT FEE, LESS ONLY OPERATION AND 

MANAGEMENT EXPENSES (OTHER THAN DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION) 

WITH RESPECT THERETO, WHICH AMOUNT WILL BE SO PLEDGED. 

The Series 2015 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of 

the City as described in “THE SERIES 2015 BONDS--Redemption of the Series 2015 Bonds.”   

Proceeds of the Series 2015 Bonds will be used to: (i) finance storm water and 

flood management projects; and (ii) pay the costs of issuing the Series 2015 Bonds.  See 

“SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS.” 

This cover page contains certain information for quick reference only.  It is 

not a summary of the issue.  Investors must read the entire Official Statement to obtain 

information essential to making an informed investment decision. 

[PIPER LOGO] 

The Series 2015 Bonds are offered when, as, and if issued by the City and 

accepted by the Underwriter subject to the approval of legality of the Series 2015 Bonds by 

Kutak Rock LLP, Denver, Colorado, Bond Counsel, and the satisfaction of certain other 

conditions. Butler Snow LLP, Denver, Colorado, has acted as special counsel to the City in 

connection with the Official Statement.  Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City by 

the City Attorney. Piper Jaffray & Co., Denver, Colorado, is acting as financial advisor to the 

City.  It is expected that the Series 2015 Bonds will be available for delivery through the 

facilities of DTC, on or about July 20, 2015.* 

This Official Statement is dated _________, 2015 

 

                                                 

 

 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 19Packet Page 91



 

 

$23,235,000* 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

STORM WATER AND FLOOD MANAGEMENT REVENUE BONDS 

SERIES 2015 

 

MATURITY SCHEDULE* 

(CUSIP© 6-DIGIT ISSUER NUMBER: ______) 

 

Maturing 

(December 1) 

 

Principal 

Amount 

 

Interest 

Rate 

Price 

or 

Yield 

CUSIP© 

Issue 

Number 

 

Maturing 

(December 1) 

 

Principal 

Amount 

 

Interest 

Rate 

Price 

or 

Yield 

CUSIP© 

Issue 

Number 

2015 $  375,000    2025 $1,170,000    

2016 1,025,000    2026 1,195,000    

2017 1,030,000    2027 1,225,000    

2018 1,035,000    2028 1,260,000    

2019 1,045,000    2029 1,295,000    

2020 1,060,000    2030 1,335,000    

2021 1,080,000    2031 1,375,000    

2022 1,095,000    2032 1,415,000    

2023 1,120,000    2033 1,455,000    

2024 1,140,000    2034 1,505,000    

 

 

  

                                                 

* Subject to change. 
©Copyright 2015, American Bankers Association. CUSIP data is provided by Standard & Poor’s, CUSIP Service 

Bureau, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. The CUSIP numbers are provided for convenience only; 

the City takes no responsibility for them. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 20Packet Page 92



 

 

USE OF INFORMATION IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

This Official Statement, which includes the cover page, the inside cover page and the 

appendices, does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any of the Series 2015 

Bonds in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful to make such offer, solicitation, or sale. No dealer, 

salesperson, or other person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations 

other than those contained in this Official Statement in connection with the offering of the Series 2015 

Bonds, and if given or made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been 

authorized by the City or the Underwriter. The City maintains an internet website; however, the 

information presented there is not to be relied upon in making an investment decision with respect to the 

Series 2015 Bonds. 

The information set forth in this Official Statement has been obtained from the City, from 

the sources referenced throughout this Official Statement and from other sources believed to be reliable. 

No representation or warranty is made, however, as to the accuracy or completeness of such information 

received from parties other than the City. This Official Statement contains, in part, estimates and matters 

of opinion which are not intended as statements of fact, and no representation or warranty is made as to 

the correctness of such estimates and opinions, or that they will be realized. 

In accordance with their responsibilities under federal securities laws, the Underwriter 

has reviewed the information in this Official Statement but does not guarantee its accuracy or 

completeness. 

The information, estimates, and expressions of opinion contained in this Official 

Statement are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any 

sale of the Series 2015 Bonds shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been 

no change in the affairs of the City, or in the information, estimates, or opinions set forth herein, since the 

date of this Official Statement. 

This Official Statement has been prepared only in connection with the original offering of 

the Series 2015 Bonds and may not be reproduced or used in whole or in part for any other purpose. 

The Series 2015 Bonds have not been registered with the Securities and Exchange 

Commission due to certain exemptions contained in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The Series 

2015 Bonds have not been recommended by any federal or state securities commission or regulatory 

authority, and the foregoing authorities have neither reviewed nor confirmed the accuracy of this 

document. 

THE PRICES AT WHICH THE SERIES 2015 BONDS ARE OFFERED TO THE 

PUBLIC BY THE UNDERWRITER (AND THE YIELDS RESULTING THEREFROM) MAY VARY 

FROM THE INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES OR YIELDS APPEARING ON THE INSIDE 

COVER PAGE HEREOF. IN ADDITION, THE UNDERWRITER MAY ALLOW CONCESSIONS OR 

DISCOUNTS FROM SUCH INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING PRICES TO DEALERS AND OTHERS. 

IN ORDER TO FACILITATE DISTRIBUTION OF THE SERIES 2015 BONDS, THE 

UNDERWRITER MAY ENGAGE IN TRANSACTIONS INTENDED TO STABILIZE THE PRICE OF 

THE SERIES 2015 BONDS AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL 

IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT 

ANY TIME. 

  

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 21Packet Page 93



 

 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

 

CITY COUNCIL 

Matthew Appelbaum, Mayor 

Suzanne Jones, Mayor Pro Tem 

Lisa Morzel, Council member 

Macon Cowles, Council member 

George Karakehian, Council member 

Tim Plass, Council member 

Andrew Shoemaker, Council member 

Sam Weaver, Council member 

Mary Young, Council member 

 

CITY OFFICIALS 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 

Tom Carr, City Attorney 

Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer  

BOND COUNSEL 

Kutak Rock LLP 

Denver, Colorado 

SPECIAL COUNSEL 

Butler Snow LLP 

Denver, Colorado 

REGISTRAR AND PAYING AGENT 

U.S. Bank National Association 

 

 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

Piper Jaffray & Co.  

Denver, Colorado 

 

 

 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 22Packet Page 94



 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 Page 

INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................................... 1 
General .................................................................................................................................1 
The Issuer .............................................................................................................................1 
Authority for Issuance..........................................................................................................2 
Purpose .................................................................................................................................2 
Security ................................................................................................................................2 
The Series 2015 Bonds; Prior Redemption ..........................................................................3 
Professionals ........................................................................................................................3 
Tax Status.............................................................................................................................4 
Continuing Disclosure Undertaking ....................................................................................4 

Additional Information ........................................................................................................4 

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS .............................................................................................. 6 
Sources and Uses of Funds ..................................................................................................6 
The Project ...........................................................................................................................6 

THE SERIES 2015 BONDS ........................................................................................................... 7 
Description ...........................................................................................................................7 
Book-Entry Only System .....................................................................................................7 
Discontinuation of Book Entry Only System ......................................................................7 
Transfer and Exchange ........................................................................................................8 
Additional Bonds .................................................................................................................8 
Redemption of Series 2015 Bonds .......................................................................................8 

THE STORM WATER AND FLOOD MANAGEMENT UTILITY .......................................... 10 
Administrative Staff ...........................................................................................................10 
History and Background ....................................................................................................12 
Existing Properties and Services ........................................................................................13 
Future Capital Improvements ............................................................................................14 
Customers ..........................................................................................................................14 
Rates and Charges ..............................................................................................................15 
Monthly Storm Water and Flood Management Rates .......................................................16 
Plant Investment Fees ........................................................................................................17 

Budgets ..............................................................................................................................18 

THE BOND ORDINANCE .......................................................................................................... 18 

Meanings and Construction ...............................................................................................18 
Bond Ordinance Irrepealable .............................................................................................22 
Bond Ordinance To Constitute Contract............................................................................22 
Special Obligations ............................................................................................................22 
The Project Fund ................................................................................................................23 

Pledge Securing the Series 2015 Bonds.............................................................................24 
Fee Deposits .......................................................................................................................24 
Administration of the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund .............................24 

Bond Fund Payments .........................................................................................................24 
Reserve Fund Payments .....................................................................................................25 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 23Packet Page 95



 

Page 

 

Termination of Deposits ....................................................................................................26 

Payment of Additional Bonds ............................................................................................26 
Use of Remaining Revenues ..............................................................................................26 
2015 Rebate Fund ..............................................................................................................27 
First Lien Bonds .................................................................................................................28 
Equality of Series 2015 Bonds ...........................................................................................28 
Issuance of Parity Bonds ....................................................................................................28 
Certification of Gross Income ............................................................................................29 
Subordinate Bonds Permitted ............................................................................................29 
Superior Bonds Prohibited .................................................................................................29 
Payment Dates of Additional Bonds ..................................................................................29 
Refunding Bonds ...............................................................................................................29 
Issuance of Refunding Bonds ............................................................................................30 
Issuance of Parity Refunding Bonds ..................................................................................30 

Partial Refundings ..............................................................................................................30 
Limitations Upon Refundings ............................................................................................30 
Supplemental Bond Ordinance ..........................................................................................30 
General ...............................................................................................................................31 
Performance of Duties .......................................................................................................31 
Efficient Operation and Maintenance ................................................................................31 
Use of 2015 Reserve Fund .................................................................................................31 
Reasonable Charges ...........................................................................................................31 
Adequacy and Applicability of Charges ............................................................................31 
Collection of Charges ........................................................................................................32 
Additional Tax Covenants .................................................................................................32 
Defeasance .........................................................................................................................33 

Bondholder’s Remedies .....................................................................................................33 
Right To Enforce Payment.................................................................................................33 
Events of Default ...............................................................................................................33 
Remedies for Defaults........................................................................................................34 
Limitations Upon Amendments .........................................................................................35 

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS........................................................................................... 36 

THE CITY .................................................................................................................................... 38 
Description .........................................................................................................................38 
Governing Body .................................................................................................................38 
Administrative Personnel ...................................................................................................38 
Growth Policy ....................................................................................................................39 

Public Utilities ...................................................................................................................39 
Retirement and Pension Matters ........................................................................................40 

Labor Relations ..................................................................................................................40 

CITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION .......................................................................................... 40 
Debt Limitation ..................................................................................................................40 
Mill Levy Limitations and Tax Rates ................................................................................42 
Summary of City Funds .....................................................................................................42 

ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION ............................................................ 45 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 24Packet Page 96



 

Page 

 

TAX MATTERS ........................................................................................................................... 51 

Generally ............................................................................................................................51 
Original Issue Discount and Original Issue Premium........................................................51 
Backup Withholding ..........................................................................................................53 
Changes in Federal Tax Law .............................................................................................53 

LEGAL MATTERS ...................................................................................................................... 53 
Litigation ............................................................................................................................53 
Governmental Immunity ....................................................................................................54 
Approval of Certain Legal Proceedings .............................................................................54 
Certain Constitutional Limitations .....................................................................................55 
Police Power ......................................................................................................................56 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS...................................................................................................... 56 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR .............................................................................................................. 56 

RATINGS ..................................................................................................................................... 56 

PUBLIC SALE ............................................................................................................................. 57 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT CERTIFICATION............................................................................. 57 
 

APPENDIX A - Audited basic financial statements of the City as of and for  

  the Fiscal Year ended December 31, 2013  .................................................. A-1 

 

APPENDIX B - Book-Entry Only System .............................................................................. B-1 

 

APPENDIX C - Form of Continuing Disclosure Undertaking ............................................... C-1 

 

APPENDIX D - Form of Bond Counsel Opinion .................................................................... D-1 

 

 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 25Packet Page 97



 

 

INDEX OF TABLES 

NOTE:  Tables marked with an (*) indicate Annual Financial Information to be updated pursuant 

to SEC Rule 15c2-12, as amended.  See Appendix C - Form of Continuing Disclosure 

Undertaking.  

 Page 

Sources and Uses of Funds ............................................................................................................. 6 
Estimated Future Capital Improvements for the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility ... 14 
Largest Storm Water and Flood Management Payers as of December 31, 2014 ......................... 15 
*History of Storm Water and Flood Management Base Rate....................................................... 16 
*Billing and Collection of Monthly Fee (unaudited) .................................................................... 17 
*Plant Investment Fee Collections................................................................................................ 18 

Debt Service Requirements(1) ...................................................................................................... 36 
Debt Service Coverage ................................................................................................................. 37 
Outstanding Revenue Bonds Secured by a General Obligation Pledge ....................................... 40 
Other Outstanding Revenue Obligations ...................................................................................... 41 
*Historical Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - General Fund ................... 43 
*Historical Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance –   

Stormwater and Flood Management Fund .................................................................................... 44 
Population ..................................................................................................................................... 45 
Annual Per Capita Personal Income ............................................................................................. 46 
Labor Force and Percent Unemployed ......................................................................................... 46 
Average Number of Employees within Selected Industries - Boulder County ............................ 47 
Major Employers in the Boulder County Area ............................................................................. 48 
Retail Sales.................................................................................................................................... 49 

Building Permit Issuances for New Structures in the City of Boulder ......................................... 49 
Building Permit Issuances in Unincorporated Boulder County .................................................... 50 
History of Foreclosures ................................................................................................................. 50 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 26Packet Page 98



 

 

OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

$23,235,000* 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

STORM WATER AND FLOOD MANAGEMENT REVENUE BONDS  

SERIES 2015 

 

INTRODUCTION 

General 

This Official Statement, including the cover page, the inside cover page and 

appendices, is furnished by the City of Boulder (the “City”), a political subdivision of the State 

of Colorado (the “State”), to provide information about the City and its $23,235,000* Storm 

Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 (the “Series 2015 Bonds”).  The 

Series 2015 Bonds will be issued pursuant to an ordinance (the “Bond Ordinance”) adopted by 

the City Council of the City (the “City Council”) prior to the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds. 

The offering of the Series 2015 Bonds is made only by way of this Official 

Statement, which supersedes any other information or materials used in connection with the offer 

or sale of the Series 2015 Bonds.  The following introductory material is only a brief description 

of and is qualified by the more complete information contained throughout this Official 

Statement.  A full review should be made of the entire Official Statement and the documents 

summarized or described herein. Detachment or other use of this “INTRODUCTION” without 

the entire Official Statement, including the cover page, the inside cover page and appendices, is 

unauthorized.  Unless otherwise provided, capitalized terms used herein have the meanings 

given to them in the Bond Ordinance. 

The Issuer 

The City is a municipal corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of 

the State of Colorado.  In particular, the City is a home rule city and adopted a charter pursuant 

to Article XX of the Colorado Constitution by vote of the electorate on October 30, 1917 (the 

“City Charter”). The City is located in north central Colorado, approximately 25 miles northwest 

from Denver via the Denver-Boulder Turnpike (U.S. 36).  The City is situated at the base of the 

foothills of the Front Range of the Rocky Mountains at an altitude of 5,354 feet.  The City 

encompasses 25 square miles, and is the county seat of Boulder County (the “County”).  As of 

2013, the population of the City was estimated to be 103,166 persons. See “THE CITY.” 

In 1973 the City established a storm water and flood management utility (the 

“Storm Water and Flood Management Utility”) responsible for protecting the City and its 

residents from storm water runoff and providing flood management, as described in further detail 

herein. See “THE STORM WATER AND FLOOD MANAGEMENT UTILITY.”  As an 

additional expense billed monthly to customers of the City’s water and sanitary sewer system, a 

storm water and flood management fee is charged pursuant to Section 4-20-45, Boulder Revised 

Code, as amended (the “Fee”).  The Storm Water and Flood Management Utility constitutes an 

“enterprise” for purposes of Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution (“TABOR”).   

                                                 

* Subject to change. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 27Packet Page 99



 

 

Authority for Issuance 

The Series 2015 Bonds are issued pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the 

State, including particularly the City Charter, the Bond Ordinance and Part 2, Article 57, Title 11 

of the Colorado Revised Statutes (the “Supplemental Public Securities Act”).. 

Purpose 

Proceeds of the Series 2015 Bonds will be used to: (i) finance storm water and 

flood management improvements by the Utility (the “Project”); and (ii) pay the costs of issuing 

the Series 2015 Bonds.  See “SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS.” 

Security 

The Series 2015 Bonds will be payable solely from and secured by the Net 

Income derived from the Fee and interest earnings with respect thereto, which Net Income 

consists of the Gross Income from the Fee (i.e., all income derived directly or indirectly by the 

City from the storm water and flood management fee charged pursuant to Section 4-20-45, 

Boulder Revised Code, as amended, and interest earnings with respect thereto), less only 

reasonable operation and maintenance expenses related to the Storm Water and Flood 

Management Utility.  The Net Income will secure the Series 2015 Bonds and any bonds that are 

issued and secured by a lien on the Net Income on a parity with or subordinate to the lien thereon 

of the Series 2015 Bonds, including the City’s Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue 

Refunding Bonds, Series 2010 (the “2010 Bonds”), which are presently outstanding in the 

aggregate principal amount of $1,430,000 and are secured by a lien on a parity with the lien of 

the Series 2015 Bonds. 

Reserve Fund.  The City will establish a 2015 Reserve Fund in an amount equal to 

$______* (the “2015 Minimum Bond Reserve”), which will be used to pay debt service on the 

Series 2015 Bonds to the extent that the Net Income is insufficient therefor, as provided in the 

ordinance authorizing the Series 2015 Bonds (the “Bond Ordinance”), as described in this 

Official Statement.  Once established, the 2015 Reserve Fund is to be maintained in the amount 

of the 2015 Minimum Bond Reserve and any deficiencies in the 2015 Reserve Fund are to be 

replaced from the Net Income derived from the Fee as further described in the “THE BOND 

ORDINANCE.” 

The Series 2015 Bonds will not constitute an indebtedness or a debt of the City 

within the meaning of any constitutional, charter or statutory provision or limitation, will not be 

payable from the proceeds of general property taxes, and will not be considered or held to be 

general obligations of the City, but will be its special obligations, payable as aforesaid. 

Rate Covenant.  The City will covenant in the Bond Ordinance to set the Fee such 

that Gross Income will be adequate annually to pay the annual operation and maintenance 

expenses of the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility and at least 125% of the average 

annual principal and interest requirements of the 2010 Bonds, the Series 2015 Bonds and all 

other Parity Bonds subsequently issued (excluding the reserves therefor). 

                                                 

* Subject to change. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 28Packet Page 100



 

 

Additional Parity Bonds and Subordinate Bonds.  Upon the issuance of the Series 

2015 Bonds, the 2010 Bonds and the Series 2015 Bonds will be the only obligations outstanding 

and payable from the Net Income. Additional bonds may be issued which will be payable from 

the Net Income on a parity with the lien thereon of the 2010 Bonds and the Series 2015 Bonds 

upon the conditions set forth in the Bond Ordinance authorizing the Series 2015 Bonds.  Further, 

bonds are permitted to be issued and secured by a lien on the Net Income subordinate to the lien 

thereon of the 2010 Bonds and the Series 2015 Bonds. 

The Series 2015 Bonds; Prior Redemption 

The Series 2015 Bonds are issuable as fully registered bonds in the denominations 

of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof.  The Series 2015 Bonds are dated as of the date of 

delivery and bear interest from their date or such later date to which interest has been paid, 

payable semiannually on June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing on December 1, 

2015.  The Series 2015 Bonds bear interest at the rates and mature in the amounts and on the 

dates set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement. 

The Series 2015 Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds without coupons 

and will initially be registered in the name of “Cede & Co.,” as nominee of The Depository Trust 

Company (“DTC”), as securities depository for the Series 2015 Bonds.  Purchases of the Series 

2015 Bonds are to be made in book entry only form in principal amounts of $5,000 or any 

integral multiple thereof.  The principal of and premium, if any, on the Series 2015 Bonds are 

payable at U.S. Bank National Association, at its operations center in St. Paul, Minnesota 

(together with any successors or assignees, the “Paying Agent”).  Payment of interest on any 

Series 2015 Bond will be payable by wire transfer on the interest payment date to Cede & Co. 

Payments to the owners of the Series 2015 Bonds are to be made as described in “APPENDIX B 

–  Book Entry Only System.” 

The City has made arrangements for custodial deposit of the Series 2015 Bonds 

with DTC in New York, New York.  The Bond Ordinance contains such provisions and provides 

for the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds in such a manner as to make them eligible for such 

custodial deposit.  After the initial deposit of the Series 2015 Bonds with DTC, they may not be 

removed from such custodial deposit, transferred or exchanged except as provided in the Bond 

Ordinance. 

The Series 2015 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of 

the City as described in “THE SERIES 2015 BONDS--Redemption of the Series 2015 Bonds.” 

Professionals 

Kutak Rock LLP, Denver, Colorado, has acted as Bond Counsel in connection 

with the execution and delivery of the Series 2015 Bonds.  Butler Snow, LLP, Denver, Colorado, 

has acted as special counsel to the City in connection with this Official Statement.  As is 

customary, the fees of Kutak Rock LLP and Butler Snow LLP will be paid only at closing from 

the proceeds of the Series 2015 Bonds.  Certain legal matters will be passed on for the City by 

the City Attorney.  U.S. Bank National Association, will act as the paying agent and registrar for 

the Series 2015 Bonds (the “Paying Agent” and “Registrar”). The basic financial statements of 

the City included in this Official Statement as Appendix A have been audited by BKD LLP, 

Certified Public Accountants and Advisors, Denver, Colorado.  See “INDEPENDENT 

AUDITORS.”  Piper Jaffray & Co., Denver, Colorado, is acting as the Financial Advisor to the 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 29Packet Page 101



 

 

City (the “Financial Advisor”).  The fees of the Financial Advisor also will be paid only from 

Series 2015 Bond proceeds at closing.  

Tax Status 

In the opinion of Kutak Rock LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing laws, 

regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, and assuming the accuracy of certain representations 

and continuing compliance by the City with certain covenants, interest on the Series 2015 Bonds 

is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not a specific preference 

item for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax.  Bond Counsel is also of the opinion 

that interest on the Series 2015 Bonds is not subject to State of Colorado income taxation and is 

not included in the calculation of alternative minimum taxable income for purposes of the 

Colorado alternative minimum tax.  See “TAX MATTERS” herein for a more detailed 

discussion. 

Continuing Disclosure Undertaking 

The City will enter into a continuing disclosure undertaking (the “Disclosure 

Undertaking”) at the time of the closing for the Series 2015 Bonds. The Disclosure Undertaking 

will be executed for the benefit of the beneficial owners of the Series 2015 Bonds and the City 

will covenant in the Bond Ordinance to comply with the terms of the Disclosure Undertaking. 

The Disclosure Undertaking will provide that so long as the Series 2015 Bonds remains 

outstanding, the City will provide the following information to the Municipal Securities 

Rulemaking Board, through the Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system: (i) 

annually, certain financial information and operating data; and (ii) notice of the occurrence of 

certain material events; each as specified in the Disclosure Undertaking. The form of the 

Disclosure Undertaking is attached hereto as Appendix C.   

The City has previously entered into several similar continuing disclosure 

undertakings.  In certain circumstances in the past five years, the City has accidentally delayed 

filing updated data for tables presented in previous official statements.  The City has since 

updated the information contained in those tables on EMMA.  The City additionally notes that it 

did not file material event notices with respect to bond insurer downgrades or global 

recalibrations by rating agencies as the City does not consider those changes to be material. The 

City has procedures in place to assist with compliance with its continuing disclosure 

undertakings in the future. 

Additional Information 

This introduction is only a brief summary of the provisions of the Series 2015 

Bonds, the Bond Ordinance and the Project; a full review of the entire Official Statement should 

be made by potential investors.  Brief descriptions of the Series 2015 Bonds, the Bond Ordinance 

and the City are included in this Official Statement. All references herein to the Series 2015 

Bonds, the Bond Ordinance and other documents are qualified in their entirety by reference to 

such documents.  This Official Statement speaks only as of its date and the information contained 

herein is subject to change. 

Additional information and copies of the documents referred to herein are 

available from the City and the Financial Advisor: 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 30Packet Page 102



 

 

City of Boulder, Colorado 

Attn: Finance Department 

1777 Broadway 

Boulder, Colorado 80302 

Telephone:  (303) 441-3040 

Piper Jaffray & Co. 

1200 17th Street, Suite 1250 

Denver, Colorado 80202 

Telephone:  (303) 405-0848. 

 

 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 31Packet Page 103



 

 

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

Sources and Uses of Funds 

The proceeds from the sale of the Series 2015 Bonds are expected to be applied in 

the following manner: 

Sources and Uses of Funds 

Sources of Funds: Amount 

Par amount of Series 2015 Bonds ...................................................   

Plus: City funds on hand for the 2015 Reserve Fund  

Plus: original issue premium ...........................................................   

  Total ..............................................................................................   

  Uses of Funds:  

The Project ......................................................................................   

The 2015 Reserve Fund ..................................................................   

Costs of issuance (including Underwriter’s discount) ....................   

  Total ..............................................................................................   

  

Source: The Financial Advisor. 

The Project 

The Project consists of flood mitigation improvements within the City as part of 

the City’s Comprehensive Flood and Storm Water Master Plan and specific master plans for 

these project areas.  The proposed improvements include the creation of a 100-year flood 

drainageway along Wonderland Creek from Foothills Highway to Winding Trail Drive, and 

flood mitigation improvements along Fourmile Canyon Creek from 22nd Street to 19th Street.  

The proposed improvements are designed to reduce flood risk in these areas.  Bond proceeds 

may also be used to design and construct stormwater improvements that address localized 

drainage issues.  The City also anticipates receiving approximately $2,900,000 under the Federal 

Transportation Equity Act for the 21st Century (TEA-21) and approximately $2,100,000 from 

the Urban Drainage and Flood Control District for the Project.   

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 32Packet Page 104



 

 

THE SERIES 2015 BONDS 

Description 

The Series 2015 Bonds are issuable as fully registered bonds in the denominations 

of $5,000 and integral multiples thereof.  The Series 2015 Bonds are dated as of the date of 

delivery and bear interest from their date or such later date to which interest has been paid, 

payable semiannually on June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing on December 1, 

2015.  The Series 2015 Bonds bear interest at the rates and mature in the amounts and on the 

dates set forth on the inside cover page of this Official Statement. 

Book-Entry Only System 

The Series 2015 Bonds will be issued as fully registered bonds without coupons 

and will initially be registered in the name of “Cede & Co.,” as nominee of The Depository Trust 

Company (“DTC”), as securities depository for the Series 2015 Bonds.  Purchases of the Series 

2015 Bonds are to be made in book entry only form in principal amounts of $5,000 or any 

integral multiple thereof.  The principal of and premium, if any, on the Series 2015 Bonds are 

payable at U.S. Bank National Association, at its operations center in St. Paul, Minnesota 

(together with any successors or assignees, the “Paying Agent”).  Payment of interest on any 

Series 2015 Bond will be payable by wire transfer on the interest payment date to Cede & Co. 

Payments to the owners of the Series 2015 Bonds are to be made as described in “APPENDIX B 

— Book Entry Only System.” 

The City has made arrangements for custodial deposit of the Series 2015 Bonds 

with DTC in New York, New York.  The Bond Ordinance contains such provisions and provides 

for the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds in such a manner as to make them eligible for such 

custodial deposit.  After the initial deposit of the Series 2015 Bonds with DTC, they may not be 

removed from such custodial deposit, transferred or exchanged except as provided in the Bond 

Ordinance. 

Discontinuation of Book Entry Only System 

The Beneficial Owners of the Series 2015 Bonds have no right to a Securities 

Depository for the Series 2015 Bonds.  DTC or any successor Securities Depository may resign 

as Securities Depository for the Series 2015 Bonds by giving notice to the City and discharging 

its responsibilities under applicable law.  In addition, the City may remove DTC or a successor 

Securities Depository at any time.  In such event, the City will (a) appoint a Securities 

Depository qualified to act as such under Section 17(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 

notify the prior Securities Depository of the appointment of such successor Securities Depository 

and transfer one or more separate bond certificates to such successor Securities Depository or (b) 

notify the Securities Depository of the availability through the Securities Depository of bond 

certificates and transfer one or more separate bond certificates to Direct Participants having 

Series 2015 Bonds credited to their accounts at the Securities Depository.  In such event, such 

Series 2015 Bonds will no longer be restricted to being registered in the name of the Securities 

Depository or its nominee, but may be registered in the name of the successor Securities 

Depository or its nominee, or in whatever name or names the Direct Participants receiving such 

Series 2015 Bonds designate, in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Ordinance. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 33Packet Page 105



 

 

If no qualified Securities Depository is a registered owner of the Series 2015 

Bonds, the Beneficial Owners will be paid by the Paying Agent by check for interest mailed to 

the person registered on the Record Date as the holder of the Series 2015 Bonds and upon 

presentation at the principal office of the Paying Agent for the principal of the Series 2015 

Bonds. 

Transfer and Exchange 

The following provisions do not apply as long as the Series 2015 Bonds are in 

book entry only form. 

The Paying Agent will maintain on behalf of the City books for the purpose of 

registration and transfer of the Series 2015 Bonds, and such books will specify the person 

entitled to the Series 2015 Bonds and the rights evidenced thereby, and all transfers of the Series 

2015 Bonds and the rights evidenced thereby.  The Series 2015 Bonds may be transferred or 

exchanged without cost, except for any tax or governmental charge required to be paid with 

respect to such transfer or exchange, at U.S. Bank National Association in Denver, Colorado.  

The Series 2015 Bonds may be exchanged for a like aggregate principal amount of Series 2015 

Bonds of other authorized denominations of the same maturity and interest rate.  Upon surrender 

for transfer of any Series 2015 Bond, duly endorsed for transfer or accompanied by an 

assignment duly executed by the Registered Owner or the Registered Owner’s attorney duly 

authorized in writing, the City will execute and the Paying Agent will authenticate and deliver in 

the name of the transferee or transferees a new Series 2015 Bond or Series 2015 Bonds of the 

same maturity and interest rate for a like aggregate principal amount.  The Person in whose name 

any Series 2015 Bond is registered will be deemed and regarded as the absolute owner thereof 

for all purposes. 

Additional Bonds 

The Bond Ordinance will permit the issuance of additional bonds on a parity with 

the Series 2015 Bonds under certain conditions and the issuance of bonds payable from the net 

income by a lien thereon subordinate to the lien thereon of the Series 2015 Bonds.  See the 

captions “THE BOND ORDINANCE—Issuance of Parity Bonds and Subordinate Bonds 

Permitted” herein. 

Redemption of Series 2015 Bonds* 

Optional Redemption. The Series 2015 Bonds maturing on and after December 1, 

2026 are callable for redemption at the option of the City, in whole or in part, and if in part in 

such order of maturities as the City determines and by lot within a maturity on December 1, 

2025, and on any date thereafter, at a redemption price equal to the principal amount thereof, 

plus accrued interest to the redemption date. 

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption.  The Series 2015 Bonds maturing on 

December 1, ____ shall be subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption by lot, in the manner 

designated by the Paying Agent, on the dates and in the principal amounts as follows: 

                                                 

* Subject to change. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 34Packet Page 106



 

 

Series 2015 Bonds Maturing 
December 1, ____ 

Date 
(December 1) 

Principal 
Amount 

 $ 
 

* 

____________________ 
* Final Maturity. 

 

The Series 2015 Bonds maturing on December 1, ____ shall be subject to 

mandatory sinking fund redemption by lot, in the manner designated by the Paying Agent, on the 

dates and in the principal amounts as follows: 

The City must give the Paying Agent notice of its intent to redeem Series 2015 

Bonds at least 45 days prior to the redemption date. 

Notice of Redemption. Notice of any redemption of Series 2015 Bonds will be 

given by the Paying Agent in the name of the City by sending a copy of such notice by certified 

or registered first class, postage prepaid mail, at least 30 days prior to the redemption date, to the 

Registered Owner of each of the Series 2015 Bonds being redeemed.  Such notice must specify 

the number or numbers of the Series 2015 Bonds so to be redeemed (if redemption is in part) and 

the redemption date.  If any of the Series 2015 Bonds have been duly called for redemption and 

if, on or before the redemption date, there has been deposited with the Paying Agent in 

accordance with the Bond Ordinance funds sufficient to pay the redemption price of such Series 

2015 Bonds at the redemption date, then said Series 2015 Bonds will become due and payable at 

such redemption date, and from and after such date interest will cease to accrue thereon.  Any 

Series 2015 Bond redeemed prior to its maturity by call for prior redemption or otherwise will 

not be reissued and will be cancelled. 

The City may provide that if at the time of mailing of notice of an optional 

redemption there shall not have been deposited with the Paying Agent moneys sufficient to 

redeem all the Series 2015 Bonds called for redemption, such notice may state that it is 

conditional and subject to the deposit of the redemption moneys with the Paying Agent not later 

than the opening of business five business days prior to the scheduled redemption date, and such 

notice will be of no effect unless such moneys are so deposited.  In the event sufficient moneys 

are not on deposit on the required date, then the redemption will be cancelled and on such 

cancellation date notice of such cancellation will be mailed to the Registered Owners, in the 

manner provided in the form of such Series 2015 Bonds. 

  

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 35Packet Page 107



 

 

THE STORM WATER AND FLOOD MANAGEMENT UTILITY 

The City has established and operates the Storm Water and Flood Management 

Utility pursuant to Article XX of the Constitution of the State of Colorado, the City’s Charter 

and miscellaneous ordinances, including the Enterprise Ordinance and those certified as 

Chapter 5, Title 11 of the Boulder Revised Code, as amended.  Policy direction for the Storm 

Water and Flood Management Utility is set by the City Council, and the Storm Water and Flood 

Management Utility is administered by the City Manager.  The Utilities Division of the Public 

Works Department directs the day to day operations of all City utilities, including the Water and 

Wastewater utilities and the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility.  Although the three 

utilities are each financially independent, all three are managed in an integrated fashion.  For 

purposes of the Bond Ordinance and the security for the Series 2015 Bonds, the Fee consists 

only of the revenues derived from the storm water and flood management fee charged pursuant 

to Section 4-20-45, Boulder Revised Code, as amended, and does not include any revenues 

derived from the City’s water and wastewater utilities.  See “Rates and Charges” below. 

Administrative Staff 

Various individuals are responsible for implementation of the City Council’s 

actions with respect to the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility, and the day-to-day 

operation and maintenance of, and collection of revenues from, the Fee.  Biographical 

information with respect to various individuals responsible for the Storm Water and Flood 

Management Utility is as follows: 

Maureen Rait, Executive Director of Public Works.  Ms. Rait has been the 

Executive Director of Public Works since February 2008.  In this role, she directly manages the 

Development & Support Services Division and oversees the Utilities and Transportation 

Divisions. She also co-manages information and administrative resources with the Department of 

Community Planning & Sustainability. Ms. Rait joined the City in 1990 as the Assistant Director 

of Public Works for Development and Inspection Services. Her responsibilities expanded in 

1995 to included facilities and asset management, and again in 1998 to include fleet services. 

She served as the Acting Director of Public Works from August 1997 to August 1998. From 

2001-2008, Ms. Rait partnered with colleagues to jointly manage the Public Works Department.  

Prior to working in Boulder, Ms. Rait worked in the municipal engineering field for other local 

governments in Colorado and California and in the private sector. Ms. Rait received a Bachelor 

of Science Degree in Civil Engineering from Ohio Northern University, and a Master of Public 

Administration Degree from California State University, Fullerton. She is a licensed Professional 

Engineer in the states of California and Colorado. 

Jeffrey M. Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities.  Mr. Arthur has been 

Director of Public Works for Utilities since October 2011.  In this role, he manages the city’s 

Water, Wastewater, and Stormwater/Flood Control utilities including a staff of approximately 

170 employees.  He previously served the City as the Engineering Review Manager (2002-2011) 

and as a Civil Engineer (1997-2002).  Prior to joining the City of Boulder, he served as the 

Assistant Town Engineer and Utilities Superintendent for the Town of Essex, Vermont (1994-

1997).  Mr. Arthur received a Bachelor of Science Degree in Civil Engineering from Clarkson 

University, Potsdam, NY. 

Kenneth C. Baird, Utilities Financial Manager.  Mr. Baird has been the Utilities 

Financial Manager since April 2011.  In this position he coordinates budget development, 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 36Packet Page 108



 

 

monitors revenues and expenditures, and develops rates and fees for the three utility funds.  The 

total budget for the utility funds is approximately $70 million plus any additional bond proceeds.  

He also manages transaction processing functions and utility billing operations.  Prior to this 

position, Mr. Baird was the Financial Analyst for the City of Boulder’s Transportation division 

(2007-2011), and a Budget Analyst for the Office of Management and Budget in Broward 

County, Florida (2003-2007) working with the Water and Wastewater Utility.  He received a 

Bachelor of Science degree in Sociology in 2001 and a Master of Public Administration degree 

in 2003 from Brigham Young University. 

Robert J. Harberg, Principal Engineer.  Bob Harberg has been the Principal 

Engineer – Utilities since July 1990.  In this position he manages the Utilities Division Capital 

Improvement Program.  This program includes long-range planning, design and construction for 

the City’s water, wastewater, flood management and drainage utilities.  Facilities included in this 

work program include water storage, transmission, pumping and distribution; hydroelectric, 

cogeneration and solar photovoltaic; wastewater and storm water conveyance; flood mitigation; 

and water and wastewater treatment. He manages a professional staff of ten people and an annual 

budget of approximately $23 million in addition to projects funded with bond proceeds. In 

addition, Mr. Harberg managed the design and construction of the City’s telecommunications 

network infrastructure including fiber optic cable and conduit.  Prior to this position he was a 

Project Manager for Utilities (1989-1990) and worked on a variety of capital improvement 

projects including a major expansion to the City’s wastewater treatment and sludge processing 

facilities.  He worked as a civil engineer for Black & Veatch Engineering (1978-1989) where he 

was involved in water supply and treatment; wastewater collection and treatment; hazardous 

waste cleanup and cogeneration projects.  Mr. Harberg received his Bachelor of Science in Civil 

Engineering from the University of Nebraska, his Master of Science in Civil Engineering from 

the University of Colorado and he is a licensed professional engineer in Colorado.  He authored 

the book Planning and Managing Reliable Urban Water Systems (American Water Works 

Association, 1997) and has served as an expert witness in water system reliability proceedings. 

Most recently, Mr. Harberg has taken on a temporary roll of coordinating the separation 

engineering and reliability analysis associated with the city’s municipalization exploration 

project. 

Anne M. Noble, Acting Principal Engineer for Flood and Greenways.  Ms. 

Noble has been the Flood and Greenways Engineering Coordinator since August 1998.   In this 

position she manages the floodplain management and greenways program, which is comprised of 

three Engineering Project Managers, a Civil Engineer and a Planner.  This program is 

responsible for identifying and mitigating the risks of flooding from the city’s 15 major 

drainageways, minimizing the loss of life and property damage, and supporting recovery 

following a major flood.  Prior to this position, she was a Project Manager for Utilities (1991-

1998) and worked on a variety of capital improvement projects including major improvements to 

the City’s two water treatment facilities.  Before working at the City of Boulder, she worked as a 

Civil Engineer for the City of Longmont, CO (1982-1991) where she was involved in water and 

wastewater treatment; wastewater collection and water distribution projects.  Ms. Noble received 

her Bachelor of Science Degree in Water Resources from Michigan State University and her 

Master of Science in Civil Engineering from the University of Colorado and is a licensed 

professional engineer in Colorado.  

Douglas Sullivan, Acting Principal Engineer for Water, Wastewater, & 

Stormwater.  Mr. Sullivan has been an Engineering Project Manager at the City of Boulder since 

May 1999.  In this position, he manages the Capital Improvements Program for the Wastewater 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 37Packet Page 109



 

 

Utility as well as large capital Stormwater Utility projects.  The Wastewater Utility program 

includes long-range planning, design and construction for the City’s 25-mgd wastewater 

treatment facility, a large sewage lift station, and the wastewater collection system comprised of 

360 miles of sanitary sewer pipe.  He manages an annual budget of approximately $4 million in 

addition to projects funded with bond proceeds.  In addition to managing the Wastewater Utility, 

he has managed large capital Stormwater Utility projects including multi-million dollar major 

drainage projects, and stormwater drainage projects.  Prior to this position, Douglas worked in 

the consulting engineering sector for 10 years in Denver, Colorado – first with Brown & 

Caldwell Engineers and then with RTW Engineers.  He specialized in water and wastewater 

treatment facilities, pump stations, and collection system evaluations.  Mr. Sullivan received his 

Bachelor of Science Degree in Civil Engineering from Villanova University in Pennsylvania, 

and is a licensed professional engineer in Colorado.   

Gregory M. Izzo, Public Works Maintenance Manager.  Mr. Izzo joined the City 

of Boulder in January 2015 from Seattle, Washington.  Prior to joining the City, Mr. Izzo was the 

Director of Street Use & Urban Forestry for the Seattle Department of Transportation.  Mr. Izzo 

has national and international engineering experience in both transportation and utility system 

design and operations.  Mr. Izzo received his Bachelor of Science in Civil Engineering from 

Widener University in Chester, Pennsylvania 1994 and is a licensed Professional Engineer in 

Pennsylvania, Virginia, and Washington.  Mr. Izzo is currently in the process of obtaining 

licensure in Colorado. 

Bret Linenfelser, Water Quality and Environmental Services Manager.  Mr. 

Linenfelser has been the Manager for the Water Quality and Environmental Services Group 

since August 2006.  Prior to joining the City of Boulder, Mr. Linenfelser was an Associate and 

Water Resources Practice Leader for the Denver office of Brown and Caldwell, a national 

environmental engineering consulting firm.  Mr. Linenfelser received his B.S. degree in 

Watershed Sciences from Colorado State University in 1987 and his M.S. degree in Mineral 

Resources Ecology from Colorado School of Mines in 1993, and he is also a Professional 

Hydrologist. 

History and Background 

The City established the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility in 1973 to 

focus responsibility and accountability for storm water management and flood management 

programs and provide a means of funding.  Monthly service charges were instituted in 1974 and 

have provided the primary sources of funding since that time, enabling the City to plan, regulate, 

maintain and improve the drainage system. 

The City is a member in the Urban Drainage and Flood Control District 

(“UDFCD”) and currently maintains a rating of 5 under the National Flood Insurance Program 

Community Rating System. 

The City’s storm water and flood management work program was most recently 

defined in the Comprehensive Flood and Storm Water (“CFS”) Master Plan of 2004. In 2008, the 

City adopted the multi-hazard mitigation plan (“MHMP”) in order to make the City and its 

residents less vulnerable to future natural hazard events.  The plan was prepared pursuant to the 

requirements of the Disaster Mitigation Act of 2000 in order for the City to be eligible for the 

Federal Emergency Management Agency’s (“FEMA”) PreDisaster Mitigation and Hazard 

Mitigation grant programs. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 38Packet Page 110



 

 

In September 2013, the City experienced a significant rain event resulting in 

major flooding throughout the City.  Assessments show that flow rates were between a 25- and 

50-year flood event in many watersheds, and a few parts of the City reached flow rates on the 

order of a 100-year event or greater.  Costs resulting from this flood to the Storm Water and 

Flood Management utility were approximately $6,000,000.  Most of these expenses are eligible 

for reimbursement from FEMA, but such reimbursements is not guaranteed.  Most of these costs 

were for sediment and debris removal to restore capacity of both local and major drainage 

systems.  Other work continues to restore habitat and features such as drop structures and 

sediment traps.  In general, properties in areas where the City has been able to complete flood 

mitigation projects were significantly less impacted than other areas. 

Existing Properties and Services 

The responsibilities of the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility consist of 

three main components: storm water conveyance, storm water drainage quality and floodplain 

management.  The service area is about 25 square miles and consists of approximately 150 miles 

of drain sewers and 45 miles of drainage channels.  The City’s Storm Water and Flood 

Management Utility provide services to the properties within the City limits.  Within the City, 

there are 12 sub basins and 15 major drainage ways that generally flow from west to east as they 

converge on Boulder Creek, which is the main tributary flowing through the City. Runoff from 

within the City is conveyed to these major drainage ways by the City’s collector storm drain 

system and the irrigation canal system. 

Storm Water Conveyance.  The City maintains, operates and repairs the storm 

water collection system.  Inspection of the underground pipes is performed by closed circuit 

television cameras.  Routine maintenance of the system includes removal of silt and debris from 

storm water inlets and catch basins, cleaning storm water facilities with high pressure jets, 

rodders, and repair of damaged storm water mains.  The City is also responsible for flood 

channel maintenance.  This includes repair, maintenance and reconstruction of structures and 

trickle channels, and removal of silt and debris from detention basins and channels.  The 

objectives of the storm water conveyance program are to maintain the existing storm water 

system to enable the system to carry storm water to design capacity and to provide maintenance 

of flood channels to carry flood water to design capacity. 

Storm Water Drainage and Quality.  The updated Storm Water Master Plan 

(“SMP”) of 2007 is a comprehensive plan for the City’s storm sewers and local drainage 

systems, and is intended to guide future decisions regarding storm water drainage and quality 

maintenance and improvements.  The SMP involved the development of a hydrologic and 

hydraulic model to evaluate the storm water collections system’s ability to convey the flow 

associated with the two-year and five-year storm events.  The SMP identifies a recommended 

Capital Improvements Plan (“CIP”) list for storm sewer conveyance and water quality 

improvements throughout the City.  

Storm water discharges from the City of Boulder are currently regulated under a 

Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System (“MS4”) permit issued by the State of Colorado.  The 

storm water quality program supports compliance with the MS4 permit through three main 

components which include public education, water quality monitoring and compliance and 

enforcement.  These services are directly related to the maintenance of public health and 

protection of the natural environment and maintaining compliance with state and federal 

regulations.  The objectives of the storm water quality program are to investigate known and 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 39Packet Page 111



 

 

suspected sources of contaminants which may enter storm water,to respond to spills and other 

incidents involving the discharge of pollutants to storm water, to evaluate the impact of pollutant 

discharges, to develop administrative and monitoring programs to reduce the quantity of 

pollutants discharged, and to mitigate those discharges which do occur. The City anticipates a 

new MS4 permit in late 2015 and will modify programs as necessary to comply with new storm 

water permit requirements.  

Floodplain Management.  The City has focused its flood management program 

efforts by removing habitable structures from high hazard flood areas. This is accomplished 

through a combination of major drainageway improvements that narrow the floodplain and/or the 

acquisition and physical removal of individual structures. The City plans to continue these 

efforts, balancing property acquisition and constructed flood mitigation projects. 

Future Capital Improvements 

The City estimates that capital improvements for the Storm Water and Flood 

Management Utility is anticipated to be as follows for the years 2015 through 2019: 

Estimated Future Capital Improvements for the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility 

     

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

$25,028,355 $5,084,480 $6,994,483 $33,131,155
(1) 

$4,903,241 

____________________ 
(1)

 The City currently plans to issue approximately $25,000,000 of Storm Water and 

Flood Management revenue bonds in 2018 to fund flood plain improvements to South 

Boulder Creek. 
 
Source:  The Storm Water and Flood Management Utility 

 

For the years 2012 through 2014, inclusive, the average annual cost of capital 

improvements for the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility was $3,510,000. Capital 

improvements were funded out of current rates, charges, plant investment fees and UDFCD 

contributions. 

Planned capital expenditures for the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility 

over the next five years include: (i) improvements along Fourmile Canyon, Wonderland Creek, 

and Boulder Creek (ii) floodplain improvements to South Boulder Creek, (iii) storm sewer 

rehabilitation, and (iv) preflood property acquisition. 

Planned capital expenditures are expected to be financed using revenues from 

current rates and charges, plant investment and connection fees, future bond proceeds and future 

rate and fee increases. 

Customers 

The Storm Water and Flood Management Utility served a customer base of 

24,034 properties as of December 31, 2014.  Of this total, 3,521 accounts were inside a 

floodplain and 20,513 were outside a floodplain.  Over the last five years the number of customer 

accounts has increased by an average 1.5%.  The ten largest payers of the City’s Storm Water 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 40Packet Page 112



 

 

and Flood Management Utility, their respective areas and the revenues received by the City are 

as follows:   

Largest Storm Water and Flood Management Payers as of December 31, 2014 

Customer 

Total Area 

Sq. Ft. 

2014 

Revenues 

Generated 

Percentage of 

2014 Revenues 

    

1. University of Colorado 24,495,988 $369,387 6.6% 

2. IBM Corporation  9,052,533 138,765 2.5 

3. Boulder Valley Schools 10,876,752 136,411 2.4 

4. National Institute of Standards 

and Technology 

 

8,249,385 

 

85,989 

 

1.5 

5. W.W. Reynolds Companies, Inc. 2,634,764 52,784 0.9 

6. Flatiron Investments 2,059,088 43,133 0.8 

7. Countryside Village Boulder  2,839,695 41,788 0.7 

8. Boulder County 2,556,545 41,612 0.7 

9. Boulder Community Hospital 1,934,624 37,351 0.7 

10. 29th Street Mall, LLC   1,462,104     36,347   0.6 

     TOTAL: 66,161,478 $983,567 17.4% 
____________________ 

Source:  The Storm Water and Flood Management Utility 

 

Rates and Charges 

Storm water and flood management fees are reviewed annually by the Utilities 

Division to ensure that adequate revenues are collected to meet all obligations of the Storm 

Water and Flood Management Utility.  In addition, a financial consultant is hired periodically to 

review the utilities’ rates and fees.  Such a review was last conducted in 2007.  The primary 

results from this review were to update the Plant Investment Fees (“PIFs”) using updated utility 

asset valuations and to allow for a storm water detention facility credit.  In 2012, some 

adjustment were made to commercial, institutional and industrial accounts due to re-mapped 

using aerial photography, and in 2013 multifamily accounts were also updated.  The Utility is 

currently in the early stages of a rate study and the results are anticipated to inform 2017 rates.   

The City Council approves rate increases as necessary, as part of the annual 

budget process.  Rates are designed to maintain revenues sufficient to pay operation, 

maintenance and capital expenses with respect to the Facilities; to meet all reserve requirements 

and to meet bond covenant requirements such as those contained in the Ordinance.  The City’s 

Storm Water and Flood Management Utility’s rates and charges are not subject to Public Utilities 

Commission review. 

City utility rates are computed through an analysis of revenues compared to 

revenue requirements.  The projection of revenue requirements is based upon an examination of 

historical costs incurred in providing utility service and reflects anticipated changes in the future 

level of costs.  Increases in future costs are primarily due to replacements and additions to the 

system, growth and inflationary conditions.  Projections of revenue are based on the estimated 

future number of customers to be served.   

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 41Packet Page 113



 

 

Comparison of projected revenue requirements with projected revenue under 

existing rates measures the degree of adequacy of the overall level of current charges. Based on 

this analysis, adjustments to the existing rate schedule are recommended to the City Council.    

Monthly Storm Water and Flood Management Rates 

Monthly user fees were introduced in 1974 shortly after the Storm Water and 

Flood Management Utility was established in 1973.  These fees were intended to cover 

operations, maintenance and replacement costs of the existing system and construction of new 

storm drainage and flood management facilities.   

The storm water and flood management fee is charged pursuant to Section 4-20-

45, Boulder Revised Code, as amended (as previously defined, the “Fee”) and is a fixed monthly 

charge, assessed to all properties inside the City limits except for those with no impervious areas.  

The Fee is based on the amount of runoff each property contributes to the overall flow.  

Currently, single-family residential customers are charged a base rate of $13.46 per month and, 

for all other customers, the Fee is individually calculated and proportional.   

The formula for all commercial, industrial, and multi-family customers is 

constructed to be in proportion to the base rate assessed to single-family dwellings.  The average 

single-family property is assumed to be 7,000 square feet with a runoff coefficient of .43.  

Calculation of the Fee for a non-single-family property is as follows: 

Total Area of Property 

7,000 

X Runoff Coefficient 

.43 

X Base Rate = Monthly Fee 

 

A runoff coefficient represents the relationship between the impervious and 

pervious area of a particular parcel.  Impervious areas are those segments of land which allows 

for no infiltration of water into the land.  Pervious areas are those segments of land which allow 

for infiltration of water into the land.  The runoff coefficient is calculated as follows: 

(Impervious Area) x (0.9) + (Pervious Area) x (0.2) = Runoff Coefficient 

Total Area   

 

The following table shows how the storm water/ flood management base rate has 

changed over the past 5 years. 

History of Storm Water and Flood Management Base Rate 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

$7.10 $7.25 $7.47 $7.69 $13.46 
____________________ 

Source:  The Storm Water and Flood Management Utility 

 

The utility billing office carries out payment processing, billing, collections and 

customer service functions for all three City utilities.  The staff supporting this effort includes 

one billing supervisor, four customer service representatives and 1 technical support person for 

the billing system.  Each property receives one bill per month which includes water, sewer and 

storm water/ flood management charges. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 42Packet Page 114



 

 

Payments for all utility services are due within 10 days of the date of the bill.  If 

payment has not been received at the time of the next regular billing, a message noting that a 

portion of the bill is past due will appear on the bill.  When payment is not received within two 

months and ten days from the date of the original billing, a notice of delinquency is 

automatically produced by the computer and mailed to the customers.   

The City has experienced a delinquency rate of less than one percent over the past 

five years.  Unless specifically stated by the customer, the payment is automatically applied to 

the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility first, then the wastewater utility and finally the 

water utility.  If all collection efforts fail, the City’s code provides that delinquent charges are to 

be certified to the Boulder County Treasurer for collection as part of property taxes.   

The following table shows the approximate billing and collection of the monthly 

Fee in each year from 2010 through 2014. 

Billing and Collection of Monthly Fee (unaudited) 

    

Year Billed Collected Percentage 

    

2010 $5,032,288 $5,058,522 99.48% 

2011 4,854,136 4,875,881 99.55% 

2012 5,132,602 5,142,116 99.81% 

2013 5,505,792 5,525,915 99.64% 

2014  5,592,683 5,596,577 99.93% 

____________________ 

 
Source:  The Storm Water and Flood Management Utility 

 

Collections typically lag one month behind billings.  Accordingly, after a rate 

increase becomes effective, collections reflecting the rate increase are not received until the 

following month.  Annually, ten to twenty of the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility’s 

24,034 accounts are certified to the Boulder County, Treasurer for collection as described above. 

Plant Investment Fees 

Plant Investment Fees are used to recapture initial capital improvement 

investments in the Storm Water and Flood Management Utility.  These are a one-time fee 

charged to new and existing customers who need new or additional utility service (e.g. increasing 

the amount of impervious area).  The PIF collections can vary from year to year, depending on 

the amount of development occurring in the community.  The following table summarizes PIF 

revenues collected from 2010 through 2014: 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 43Packet Page 115



 

 

Plant Investment Fee Collections 

Year             Collected 

2010 $423,421 

2011 701,346 

2012 533,062 

2013 591,301 

2014 818,369 
____________________ 

Source:  The Storm Water and Flood Management Utility 

 

Budgets 

Annual operating budget proposals are developed by the coordinators of each 

functional group within the utilities division.  The utility coordinator responsible for Planning 

and Projects formulates the Capital Improvement Program (“CIP”) for the coming five years.  

These proposals are reviewed and modified by successive levels of management within the 

division until a final proposal is approved by the Executive Director of Public Works.  The 

Executive Director of Public Works submits the budget proposal to the City Manager, Water 

Resources Advisory Board and the Planning Board for their review and recommendation to the 

City Council, which makes the final determination with respect to the budget.  The Storm Water 

and Flood Management Utility’s budget is entirely independent, relying upon separate revenues 

and maintained as a separate accounting entity.  See also “CITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION. 

THE BOND ORDINANCE 

Summary of certain provisions of the Bond Ordinance are as follows: 

Meanings and Construction 

Definitions.  The terms in this Section defined for all purposes of the Bond 

Ordinance and of any ordinance amendatory thereof or supplemental thereto, and of any other 

ordinance or any other document appertaining wren), except where the context by clear 

implication otherwise requires, shall have the meanings herein specified: 

“Council” shall mean the City Council of the City. 

“Event of Default” shall mean any of the events described below under “—Events 

of Default.” 

“Fee” shall mean the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee billed to 

customers of the City’s water and sewer systems pursuant to Section 4 20 45, B.R.C. 1981, as 

amended. 

“Federal Securities” shall mean bills, certificates of indebtedness, notes, bonds, or 

similar securities which are direct obligations of, or the principal and interest of which securities 

are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America or evidences of such 

indebtedness which are noncallable at the option of the city thereof. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 44Packet Page 116



 

 

“Flood Control System” shall mean the City’s storm water and flood management 

system operating as the City’s Storm Water and Flood Management Utility Enterprise and 

constituting an “enterprise” under Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution. 

“Gross Income” shall mean all income and revenues derived directly or indirectly 

by the City from the Fee, including interest earnings on moneys in any fund or account created 

by the Bond Ordinance and includes all revenues earned by the City therefrom. 

“Independent Accountant” shall mean any certified public accountant, or any firm 

of such certified public accountants, duly licensed to practice and practicing as such under the 

laws of the State, appointed and paid by the Council, in the name of the City, as determined by 

the Council: 

(i) who is, in fact, independent and not under the domination of the 

City; 

(ii) who does not have any substantial interest, direct or indirect, with 

the City; and 

(iii) who is not connected with the City as an officer or employee 

thereof, but who may be regularly retained to make annual or similar audits of any books 

or records of the City. 

“Insured Bank” shall mean a bank which is a member of the Federal Deposit 

Insurance Corporation or Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation. 

“Issuance Expense Fund” means the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water 

and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 Issuance Expense Fund” created in the 

Ordinance.  

 “Net Income” shall mean Gross Income, less Operations and Maintenance 

Expenses. 

“Operation and Maintenance Expenses” shall mean all reasonable and necessary 

current expenses of the City, paid or accrued, of operating, maintaining and repairing the Flood 

Control System as may be designated; and the term may include at the City’s option (except as 

limited by law), without limiting the generality of the foregoing, engineering, auditing, reporting, 

legal and other overhead expenses of the City directly related to the administration, operation 

and maintenance thereof, insurance and fidelity bond premiums, the reasonable charges of the 

Paying Agent and any other depositary bank appertaining thereto, payments to pension, 

retirement, health and hospitalization funds, any taxes, assessments or other charges which may 

be lawfully imposed on the City or its income or operations of any properties under its control 

and appertaining thereto, ordinary and current rentals of equipment or other property, refunds of 

any revenues lawfully due to others, expenses in connection with the issuance of bonds or other 

securities evidencing any loan to the City and payable from Gross Income, the expenses and 

compensation of any trustee or other fiduciary, contractual services and professional services 

required by the Bond Ordinance, salaries, labor and the cost of materials and supplies used for 

current operation, and all other administrative, general and commercial expenses, but: 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 45Packet Page 117



 

 

(i) excluding any allowance for depreciation or any amounts for 

capital replacements; 

(ii) excluding the costs of improvements, extensions, enlargements and 

betterments (or any combination thereof) that qualify as capital items in accordance with 

generally accepted accounting principles, or any reserves therefor; 

(iii) excluding any reserves for operation, maintenance or repair of the 

Flood Control System; 

(iv) excluding any allowance for the redemption of any bond or other security 

evidencing a loan, or the payment of any interest on any bond or other security evidencing a 

loan, or any reserve therefor; and 

(v) excluding liabilities incurred by the City as the result of its negligence in 

the operation of the Flood Control System or other ground of legal liability not based on 

contract, or any reserve therefor. 

“Original Purchaser” shall mean the original purchaser of the Series 2015 Bonds 

as designated in the Bond Ordinance. 

“Outstanding” shall mean, when used with reference to bonds and as of any 

particular date, all bonds payable from the Fee in any manner theretofore and thereupon being 

executed and delivered: 

(i) except any bond canceled by the City, by the Paying Agent, or 

otherwise on the City’s behalf, at or before said date; 

(ii) except any bond for the payment or the redemption of which 

moneys at least equal to the principal amount of, any prior redemption premium due in 

connection with, and the interest on the bond to the date of maturity or the prior 

redemption date, shall have theretofore been deposited with a commercial bank in escrow 

or in trust for that purpose, as provided below under “—Defeasance”; and 

(iii) except any bond in lieu of or in substitution for which another 

bond shall have been executed and delivered pursuant to the Bond Ordinance. 

“Parity Bonds” shall mean bonds or other obligations payable from the Fee on a 

parity with the Series 2015 Bonds, including the Series 2010 Bonds. 

“Paying Agent” shall mean U.S. Bank National Association, or its successors or 

assigns, acting as, among other things, paying agent, registrar and authenticating agent under the 

Bond Ordinance. 

“Person” shall mean a corporation, firm, other body corporate, partnership, 

association, or individual, and also includes an executor, administrator, trustee, receiver or other 

representative appointed according to law. 

“Project” means the construction, improvement, acquisition and equipping of 

certain storm water and flood mitigation improvements in the City and any other capital 

improvements with respect to the Flood Control System. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 46Packet Page 118



 

 

“Project Fund” means the “City of Boulder, Colorado Storm Water Revenue 

Bonds, Series 2015 Project Fund” created in the Ordinance.  

“Registered Owner” shall mean the Person or Persons in whose name or names a 

Series 2015 Bond shall be registered on the registration books of the City maintained by the 

Paying Agent. 

“Series 2010 Bonds” shall mean the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2010.” 

“Series 2015 Bonds” shall mean the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015.” 

 “State” shall mean the State of Colorado. 

“Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund” shall mean the “City of Boulder 

Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund” created under “—Fee Deposits” described 

below. 

“Subordinate Bonds” shall mean bonds payable from Net Income subordinate and 

junior to the lien of the Series 2015 Bonds authorized to be issued in the Bond Ordinance. 

“Tax Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and any 

Income Tax Regulations promulgated thereunder. 

“Tax Letter of Instructions” shall mean the Tax Letter of Instructions, dated the 

date of delivery of the Series 2015 Bonds, delivered by Kutak Rock LLP to the City, as the same 

may be superseded or amended as provided below under “—2015 Rebate Fund.” 

“2010 Bond Fund” shall mean the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2010, Bond Fund.” created in Ordinance 

No. 7720.  

“2010 Minimum Bond Reserve” means the “Minimum Bond Reserve,” as defined 

in Ordinance No. 7720.  

“2015 Bond Fund” shall mean the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, Bond Fund.” 

“2015 Minimum Bond Reserve” shall mean with respect to the Series 2015 Bonds 

an amount equal to $1,554,107.50,* which shall equal the lesser of 125% of the average annual 

debt service on the Series 2015 Bonds or 10% of the principal amount of the Series 2015 Bonds 

at the time the Series 2015 Bonds are issued.  

“2015 Rebate Fund” shall mean the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, Rebate Fund.” 

“2015 Reserve Fund” shall mean the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water 

and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015, Reserve Fund.” 

                                                 

* Subject to change. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 47Packet Page 119



 

 

Construction.  The Bond Ordinance, except where the context by clear 

implication otherwise requires in the Bond Ordinance, shall be construed as follows: 

(i) definitions include both singular and plural; 

(ii) pronouns include both singular and plural and cover all genders; 

(iii) any percentage of Series 2015 Bonds is to be figured on the unpaid 

principal amount thereof then Outstanding; 

(iv) articles, sections, clauses, paragraphs and subparagraphs 

mentioned by number, letter, or otherwise, correspond to the respective articles, sections, 

clauses, paragraphs and subparagraphs of the Bond Ordinance so numbered or otherwise 

so designated; and 

(v) the titles applied to articles, sections, clauses, paragraphs and 

subparagraphs of the Bond Ordinance are inserted only as a matter of convenience and 

ease in reference and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any 

provisions of the Bond Ordinance. 

Bond Ordinance Irrepealable 

After any of the Series 2015 Bonds are issued, the Bond Ordinance shall 

constitute an irrevocable contract between the City and the Registered Owner or Registered 

Owners of the Series 2015 Bonds; and the Bond Ordinance (subject to the provisions of the Bond 

Ordinance), if any Series 2015 Bonds are in fact issued, shall be and shall remain irrepealable 

until the Series 2015 Bonds and the interest thereon shall be fully paid, canceled and discharged, 

as provided in the Bond Ordinance. 

Bond Ordinance To Constitute Contract 

In consideration of the purchase and the acceptance of the Series 2015 Bonds by 

those who shall hold the same from time to time, the provisions of the Bond Ordinance shall be 

deemed to be and shall constitute contracts between the City and the Registered Owners from 

time to time of the Series 2015 Bonds; and the covenants and agreements in the Bond Ordinance 

set forth to be performed on behalf of the City shall be for the equal benefit, protection and 

security of the Registered Owners of any and all of the Outstanding Series 2015 Bonds, all of 

which, regardless of the time or times of their issue or maturity, shall be of equal rank without 

preference, priority or distinction of any of the Series 2015 Bonds over any other thereof, except 

as otherwise expressly provided in or pursuant to the Bond Ordinance. 

Special Obligations 

All of the Series 2015 Bonds, together with the interest accruing thereon, shall be 

payable and collectible solely out of the Fee so pledged; the Registered Owner or Registered 

Owners thereof may not look to any general or other fund for the payment of principal of and 

interest on such obligations except the designated special funds pledged therefor in the Bond 

Ordinance; the Series 2015 Bonds shall not constitute an indebtedness or a debt within the 

meaning of any constitutional, Charter or statutory provision or limitation; and the Series 2015 

Bonds shall not be considered or held to be general obligations of the City but shall constitute its 

special obligations.  None of the covenants, agreements, representations and warranties 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 48Packet Page 120



 

 

contained in the Bond Ordinance or in the Series 2015 Bonds issued under the Bond Ordinance, 

in the absence of any breach thereof, shall ever impose or shall be construed as imposing any 

liability, obligation or charge against the City or its general credit, payable out of its general fund 

or out of any funds derived from taxation. 

The Project Fund 

Use of Project Fund.  The moneys in the Project Fund, except as otherwise 

expressly provided in the Ordinance, shall be used and paid out solely for the purpose of paying 

costs of the Project including, without limitation, interest during construction of the Project, 

engineering, inspection, fiscal and legal expenses, costs of financial, professional and other 

estimates and advice, contingencies, any reimbursements due to the federal government, or any 

agency, instrumentality or corporation thereof, of any moneys theretofore expended for or in 

connection with the Project, and all such other incidental expenses as may be necessary or 

incidental to the financing and construction of the Project, or any part thereof, the issuance of the 

Series 2015 Bonds and the placing of the Project in operation. 

Application of Project Fund.  Moneys, except as otherwise expressly provided in 

the Ordinance, shall be withdrawn from the Project Fund for the purposes designated in the 

preceding paragraph upon written direction of the Chief Financial Officer or his designee.  

Moneys shall be disbursed only upon receipt of bills or invoices indicating that the required sum 

is then due and owing for materials supplied or work satisfactorily completed in substantial 

accordance with the plans and specifications for the work involved. Any interest earnings on 

moneys deposited to the Project Fund shall be retained in the Project Fund until the Project shall 

have been completed and then shall be transferred as provided in below. 

Prevention of Bond Default.  The Chief Financial Officer shall use any 2015 Bond 

proceeds credited to the Project Fund, without further order or warrant, to pay the interest on and 

the principal of the Series 2015 Bonds as the same become due whenever and to the extent 

moneys in the Bond Fund or otherwise available therefor are insufficient for that purpose, unless 

such 2015 Bond proceeds shall be needed to defray obligations accrued and to accrue under any 

contracts then existing and appertaining to the Project.  The Chief Financial Officer shall 

promptly notify the Council of any such use.  Any moneys so used shall be restored to the 

Project Fund from the Net Income derived from the Fee thereafter received and not needed to 

meet pay debt service or fund the reserve funds for outstanding revenue obligations. 

Completion of Project.  When the Project shall have been completed in 

accordance with the relevant plans and specifications and all amounts due therefor, including all 

proper incidental expenses, shall have been paid, or for which full provision shall have been 

made, the Chief Financial Officer shall cause to be transferred to the 2015 Reserve Fund, all 

surplus moneys remaining in the Project Fund, if any, to the extent the amount on deposit in the 

2015 Reserve Fund is less than the 2015 Minimum Bond Reserve, and any remaining surplus 

moneys shall be transferred to the Bond Fund, except for moneys to be retained to pay any 

unpaid accrued costs or contingent obligations.  The Chief Financial Officer may cause to be 

transferred from the Project Fund to the 2015 Reserve Fund, to the extent of any deficiency, at 

any time prior to the termination of the Project Fund any moneys which will not be necessary for 

the Project. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 49Packet Page 121



 

 

Pledge Securing the Series 2015 Bonds 

The Gross Income and all moneys and securities paid or to be paid to or held or to 

be held in any account under the Bond Ordinance less only the reasonable Operation and 

Maintenance Expenses of the Flood Control System (as previously defined, the “Net Income”) is 

pledged by the Bond Ordinance to secure the payment of the principal of and the interest on the 

Series 2015 Bonds; and this pledge of the Net Income shall be valid and binding from and after 

the date of the first delivery of any Series 2015 Bonds, and the moneys, as received by the City 

and pledged, shall immediately be subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical delivery 

thereof or further act, and the lien of this pledge and the obligation to perform the contractual 

provisions made shall have priority over any or all other obligations and liabilities of the City, 

and the lien of this pledge shall be valid and binding as against all parties having claims of any 

kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the City irrespective of whether such parties have 

notice thereof. 

Fee Deposits 

So long as any of the Series 2015 Bonds shall be Outstanding, either as to 

principal or interest, or both, the Fee shall be set aside and credited to a separate account to be 

known as the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund” (the 

“Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund”).  So long as any of the Series 2015 Bonds 

shall be Outstanding, either as to principal or interest, all Gross Income shall continue to be 

credited to the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund. 

Administration of the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund 

So long as any of the Series 2015 Bonds authorized by the Bond Ordinance shall 

be Outstanding, either as to principal or interest, or both, as provided in this Section, below under 

“—2015 Bond Fund Payments,” “—2015 Reserve Fund Payments,” “—Payment of Additional 

Bonds,” and in the Bond Ordinance, the following payments shall be made from the Storm 

Water and Flood Management Fee Fund: First, as a first charge thereon, there shall be withdrawn 

from the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund moneys sufficient to pay Operation and 

Maintenance Expenses of the City’s storm management and flood control system (the “Flood 

Control System”) as they become due and payable, and thereupon they shall be promptly paid. 

Bond Fund Payments 

2010 Bond Fund Payments.  Second, and concurrently with the payments required 

to the 2015 Bond Fund, from any moneys remaining in the Storm Water and Flood Management 

Fee Fund after the application of moneys as provided above, there shall be credited to the 2010 

Bond Fund the following amounts: 

Interest Payments.  Monthly, commencing on the first day of the month 

immediately succeeding the delivery of the Series 2010 Bonds, an amount in equal monthly 

installments necessary, together with any other moneys from time to time available therefor from 

whatever source, to pay the next maturing installment of interest on the Series 2010 Bonds then 

Outstanding shall be transferred to the 2010 Bond Fund. 

Principal Payments.  Monthly, commencing on the month immediately 

succeeding the delivery of the Series 2010 Bonds, an amount in equal monthly installments 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 50Packet Page 122



 

 

necessary, together with any other money from time to time available therefor from whatever 

source, to pay the next maturing installment of principal on the Series 2010 Bonds then 

Outstanding. 

2015 Bond Fund Payments.  Third, and concurrently with the payments required 

to the 2010 Bond Fund, from any moneys remaining in the Storm Water and Flood Management 

Fee Fund after the application of moneys as provided above, there shall be credited to the “City 

of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 Bond 

Fund” (the “2015 Bond Fund”), the following amounts: 

Interest Payments.  Monthly, commencing on the first day of the month 

immediately succeeding the delivery of any of the Series 2015 Bonds, an amount in equal 

monthly installments necessary, together with any other moneys from time to time available 

therefor from whatever source, to pay the next maturing installment of interest on the Series 

2015 Bonds then Outstanding shall be transferred to the 2015 Bond Fund. 

Principal Payments.  Monthly, commencing on the month immediately 

succeeding the delivery of any Series 2015 Bonds, an amount in equal monthly installments 

necessary, together with any other money from time to time available therefor from whatever 

source, to pay the next maturing installment of principal on the Series 2015 Bonds then 

Outstanding. 

Reserve Fund Payments 

2010 Reserve Fund Payments.  Fourth, and concurrently with the payments 

required to the 2015 Reserve Fund, from any moneys remaining in the Storm Water and Flood 

Management Fee Fund after the deposits required above, except as provided in in “Termination 

of Deposits” below, there shall be credited to the 2010 Reserve Fund any moneys necessary to 

make up any deficiency in the 2010 Reserve Fund, to the extent moneys on deposit in the 2010 

Reserve Fund are less than the 2010 Minimum Bond Reserve.  No payment need be made into 

the 2010 Reserve Fund so long as the moneys therein are at least equal to the 2010 Minimum 

Bond Reserve.  The moneys in the 2010 Reserve Fund shall be maintained as a continuing 

reserve to be used, except as provided in in “Termination of Deposits” below, only to prevent 

deficiencies in the payment of the principal of and the interest on the Series 2010 Bonds resulting 

from the failure to deposit into the 2010 Bond Fund sufficient funds to pay said principal and 

interest as the same accrue. Any moneys at any time in the 2010 Reserve Fund in excess of the 

2010 Minimum Bond Reserve, including investment earnings derived from amounts on deposit 

in the 2010 Reserve Fund, may be withdrawn therefrom and transferred to the 2010 Bond Fund. 

2015 Reserve Fund Payments.  Fifth, and concurrently with the payments 

required to the 2010 Reserve Fund from any moneys remaining in the Storm Water and Flood 

Management Fee Fund after the deposits required above, except as provided in in “Termination 

of Deposits” below, there shall be credited to the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 Reserve Fund” (the “2015 Reserve Fund”) 

hereby created, any moneys necessary to make up any deficiency in the 2015 Reserve Fund, to 

the extent moneys on deposit in the 2015 Reserve Fund are less than the 2015 Minimum Bond 

Reserve.  No payment need be made into the 2015 Reserve Fund so long as the moneys therein 

are at least equal to the 2015 Minimum Bond Reserve.  The moneys in the 2015 Reserve Fund 

shall be maintained as a continuing reserve to be used, except as provided in in “Termination of 

Deposits” below, only to prevent deficiencies in the payment of the principal of and the interest 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 51Packet Page 123



 

 

on the Series 2015 Bonds resulting from the failure to deposit into the 2015 Bond Fund sufficient 

funds to pay said principal and interest as the same accrue. 

Termination of Deposits 

No payment need be made into the 2015 Reserve Fund if the amount in the 2015 

Reserve Fund totals a sum at least equal to the entire amount of the Outstanding Series 2015 

Bonds, both as to principal and interest to their respective maturities, or to any prior redemption 

date on which the City shall have exercised or shall have obligated itself to exercise its option to 

redeem prior to their respective maturities the Series 2015 Bonds then Outstanding and thereafter 

maturing, and both accrued and not accrued, in which case moneys in said account in an amount, 

except for any interest or other gain to accrue from any investment of moneys in Permitted 

Investments from time to time of any such deposit to the time or respective times the proceeds of 

any such investment shall be needed for such payment, at least equal to such principal and 

interest requirements, shall be used together with any such gain from investments solely to pay 

such as the same become due; and any moneys in excess thereof in said account and any other 

moneys derived from the Fee may be used in any lawful manner determined by the Council. 

Payment of Additional Bonds 

Either concurrently with, in the case of additional Parity Bonds, or subsequent to, 

in the case of additional Subordinate Bonds, the payments required above under “—2015 Bond 

Fund Payments,” and as provided below under “—Issuance of Parity Bonds,” “—Certification of 

Gross Income,” “—Subordinate Bonds Permitted,” “—Superior Bonds Prohibited,” “—Payment 

Dates of Additional Bonds,” “—Refunding Bonds,” “—Issuance of Refunding Bonds,” “—

Issuance of Parity Refunding Bonds,” “—Partial Refundings,” “—Limitations Upon 

Refundings” and “—Supplemental Bond Ordinance,” any moneys remaining in the Storm Water 

and Flood Management Fee Fund, after making the payments provided by the Bond Ordinance, 

may be used by the City for the payment of interest on and the principal of additional bonds 

authorized by the Bond Ordinance to be issued and payable from the Fee, including reasonable 

reserves therefor, as the same accrue; provided, however, that the lien of such additional bonds 

on the Fee and the pledge thereof for the payment of such additional bonds shall be on a parity 

with, in the case of additional Parity Bonds, or subordinate to in the case of additional 

Subordinate Bonds, the lien and pledge of the bonds authorized in the Bond Ordinance. 

Use of Remaining Revenues 

After making the payments required by the Bond Ordinance to be made above 

under “—Administration of the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund,” “—2015 Bond 

Fund Payments,” “—2015 Reserve Fund Payments” and “—Payment of Additional Bonds,” any 

remaining income derived from the Fee in the Storm Water and Flood Management Fee Fund 

shall be used for any one or any combination of the following purposes in any order: 

(a) Purchase of Obligations.  For the purchase in the open market of the 

Series 2015 Bonds or any other Outstanding bonds or other obligations incurred for any such 

purpose or purposes and payable from the Fee, at the best price obtainable, not, however, in 

excess of the call price therefor then applicable, or if none be then applicable, not in excess of a 

reasonable price therefore. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 52Packet Page 124



 

 

(b) Prior Redemption.  For the prior redemption of the Series 2015 Bonds or 

any other outstanding bonds or other obligations payable from the Fee, in accordance with the 

provisions of the Series 2015 Bonds or other obligations and any ordinance authorizing their 

issuance, including but not necessarily limited to the Bond Ordinance, but not in excess of a 

price at which such Series 2015 Bonds or other obligations can be purchased in the open market. 

(c) Improvement.  For the repair, enlargement, extension, betterment and 

improvement of the Flood Control System. 

(d) Operation & Maintenance Expenses.  For defraying any Operation and 

Maintenance Expenses for which provision has not otherwise been made of the Flood Control 

System. 

(e) Lawful Purposes.  For any other lawful purpose of the City. 

2015 Rebate Fund 

(a) There is created by the Bond Ordinance and established by the City a 

separate special fund to be designated the “City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and Flood 

Management Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015 Rebate Fund” (the “2015 Rebate Fund”), 

which shall be expended in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Ordinance and the Tax 

Letter of Instructions.  The City shall make deposits and disbursements from the 2015 Rebate 

Fund in accordance with the Tax Letter of Instructions, shall invest the 2015 Rebate Fund only in 

legal investments for funds of the City and pursuant to said Tax Letter of Instructions, and shall 

deposit income from said investments immediately upon receipt thereof in the 2015 Rebate 

Fund, all as set forth in the Tax Letter of Instructions.  The City shall make the calculations, 

deposits, disbursements and investments as may be required by the immediately preceding 

sentence, or, to the extent it deems necessary in order to ensure the tax exempt status of interest 

on the Series 2015 Bonds, shall employ at its expense a person or firm with recognized expertise 

in the area of rebate calculation, to make such calculations.  The Tax Letter of Instructions may 

be superseded or amended by a new Tax Letter of Instructions drafted by, and accompanied by 

an opinion of, nationally recognized bond counsel addressed to the City to the effect that the use 

of said new Tax Letter of Instructions will not cause the interest on the Series 2015 Bonds to 

become includible in gross income for purposes of federal income taxation. 

(b) The City shall make the rebate deposit described in the Tax Letter of 

Instructions.  Records of the determinations required by this Section and the Tax Letter of 

Instructions shall be retained by the City until four years after the final retirement of the Series 

2015 Bonds. 

(c) Not later than 30 days after the end of the fifth Bond Year (i.e., the year 

ended July 19, 2020) and every five years thereafter, the City shall pay to the United States of 

America 90% of the amount required to be on deposit in the 2015 Rebate Fund as of such 

payment date.  Not later than 60 days after the final retirement of the Series 2015 Bonds, the City 

shall pay to the United States of America 100% of the balance remaining in the 2015 Rebate 

Fund.  Each payment required to be paid to the United States of America pursuant to this Section 

shall be filed with the Internal Revenue Service Center, Ogden, Utah 84201.  Each payment shall 

be accompanied by a copy of the Internal Revenue Form 8038 G originally filed with respect to 

the Series 2015 Bonds, and a statement summarizing the determination of the amount to be paid 

to the United States of America. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 53Packet Page 125



 

 

First Lien Bonds 

The Series 2015 Bonds authorized in the Bond Ordinance, subject to the payment 

of all necessary and reasonable Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the Flood Control 

System, constitute an irrevocable and first lien (but not necessarily an exclusive first lien) upon 

the resulting Net Income derived from the Fee on a parity with the lien thereon of the 

Outstanding Series 2015 Bonds. 

Equality of Series 2015 Bonds 

The Series 2015 Bonds authorized to be issued under the Bond Ordinance and 

from time to time Outstanding are equitably and ratably secured by a lien on the Net Income of 

the Fee and shall not be entitled to any priority one over the other in the application of the Fee 

regardless of the time or times of the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds, it being the intention of 

the Council that there shall be no priority among the Series 2015 Bonds regardless of the fact 

that they may be actually issued and delivered at different times. 

Issuance of Parity Bonds 

Nothing in the Bond Ordinance contained shall be construed in such a manner as 

to prevent the issuance by the City of additional bonds payable from any Net Income of the Fee 

and constituting a lien thereupon on a parity with, but not prior nor superior to, the lien of the 

Series 2015 Bonds, nor to prevent the issuance of bonds refunding all or a part of the Series 2015 

Bonds; provided, however, that before any such additional Parity Bonds are authorized or 

actually issued (excluding any parity refunding bonds other than any bonds refunding 

Subordinate Bonds as permitted below under “—Issuance of Parity Refunding Bonds”): 

(a) Absence of Default.  The City shall not have defaulted in making any 

payments required by the Bond Ordinance. 

(b) Fee Test.  The annual Gross Income for the fiscal year immediately 

preceding the date of the issuance of such additional Parity Bonds shall have been sufficient to 

pay the annual Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the Flood Control System for said fiscal 

year, and, in addition, sufficient to pay an amount representing 125% of the combined average 

annual principal and interest requirements of the Outstanding Series 2015 Bonds of the City 

payable from and constituting a lien upon Net Income from the Fee and the additional Parity 

Bonds proposed to be issued, except as otherwise expressly provided in the Bond Ordinance; 

provided that in calculating the Gross Income during the test period, the City may add an amount 

by which the City reasonably estimates the Gross Income would have been increased during the 

test period from any increase in rates, fees and charges for services furnished by or the use of the 

Flood Control System during or since said test period, the effect of which is to estimate a sum 

which would have been realized had the increase been in effect during the entire test period. 

(c) Reduction of Annual Requirements.  The respective annual principal and 

interest requirements (including as a principal requirement the amount of any prior redemption 

premiums due on any prior redemption date as of which any outstanding bonds have been called 

or have been ordered to be called for prior redemption) shall be reduced to the extent such 

requirements are scheduled to be paid each of the respective fiscal years with moneys held in 

trust or in escrow for that purpose by any Insured Bank located within or without the State and 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 54Packet Page 126



 

 

exercising trust powers, including the known minimum yield from any investment in Permitted 

Investments. 

(d) Consideration of Additional Expenses.  In determining whether or not 

additional Parity Bonds may be issued as aforesaid, consideration shall be given to any probable 

increase (but not reduction) in Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the Flood Control 

System, that will result from the expenditure of the funds proposed to be derived from the 

issuance and sale of the additional bonds. 

(e) Reserve Fund.  There shall be established a reserve fund in an amount 

equal to at least the lesser of 125% of the average annual debt service on such additional Parity 

Bonds or 10% of the principal amount of such additional Parity Bonds at the time such Parity 

Bonds are issued. 

Certification of Gross Income 

A written certification by an Independent Accountant that said annual Gross 

Income is sufficient to pay said amounts, as provided above under “—Issuance of Parity Bonds,” 

paragraph (b), shall be conclusively presumed to be accurate in determining the right of the City 

to authorize, issue, sell and deliver additional bonds on a parity with the Series 2015 Bonds. 

Subordinate Bonds Permitted 

Nothing contained in the Bond Ordinance shall be construed so as to prevent the 

City from issuing additional bonds, including refunding bonds, payable from the Net Income of 

the Fee and having a lien thereon subordinate, inferior and junior to the lien of the Series 2015 

Bonds authorized to be issued by the Bond Ordinance. 

Superior Bonds Prohibited 

Nothing contained in the Bond Ordinance shall be construed so as to permit the 

City to issue additional bonds payable from the Fee and having a lien thereon prior and superior 

to the Series 2015 Bonds. 

Payment Dates of Additional Bonds 

Any additional parity or subordinate bonds (including any refunding bonds) 

issued in compliance with the terms of the Bond Ordinance shall bear interest payable 

semiannually on the first days of June and December in each year, except that the first interest 

payment date may be for interest accruing for any period not in excess in the aggregate of one 

year; and such additional bonds shall mature on the first day of December in the years designated 

by the Council during the term of the additional bonds. 

Refunding Bonds 

The provisions above under “—Issuance of Parity Bonds” and “—Certification of 

Gross Income” are subject to the exceptions provided below under “—Issuance of Refunding 

Bonds,” “—Issuance of Parity Refunding Bonds,” “—Partial Refundings” and “Limitations 

Upon Refundings” for the issuance of refunding bonds. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 55Packet Page 127



 

 

Issuance of Refunding Bonds 

If at any time after the Series 2015 Bonds, or any part thereof, shall have been 

issued and remain Outstanding, the Council shall find it desirable to refund any Outstanding 

Series 2015 Bonds payable from and constituting a lien upon Net Income, said Series 2015 

Bonds or any part thereof, may be refunded. 

Issuance of Parity Refunding Bonds 

No refunding bonds payable from Net Income shall be issued on a parity with the 

Series 2015 Bonds authorized in the Bond Ordinance unless: 

(a) Parity Lien.  The lien on the Fee of the Outstanding bonds so refunded is 

on a parity with the lien thereon of the Series 2015 Bonds authorized in the Bond Ordinance. 

(b) Tests.  (i) The refunding bonds are issued in compliance with “—Issuance 

of Parity Bonds” above or (ii) the City shall not have defaulted in making any payments required 

by the Bond Ordinance and the maximum annual principal of and interest due on the proposed 

refunding bonds is not greater than the maximum annual principal of and interest due on the 

Outstanding Bonds that will be refunded. 

Partial Refundings 

The refunding bonds so issued shall enjoy complete equality of lien with the 

portion of any bonds of the same issue which is not refunded, if any there be; and the Registered 

Owner or Registered Owners of such refunding bonds shall be subrogated to all of the rights and 

privileges enjoyed by the Registered Owner or Registered Owners of the unrefunded bonds of 

the same issue partially refunded by the refunding bonds. 

Limitations Upon Refundings 

Any refunding bonds payable from Net Income of the Fee shall be issued with 

such details as the Council may provide, subject to the provisions of “—Refunding Bonds” 

above, and subject to the inclusion of any such rights and privileges designated above under “—

Partial Refundings,” but without any impairment of any contractual obligation imposed upon the 

City by any proceedings authorizing the issuance of any unrefunded portion of such Outstanding 

bonds of any one or more issues (including but not necessarily limited to the Series 2015 Bonds 

authorized in the Bond Ordinance).   

Supplemental Bond Ordinance 

Additional bonds payable from Net Income shall be issued only after 

authorization thereof by a supplemental ordinance of the Council stating the purpose or purposes 

of the issuance of such additional bonds, directing the application of the proceeds thereof to such 

purpose or purposes, directing the execution thereof, and fixing and determining the date, 

principal amount, maturities, designation and numbers thereof, the maximum rate or the rate or 

rates of interest to be borne thereby, any prior redemption privileges of the City with respect 

thereto and other provisions thereof in accordance with the Bond Ordinance. 

All additional bonds shall bear such date, shall bear such numbers and series 

designation, letters or symbols prefixed to their numbers distinguishing them from each other 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 56Packet Page 128



 

 

security, shall be payable at such place or places, may be subject to redemption prior to maturity 

on such terms and conditions, and shall bear interest at such rate or at such different or varying 

rates per annum, as may be fixed by ordinance of the Council. 

General 

The City particularly covenants and agrees with the Registered Owners of the 

Series 2015 Bonds and makes provisions which shall be a part of its contract with such holders 

to the effect and with the purpose set forth in the Bond Ordinance. 

Performance of Duties 

The City, acting by and through the Council or otherwise, will faithfully and 

punctually perform or cause to be performed all duties with respect to the Fee and the Flood 

Control System required by the Constitution and laws of the State and the various ordinances and 

Charter of the City, including but not limited to the making and collection of reasonable and 

sufficient rates and charges for services rendered or furnished by or the use of the Flood Control 

System, as provided in the Bond Ordinance, and the proper segregation of the Fee and its 

application to the respective accounts or funds provided from time to time therefor. 

Efficient Operation and Maintenance 

The City shall at all times operate the Flood Control System properly and in a 

sound and economical manner such that the City shall be able to perform the duties provided 

above under “—Performance of Duties” and provided below under “—Adequacy and 

Applicability of Charges.”  

Use of 2015 Reserve Fund 

The 2015 Reserve Fund shall be used solely and only and the moneys credited 

therein are pledged for the purpose of paying the interest on and the principal of the Series 2015 

Bonds, except for those moneys in the 2015 Reserve Fund as arc in excess of the interest on and 

the principal of the Series 2015 Bonds, accrued and not accrued, to their respective maturities 

(subject to the provisions below under “—Defeasance”), and except for those moneys in the 

respective accounts of the 2015 Reserve Fund in excess of the 2015 Minimum Bond Reserve, as 

provided in the Bond Ordinance. 

Reasonable Charges 

While the Series 2015 Bonds or any of them remain Outstanding and unpaid, the 

Fee rendered by City and to its inhabitants and to all other consumers within or without the 

boundaries of the City shall be reasonable and just, taking into account and consideration the 

costs and value of the Flood Control System, the Operation and Maintenance Expenses thereof, 

the proper and necessary allowances for the depreciation thereof, and the amounts necessary for 

the retirement of all Series 2015 Bonds and other bonds and obligations payable from Net 

Income the accruing interest thereon, and reserves therefor. 

Adequacy and Applicability of Charges 

There shall be charged against all customers of the City paying the Fee, such 

rates, fees and other charges as shall be adequate to meet the requirements of the Bond 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 57Packet Page 129



 

 

Ordinance.  Such rates and amounts from the Fee shall be sufficient to produce Gross Income 

annually to pay the annual Operation and Maintenance Expenses and 125% of both the principal 

of and the interest on the Series 2015 Bonds and any other bonds payable annually from Gross 

Income (excluding the reserves therefor), all of which Gross Income, including any income 

received from the City, shall be subject to distribution to the payment of Operation and 

Maintenance Expenses of the Flood Control System and to the payment of principal of and 

interest on all bonds payable from the Fee, including reasonable reserves therefor. 

Collection of Charges 

The City shall cause the Fee to be collected as soon as reasonable, shall prescribe 

and enforce rules and regulations for the payment thereof and shall provide methods of collection 

and penalties, including but not limited to denial of municipal water service for nonpayment of 

such Fee to the end that net revenues of the Fee shall be adequate to meet the requirements of the 

Bond Ordinance. 

Additional Tax Covenants 

(a) The City covenants that it shall not use or permit the use of any proceeds 

of the Series 2015 Bonds or any other funds of the City from whatever source derived, directly or 

indirectly, to acquire any securities or obligations and shall not take or permit to be taken any 

other action or actions, which would cause any of the Series 2015 Bonds to be an “arbitrage 

bond” within the meaning of Section 148 of the Tax Code, or would otherwise cause the interest 

on the Series 2015 Bonds to be includible in gross income for federal income tax purposes.  The 

City covenants that it shall at all times do and perform all acts and things permitted by law and 

which are necessary in order to assure that interest paid by the City on the Series 2015 Bonds 

shall, for purposes of federal income taxation, not be includible in gross income under the Tax 

Code or any other valid provision of law. 

(b) In particular, but without limitation, the City further represents, warrants 

and covenants to comply with the following restrictions of the Tax Code, unless it receives an 

opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel stating that such compliance is not necessary: 

(i) Gross proceeds of the Series 2015 Bonds shall not be used in a manner 

which will cause the Series 2015 Bonds to be considered “private activity bonds” within the 

meaning of the Tax Code. 

(ii) The Series 2015 Bonds are not and shall not become directly or indirectly 

“federally guaranteed.” 

(iii) The City shall timely file Internal Revenue Form 8038 G which shall 

contain the information required to be filed pursuant to Section 149(e) of the Tax Code. 

(iv) The City shall comply with the Tax Certificate and the Tax Letter of 

Instructions delivered to it on the date of issue of the Series 2015 Bonds with respect to the 

application and investment of Series 2015 Bond proceeds subject to “—2015 Rebate Fund” 

above. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 58Packet Page 130



 

 

Defeasance 

When all principal and interest due in connection with the Series 2015 Bonds 

have been duly paid, the pledge and lien and all obligations under the Bond Ordinance shall 

thereby be discharged and the Series 2015 Bonds shall no longer be deemed to be Outstanding 

within the meaning of the Bond Ordinance.  There shall be deemed to be such due payment when 

the City has placed in escrow or in trust with a commercial bank located within or without the 

State and exercising trust powers on amount sufficient (including the known minimum yield 

from Federal Securities in which such amount wholly or in part may be initially invested) to 

meet all requirements of principal, interest and any prior redemption premiums due as the same 

become due to the final maturities of the Series 2015 Bonds or upon any prior redemption date as 

of which the City shall have exercised or shall have obligated itself to exercise its prior 

redemption option by a call of the Series 2015 Bonds for payment then.  The Federal Securities 

shall become due prior to the respective times on which the proceeds thereof shall be needed in 

accordance with a schedule established and agreed upon between the City and such bank at the 

time of the creation of the escrow or trust, or the Federal Securities shall be subject to 

redemption at the option of the Registered Owners thereof to assure such availability as so 

needed to meet such schedule. 

Bondholder’s Remedies 

Each holder of any Series 2015 Bond issued under the Bond Ordinance shall be 

entitled to all of the privileges, rights and remedies permitted at law or in equity or by statute, 

except no real or personal property appertaining to the Flood Control System or otherwise has 

been conveyed to secure the payment of the Series 2015 Bonds by deed of trust or mortgage to a 

trustee for the benefit and the security of the Registered Owner or Registered Owners from time 

to time of the Series 2015 Bonds, or by any other encumbrance or other pledge of property, 

subject to the provisions in the Bond Ordinance concerning the pledge of and the covenants and 

the other contractual provisions concerning the Net Income of the Flood Control System. 

Right To Enforce Payment 

Nothing in the Bond Ordinance article contained shall affect or impair the right of 

any Registered Owner of any Series 2015 Bond or Parity Bond issued under the Bond Ordinance 

to enforce the payment of the principal of and the interest on such Series 2015 Bond or Parity 

Bond or the obligation of the City to pay the principal of and the interest on each Series 2015 

Bond or Parity Bond issued under the Bond Ordinance to the Registered Owner thereof at the 

time and the place expressed in the Series 2015 Bond or Parity Bond. 

Events of Default 

Each of the following events is declared an “event of default,” that is to say: 

(a) Nonpayment of Principal and Premium.  Payment of the principal of any 

of the Series 2015 Bonds or any Parity Bonds or any prior redemption premium due in 

connection therewith or both shall not be made by the City when the same shall become due and 

payable either at maturity or by proceedings for prior redemption or otherwise. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 59Packet Page 131



 

 

(b) Nonpayment of Interest.  Payment of any installment of interest on the 

Series 2015 Bonds or any Parity Bonds shall not be made by the City when the same becomes 

due and payable. 

(c) Incapable To Perform.  The City shall for any reason be rendered 

incapable of fulfilling its obligations under the Bond Ordinance. 

(d) Nonperformance of Duties.  The City shall have failed to carry out and to 

perform (or in good faith to begin the performance of) all acts and things lawfully required to be 

carried out or to be performed by it under any contract relating to Gross Income or to the Flood 

Control System or otherwise and such failure shall continue for 60 days after receipt of notice 

from either the Original Purchaser of the Series 2015 Bonds or from the Registered Owners of 

10% in principal amount of the Series 2015 Bonds authorized by the Bond Ordinance and then 

outstanding. 

(e) Failure To Reconstruct.  The City shall discontinue or shall unreasonably 

delay or shall fail to carry out with reasonable dispatch the reconstruction of any part of the 

Flood Control System which shall be destroyed or damaged and shall not be promptly repaired 

or replaced unless such failure to repair due to obsolescence. 

(f) Appointment of Receiver.  An order or decree shall be entered by a court 

of competent jurisdiction with the consent or acquiescence of the City appointing a receiver or 

receivers for the Flood Control System or for the Net Income of the Flood Control System or 

both or if an order or decree having been entered without the consent or acquiescence of the City 

shall not be vacated or discharged or stayed on appeal within 60 days after entry. 

(g) Default of Any Provision.  The City shall make default in the due and 

punctual performance of any other of the covenants, conditions, agreements and provisions 

contained in the Series 2015 Bonds or any Parity Bonds or in the Bond Ordinance on its part to 

be performed, and such default shall continue for 60 days after written notice specifying such 

default and requiring the same to be remedied shall have been given to the City by either the 

Registered Owners of 10% in principal amount of the Series 2015 Bonds and Parity Bonds then 

Outstanding. 

Remedies for Defaults 

Upon the happening and continuance of any of the events of default as provided 

under “—Events of Default” above, then and in every case, the Registered Owner or Registered 

Owners of not less than 10% in principal amount of the Series 2015 Bonds and Parity Bonds 

then outstanding, may proceed against the City to protect and to enforce the rights of any 

Registered Owner of the Series 2015 Bonds and Parity Bonds under the Bond Ordinance by 

mandamus or by other suit, action or special proceedings in equity or at appointment of a 

receiver or for the specific performance of any covenant or agreement contained in the Bond 

Ordinance or in an award of execution of any power granted in the Bond Ordinance for the 

enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy as such Registered Owner or Registered 

Owners may deem most effectual to protect and to enforce the rights aforesaid, or thereby to 

enjoin any act or thing which may be unlawful or in violation of any right of any Registered 

Owner or Registered Owners of any bond, or to require the City to act as if it were the trustee of 

an express trust or any combination of such remedies.  All such proceedings at law or in equity 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 60Packet Page 132



 

 

shall be instituted, had and maintained for the equal benefit of all Registered Owners of the 

Series 2015 Bonds and Parity Bonds then outstanding. 

Limitations Upon Amendments 

The Bond Ordinance may be amended or supplemented by ordinances adopted by 

the Council in accordance with the laws of the State without receipt by the City of any additional 

consideration but with the written consent of the Registered Owners of more than 50% of the 

Series 2015 Bonds authorized by the Bond Ordinance and Outstanding at the time of the 

adoption of such amendatory or supplemental ordinance (not including in any case any Series 

2015 Bonds which may then be held or owned for the account of the City but including such 

refunding any of the Series 2015 Bonds authorized in the Bond Ordinance if such refunding 

securities are not owned by the City). 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Bond Ordinance may be amended or 

supplemented by ordinances adopted by the Council in accordance with the constitution and laws 

of the State without receipt by the City of any additional consideration and without receipt by the 

City of any additional consideration and without notice to and consent from the Registered 

Owners of any of the Series 2015 Bonds, for the purposes of (a) curing any ambiguity or 

defective or inconsistent provision contained in the Bond Ordinance as the City may deem 

necessary and desirable and not inconsistent with the provisions of the Bond Ordinance and 

which shall not adversely affect the interests of the owners of the Series 2015 Bonds or any other 

Parity Bonds or (b) subjecting additional properties to the lien of the Bond Ordinance. 

The foregoing paragraphs are subject to the condition, however, that no such 

ordinance shall have the effect of permitting: 

(a) Changing Payment.  A change in the maturity or in the terms of 

redemption of the principal of any Outstanding bond or any installment of interest thereon. 

(b) Reducing Return.  A reduction in the principal amount of any bond, the 

rate of interest thereon or any prior redemption premium payable in connection, therewith 

without the consent of the Registered Owner of the bond. 

(c) Prior Lien.  The creation of a lien upon or a pledge of revenues ranking 

prior to the lien or to the pledge created by the Bond Ordinance. 

(d) Modifying Any Bond.  A reduction of the principal amount, percentages 

or otherwise affecting the description of Series 2015 Bonds the consent of the Registered Owners 

of which is required for any such modification or amendment. 

(e) Priorities Between Bonds.  The establishment of priorities as between 

Series 2015 Bonds issued and Outstanding under the provisions of the Bond Ordinance. 

(f) Partial Modification.  The modification of or otherwise affecting the 

rights of the Registered Owners of less than all of the Series 2015 Bonds then Outstanding. 

 

  

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 61Packet Page 133



 

 

DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

Set forth below is a summary of the estimated debt service requirements for the 

Series 2015 Bonds, the combined debt service requirements for the 2010 Bonds and the 

combined debt service payable on the Series 2015 Bonds and 2010 Bonds.  

Debt Service Requirements(1)* 

                        The Series 2015 Bonds            Debt Service on Grand 

Year Principal Interest Total 2010 Bonds Total 

2015 $   375,000      

2016 1,025,000     

2017 1,030,000     

2018 1,035,000     

2019 1,045,000     

2020 1,060,000     

2021 1,080,000     

2022 1,095,000     

2023 1,120,000     

2024 1,140,000     

2025 1,170,000      

2026 1,195,000     

2027 1,225,000     

2028 1,260,000     

2029 1,295,000     

2030 1,335,000     

2031 1,375,000     

2032 1,415,000     

2033 1,455,000     

2034 1,505,000     

Total $23,235,000     

  

(1) Totals may not add due to rounding.   

 

Source:  The Financial Advisor.  
 

Set forth below is a pro forma debt service coverage chart showing what the 

City’s coverage of the maximum annual debt service on the Series 2010 and Series 2015 Bonds 

($1,940,272.50)* would have been in the years 2010 through 2014, inclusive, from the Net 

Income.  The pro forma debt service coverage is not necessarily indicative of future coverage 

ratios. 

                                                 

* Subject to change. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 62Packet Page 134



 

 

Debt Service Coverage* 

 

2010 2011 2012 2013 

2014 

Unaudited 

      

Fee Revenue (1) $5,039 $4,855 $5,133 $5,508 $5,602 

Non Operating Revenue (2)     44     197     93     63     77 

Total Gross Income 5,083 5,052 5,226 5,571 5,679 

Less Operating Expenses (excluding 

depreciation, amortization and interest 

expense) 3,261 3,341 3,175 3,289 3,607 

Net Income Available for Debt Service 
1,822 1,711 2,051 2,282 2,072 

Maximum Annual Debt Service on Series 2010  

and Series 2015 Bonds 1,940 1,940 1,940 1,940 1,940 

Times Coverage 0.94x  0.88x  1.06x  1.18x  1.07x  

Estimated Times Coverage Accounting  

  for 2015 Rate Increase (3) 
2.89x 2.76x 3.04x 3.31x 3.23x 

____________________ 

(1) Historic revenues do not include the 75% fee increase imposed by the City in 2015.   

(2) Includes primarily interest earnings and other miscellaneous non operating revenue. 

(3) Indicates coverage at 175% of operating revenue received to estimate revenue that would have 

      been received in 2010-2014 if the City’s 2015 rate increase had been in effect. 

 

Source:  The Storm Water and Flood Management Utility 
 

 

                                                 

* Subject to change.  Based in part on estimated debt service on the Series 2015 Bonds provided 

by the Financial Advisor. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 63Packet Page 135



 

 

THE CITY 

Description 

The City of Boulder, Colorado (the “City”) is a municipal corporation duly 

organized and existing as a home rule city under Article XX of the Constitution of the State of 

Colorado (the “State”) and the home rule charter of the City.  The City, with an estimated 2013 

population of approximately 104,000 is located in north central Colorado, approximately 25 

miles northwest of Denver, Colorado via the Denver-Boulder Turnpike (U.S. 36).  The City 

encompasses 25 square miles, and is the county seat of Boulder County. 

Governing Body 

The City operates under a council-manager form of government whereby all 

powers of the City are vested in an elected City Council.  On November 2, 1999 voters approved 

an amendment to the City’s Charter removing term limits for City Council members.  The 

present members of the Council, their principal occupations, lengths of service to the Council, 

and terms of office are as follows: 

    

Name, Office Principal Occupation Years of Service 

Term 

Expires 

    

Matthew Appelbaum, Mayor Software Consultant 15 2017 

Suzanne Jones, Mayor Pro Tem Nonprofit Executive Director 3 2015 

Lisa Morzel Geologist 15 2015 

Macon Cowles Attorney 9 2015 

George Karakehian Business Owner 5 2015 

Tim Plass Attorney 3 2015 

Andrew Shoemaker Attorney 1 2017 

Sam Weaver CEO 1 2017 

Mary Young
 

Consultant 1 2017 

 

Administrative Personnel 

The City Council consists of nine members elected for staggered four and two 

year terms.  The presiding member of the City Council, as selected by the members thereof, is 

designated as Mayor. 

Various individuals are responsible for implementation of the City Council’s 

actions with respect the day-to-day operation and maintenance of the City.  The following 

paragraphs summarize the background and experience of selected City administrative personnel. 

The City Manager manages the day to day business of the City government; sets 

strategic direction to achieve the City’s community sustainability goals; implements council 

determined policies; coordinates community issues between departments; and supervises the 

work of the departments. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 64Packet Page 136



 

 
 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager.  Jane S. Brautigam was appointed City 

Manager in October of 2008 and is the City’s first woman manager in its 90 year history.  Before 

joining the City, Brautigam was city manager for Dublin, Ohio. Previously she worked as the 

city manager and city attorney for Loveland, Colorado and as assistant county attorney for 

Boulder County from 1983 to 1985.  Ms. Brautigam began practicing law in 1976, where she 

focused on civil and municipal law, also serving as the city attorney for Greenwood Village, 

Colorado and assistant town attorney for the towns of Edgartown and Oak Bluffs, Massachusetts. 

Brautigam earned a Bachelor of Arts in history from Allegheny College and a law degree from 

the University of Pennsylvania Law School.  She currently serves as a member of the Executive 

Board of the International City Manager’s Association, one of three regional vice presidents 

representing the Mountain Plains region of the United States, and is a member of the board of 

directors of the Foothills United Way. 

Robert W. Eichem, Chief Financial Officer  Mr. Eichem has been the Chief 

Financial Officer of the City since May 2005.   He has 35 years of experience as a finance officer 

in Colorado local government.  He has extensive experience in debt and investment portfolio 

management.  He holds a bachelor’s degree in business administration from Colorado State 

University. At the national level, he is the past president of the Government Finance Officers 

Association (GFOA) of the United States and Canada, and has served on the board of this 

organization for five years.  He has served twice as the President of the Colorado Government 

Finance Officers Association and served as the Education Chairman of the organization for 11 

years.  He is a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and Colorado 

Society of Certified Public Accountants.  Mr. Eichem is frequently asked to be a panel member, 

speaker or instructor at national and state conferences on a variety of local government finance 

topics. 

Growth Policy 

The City and County have a jointly adopted comprehensive plan that directs new 

urban development to the City’s service area, preserves lands outside the urban growth 

boundary, promotes a compact community, provides for affordable housing, and promotes 

alternative transportation modes. 

In January 2014, the City and its service area (Areas I and II) had a population of 

approximately 113,690 and employment of 100,500.  Approximately 30,000 students attend the 

University of Colorado.  Over the next 20 years, the City is projected to add another 8,000 

housing units, 16,000 people and 20,000 jobs.  Since there is little vacant land left in the City’s 

service area, most of this growth will occur through redevelopment. 

Public Utilities  

Gas and electricity for the City are provided by Public Service Company of 

Colorado.  Rates for gas, electricity and telephone service are regulated by the Public Utilities 

Commission.  The City is in the process of creating a municipal energy utility.  See “LEGAL 

MATTERS – Litigation.” 

Water, sanitary sewer and storm water and flood management are divisions of the 

City’s Public Works Department.  Revenues come primarily from monthly service charges paid 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 65Packet Page 137



 

 
 

by customers and fees paid with respect to new development, such as plant investment fees and 

connection charges. 

Utility rates are set by the City Council on the recommendation of department 

staff, after public hearings.  Water use charges are based on water meter size and the amount of 

water used, and all customers are metered.  Wastewater charges are based on water meter size, as 

well as on the actual amount of water used or on the average water consumption during the 

months of December through March of each year.   

The City’s water supply currently comes from the City owned watershed, Barker 

Reservoir and the watershed to Barker, and Colorado River water that is transported to the east 

slope through the Colorado Big Thompson System.  Treated water is stored in six reservoirs 

around the City. 

Retirement and Pension Matters 

City employees are covered under several retirement plans and other, non-City 

funded postemployment benefits are available to employees.  The matters are discussed in 

significant detail in Notes U, V and W to the City’s audited financial statements appended 

hereto. 

Labor Relations 

Non-management, non exempt employees of most City departments are presently 

represented by the Boulder Municipal Employees Association (the “BMEA”) through the last 

pay period of 2016.  There are 425 standard employees represented by the BMEA. In addition, 

the City also has economic contracts with the police association (169 employees), renewed 

through the last pay period of 2015 and the firefighters’ association (97 employees) renewed 

through the last pay period of 2016.  In the opinion of the City’s Human Resources Director, 

Joyce Lira, the City’s relationship with its employees is presently satisfactory.  

CITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Debt Limitation 

Debt Limitation.  The Charter limits City indebtedness to no more than three 

percent of the total assessed valuation of real property within the City.  The 2014 assessed 

valuation is $2,599,361,894; therefore, the maximum general obligation debt permitted by the 

Charter is $77,980,856.  This limit does not include revenue bonds, even if there is a contingent 

pledge of the full faith and credit of the City.  The City presently has no indebtedness 

outstanding which applies toward the debt limit. 

Parity Bonds.  The 2010 Bonds, presently outstanding in the aggregate principal 

amount of $1,430,000 are the only obligations outstanding with a parity lien on the Net Income 

with the Bonds.  See “DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS.” 

Revenue Obligations with General Obligation Pledge. Set forth below are certain 

obligations of the City outstanding secured with a pledge of revenues other than the Net Income 

and are additionally secured by a pledge of the City’s full faith and credit.  The Bonds are not 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 66Packet Page 138



 

 
 

secured by a pledge of the City’s full faith and credit and are secured solely by a pledge of the 

Net Income. 

Outstanding Revenue Bonds Secured by a General Obligation Pledge 

 

Outstanding 

 

Principal 

Obligation Amount 

Open Space Acquisition Bonds, Series 2006 $8,975,000 

Open Space Acquisition Refunding Bonds, Series 2007 6,435,000 

Parks Acquisition Bonds, Series 2009 2,130,000 

Waste Reduction Bonds, Series 2009  4,750,000 

Open Space Acquisition Bonds, Series 2014 10,000,000 

 

$22,290,000 

 

Other Revenue Obligations.  The City has the authority to issue revenue 

obligations payable from the net revenues derived from the operation of municipality-owned 

utilities or other income producing projects or from the revenue received from certain taxes other 

than ad valorem property taxes.  Such obligations do not constitute an indebtedness of the City; 

however, except for refinancing bonded debt at a lower interest rate, TABOR (as defined 

hereafter) requires that all multiple fiscal year obligations of the City have voter approval, unless 

the City qualifies the issuing utility as an enterprise, which would exempt the issuance of such 

debt from the provisions of TABOR.  The following table sets forth the City’s revenue 

obligations (other than conduit issuances) which are outstanding as of the date of this Official 

Statement. 

Other Outstanding Revenue Obligations 

 

Outstanding 

 

Principal 

Obligation Amount 

Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2005B $  1,630,000 

Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2007 10,290,000 

Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds, Series 2010 8,380,000 

Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2011 12,510,000 

Water and Sewer Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2012 24,325,000 

 

$57,135,000 

General Fund Bonds.  In 2010 the City issued its Taxable Pension Obligation 

Bonds, Series 2010, which are presently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of 

$7,720,000 and in 2012, the City issued its General Fund Bonds, Series 2012, which are 

presently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $42,485,000.  These bonds are not 

general obligations of the City but are secured by all legally available funds and revenues of the 

City’s General Fund. 

Central Area General Improvement District.  In 1970, the City created the 

Central Area General Improvement District (“CAGID”), which consists of a portion of the City 

including its core downtown area.  CAGID obligations are not obligations of the City as a whole, 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 67Packet Page 139



 

 
 

but are limited to the CAGID area.  CAGID presently has outstanding $5,450,000 aggregate 

principal amount of General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2009 and $6,545,000 aggregate 

principal amount of General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2012.  These bonds are secured 

by certain revenues pledged by CAGID as well as a pledge of the full faith and credit of CAGID, 

but not the City as a whole. 

Other Financial Obligations.  The City has the power to create special 

improvement districts and to issue special assessment bonds payable from assessments against 

benefited properties within the district.  The City does not have any outstanding special 

improvement districts. 

Leases and Long Term Contracts.  The Council has the authority to enter into 

installment or lease option contracts, subject to annual appropriation, for the purchase of 

property or capital equipment without prior electoral approval as described in “LEGAL 

MATTERS--Certain Constitutional Limitations.”  The term of any such contract may not extend 

over a period greater than the estimated useful life of the property or equipment.  As of 

December 31, 2014, the City had outstanding approximately $7,178,000 of lease purchase 

revenue notes, subject to annual appropriation which are payable from revenues guaranteed by 

the City’s sales and use tax. 

Mill Levy Limitations and Tax Rates 

The Charter restricts the property tax levy to 13.0 mills on a dollar of assessed 

valuation.  This limitation does not include special assessments for local improvements, payment 

of interest or principal on bonded indebtedness or the charter mill levy for health and hospital 

purposes.  Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution, however, imposes limitations 

which are substantially more restrictive than those of the Charter.  See “LEGAL MATTERS--

Certain Constitutional Limitations.” 

Earmarked funds from the property tax include 0.900 mills for the Permanent 

Park and Recreation Fund, 0.333 mills for the Library Fund, and 0.400 mills for human-services 

purposes.  The 0.400 mills for human-services purposes is included in the City’s General Fund. 

For levy/collection years 2004 2005 through 2008 2009, the City approved and 

certified a temporary mill levy rate reduction concurrently with its certification of its mill levy to 

the board of county commissioners.  These credits were set off against the City’s “gross” mill 

levy to arrive at a “net” mill levy.  Upon receipt of any tax warrant reflecting a temporary mill 

levy reduction for any local government, the county treasurer is only responsible for collecting 

taxes on behalf of such local government based upon that local government’s “net” mill levy.  As 

such, the City’s “net” mill levies for levy/collection years 2004 2005 through 2008 2009 are used 

in Tables IX through XI below.  See also “LEGAL MATTERS--Certain Constitutional 

Limitations.” 

In the November 4, 2008 election, city voters approved the removal of the 

remaining TABOR restriction on property tax with a phase-in period and without any specific 

earmark for the use of the funds. Approval of this ballot issue had the effect of reducing the mill 

levy credit by up to .50 mill each year until the credit was completely eliminated. In 2012, the 

remaining mill levy credit completely was eliminated.  The 2014 mill levy rate of 11.981 

remained the same as in 2013. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 68Packet Page 140



 

 
 

Summary of City Funds 

The following tables provide historic information regarding the City’s General 

Fund and Stormwater and Flood Management Fund.  The Bonds are secured solely by the Net 

Income and the inclusion of information regarding the City’s General Fund is for informational 

purposes only.  The Bonds are not secured by a pledge of any assets or revenue allocable to the 

General Fund. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 69Packet Page 141



 

 
 

Historical Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance - General Fund (in thousands)  
Revenues: 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 (2) 

  Taxes: 

     

 

    Sales and use taxes $38,591 $39,657 $41,762 $46,314 $51,375 $55,457 

    General property taxes 19,702 21,746 25,436 27,234 27,194 28,041 

    Accommodation taxes 3,049 3,199 4,668 4,890 5,192 6,443 

    Franchise taxes 7,909 9,023 8,457 10,460 10,938 10,410 

    Specific Ownership & Tobacco taxes 1,586 1,586 1,578 1,788 1,839 1,954 

    Excise taxes 491 182 585 361 329 790 

  Charges for Services 3,498 3,601 3,871 4,264 5,032 4,374 

  Sale of goods 49 61 179 423 197 350 

  Licenses, permits and fines 5,566 6,954 6,170 6,339 6,334 6,151 

  Intergovernmental 1,746 2,266 1,432 3,132 1,710 3,732 

  Leases, rents and royalties 202 216 214 221 219 214 

  Interest and investment earnings 468 482 653 257 128 251 

  Other 1,189 477 1,088 875 745 688 

      Total revenues 84,046 89,450 96,093 106,558 111,232 118,855 

Expenditures: 

     

 

  Current: 

     

 

    General Government 10,324  12,121  15,809  13,390  18,575  14,831 

    Administrative Services 8,735  8,583  8,504  9,149  10,024  6,773 

    Public Safety 43,194  53,891  45,042  47,744  48,122  50,196 

    Public Works 4,366  4,502  4,962  5,196  5,529  6,052 

    Planning & Development Services 48  43  43  43  43  58 

    Culture and Recreation 4,080  4,196  11,444  12,474  12,585  13,768 

    Open Space and Mountain Parks 183  193  247  186  193  90 

    Housing and Human Services 5,338  5,827  6,263  9,614  10,278  7,466 

  Capital outlay 5,441  -- -- 1,467  -- --  

  Debt service payments: 

     

 

    Principal 5,906  1,250  1,850  2,420  3,115  2,920 

    Interest 226  333  650  1,546  2,341  2,261 

    Base rentals to Boulder Municipal Property Authority 598 594  598  601  -- --  

Cost of issuance - bonds -- -- 104  -- -- --  

        Total expenditures 88,439  91,561  95,516  103,830  110,805  104,415 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under) expenditures (4,393) (2,111) 577  2,728  427  14,440 

Other financing sources (uses): 

     

 

  Sale of capital assets 6  9  12  -- -- 1 

  Note payable issued 5,441  -- -- -- -- --  

  Bonds issued 6,000  9,203  -- -- -- --  

  Premium on bonds issued 72  -- -- -- --  -- 

  Extraordinary item -- -- (1,250) -- 1,888  956 

  Transfers in 8,274  9,099  15,498  11,026  10,283  1,444 

  Transfers out (13,519) (13,251) (13,681) (7,184) (8,411) (8,211) 

    Total other financing sources (uses) 6,274  5,060  579  3,842  3,760  (5,810) 

Net change in fund balance 1,881  2,949  1,156  6,570  4,187  8,630 

Fund balance, beginning of year 21,452 23,333 30,529 (1) 31,685 38,255 42,442 

Fund balance, end of year $23,333 $26,282 $31,685 $38,255 $42,442 $51,072  

__________________ 

(1) The City’s beginning fund balance for the year ended December 31, 2011, was amended to reflect a change in accounting 

practice pursuant to GASB 54. 

(2) Unaudited, through December 31, 2014 

Source: The City’s audited financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2009-2013 and unaudited year to date financial 

statements through December 31, 2014. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 70Packet Page 142



 

 
 

Historical Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance –  

Stormwater and Flood Management Fund (in thousands)  
Operating revenues: 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014(1) 

  Charges for services $5,046 $5,038 $4,856 $5,133 $5,508 $5,602 

      Total operating revenues 5,046  5,038  4,856  5,133  5,508  5,602 

      

 

Operating expenses 

     

 

  Personnel 1,495  1,509  1,490  1,565  1,556  1,606 

  Non-personnel 1,339  1,637  1,734  1,480  1,607  2,001 

  Depreciation and amortization 989  1,059  1,116  1,129  1,143  1,169 

    Total operating expenses 3,823  4,205  4,340  4,174  4,306  4,776 

 

           

Operating income (loss) 1,223  833  516  959  1,202  826 

      

 

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 

     

 

  Interest and investment earnings 179  169  194  88  61  40 

  Leases, rents and royalties 38  41  40  35  29  36 

  Intergovernmental revenue 136  132  136  182  120  -- 

  Interest expense (58) (111) (54) (45) (24) -- 

  Loss on disposition of capital assets -- -- -- -- -- (2,128) 

  Other, net 1  18  (278) (33) 2  1 

    Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 296  249  38  227  188  (2,051) 

      

 

    Income (loss) before capital contributions 

    and transfers 1,519  1,082  554  1,186  1,390  (1,225) 

      

 

Capital contributions 3,255  1,926  1,505  745  772  6,026 

Transfers in 203  91  197  161  --  --  

Transfers out (318) (325) (319) (334) (347) (146) 

      

 

Change in net position 4,659  2,774  1,937  1,758  1,815  4,655 

      

 

Total net position, beginning of year 71,835  76,494  79,268  81,205  82,915  84,730  

      

 

Total net position, end of year $76,494 $79,268 $81,205 $82,963 $84,730 $89,385 
 

__________________. 

(1) Unaudited, through December 31, 2014. 

Source: The City’s audited financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2009-2013 and unaudited year to 

date financial statements through December 31, 2014. 

  

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 71Packet Page 143



 

 
 

ECONOMIC AND DEMOGRAPHIC INFORMATION 

This portion of the Official Statement contains general information concerning 

historic economic and demographic conditions in and surrounding the City.  It is intended only to 

provide prospective investors with general information regarding the City’s community.  The 

information was obtained from the sources indicated and is limited to the time periods indicated.  

The information is historic in nature; it is not possible to predict whether the trends shown will 

continue in the future.  The City makes no representation as to the accuracy or completeness of 

data obtained from parties other than the City. 

Population  

The following table sets forth the respective populations of the City, Boulder 

County, and the State of Colorado for the time periods shown.  Between 2000 and 2010, the 

population of the City increased 2.9% and that of Boulder County increased 9.2%.  The State’s 

population increased 16.9% during the same time period. 

Population 

Year 

City of 

Boulder
 

Percent 

Change 

Boulder 

County
 

Percent 

Change Colorado 

Percent 

Change 

1970 66,870 -- 131,889 -- 2,207,259 -- 

1980 76,685 14.7% 189,625 43.8% 2,889,735 30.9% 

1990 83,312 8.6 225,339 18.8 3,294,394 14.0 

2000
(1)

 94,673 13.6 269,814 19.7 4,301,261 30.6 

2010 97,385 2.9 294,567 9.2 5,029,196 16.9 

2011 100,181 -- 300,210 -- 5,117,368 -- 

2012 101,363 1.2% 305,068 1.6% 5,188,504 1.4% 

2013 102,760 1.4 309,874 1.6 5,264,890 1.5 
  

(1) The 2000 figure for Boulder County was adjusted by the Colorado State Demography Office to reflect the 2001 

creation of the City and County of Broomfield.  

Sources: United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census (1970-2010) and Colorado State 

Demography Office (2011-2013 estimates, which are subject to periodic revisions).  

 

Income 

The following table sets forth annual per capita personal income levels for 

Boulder County, the State and the United States.  Per capita levels in Boulder County have 

consistently exceeded State and national levels during the period shown. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 72Packet Page 144



 

 
 

Annual Per Capita Personal Income
 

Year
(1) 

Boulder 

County Colorado 

United 

States 

2009 $48,159 $41,518 $39,379 

2010 48,983 41,689 40,144 

2011 51,668 44,183 42,332 

2012
 

54,502 46,315 44,200 

2013 54,968 46,897 44,765 

  
(1) Figures for Boulder County posted November 20, 2014.  State and national figures posted September 30, 2014.  

All figures are subject to periodic revisions. 

 
Source: United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis. 

Employment 

The following table presents information on employment within Boulder County, 

the State and the United States for the period indicated. 

Labor Force and Percent Unemployed

 Boulder County
(1)

 Colorado
(1)

 United States 

Year 

Labor 

  Force   

Percent 

Unemployed 

Labor 

   Force    

Percent 

Unemployed 

Percent 

Unemployed 

2009 176,023 6.8% 2,734,568 8.1% 9.3% 

2010 175,253 6.9 2,722,913 9.0 9.6 

2011 176,755 6.3 2,725,757 8.5 8.9 

2012 179,702 5.9 2,746,210 7.8 8.1 

2013 180,682 5.2 2,754,870 6.8 7.4 

Month of January
    

2014
(2)

 181,263 5.1% 2,745,967 6.6% 6.6% 

2015 176,355 3.7 2,809,425 4.7 5.7 

  
(1) Figures for Boulder County and the State are not seasonally adjusted. 

(2) 2014 figures for Boulder County and the State are preliminary. 

 

Sources: State of Colorado, Department of Labor and Employment, Labor Market Information, Labor Force Data 

and United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. 

 

The following table sets forth the number of individuals employed within selected 

Boulder County industries which are covered by unemployment insurance.  In 2013, the largest 

employment sector in Boulder County was professional and technical services (comprising 

approximately 14.8% of the county’s work force), followed, in order, by educational services, 

health care and social assistance, manufacturing, and retail trade.  For the twelve-month period 

ended December 31, 2013, total average employment in Boulder County increased 2.4% as 

compared to the same period ending December 31, 2012, and the average weekly wage increased 

by approximately 1.9% during the same period. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 73Packet Page 145



 

 
 

Average Number of Employees within Selected Industries - Boulder County 

Industry 2009 2010 2011 2012
 

2013
 

2014
(1) 

Accommodation & Food Services 14,080 14,259 14,977 15,525 15,856 16,275 

Administrative & Waste Services 5,655 5,832 6,492 6,617 6,832 6,986 

Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries 355 382 389 385 394 410 

Arts, Entertainment & Recreation 2,673 2,749 2,788 2,813 2,861 2,983 

Construction 4,565 4,086 3,831 3,993 4,259 4,641 

Educational Services 18,789 18,986 19,150 19,537 19,955 20,352 

Finance & Insurance 5,004 4,869 4,756 4,742 4,906 4,852 

Government 7,537 7,590 7,565 7,609 7,667 7,876 

Health Care & Social Assistance 17,585 17,605 18,314 18,853 19,558 19,858 

Information 8,784 8,696 8,662 8,733 8,348 8,269 

Management of Companies/Enterprises 994 923 939 1,029 1,068 1,078 

Manufacturing 15,335 15,202 15,920 16,543 17,148 17,375 

Mining 485 545 251 251 212 276 

Non-classifiable 11 9 8 20 23 42 

Other Services 4,337 4,429 4,430 4,566 4,773 4,832 

Professional & Technical Services 21,827 21,504 22,628 23,721 24,422 25,420 

Real Estate, Rental & Leasing 2,203 2,114 2,141 2,226 2,284 2,352 

Retail Trade 15,521 15,181 15,582 16,009 16,177 16,326 

Transportation & Warehousing 1,939 1,940 1,918 1,967 2,037 2,028 

Utilities 312 332 306 292 284 290 

Wholesale Trade    4,920    4,884    5,088   5,266   5,522   5,543 

  Total
(2) 

152,909 152,116 156,134 160,697 164,583 168,065 

  
(1) Averaged figures through the third quarter of 2014. 

(2) Figures may not equal totals when added, due to the rounding of averages or the inclusion in the total figure of 

employees that were not disclosed in individual classifications. 

 

Source: State of Colorado, Department of Labor and Employment, Labor Market Information, Quarterly Census 

of Employment and Wages (QCEW). 

  

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 74Packet Page 146



 

 
 

Major Employers 

The following table sets forth a selection of the largest public and private 

employers in the Boulder County area, which includes Boulder County, the City and County of 

Broomfield, and southwest Weld County.  No independent investigation of the stability or 

financial condition of the employers listed hereafter has been conducted; therefore, no 

representation can be made that these employers will continue to maintain their status as major 

employers in the area. 

Major Employers in the Boulder County Area 

Name of Employer Product or Service 

Estimated 

Number of 

Employees
(1)

 

University of Colorado at Boulder Higher Education 7,964
(2)

 

Boulder Valley School District K-12 Education 4,133
(3)

 

IBM Computer Systems and Services 2,800 

St. Vrain Valley School District K-12 Education 2,535
(4)

 

Level 3 Communications Inc. Communication and Internet Systems 2,500 

Boulder Community Health Healthcare 2,260
(5)

 

Ball Corp.
(6)

 Aerospace, Containers 2,014 

Oracle Corp. Software and Network Computer Systems 2,000 

Covidien PLC
(7)

 Medical Devices and Products 1,780 

Boulder County Government 1,752
(8)

 

Walmart General Merchandise Retail 1,450 

Seagate Technology Computer Hard Drives 1,387 

City of Boulder Government 1,261
(8)

 

Urban Lending Solutions Mortgage Services 930 

DigitalGlobe Satellite Imagery Provider 927 

Hunter Douglas Window Fashions Division Window Coverings Manufacturing 912 

  
(1) Figures for private sector employers show full-time employees in the Boulder County area as posted on 

November 1, 2014. 

(2) Figure as of November 1, 2014.  Figure does not include student employees. 

(3) Figure includes full-time and part-time employees as of January 1, 2014. 

(4) Full-time equivalent employees for fiscal year 2014. 

(5) Figure as of May 2014. 

(6) Ball Corp. includes Ball Aerospace & Technologies Corp. 

(7) Covidien PLC includes Surgical Solutions and Respiratory and Monitoring Solutions. 

(8) Full-time equivalent employees for fiscal year 2013. 

 

Sources: Daily Camera, “Boulder County Area’s Largest Employers in the Private Sector,” posted November 1, 

2014; Development Research Partners as posted by Metro Denver Economic Development Corporation; 

and individual public sector employers. 

 

Retail Sales 

The following table sets forth annual retail sales figures for the City, Boulder 

County, and the State.   

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 75Packet Page 147



 

 
 

Retail Sales 

(in thousands) 

Year 

City of 

Boulder   

Percent 

Change 

Boulder 

  County   

Percent 

Change 

 

 

Colorado 

 

Percent 

Change 

2009 $3,515,720 -- $7,975,222 -- $134,058,593 -- 

2010 3,873,581 10.2% 8,474,164 6.3 % 143,670,319 7.2 % 

2011 4,204,617 8.5 9,139,050 7.8 154,697,943 7.7 

2012 4,459,244 6.1 9,632,691 5.4 164,387,648 6.3 

2013 4,434,036 (0.6) 9,841,181 2.2 171,362,038 4.2 

2014
(1)

 988,768 -- 2,214,986 -- 40,684,517 -- 

  
(1) Figures are for January 1 through March 31, 2014. 

 

Source: State of Colorado, Department of Revenue, “Sales Tax Statistics”, 2009-2014. 

 

Building Activity 

The following tables provide a history of building permits issued for new 

residential and commercial construction in the City and the unincorporated portions of Boulder 

County during the time period shown.   

Building Permit Issuances for New Structures in the City of Boulder 

 Single Family Multi-Family
(1)

 Commercial/Industrial
(2)

 

Year Buildings Value Buildings Value Buildings Value 

2010
 

60 $14,498,758 34 $62,798,265 9 $6,254,296 

2011 35 13,877,942 27 64,270,630 4 51,299,408 

2012 50 23,978,967 11 50,498,662 9 63,573,730 

2013
 

57 21,292,625 54 161,977,375 13 87,176,920 

2014 83 47,911,360 42 103,430,970 20 115,793,193 

2015
(3)

 9 3,692,945 3 2,596,483 5 17,427,444 

  
(1) Includes permits for condos, townhomes, and multi-family dwellings. 

(2) Includes permits for hotels and motels; amusement, social and recreational; industrial; offices, banks and 

professional; and stores. 

(3) Figures are for permits issued from January 1 through February 28, 2015. 

 

Source: City of Boulder, Planning and Development Services. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 76Packet Page 148



 

 
 

Building Permit Issuances in Unincorporated Boulder County 

 

New Residential
 

New 

Commercial/Industrial
(1) 

Year Permits Valuation Permits Valuation 

2010
 

44 $24,294,536 -0- -0- 

2011
(2) 

101 38,742,276 1 $49,000 

2012 58 22,436,299 1 692,000 

2013
 

59 26,599,986 2 681,500 

2014 43 27,150,645 4 2,829,000 

2015
(3)

 2 1,539,610 -0- -0- 

  
(1) Includes new industrial buildings and manufacturing plants; offices, banks, and professional buildings; and 

stores, customer service buildings, and restaurants. 

(2) The unusually high number of new residential permits is partially due to permits issued to replace residences 

destroyed by wildfire. 

(3) Figures are for permits issued from January 1 through February 28, 2015. 

Source: Boulder County Land Use Department, Building Safety and Inspection Division. 

Foreclosure Activity 

The following table sets forth the number of foreclosures filed in Boulder County 

during the time period shown.  Such information only represents the number of foreclosures filed 

and does not take into account foreclosures which were filed and subsequently redeemed or 

withdrawn. 

History of Foreclosures 

Year 

Boulder 

County 

Percent 

Change 

2010 1,352 -- 

2011 965 (28.6)% 

2012 789 (18.2) 

2013 389 (50.7) 

2014 256 (34.2) 

2015
(1)

 31 -- 
  
(1) Figures are for January 1 through February 28, 2015. 

 

Sources: Colorado Division of Housing (2010 to 2013 figures) and Boulder County Public Trustee’s Office (2014 

and 2015 figures). 

 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 77Packet Page 149



 

 
 

TAX MATTERS 

Generally 

In the opinion of Kutak Rock LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing laws, 

regulations, rulings and judicial decisions, interest on the Series 2015 Bonds is excludable from 

gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not a specific preference item for purposes 

of the federal alternative minimum tax.  The opinions described in the preceding sentence 

assumes the accuracy of certain representations and compliance by the City with covenants 

designed to satisfy the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, that 

must be met subsequent to the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds.  Failure to comply with such 

requirements could cause interest on the Series 2015 Bonds to be included in gross income for 

federal income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds.  The 

City has covenanted to comply with such requirements.  Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion 

regarding other federal tax consequences arising with respect to the Series 2015 Bonds. 

Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, to the extent excludable from gross 

income for federal income tax purposes, interest on the Series 2015 Bonds are not subject to 

State of Colorado income taxation or in the calculation of alternative minimum taxable income 

for purposes of the Colorado alternative minimum tax. 

Notwithstanding Bond Counsel’s opinion that interest on the Series 2015 Bonds is 

not a specific preference item for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax, such interest 

will be included in adjusted current earnings of certain corporations, and such corporations are 

required to include in the calculation of alternative minimum taxable income 75% of the excess 

of such corporation’s adjusted current earnings over their alternative minimum taxable income 

(determined without regard to such adjustment and prior to reduction for certain net operating 

losses). 

The accrual or receipt of interest on the Series 2015 Bonds may otherwise affect 

the federal income tax liability of the owners of the Series 2015 Bonds.  The extent of these other 

tax consequences will depend upon such owner’s particular tax status or other items of income or 

deduction.  Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion regarding any such consequences.  

Purchasers of the Series 2015 Bonds, particularly purchasers that are corporations (including 

S corporations and foreign corporations operating branches in the United States), property or 

casualty insurance companies, banks, thrifts or other financial institutions, certain recipients of 

social security or railroad retirement benefits, and taxpayers who may be deemed to have 

incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry tax-exempt obligations, should consult 

their tax advisors as to the tax consequences of purchasing or owning the Series 2015 Bonds. 

A copy of the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel with respect to the 

Series 2015 Bonds is attached as Appendix D to this Official Statement. 

Original Issue Discount and Original Issue Premium 

Certain of the Series 2015 Bonds are being sold at a premium (collectively, the 

“Premium Obligations”).  An amount equal to the excess of the issue price of a Premium 

Obligation over its stated redemption price at maturity constitutes original issue premium on 

such Premium Obligation.  An initial purchaser of a Premium Obligation must amortize any 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 78Packet Page 150



 

 
 

premium over the term of such Premium Obligation using constant yield principles based upon 

the purchaser’s yield to maturity (or, in the case of Premium Obligations callable prior to their 

maturity, by amortizing the premium to the call date, based upon the purchaser’s yield to the call 

date and giving effect to any call premium).  As premium is amortized, the amount of premium 

amortized in a payment period offsets a corresponding amount of the interest allocable to the 

corresponding payment period and the purchaser’s basis in such Premium Obligation is reduced 

by a corresponding amount resulting in the gain (or decrease in the loss) to be recognized for 

federal income tax purposes upon a sale or disposition of such Premium Obligation prior to its 

maturity.  Even though the purchaser’s basis may be reduced, no federal income tax deduction is 

allowed.  Purchasers of the Premium Obligations should consult with their tax advisors with 

respect to the determination and treatment of amortizable premium for federal income tax 

purposes and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning a Premium 

Obligation. 

Certain of the Series 2015 Bonds are being sold at a discount (the “Discounted 

Tax Exempt Obligations”).  The difference between the initial public offering prices of the 

Discounted Tax Exempt Obligations and their stated amounts to be paid at maturity or upon prior 

redemption, constitutes original issue discount treated as interest which is not includible in gross 

income for federal income tax purposes, subject to the caveats and provisions described above. 

In the case of an owner of a Discounted Tax Exempt Obligation, the amount of 

original issue discount which is treated as having accrued with respect to such Discounted Tax 

Exempt Obligation is added to the cost basis of the owner in determining, for federal income tax 

purposes, gain or loss upon disposition of a Discounted Tax Exempt Obligation (including its 

sale, redemption or payment at maturity).  Amounts received upon disposition of a Discounted 

Tax Exempt Obligation which are attributable to accrued original issue discount will be treated 

as tax exempt interest, rather than as taxable gain, for federal income tax purposes. 

Original issue discount is treated as compounding semiannually, at a rate 

determined by reference to the yield to maturity of each individual Discounted Tax Exempt 

Obligation, on days which are determined by reference to the maturity date of such Discounted 

Tax Exempt Obligation.  The amount treated as original issue discount on a Discounted Tax 

Exempt Obligation for a particular semiannual accrual period is equal to (a) the product of (i) the 

yield to maturity for such Discounted Tax Exempt Obligation (determined by compounding at 

the close of each accrual period) and (ii) the amount which would have been the tax basis of such 

Discounted Tax Exempt Obligation at the beginning of the particular accrual period if held by 

the original purchaser; and (b) less the amount of any interest payable for such Discounted Tax 

Exempt Obligation during the accrual period.  The tax basis is determined by adding to the initial 

public offering price on such Discounted Tax Exempt Obligation the sum of the amounts which 

have been treated as original issue discount for such purposes during all prior periods.  If a 

Discounted Tax Exempt Obligation is sold between semiannual compounding dates, original 

issue discount which would have been accrued for that semiannual compounding period for 

federal income tax purposes is to be apportioned in equal amounts among the days in such 

compounding period. 

The Code contains additional provisions relating to the accrual of original issue 

discount in the case of owners of a Discounted Tax Exempt Obligation who purchase such 

Discounted Tax Exempt Obligations after the initial offering.  Owners of Discounted Tax 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 79Packet Page 151



 

 
 

Exempt Obligations including purchasers of the Discounted Tax Exempt Obligations in the 

secondary market should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the determination for 

federal income tax purposes of original issue discount accrued with respect to such obligations as 

of any date and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning a Discounted Tax 

Exempt Obligation. 

Backup Withholding 

As a result of the enactment of the Tax Increase Prevention and Reconciliation 

Act of 2005, interest on tax-exempt obligations such as the Series 2015 Bonds is subject to 

information reporting in a manner similar to interest paid on taxable obligations. Backup 

withholding may be imposed on payments made to any owner of the Series 2015 Bonds who 

fails to provide certain required information including an accurate taxpayer identification number 

to any person required to collect such information pursuant to Section 6049 of the Code. The 

reporting requirement does not in and of itself affect or alter the excludability of interest on the 

Series 2015 Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes or any other federal tax 

consequence of purchasing, holding or selling tax exempt obligations. 

Changes in Federal Tax Law 

From time to time, there are legislative proposals in the Congress and in the states 

that, if enacted, could alter or amend the federal and state tax matters referred to above or 

adversely affect the market value of the Series 2015 Bonds.  It cannot be predicted whether or in 

what form any such proposal might be enacted or whether if enacted, it would apply to bonds 

issued prior to enactment.  In addition, regulatory actions are from time to time announced or 

proposed and litigation is threatened or commenced which, if implemented or concluded in a 

particular manner, could adversely affect the market value of the Series 2015 Bonds.  It cannot 

be predicted whether any such regulatory action will be implemented, how any particular 

litigation or judicial action will be resolved, or whether the Series 2015 Bonds of the market 

value thereof would be impacted thereby.  Purchasers of the Series 2015 Bonds should consult 

their tax advisor regarding any pending or proposed tax legislation.  The opinions expressed by 

Bond Counsel are based upon existing legislation as of the date of issuance and delivery of the 

Series 2015 Bonds and Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion as of any date subsequent thereto 

or with respect to any pending legislation. 

LEGAL MATTERS 

Litigation 

The City has been advised that to the best knowledge of the City Attorney as of 

the date of this Official Statement, there are no suits or claims currently pending or threatened 

against the City that will materially and adversely affect the financial condition or operations of 

the City, the City’s power to issue and deliver the Series 2015 Bonds; the proceedings and 

authority under which the Series 2015 Bonds are issued, the Fee is charged and collected, or the 

Net Income is collected, or affecting the validity of the Series 2015 Bonds or the pledge of said 

Net Income to the repayment of the Series 2015 Bonds thereunder; and neither the corporate 

existence nor the boundaries of the City or the title of its present officers to their respective 

offices is being contested. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 80Packet Page 152



 

 
 

The City is presently engaged in the process of creating a municipal energy 

utility.  To that end, the City intends to initiate proceedings in 2015 in the Colorado Public 

Utilities Commission to determine how facilities should be assigned, divided, or jointly used to 

protect the utility system’s effectiveness reliability and safety in order to obtain certain property 

and equipment presently owned by Public Service Company of Colorado (known by the trade 

name “Xcel Energy”). After the Public Utilities commission proceedings, the city intends to 

initiate good faith negotiations, and if necessary condemnation proceedings to acquire such 

property and equipment. Additionally, the city created a light and power utility through the 

adoption of Chapter 11-7, “Light and Power Utility,” B.R.C. 1981 (Ordinance No. 7969) in 

2014. Subsequently, Xcel Energy challenged that decision in Boulder District Court.  That case 

is presently pending before the court. 

Xcel Energy is presently the primary provider of electric service within the City.  

The transition to a municipal energy utility and the related issuance of up to $214 million of 

bonds or other obligations to finance the property to be acquired to Xcel Energy have been 

approved by the City’s voters.  The completion of this process is subject to certain conditions 

which may or may not be met.  Any obligations issued on behalf of the municipal energy utility 

are not anticipated to be secured by the Net Income. 

Governmental Immunity 

The Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, Title 24, Article 10, C.R.S. (the 

“Immunity Act”), provides that, with certain specified exceptions, sovereign immunity acts as a 

bar to any action against a public entity, such as the City, for injuries which lie in tort or could lie 

in tort. 

The Immunity Act provides that sovereign immunity is waived by a public entity 

for injuries occurring as a result of certain specified actions or conditions, including:  the 

operation of a non-emergency motor vehicle owned or leased by the public entity; operation and 

maintenance of any public water, gas, sanitation, electrical, power or swimming facility; a 

dangerous condition of any public buildings; the operation of any public water facility; and a 

dangerous condition of a public highway, road or street as provided in the Immunity Act.  In 

such instances, the public entity may be liable for injuries arising from an act or omission of the 

public entity, or an act or omission of its public employees, which are not willful and wanton, 

and which occur during the performance of their duties and within the scope of their 

employment.  The maximum amounts that may be recovered under the Immunity Act, whether 

from one or more public entities and public employees, are as follows:  (a) for any injury to one 

person in any single occurrence, the sum of $350,000; (b) for an injury to two or more persons in 

any single occurrence, the sum of $990,000; except in such instance, no person may recover in 

excess of $350,000.  The Immunity Act provides for increases in those amounts every four years 

pursuant to a formula based on the Denver-Boulder-Greeley Consumer Price Index. The City 

may not be held liable under the Immunity Act either directly or by indemnification for punitive 

or exemplary damages unless the City voluntarily pays such damages in accordance with State 

law. 

The City may be subject to civil liability and damages including punitive or 

exemplary damages and it may not be able to claim sovereign immunity for actions founded 

upon various federal laws, or other actions filed in federal court.  Examples of such civil liability 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 81Packet Page 153



 

 
 

include suits filed pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 alleging the deprivation of federal constitutional 

or statutory rights of an individual.  In addition, the City may be enjoined from engaging in anti-

competitive practices which violate the antitrust laws.  However, the Immunity Act provides that 

it applies to any State court having jurisdiction over any claim brought pursuant to any federal 

law, if such action lies in tort or could lie in tort. 

Approval of Certain Legal Proceedings 

In connection with the Series 2015 Bonds, Kutak Rock LLP, as Bond Counsel, 

will render its opinion as to the validity of the Series 2015 Bonds and the treatment of interest 

thereon for purposes of federal and State income taxation.  See Appendix D - Form of Bond 

Counsel Opinion.  Butler Snow LLP is acting as special counsel to the City in connection with 

this Official Statement. Certain matters will be passed upon for the City by the City Attorney. 

Certain Constitutional Limitations 

General.  At the general election on November 3, 1992, the voters of Colorado 

approved Article X, Section 20 of the Colorado Constitution (“TABOR”).  In general, TABOR 

restricts the ability of the State and local governments to increase revenues and spending, to 

impose taxes, and to issue debt and certain other types of obligations without voter approval.  

TABOR generally applies to the State and all local governments, including the City (“local 

governments”), but does not apply to “enterprises,” defined as government-owned businesses 

authorized to issue revenue bonds and receiving under 10% of annual revenue in grants from all 

state and local governments combined. 

Some provisions of TABOR are unclear and will require further judicial 

interpretation.  No representation can be made as to the overall impact of TABOR on the future 

activities of the City, including its ability to generate sufficient revenues for its general 

operations, to undertake additional programs or to engage in any subsequent financing activities. 

Voter Approval Requirements and Limitations on Taxes, Spending, Revenues, 

and Borrowing.  TABOR requires voter approval in advance for: (a) any new tax, tax rate 

increase, mill levy above that for the prior year, valuation for assessment ratio increase, 

extension of an expiring tax, or a tax policy change causing a net tax revenue gain; (b) any 

increase in a local government’s spending from one year to the next in excess of the limitations 

described below; (c) any increase in the real property tax revenues of a local government from 

one year to the next in excess of the limitations described below; or (d) creation of any multiple-

fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever, subject to certain 

exceptions such as the refinancing of obligations at a lower interest rate.  The City’s Storm 

Water and Flood Management Utility is considered an “enterprise” under TABOR, and therefore 

the Series 2015 Bonds may be issued without an election.  

TABOR limits increases in government spending and property tax revenues to, 

generally, the rate of inflation and a local growth factor which is based upon, for school districts, 

the percentage change in enrollment from year to year, and for non-school districts, the actual 

value of new construction in the local government.  Unless voter approval is received as 

described above, revenues collected in excess of these permitted spending limitations must be 

rebated.  Debt service, however, including the debt service on the Series 2015 Bonds, can be paid 

without regard to any spending limits, assuming revenues are available to do so. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 82Packet Page 154



 

 
 

At the November 2, 1993 election, City voters authorized the City to collect, 

retain, and expend without regard to the revenue and limitations imposed by TABOR, the full 

proceeds of the City’s sales and use tax, admission tax, accommodations tax, and non-federal 

grants.  At the November 8, 1994 election, City voters approved an increase in the City’s trash 

tax and an education excise tax and allowed the City to collect and spend the full proceeds of 

such taxes and any interest thereon. 

At the November 5, 1996 election, City voters authorized the City to remove 

TABOR restrictions on all revenues (except property tax) and expenditures of the City, and 

authorized the collect, retention and expenditures of all revenues of the City free from current 

revenue and expenditure limitations and from any limitations that may be enacted in the future 

without the amendment of the City’s Charter by the electors of the City. 

In addition, at the November 4, 2008 election, the City voters authorized the City 

to remove TABOR restrictions on property tax revenues collected above the limits imposed by 

TABOR.  The election specified that retention above TABOR limits will not rise more than .5 

mills annually for tax collection years 2009 and beyond up to the maximum allowable level of 

property taxes and that any tax monies that are collected above those that the City may retain 

will be credited to property owners as an offset against the subsequent year’s taxes. 

Emergency Reserve Funds.  TABOR also requires local governments to establish 

emergency reserve funds.  The reserve fund must consist of at least 3% of fiscal year spending.  

TABOR allows local governments to impose emergency taxes (other than property taxes) if 

certain conditions are met.  Local governments are not allowed to use emergency reserves or 

taxes to compensate for economic conditions, revenue shortfalls, or local government salary or 

benefit increases.  The City has set aside emergency reserves as required by TABOR. 

Other Limitations.  TABOR also prohibits new or increased real property transfer 

tax rates and local government income taxes.  TABOR allows local governments to enact 

exemptions and credits to reduce or end business personal property taxes; provided, however, the 

local governments’ spending is reduced by the amount saved by such action.  With the exception 

of K-12 public education and federal programs, TABOR also allows local governments (subject 

to certain notice and phase-out requirements) to reduce or end subsidies to any program 

delegated for administration by the general assembly; provided, however, the local governments’ 

spending is reduced by the amount saved by such action. 

Police Power 

The obligations of the City are subject to the reasonable exercise in the future by 

the State and its governmental bodies of the police power inherent in the sovereignty of the State 

and to the exercise by the United States of America of the powers delegated to it by the Federal 

Constitution, including bankruptcy. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

The financial statements of the City, included in this Official Statement as 

Appendix A have been audited by BKD LLP, Certified Public Accountants and Advisors, 

Denver, Colorado, independent auditors, as stated in their report appearing therein.  BKD LLP 

has not participated in the preparation of this official statement. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 83Packet Page 155



 

 
 

FINANCIAL ADVISOR 

Piper Jaffray & Co. is acting as financial advisor to the City in connection with 

the issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds.   

RATINGS 

Standard & Poor’s Rating Services, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC 

business (“S&P”) and Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”) have assigned the Series 2015 

Bonds the ratings shown on the cover page of this Official Statement.  An explanation of the 

significance of any S&P ratings may be obtained from S&P at 55 Water Street, New York, New 

York 10041.  An explanation of the significance of any Moody’s ratings may be obtained from 

Moody’s at 7 World Trade Center at 250 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10007. 

Such ratings reflect only the views of the rating agencies, and there is no 

assurance that the ratings will be obtained or will continue for any given period of time or that 

the ratings will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by the applicable rating agency 

if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such 

ratings may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Series 2015 Bonds. Other than the 

City’s obligations under the Disclosure Undertaking, neither the City nor the Financial Advisor 

has undertaken any responsibility to bring to the attention of the owners of the Series 2015 

Bonds any proposed change in or withdrawal of such rating once received or to oppose any such 

proposed revision. 

PUBLIC SALE 

The City expects to offer the Series 2015 Bonds at public sale on June 16, 2015. 

See the Notice of Public Sale dated June 8, 2015.  

OFFICIAL STATEMENT CERTIFICATION 

The preparation of this Official Statement and its distribution have been 

authorized by the City Council. This Official Statement is hereby duly approved by the City 

Council as of the date on the cover page hereof. 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

 

 

By:   

    Mayor 

 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 84Packet Page 156



 

 

APPENDIX A 

 

AUDITED BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE CITY 

AS OF AND FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 

NOTE:  The audited basic financial statements of the City for the year ended December 31, 

2013, have been excerpted from the City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for that 

year.  Certain statistical tables and other information were purposely excluded from this 

Appendix A.  Such statements provide supporting details and are not necessary for a fair 

presentation of the general purpose financial statement of the City. 

 

 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 85Packet Page 157



 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM 

DTC will act as securities depository for the Series 2015 Bonds.  The Series 2015 

Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s 

partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of 

DTC.  One fully-registered certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Series 2015 Bonds, in 

the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.   

DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company 

organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the 

New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within 

the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered 

pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.  DTC holds and 

provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and 

municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s 

participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement 

among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities through 

electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This 

eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates.  Direct Participants include both 

U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and 

certain other organizations.  DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing 

Corporation (“DTCC”).  DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing 

Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies.  

DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries.  Access to the DTC system is also 

available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust 

companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a 

Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”).  DTC has a Standard & 

Poor’s rating of AA+.  The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities 

and Exchange Commission.  More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

Purchases of Series 2015 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through 

Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for the Series 2015 Bonds on DTC’s records.  The 

ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 2015 Bond (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn 

to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive 

written confirmation from DTC of their purchase.  Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to 

receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of 

their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered 

into the transaction.  Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2015 Bonds are to be 

accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of 

Beneficial Owners.  Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership 

interests in Series 2015 Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Series 

2015 Bonds is discontinued. 

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2015 Bonds deposited by Direct 

Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or 

such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  The deposit of Series 

2015 Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee 

do not effect any change in beneficial ownership.  DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial 

Owners of the Series 2015 Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 86Packet Page 158



 

 

to whose accounts such Series 2015 Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial 

Owners.  The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their 

holdings on behalf of their customers. 

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by 

Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to 

Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or 

regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Beneficial Owners of Series 2015 

Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant 

events with respect to the Series 2015 Bonds, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed 

amendments to the Series 2015 Bond documents.  For example, Beneficial Owners of Series 2015 

Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Series 2015 Bonds for their benefit has 

agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.  In the alternative, Beneficial Owners 

may wish to provide their names and addresses to the Registrar and request that copies of notices be 

provided directly to them. 

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Series 2015 Bonds are 

being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct 

Participant in such issue to be redeemed. 

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with 

respect to the Series 2015 Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s 

MMI Procedures.  Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon as 

possible after the record date.  The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights 

to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Series 2015 Bonds are credited on the record date 

(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy). 

Principal, interest and redemption proceeds on the Series 2015 Bonds will be made to 

Cede& Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC.  

DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and 

corresponding detail information from the City or the Paying Agent on payable date in accordance 

with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records.  Payments by Participants to Beneficial 

Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with 

securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will 

be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Paying Agent or the City, subject to any 

statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.  Payment of principal, 

interest or redemption proceeds to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an 

authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the City or the Paying Agent, disbursement 

of such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such 

payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants. 

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 

2015 Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the City or the Registrar and Paying Agent.  

Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Series 2015 Bond 

certificates are required to be printed and delivered. 

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers 

through DTC (or a successor securities depository).  In that event, Series 2015 Bond certificates will 

be printed and delivered to DTC. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 87Packet Page 159



 

 

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained 

from sources that the City believes to be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy 

thereof.      

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 88Packet Page 160



 

 

APPENDIX C 

 

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE UNDERTAKING 

 

This Continuing Disclosure Undertaking (this “Agreement”) is executed and 

delivered by the City of Boulder, Colorado (the “City”) in connection with the issuance of 

$_________ aggregate principal amount of the City of Boulder, Colorado, Storm Water and 

Flood Management Revenue Bonds, Series 2015 (the “Bonds”).  The Bonds are being issued 

pursuant to an Ordinance of the City dated as of June 16, 2015 (the “Bond Ordinance”). 

In consideration of the issuance of the Bonds by the City and the purchase of such 

Bonds by the owners thereof, the City hereby covenants and agrees as follows: 

Section 1.  Purpose of this Agreement.  This Agreement is executed and 

delivered by the City as of the date set forth below, for the benefit of the holders and owners (the 

“Bondholders”) of the Bonds and in order to assist the Participating Underwriter (as defined 

below) in complying with the requirements of the Rule (as defined below).  The City represents 

that it will be the only obligated person (as defined in the Rule) with respect to the Bonds at the 

time the Bonds are delivered to the Participating Underwriter and that no other person is 

expected to become an obligated person at any time after the issuance of the Bonds. 

Section 2.  Definitions.  The terms set forth below shall have the following 

meanings in this Agreement, unless the context clearly otherwise requires. 

“Annual Financial Information” means the financial information and operating 

data described in Exhibit I. 

“Annual Financial Information Disclosure” means the dissemination of disclosure 

concerning Annual Financial Information and the dissemination of the Audited Financial 

Statements as set forth in Section 4. 

“Audited Financial Statements” means the City’s annual financial statements, 

prepared in accordance with GAAP for governmental units as prescribed by GASB, which 

financial statements shall have been audited by such auditor as shall be then required or 

permitted by the Charter, and as described in Exhibit I hereto. 

“Commission” means the Securities and Exchange Commission. 

“Dissemination Agent” means any agent designated as such in writing by the City 

and which has filed with the City a written acceptance of such designation, and such agent’s 

successors and assigns. 

“EMMA” means the Electronic Municipal Market Access facility for municipal 

securities disclosure of the MSRB. 

“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 89Packet Page 161



 

 

“Material Event” means the occurrence of any of the events with respect to the 

Bonds set forth in Exhibit II. 

“Material Events Disclosure” means dissemination of a notice of a Material Event 

as set forth in Section 5. 

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

“Participating Underwriter” means each broker, dealer or municipal securities 

dealer acting as an underwriter in any primary offering of the Bonds. 

“Prescribed Form” means, with regard to the filing of Annual Financial 

Information, Audited Financial Statements and notices of Material Events with the MSRB at 

www.emma.msrb.org (or such other address or addresses as the MSRB may from time to time 

specify), such electronic format, accompanied by such identifying information, as shall have 

been prescribed by the MSRB and which shall be in effect on the date of filing of such 

information. 

“Rule” means Rule 15c2 12 adopted by the Commission under the Exchange Act, 

as the same may be amended from time to time. 

“State” means the State of Colorado. 

“Undertaking” means the obligations of the City pursuant to Sections 4 and 5. 

Section 3.  CUSIP Number/Final Official Statement.  The CUSIP Number of 

the Bonds is ________.  The final Official Statement relating to the Bonds is dated __________, 

2015 (the “Final Official Statement”). 

Section 4.  Annual Financial Information Disclosure.  Subject to Section 9 of 

this Agreement, the City hereby covenants that it will disseminate the Annual Financial 

Information and the Audited Financial Statements (in the form and by the dates set forth below 

and in Exhibit I) by delivering such Annual Financial Information and the Audited Financial 

Statements to the MSRB by July 31
st
 of each year. 

The City is required to deliver such information in Prescribed Form and by such 

time so that such entities receive the information by the dates specified. 

If any part of the Annual Financial Information can no longer be generated 

because the operations to which it is related have been materially changed or discontinued, the 

City will disseminate a statement to such effect as part of its Annual Financial Information for 

the year in which such event first occurs. 

If any amendment is made to this Agreement, the Annual Financial Information 

for the year in which such amendment is made (or in any notice or supplement provided to the 

MSRB) shall contain a narrative description of the reasons for such amendment and its impact on 

the type of information being provided. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 90Packet Page 162



 

 

Section 5.  Material Events Disclosure.  Subject to Section 9 of this Agreement, 

the City hereby covenants that it will disseminate in a timely manner, not in excess of 10 

business days after the occurrence of the event, Material Events Disclosure to the MSRB in 

Prescribed Form.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, notice of optional or unscheduled redemption 

of any Bonds or defeasance of any Bonds need not be given under this Agreement any earlier 

than the notice (if any) of such redemption or defeasance is given to the owners of the Bonds 

pursuant to the Bond Ordinance.  From and after the Effective Date, the City is required to 

deliver such Material Events Disclosure in the same manner as provided by Section 4 of this 

Agreement. 

Section 6.  Duty To Update EMMA/MSRB.  The City shall determine, in the 

manner it deems appropriate, whether there has occurred a change in the MSRB’s e-mail address 

or filing procedures and requirements under EMMA each time it is required to file information 

with the MSRB. 

Section 7.  Consequences of Failure of the City To Provide Information.  The 

City shall give notice in a timely manner, not in excess of 10 business days after the occurrence 

of the event, to the MSRB in Prescribed Form of any failure to provide Annual Financial 

Information Disclosure when the same is due hereunder. 

In the event of a failure of the City to comply with any provision of this 

Agreement, the Bondholder of any Bond may seek specific performance by court order to cause 

the City to comply with its obligations under this Agreement.  A default under this Agreement 

shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Bond Ordinance or the Agreement or any 

other agreement, and the sole remedy under this Agreement in the event of any failure of the City 

to comply with this Agreement shall be an action to compel performance. 

Section 8.  Amendments; Waiver.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this 

Agreement, the City may amend this Agreement, and any provision of this Agreement may be 

waived, if: 

(i) The amendment or waiver is made in connection with a change in 

circumstances that arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change 

in the identity, nature or status of the City or type of business conducted; 

(ii) This Agreement, as amended, or the provision, as waived, would have 

complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the primary offering, after 

taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change 

in circumstances; and 

(iii) The amendment or waiver does not materially impair the interests of the 

Bondholders of the Bonds, as determined either by parties unaffiliated with the City or by 

an approving vote of the Bondholders of the Bonds holding a majority of the aggregate 

principal amount of the Bonds (excluding Bonds held by or on behalf of the City or its 

affiliates) pursuant to the terms of the Bond Ordinance at the time of the amendment; or 

(iv) The amendment or waiver is otherwise permitted by the Rule. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 91Packet Page 163



 

 

Section 9.  Termination of Undertaking.  The Undertaking of the City shall be 

terminated hereunder when the City shall no longer have any legal liability for any obligation on 

or relating to the repayment of the Bonds.  The City shall give notice to the MSRB in a timely 

manner and in Prescribed Form if this Section is applicable. 

Section 10.  Dissemination Agent.  The City may, from time to time, appoint or 

engage a Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Agreement, 

and may discharge any such Dissemination Agent, with or without appointing a successor 

Dissemination Agent. 

Section 11.  Additional Information.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be 

deemed to prevent the City from disseminating any other information, using the means of 

dissemination set forth in this Agreement or any other means of communication, or including 

any other information in any Annual Financial Information Disclosure or notice of occurrence of 

a Material Event, in addition to that which is required by this Agreement.  If the City chooses to 

include any information from any document or notice of occurrence of a Material Event in 

addition to that which is specifically required by this Agreement, the City shall not have any 

obligation under this Agreement to update such information or include it in any future disclosure 

or notice of the occurrence of a Material Event. 

Section 12.  Beneficiaries.  This Agreement has been executed in order to assist 

the Participating Underwriter in complying with the Rule; however, this Agreement shall inure 

solely to the benefit of the City, the Dissemination Agent, if any, and the Bondholders of the 

Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity. 

Section 13.  Recordkeeping.  The City shall maintain records of all Annual 

Financial Information Disclosure and Material Events Disclosure, including the content of such 

disclosure, the names of the entities with whom such disclosure was filed and the date of filing 

such disclosure. 

Section 14.  Past Compliance.  The City represents that it has complied with the 

requirements of each continuing disclosure undertaking entered into by it pursuant to the Rule in 

connection with previous financings to which the Rule was applicable. 

Section 15.  Assignment.  The City shall not transfer its obligations under the 

Financing Agreement unless the transferee agrees to assume all obligations of the City under this 

Agreement or to execute a continuing disclosure undertaking under the Rule. 

Section 16.  Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of 

the State. 

 

 

[Signature on Following Page] 

 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 92Packet Page 164



 

 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 

By   
Chief Financial Officer 

Dated:  ____________, 2015 

  

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 93Packet Page 165



 

 

 

EXHIBIT I 

 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND TIMING AND AUDITED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

“Annual Financial Information” means financial information and operating data 

exclusive of Audited Financial Statements as set forth below of the type appearing or 

incorporated by reference as set forth on page iv of the Final Official Statement. 

All or a portion of the Annual Financial Information and the Audited Financial 

Statements as set forth below may be included by reference to other documents which have been 

submitted to the MSRB or filed with the Commission.  The City shall clearly identify each such 

item of information included by reference. 

Annual Financial Information will be provided to the MSRB by July 31
st
 of each year.  

Audited Financial Statements as described below should be filed at the same time as the Annual 

Financial Information.  If Audited Financial Statements are not available when the Annual 

Financial Information is filed, unaudited financial statements shall be included, and Audited 

Financial Statements will be provided to the MSRB within 10 business days after availability to 

the City. 

Audited Financial Statements will be prepared in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles in the United States as in effect from time to time. 

If any change is made to the Annual Financial Information as permitted by Section 4 of 

the Agreement, including for this purpose a change made to the fiscal year-end of the City, the 

City will disseminate a notice to the MSRB of such change in Prescribed Form as required by 

such Section 4. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 94Packet Page 166



 

 

EXHIBIT II 

 

EVENTS WITH RESPECT TO THE BONDS FOR WHICH 

MATERIAL EVENTS DISCLOSURE IS REQUIRED 

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies 

2. Nonpayment-related defaults, if material 

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties 

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties 

5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform 

6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final 

determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other 

material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the security, or other 

material events affecting the tax status of the security 

7. Modifications to rights of security holders, if material 

8. Bond calls, if material, and tender offers 

9. Defeasances 

10. Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if material 

11. Rating changes 

12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the City
 
   

13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation or acquisition involving the City or the sale 

of all or substantially all of the assets of the City other than in the ordinary course of 

business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the 

termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to 

its terms, if material 

                                                 

 This event is considered to occur when any of the following occur:  the appointment of a 

receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for the City in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy 

Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental 

authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, or if 

such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and officials or 

officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental 

authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement or liquidation 

by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of 

the assets or business of the City. 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 95Packet Page 167



 

 

14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if 

material 

 

 

 

 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 96Packet Page 168



 

 
 

APPENDIX D 

 

FORM OF BOND COUNSEL OPINION 

Attachment B: Draft Preliminary Official Statement (POS)

Agenda Item 3G    Page 97Packet Page 169



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 98Packet Page 170



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 99Packet Page 171



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 100Packet Page 172



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 101Packet Page 173



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 102Packet Page 174



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 103Packet Page 175



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 104Packet Page 176



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 105Packet Page 177



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 106Packet Page 178



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 107Packet Page 179



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 108Packet Page 180



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 109Packet Page 181



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 110Packet Page 182



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 111Packet Page 183



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 112Packet Page 184



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 113Packet Page 185



Attachment C: Municipal Bond Disclosure Policies and Procedures

Agenda Item 3G    Page 114Packet Page 186



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE: June 2, 2015 

 

AGENDA TITLE: Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt 
Ordinance No. 8045 amending Title 6, “Health Safety and Sanitation,” B.R.C. 1981 
to add Universal Zero Waste Requirements. 

 

PRESENTERS  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
Kara Mertz, Environmental Project Manager 
Jamie Harkins, Sustainability Specialist II 
Kelle Boumansour, Sustainability Specialist I 

 
I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this item is a second reading of a “Universal Zero Waste” ordinance and 
to seek council direction on a compliance schedule to require all property owners and 
businesses in Boulder to provide adequate collection services and proper education for 
sorting trash, recyclable and compostable materials. Minor modifications have been made 
since the first reading of the ordinance; therefore two ordinance versions are attached: 
Attachment A (the ordinance language as published at first reading) and Attachment B 
(revised ordinance language for adoption).  
 
This ordinance follows the July 29, 2014 study session and February 17, 2015 City 
Council meeting. At these meetings, council affirmed the goals and framework for the 
Zero Waste Strategic Plan and reviewed a proposed regulatory framework for universal 
provision of recycling and composting services in Boulder; paving the way toward “zero 
waste;” and re-establishing Boulder as a leader among U.S. communities striving toward 
zero waste. 
 
The proposed Universal Zero Waste ordinance is based on the direction provided by 
council in February. The proposed ordinance requires the following: 

• All property owners provide adequate trash, recycling and composting service to 
their tenants and occupants;  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 1Packet Page 187

https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/WebLink8/0/doc/125850/Electronic.aspx
https://documents.bouldercolorado.gov/weblink8/0/doc/127616/Electronic.aspx


• All businesses separate recyclables and compostables from the trash; providing 
properly placed containers and signage to facilitate the collection of recyclables 
and compostables; 

• All special events in Boulder provide both recycling and composting collection;  
• The “six-day review” special trash collection period for student move-in begin to 

also include a requirement for twice per week recycling collection; and 
• All recyclable materials be directed to the Boulder County Recycling Center. 

 
Council is being presented with three options for phasing in compliance with the 
proposed ordinance.1  The compliance date will be preceded by an implementation period 
that includes a shift of existing rebates and incentives targeted to encourage early 
compliance, as well as technical assistance to help businesses and multi-family property 
owners minimize landfilled waste. Ultimately, the adopted ordinance will be managed in 
a way to encourage compliance, rather than target non-compliance.  
 
A City Manager Rule will be published for comment following final ordinance adoption, 
and it will include the final compliance schedule. An outline of the City Manager Rule is 
included in Attachment C. Three compliance schedule options for council to consider at 
second reading are included in Attachment D as follows: 
OPTION A:  Within one year of ordinance adoption, all property managers add 

recyclables and compostables collection service and within three months 
after this, businesses must add recyclables and compostables containers 
and signage; and begin using the service provided by the property owners.  

OPTION B: All Boulder property owners provide recycling (and, where applicable, 
compostables) collection within one year of ordinance adoption; all 
businesses add recycling within three months after this; all landscaping 
businesses as well as those that serve, sell or prepare food must add 
compostables containers and signage at this time as well. Further, the rest 
of Boulder businesses must add compostables collection no later than 
three years from ordinance adoption.  

OPTION C: This option has been added based on conversations since the first reading 
of this ordinance. It is a hybrid of options A and B. Similar to Option A, 
all property managers would be required to add recyclables and 
compostables collection service at the same time. However, the 
compliance timeline for this option is within two years as opposed to one 
year. Three months after that, businesses would need to add recyclables 
and compostables containers and signage and begin using the service 
provided by the property owners. 

 
Staff is recommending compliance schedule A as it addresses the environmental impacts 
of waste and its influence on our community’s climate action goals. Most business 
leaders that were engaged in development of this ordinance felt that one year should be 
sufficient for property owners to make site and service level changes to comply with this 

1A “hybrid” compliance schedule has been added since the first reading of this ordinance. 
 

                                                           

Agenda Item 5A     Page 2Packet Page 188



requirement, and the one year time frame responds to council’s direction to implement 
these requirements as quickly as possible.  
 
It should be noted that both options A and C (as compared with B) represent approaches 
that would be more straightforward for the community because they require that all 
property owners and all businesses play by the same rules in the same time frame. As 
such, they would both be less resource intensive to interpret, implement and enforce and 
would be more equitable among affected parties. Staff is seeking council direction as to 
which compliance schedule is preferred, and staff will draft the City Manager’s Rule 
accordingly. 
 
II. STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 

Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 8045 amending Title 6, “Health Safety and 
Sanitation,” B.R.C. 1981 to add Universal Zero Waste Requirements contained in 
Attachment B. 
Furthermore, council directs staff to complete a City Manager rulemaking process to set 
conditions of compliance in accordance with Schedule A. 

 
III.  COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

• Economic – Universal Zero Waste requirements level the playing field between 
various businesses in the Boulder community, ensuring a consistent level of 
service is provided to employees and customers throughout the community. While 
the cost to some businesses may increase by requiring additional compostables 
and recyclables be collected separately from trash, some businesses will find their 
efforts toward zero waste allow them to decrease the frequency of trash collection 
from the business. The economic sustainability is addressed in more depth in the 
Analysis section of this memo. 

• Environmental – Based on the goals and criteria for analysis included in the draft 
Zero Waste Strategic Plan, the Universal Zero Waste ordinance moves the 
Boulder community closer to its zero waste and greenhouse gas emissions 
reduction goals. A comparison of the relative environmental impacts of the 
alternative compliance schedules is contained in the Analysis section of this 
memo. 

• Social – The intent of the Universal Zero Waste ordinance requirements is to level 
the playing field between sectors of the population in Boulder. The multi-family 
property owner requirements assure that whether you are renting or own your 
home or whether you live in a single-family or multi-family residence, you will 
have equal access to recycling and composting collection services. Furthermore, 
wherever you work in Boulder or where your children attend school, the “rules” 
will all be the same. This helps minimize confusion and facilitates standardized 
and understandable guidelines for everyone in the community. 

 
 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 3Packet Page 189



IV.  OTHER IMPACTS  
• Fiscal – Implementation support for this ordinance is covered by 2015 trash tax 

revenues and fund balance from 2014.2 The estimated expenses for ordinance 
implementation are $738,000, detailed in the Budget section of this memo. Future 
enforcement and compliance tracking expenses are also anticipated to be covered 
by existing trash tax revenues.  

• Staff time – Ordinance implementation and assistance represent a significant 
amount of work  over the coming year, covered by a total of 3.0 FTEs spread 
between five city staff members, additional work through city contractors, 
community partners, two interns and many volunteers.  
 

V.  BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
The Environmental Advisory Board reviewed the ordinance and compliance options at its 
May 5 board meeting. A recommendation letter from the board is included in 
Attachment E.  
 
VI.  PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
In advance of the February 17 council meeting, a survey was sent out to business leaders 
and residents, which garnered 160 responses. Respondents included homeowners, renters, 
business owners, property owners and managers, employees, and business tenants. In 
general, a large majority of business and residential respondents supported the proposed 
regulations, indicating that they “strongly agreed” with many aspects of the proposal. 
Some business leaders questioned whether the benefits of requiring compost collection 
from non-food-generating businesses would warrant the extra expense of collecting these 
materials. Nineteen community members and business leaders spoke at the Feb. 17 City 
Council meeting in support of the ordinance and many more attended. Staff developed a 
new survey to gather feedback on the proposed ordinance language and compliance 
schedule options and will compile the results and present them at the June 2 meeting. In 
addition, staff has met with business groups including the Boulder Chamber Community 
Affairs Council, Downtown Boulder, Inc., and representatives from Boulder Tomorrow 
and the Boulder Rental Housing Association. 
 
VII.  ANSWERS TO FIRST READING QUESTIONS 
1. How do the greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions impacts of this proposed ordinance 

compare within the context of the communitywide greenhouse gas emissions? 
As a result of this ordinance, the GHG emissions reductions, as projected using the 
U.S. Community Protocol for Accounting and Reporting of Greenhouse Gas 
Emissions v. 1.0 (October 2012), will be between 4,600 mtCO2 and 6,700 mtCO2. 
This represents between 21 and 31 percent reduction in the GHG emissions that 
would otherwise result from sending these same materials to be buried in a landfill 
with gas and energy recovery. While this represents less than one percent of the 
overall GHG emissions from all sources in Boulder; there is an emerging trend to 
analyze solid waste within the context of the GHG emissions associated with the 
consumption of these goods. Recent modeling protocols show that the true emissions 

2 The adjustment to base for Trash Tax fund balance was included in the budget supplemental request on 
May 19, 2015. 

                                                           

Agenda Item 5A     Page 4Packet Page 190



avoided by recycling and composting materials rather than relying on virgin material 
extraction, manufacturing, transportation, consumption and discarding materials 
accounts for almost 40 percent of a typical communities’ greenhouse gas emissions.  
 
For example, the ICLEI Recycling and Composting Emissions Protocol (RC 
Protocol) provides guidance to estimate the overall emissions reductions associated 
with recycling and composting that go beyond the boundaries of the community 
inventory, including emission reductions in the manufacturing process from using 
recycling inputs and increased carbon storage in forests. The RC Protocol draws 
heavily from the EPA WARM model’s underlying methods and data in an attempt to 
capture the full impact of reducing, reusing and recycling. 

2. How do greenhouse gas emissions compare between composting locally and driving 
compostables to LaSalle for composting? 
The greenhouse gas emissions from either approach are comparable. Transporting 
materials to LaSalle as compared to composting the materials in Boulder results in a 
net increase of GHG emissions of approximately 67 mtCO2 per year. However, this is 
offset by a reduction in emissions by using an in-vessel BioGas digester composting 
system for to process the compostable materials as compared to an aerated windrow 
composting process that releases more methane into the atmosphere.  

3. Are there building codes that can or should be analyzed to facilitate recycling and 
composting, especially in multi-family complexes and multi-floor buildings? 
City staff is working to identify land use, building and health and safety codes that 
may need to be examined in order to fully facilitate compliance with this ordinance. 
These codes include requirements for trash enclosures in new construction and trash 
chutes in multi-story buildings that may need to be expanded to make recycling and 
composting as convenient as trash. These will also need to be balanced with parking 
and landscaping requirements that may conflict with the need for expanded enclosure 
space. Staff will report to council on a quarterly basis regarding progress on this code 
review along with any compliance, tracking or enforcement issues that might arise. 

 
VIII. BACKGROUND 
At its July 29, 2014 study session, council requested staff work with the community to 
develop ordinance language that would significantly increase waste diversion from 
Boulder’s multi-family and commercial sectors. With a foundation of best practices from 
around the country, staff convened a working group of stakeholders and industry 
representatives to help craft a regulatory proposal for community and council 
consideration. In the course of the community conversation around business and multi-
family requirements, it became apparent that a universal requirement would be more 
equitable and would stem the tide of illegal dumping. Based on council feedback, this 
agenda item includes two proposed ordinances for council consideration.  
 
IX.  ANALYSIS 
At its Feb. 17 meeting, council reviewed a Draft Zero Waste Strategic Plan (ZWSP) 
which acts as a guiding document that provides an overarching framework to prioritize 
future zero waste investment options; and assists council and staff in decision-making. In 
the fall, once the companion web-based portal for the ZWSP is complete, staff will return 
to Council for acceptance of the final plan and its associated Action Plan, as well as the 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 5Packet Page 191

https://bouldercolorado.gov/links/fetch/23721


action plans of the city’s community zero waste partners. These action plans will describe 
the next two to three years of significant work plan items and initiatives throughout the 
Boulder community, including other items council expressed interest in such as research 
to determine whether every-other-week trash collection would be advantageous in 
Boulder.  
As the very first action item under the auspices of the city’s draft Zero Waste Strategic 
Plan, council is being asked to consider an ordinance requiring universal provision of 
recycling and composting services throughout Boulder. Boulder’s community partners 
are also implementing action plan items to support this significant move toward zero 
waste: Boulder County is investing in upgrades to the Boulder County Recycling Center 
to accommodate the recyclable materials that would result from this ordinance; Eco-
Cycle is stepping up its outreach to businesses and multi-family complexes to minimize 
the waste created and educate tenants on the new requirements; the CU Environmental 
Center is working to educate students living on and off-campus and assisting with 
outreach to multi-family tenants and property owners; and the City is working with all its 
community partners to ensure that consistent, clear and understandable guidelines are 
pushed out to all community members. 
 
i. Proposed Ordinance Language 
The proposed Universal Zero Waste ordinance will re-establish Boulder as a zero waste 
leader throughout the country. It addresses the significant gap between where we are 
today as a community and where we want to be in terms of minimizing trash and 
conserving our natural resources. 
The proposed Universal Zero Waste ordinance addresses the many sectors of the 
community to ensure equal access to recycling and composting services. It essentially 
ensures that wherever a resident, employee or visitor goes in Boulder, if there is a trash 
can, they will also find a recycling and composting container close by. The signage and 
guidelines for sorting materials will accompany all containers, will be simplified and will 
follow standardized guidelines developed by a team of city staff and facility operators. 
The proposed ordinance includes language to ensure that: 

• All property owners provide adequate trash, recycling and composting service to 
their tenants and occupants.  

• All businesses separate their recyclables and compostables from the trash; 
providing properly placed containers and signage to facilitate the collection of 
recyclables and compostables.  

• All special events in Boulder provide both recycling and composting.  

• The “six-day review” special trash collection period for student move-in includes 
twice per week recycling collection.  

• All recyclable materials be directed to the Boulder County Recycling Center as 
long as the recycling center is paying market prices for source-separated, clean 
materials. 

Property Owner and Business Requirements 
Based on the fact that an estimated 75 percent of Boulder businesses operate in leased 
space, the proposed ordinance has two parts. First, property owners are required to 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 6Packet Page 192



subscribe to trash, recycling and compost collection services adequate to accommodate 
the regular accumulation of these materials on site. Secondly, businesses themselves are 
required to actually use the service and educate their employees about how to properly 
sort trash.  
 
Special Events Requirements 
The proposed ordinance requires all special events in Boulder to be “zero waste” which 
expands on the current requirement that only those special events held on City property 
are required to provide both recycling and composting service.  
 
Six-day Review Requirement 
Since its inception, the city has paid for semi-weekly recycling collection service as part 
of the six-day-review special trash collection period. The proposed ordinance language 
shifts the cost of this to the property owners. For reference, it has cost the city 
approximately $10,000 per year to provide this additional service to approximately 650 
properties in the affected area.  
 
BCRC Processing Requirement 
Following the lead from when the city first required trash haulers to provide recyclables 
collection to Boulder residents, the proposed ordinance language directs commercial 
recyclable materials to the Boulder County Recycling Center as well.  
 
In 2014, Boulder County commissioned a study to assess the financial and operational 
efficiency and cost effectiveness of the Boulder County Recycling Center (BCRC). The 
study concluded that the BCRC operations would be more cost-effective if additional 
commercial recyclables could be delivered to the facility. In addition, the study 
concluded that the efficiency of the BCRC could be improved significantly by investing 
in an optical sorter, a cardboard baler, a building expansion and other modifications to 
allow it to accept more recyclables, as well as a wider range of recyclables. The City’s 
2014 Zero Waste Program Evaluation Study reached a similar conclusion. In February, 
the Board of County Commissioners voted to begin making some of these investments in 
the BCRC, which will allow the facility to operate more cost effectively and to be able to 
accept and efficiently process the increased quantity of recyclables that will be generated 
as a result of Boulder’s proposed ordinance. In order to protect the investment of public 
funds and to increase the efficiency of the programs predicated on the city’s zero waste 
goals, both options for the ordinance contain language that directs the recyclable 
materials to the BCRC, and include a provision that the BCRC continue to pay fair 
market value to Boulder haulers for the recyclables they collect. Further, the City 
Manager’s Rule will contain a definition for Recyclable Materials that will include all the 
materials that will be acceptable at the BCRC with the new optical sorting equipment and 
facility expansions, including plastic “clamshell” take-out containers and the potential to 
accept clean source-separated fiber. 
 
ii.  Implementation Period 
Based on the ordinance implementation experience of peer communities and to 
encourage early compliance, staff is crafting its multi-year work plan to be heavily 
weighted toward technical assistance and incentives prior to adopted compliance 
deadlines. Once the compliance deadlines have passed, the incentives will go away, but 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 7Packet Page 193



technical assistance will continue and will be focused on exemption requests and any 
complaints or warnings issued, in order to bring those properties into compliance as 
quickly as is practical. Other communities that have similar ordinances have conveyed 
that while it is important for businesses to know there is a process in which they will get a 
fine for a violation,  most communities are not actually levying fines –  

• Seattle has had a business recycling requirement in place for 7 years and has 
never issued a fine.  Instead, it works with businesses where most just need a little 
assistance to get on the right track.   

• In Mecklenburg County, NC, over 1000 inspections have been conducted with 
only a few violation letters, and no eventual fines. Each business corrected the 
violation with extra technical assistance. 

• Most communities do not dig into trash to measure compliance; the enforcement 
efforts are directed toward obvious contamination – focusing on large amounts of 
cardboard sticking out of a dumpster or no recycling bins around; they do not 
police every little thing. 

• Cities take different approaches to initial inspections, sometimes walking in the 
streets, sometimes asking the haulers to report, sometimes relying on voluntary 
community reporting. Other communities have found that it’s relatively easy to 
see who does or does not have bins and who is using them properly.  

 
In mid-2015, staff is rolling out new rebates and a tiered service model for both 
businesses and multi-family complexes that will be affected by the ordinance. Property 
owners and businesses will be able to access rebates and cost-sharing arrangements for 
the one-time costs associated with collection containers or trash enclosures. Staff will 
also be providing assistance in collaboration with area haulers, community organizations 
and under contract with the Partners for a Clean Environment (PACE) advisors, to help 
businesses minimize the total trash generated while maximizing the proportion of trash 
that can be separated into compostables and recyclables collection containers. Technical 
assistance will be offered in the form of a “do-it-yourself toolkit,” a “light touch” or a 
“deeper dive” assistance service to help encourage early compliance. In 2015, staff will 
also be developing and testing an online reporting form to determine whether it could be 
useful for self-reporting compliance with the ordinance. The anticipated timeline for 
ordinance adoption and assistance is as follows: 
Timeline Action Items 
2nd Quarter 2015 Ordinance adoption 
2015 through mid-2016 (property owner 
compliance deadline; may be extended 
depending on compliance schedule 
contained in final City Manager’s Rule) 

Technical assistance, zero waste advising services 
and first-come-first served incentives to encourage 
early compliance. Research and targeted 
implementation assistance for space-constrained 
business districts (e.g., Pearl Street Mall, University 
Hill) 

3rd Quarter 2016, ongoing 
 

Exemption applications will be reviewed and 
properties will be provided with technical assistance 
in order to assess whether a property could be 
brought into compliance rather than be granted an 
exemption. Compliance reporting will be a 
cooperative effort with code enforcement and the 
community to identify non-compliant properties.  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 8Packet Page 194



3rd Quarter 2016, ongoing; may shift 
depending on compliance schedule 
contained in final City Manager’s Rule 

Technical assistance, free signage and educational 
support for any properties issued warnings3 

 
iii. Compliance Timeline Options 
Council is being asked to consider three different schedules for compliance: 

• Option A would require that all non-exempt Boulder businesses (estimated at 
approximately 3,000) establish collection programs for recyclables and 
compostables within one year and three months of ordinance adoption.  

• Option B phases in the composting service requirement by requiring landscapers 
and businesses that prepare, serve or sell food to compost within one year and 
three months of ordinance adoption; and all other businesses to add compost 
collection service within three years. Staff estimates that approximately 525 
businesses of the total 3,000 fall into the category of landscapers or businesses 
that prepare, serve or sell food (428 eating and drinking places, 54 groceries, 18 
florists, landscaping and garden stores; 28 food and beverage manufacturers). 

• Option C would require that all non-exempt Boulder businesses (estimated at 
approximately 3,000) establish collection programs for recyclables and 
compostables within two years and three months of ordinance adoption 

 
The following analysis compares each option’s ability to achieve the community’s zero 
waste goals as outlined in the draft Zero Waste Strategic Plan (ZWSP), as well as 
describing the economic impacts of each option. Inherent in these analyses are policy 
considerations relating to the facilities currently available to process the community’s 
compostable materials. Council may want to consider whether in the short term, 
compostable materials should be processed in Boulder at a higher cost or transferred from 
Boulder to an in-vessel composting system outside of the city for a much lower cost. In 
the longer term staff will be working with the city’s zero waste partners to identify and 
contract for low-cost, local compost transfer and processing options.  
Staff Recommendation 
Staff is recommending compliance Schedule A as it would bring everyone on board 
quickly. Both schedules A and C would be more straightforward to define, understand 
and implement (i.e., “everyone has to add composting and recycling services” as opposed 
to “all businesses have to add recycling services; and if your business prepares, serves or 
sells food, it must add compost now, but if it does not, then you have three years before 
you have to add that service”); would lend themselves to fewer businesses falling through 
a regulatory loophole (defining a business that serves, sells or prepares food” as well as a 
“landscaper or other business that generates a significant amount of vegetative waste” can 
be confusing and may require a significant amount of staff and community time to 
interpret); and would present a situation whereby the city and its partners could more 
easily provide recycling and composting assistance to everyone at once. Furthermore, 
compliance schedules A and C would be more equitable as everyone in Boulder would 
have access to the same services on the same timeline, and one specific business type 
would not be unfairly burdened as compared to another business type.  

3 Three written warnings, delivered in person will be issued prior to any fines being assessed. 2017 Budget 
will include trash tax contribution to any additional required resources for enforcement and exemption 
tracking . 

                                                           

Agenda Item 5A     Page 9Packet Page 195



How do the compliance options compare from an environmental perspective? 
The following matrix compares the compliance schedule options and their estimated 
ability to achieve the quantitative and qualitative criteria as outlined in ZWSP. For ease 
of comparison, composting quantities and GHG emissions reductions are shown for the 
organics portion of the waste stream only. 

 Quantitative Criteria Qualitative Criteria 
Ordinance Estimated 

Average 
Annual 
Waste 

Diversion 
Potential in 

years 1-3 
(tons/year) 

Estimated  
Average 

Annual GHG 
Emissions 
Reduction 
Potential  
Years 1-3 

(tons/year) 

Community 
Engagement 
(# of affected 
employees; 

does not 
include 

customers) 

Upstream 
Conservation 

 

Ease of 
Implementation 

Schedule A 12,000 3,6004 94,000 low medium 
Schedule B 8,575 2,5724 11,500 low low 
Schedule C 8,000 2,4004 94,000 low high 

As is shown, the annual waste diversion potential and resultant greenhouse gas emissions 
reductions are greatest with compliance schedule A, as more businesses are composting 
and recycling sooner. After year three, the annual diversion and GHG emissions 
reductions would “catch up” for all compliance schedules. Schedule A also performs best 
in the area of “community engagement” in year one as measured by the number of 
employees affected by the change. It should be noted that this underestimates the total 
impact as it does not include the number of customers that would presumably be involved 
in the new zero waste requirements when they patronize these businesses. With respect to 
the qualitative criteria, there seems to be no difference between the three options in the 
area of upstream conservation – a business would be no more likely (under one 
compliance schedule as compared with the others) to look at its purchasing practices or 
manufacturing processes in order to minimize the total waste generated in the first place. 
For the reasons described above, schedule B would be more difficult to implement and 
more confusing to the community. Schedules A and C would be more straightforward 
than B; with schedule C being somewhat easier for the community to implement as it 
would provide a two-year time frame for everyone to make necessary adjustments to their 
collection and processing systems. 

How do the compliance options compare from an economic perspective? 
Costs to the City 
There is not a significant difference between the compliance options with respect to the 
costs to the city.  
Costs to the businesses 
The total cost to a business for adding recycling and composting collection can be made 
up of one or more of the following cost components: 

4 This GHG emissions calculation is based on the U.S. Community Protocol for Accounting and Reporting 
of Greenhouse Gas Emissions v. 1.0 (October 2012). The ICLEI Recycling and Composting Emissions 
Protocol and EPA’s WARM model provide a more comprehensive life cycle look into GHG emissions 
reductions and if these methodologies were used, the projected GHG emissions reductions would be much 
greater.   

                                                           

Agenda Item 5A     Page 10Packet Page 196



1. One-time initial investment in collection bins 
2. One-time initial investment in trash enclosure upgrades to accommodate 

collection containers 
3. Ongoing costs to collect recyclables and/or compostables which includes in it a 

cost factor for a gate fee at a composting or recycling processing facility 
With respect to the costs to businesses, all compliance options present the possibility that 
a business’ costs will increase by requiring the provision of recycling and/or compost 
services. However, some businesses also may find their ongoing costs decrease by 
decreasing the amount of trash that must be collected while increasing the recyclables 
and/or compostables collection service. This is particularly true for restaurants and 
supermarkets whose trash is comprised primarily of compostable materials. The trash tax 
portion of a business’ collection bill will also decrease (though it is typically a small 
percentage of the total bill) as trash service levels decrease, based as it is on trash 
quantities, not the quantity of recyclables or compostables that are separately collected.  
Hauling and processing costs 
There are several local options for haulers with whom Boulder businesses can contract 
for composting collection services. Colorado law prevents the city from being able to 
control the costs for this service and it is difficult to obtain standardized cost estimates 
from haulers for these collection services. As part of the city’s Zero Waste Program 
Evaluation Study, Kessler Consulting estimated the additional costs to a business for 
adding compost collection would range between $15 and $30/month.5  
 
Another way to compare the costs to the community for the compliance schedule options, 
city and county staff have compiled the following facility and representative 
transportation costs for processing the compostable materials. Since the costs to a 
business for collecting compostable materials includes within it a cost for gate fees at the 
composting site, these costs should be an indication of the comparative costs for 
collection.  
Compostables Processing 
There are currently three primary options in the front range for processing of 
compostables from Boulder: A-1 Organics’ Denver Transfer Site, A-1 Organics/EDF 
Heartland BioGas facility and Western Disposal’s Boulder Compost site. As is shown in 
the tables below, higher processing costs are often offset by lower transportation costs. 

Comparative costs for hauling compostables to area facilities 
 Facility Gate Fee 

($/ton) 
Approximate 
Transfer and 

Transportation Costs 
From Boulder 

($/ton) 

Estimated Total 
Costs 
($/ton) 

Heartland BioGas 
Facility $32 $18 $50.00 

A-1 Organics 
Denver Transfer $26.50 - $35 $37 $63.50 - $72 

Western Disposal  $67.55 - $77 minimal $67.55 - $77 

5 $15/month assumes collection for (1) 64-gal cart of compostables collected per week; $30/month assumes 
(1) 64 gallon cart of compostables collected twice per week. 

                                                           

Agenda Item 5A     Page 11Packet Page 197



As part of the analysis to inform council’s decision on whether to move forward with 
compliance timeline A, B or C, staff has been meeting with Western Disposal and A-1 
Organics to understand the composting process at each facility as well as future cost 
projections for the three compost processing sites.  
A-1 Organics/EDF Heartland Compost Digester and BioGas Facility 
Attachment F includes a letter from A-1 Organics explaining its Heartland BioGas in-
vessel compost facility. Located in LaSalle, Colorado, this facility is scheduled to be fully 
operational this month. Developed as a joint venture between A-1 Organics, the largest 
and longest-running composting company in Colorado and Électricité de France (EDF), 
the facility is able to accept a wide range of commercial compostable food waste (but not 
woody yard waste) and sort out a wide range of both recyclables and trash that may 
accidentally be mixed in with the commercial compostable materials. Once the material 
is sorted, the food waste is processed by being composted in a vessel to produce a peat 
moss substitute and natural gas. The Heartland facility has a 20-year contract to sell the 
natural gas to the Sacramento Municipal Utility District in California.  
Western Disposal Composting Site 
Located in Boulder along 63rd Street, this facility currently accepts all the material from 
the residential curbside composting program in Boulder as well as compostable food 
waste from Western Disposal’s commercial customers that subscribe to compost 
collection services. As is reflected in the table above, the current gate fee at Western’s 
compost site is $67.55/ton for source separated food waste, expected to increase to 
$77/ton as more materials come into the composting site in the future. Attachment G 
includes a letter from Western Disposal that includes a description of the components of 
this cost. Discussions with Western Disposal have indicated the following general 
breakdown of these gate fees: 
 

Compost site operations: 75% 
Route administration & capital overhead: 4% 

Sales, customer service and marketing of end 
product: 4% 

IT department: 3% 
General Overhead (legal, audit, Mgmt, etc.): 14% 

A-1 Organics’ Stapleton transfer station 
A-1 Organics currently operates a transfer station in Denver. The material is currently 
transferred to a compost site in Keenesburg, CO. Once the Heartland site opens, all 
commercial food waste will be brought there from the Denver transfer site and all woody 
yard waste will continue to be processed in Keenesburg. Gate fees at the Stapleton 
transfer station are expected to increase from the current rate of $26.50 to approximately 
$30 or $35/ton in the future. 
 
Future facility options 
The City of Louisville has been investigating the possibility of developing a new compost 
or transfer site at its municipal public works yards. If this is developed in coming years, it 
could present a cost-effective alternative to the existing compost facilities. 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 12Packet Page 198



In addition, the Erie landfill has indicated it is willing to provide a transfer site for 
compostable materials heading to the Heartland BioGas facility. The landfill operators 
estimate a $50/ton gate fee to transfer food waste to the Heartland site.  
 
Staff Recommendation 
Staff is recommending compliance schedule A to move as quickly as is practical, for ease 
of implementation, equity and to minimize confusion in the community.  
 
In order to keep potential costs down to Boulder businesses, staff also recommends 
entering into a one- to three-year contract with Western Disposal to transfer commercial 
compostables to the Heartland BioGas facility. This option would provide Boulder 
businesses flexibility for higher levels of contamination in the compostable materials as 
everyone gets used to properly sorting their waste as we ramp up compliance with the 
new regulations. A contract would allow all haulers to use a local drop off center 
minimizing the GHG emissions associated with individual rear load vehicles driving 
materials to Erie or LaSalle directly; it would set an equitable gate fee for all haulers; and 
it would control the gate fee portion of the hauler’s collection costs, thus offering a 
lowest cost option for businesses who are adding compost collection. The one- to three-
year contract term would allow for staff to pursue alternative transfer sites and lower cost 
compost facilities in the medium to long-term.  
 
iv. Post-compliance period 
In order to track compliance with the new requirements and exemptions issued, an 
internal tracking system will be developed in 2015. There is not an existing trigger or 
business process with the city that affects all businesses once they receive their business 
license, so compliance will need to be enforced through other mechanisms and will likely 
be a combination of proactive enforcement and complaint-based processes. Code 
enforcement personnel can check for adequate collection systems outside of properties as 
well as any egregious contamination issues. Staff from the city’s environmental team and 
community partners can collect information about bins inside businesses, proper signage 
and education. Taken together, a cooperative compliance process may be developed to 
implement and enforce this regulation. This is the common enforcement approach taken 
by peer cities with similar ordinances. Once the implementation period is over, trash tax 
incentive funds can be transitioned to cover exemption processing and enforcement costs. 
 
An internal tracking system will also create a workflow for providing appropriate 
education and assistance services to businesses and multifamily housing complexes that 
need help complying with the requirements.  
 
X.  BUDGET 
The 2015 proposed budget for implementation of this ordinance is as follows: 
 

Personnel $164,000 
Interns and volunteers $20,000 

Ordinance outreach and compliance tracking system $50,000 
Business and MFU Rebates $200,000 

“Toolkits” for businesses and MFUs $82,000 
PACE Zero Waste Advisors $107,000 

Agenda Item 5A     Page 13Packet Page 199



MFU advising program $70,000 
Recycling/composting collection containers for city facilities and 

public places $45,000 

TOTAL $738,000 
 
XI.  NEXT STEPS: 
Once council provides direction for its desired compliance schedule and adopts this 
ordinance, staff will draft the City Manager Rule and post it for public comment. Staff 
will return to council with a final Zero Waste Strategic Plan and associated Action Plan 
(as well as partners’ action plans) in the fall of 2015, and will report to council on a 
quarterly basis regarding any compliance, tracking or enforcement issues. One year after 
ordinance adoption, staff will return to council with any recommended future 
modifications to the City Manager’s Rule or ordinance clean-up based on any compliance 
or enforcement issues that might arise. 
 
ATTACHMENTS  
A: First Reading Ordinance Language 
B: Alternative, Second Reading Ordinance Language 
C: City Manager’s Rule outline 
D: Compliance schedule options A, B and C 
E: May 14, 2015 letter from Environmental Advisory Board 
F: Feb. 5, 2015 letter from A-1 Organics 
G: April 27, 2015 letter from Western Disposal 
  

Agenda Item 5A     Page 14Packet Page 200



 

 

K:\cmen\o-8045-2nd-a-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8045 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTIONS 6-3-2, 
“DEFINITIONS,” 6-3-3, “ACCUMULATION OF TRASH, 
RECYCLABLES, AND COMPOSTABLES PROHIBITED,” 6-3-
9, “SPECIAL TRASH SERVICE REQUIREMENTS ON 
CERTAIN RESIDENTIAL RENTAL PROPERTIES AT 
CERTAIN TIMES,” AND 6-12-6, “DISPOSITION OF 
RECYCLABLE OR COMPOSTABLE MATERIALS,” B.R.C. 
1981, AND ADDING NEW SECTIONS 6-3-13, PROPERTY 
OWNER REQUIREMENTS FOR RECYCLABLES AND 
COMPOSTABLES COLLECTION,” 6-3-14, “BUSINESS 
OWNER REQUIREMENTS FOR RECYCLABLES AND 
COMPOSTABLES COLLECTION,” 6-3-15, SPECIAL EVENTS 
REQUIREMENTS FOR RECYCLABLES AND  
COMPOSTABLES COLLECTIONS,” 6-3-16, 
“APPLICABILITY,” 6-3-17, “EXEMPTIONS,” 6-3-18, 
“VIOLATIONS,” B.R.C. 1981, AND SETTING FORTH 
RELATED DETAILS. 

WHEREAS, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, 

FINDS AND RECITES THE FOLLOWING: 

A. The city, through its policies, programs, and laws, supports efforts to reduce the 

amount of waste that must be disposed of in landfills and pursues "zero waste" as a long-term 

goal by emphasizing waste prevention efforts;  

B. The City of Boulder has been managing recycling and composting programs since 

1981 when the Trash Tax, Chapter 3-10, B.R.C. 1981, was first instituted; 

C. The City has found the most effective way to ensure maximum recovery of 

recyclable and compostable materials from  trash is to require they be separated from trash; 

D. City Council encourages businesses that prepare, serve or sell food to investigate 

donating edible food waste prior to composting it; 

 
Attachment A - First Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 15Packet Page 201



 

 

K:\cmen\o-8045-2nd-a-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

E. No entity currently exists in Boulder County that will accept mixed trash and 

separate it into recyclable and compostable materials offsite. Such post-collection processing of 

mixed trash and recyclable materials is not an environmentally effective or efficient method of 

managing trash; 

F. The Boulder County Recycling Center is a publicly owned facility that can bolster 

the City’s goals of increasing both the amount of recyclables being processed and the efficiency 

of implementing the City’s Zero Waste Strategic and Action plans; 

G. Therefore, the purpose of this Ordinance is to ensure every person within the City 

of Boulder is able to separate recyclables and compostables from trash and that the materials 

designated by the City Manager to be recyclable and compostable are recycled and composted 

properly. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  6-3-2, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 
 
6-3-2.  - Definitions. 

The definitions in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, shall apply to this chapter, 
including, without limitation, the definitions of compostables, hauler, recyclable materials, trash, 
trash container, visible to the public, and wildlife-resistant container. 

The following terms used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context 
clearly indicates otherwise: 

Bear-resistant container shall mean a container that meets the requirements for such a 
container established by the city manager in a rule adopted pursuant to Section 6-3-11, "City 
Manager Authorized to Issue Rules," B.R.C. 1981. 

Bear-resistant dumpster shall mean a dumpster that meets the requirements for such a 
container established by the city manager in a rule adopted pursuant to Section 6-3-11, "City 
Manager Authorized to Issue Rules," B.R.C. 1981. 

 
Attachment A - First Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 16Packet Page 202



 

 

K:\cmen\o-8045-2nd-a-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Bear-resistant enclosure shall mean a fully enclosed structure that meets the 
requirements for such a container established by the city manager in a rule adopted pursuant to 
Section 6-3-11, "City Manager Authorized to Issue Rules," B.R.C. 1981. 

Business shall have the meaning set forth in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, and 
as used in this section shall also include, without limitation, educational institutions, and 
charitable or nonprofit organizations.  

Owner shall have the meaning set forth in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, and 
as used in this section, shall include a business operator or business manager. With respect to 
requirements relating to the provision of recyclable and compostable materials collection for a 
condominium or cooperatively owned development, “owner shall include the owners’ 
association or its equivalent. 

Person shall have the meaning set forth in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, and 
shall also include, without limitation, owner of any property or vacant land; occupant, owner, 
operator, or manager of any single-unit dwelling, multi-unit dwelling, mobile home, mobile 
home park, private club, or other similar property; or owner, operator, manager, or employee of 
any business or business property. 

Property Manager shall mean any person who is an owner’s representative, has charge 
of, or controls any property of an owner appointed to manage on-site property operations 
including trash collection services for the property. 

Refuse attractant shall mean any trash or other substance which could reasonably be 
expected to attract wildlife or does attract wildlife, including, but not limited to, soiled diapers, 
sanitary pads, food products, pet food, feed, kitchen organic waste, food, food packaging, 
toothpaste, deodorant, cosmetics, spices, seasonings, or grease. Attractants do not include 
recyclable materials properly enclosed in a recycling container, or materials that do not meet the 
definition of trash in Section 1-2-1, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, and is fruit associated with a 
fruit tree or bush, produce associated with a garden, or a bird feeder. 

Self-haul when used in reference to trash, recyclable and/or compostable materials 
generated by a business or person, shall mean the collection and transportation of such materials 
from a property where an owner, employee or agent of the property or business hauls the 
material rather than  a hauler or to perform this function 

Venue facility means any structure used for temporary events.  

Section 2.  6-3-3(b), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-3-3. - Accumulation of Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables Prohibited. 
 
… 

 
Attachment A - First Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 17Packet Page 203



 

 

K:\cmen\o-8045-2nd-a-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(b)  No owner of any property containing one or more rental dwelling units shall fail to 
maintain in effect a current and valid contract with a one or more haulers  providing for 
the removal of accumulated trash, recyclables and compostables from the property, which 
contract shall provide for sufficient trash, recyclables and compostable materials hauling 
to accommodate the regular accumulation of trash, recyclables and compostables from 
the property no less frequently than on a biweekly basis.  

… 

Section 3.  6-3-9(c), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-3-9. - Special Trash Service Requirements on Certain Residential Rental Properties at 
Certain Times.  

(c) Within the special trash service zone and during a designated period, no owner of 
property required to be licensed by Section 10-3-2, "Rental License Required Before 
Occupancy and License Exemptions," B.R.C. 1981, shall fail to maintain in effect a 
current and valid contract with a commercial trash hauler providing for the removal of 
accumulated trash from the property, which contract provides for trash hauling: 
(1) The hauler will check the regular trash containers for the property every day, 

excluding Sundays and holidays. 
(1)(2) The recyclables hauler will check the regular recycling containers for the property 

at least two times per week 
(2)(3) Any trash container which is full Monday through Friday will be emptied by the 

hauler. On Saturdays, containers will be emptied if more than half full. 
(4) Any trash which is on the ground or otherwise near the container is picked up by the 

hauler. 
(3)(5) Any recycling container which is more than half full when checked will be 

emptied by the recyclables hauler. 
 

Section 4.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-13. - Property Owner Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection. 

(a) For all services that meet the requirements of this section, the property owner or property 
manager must establish on-site collection areas for recyclable and compostable materials 
that are convenient to occupants and tenants. The recycling and compost collection 
containers shall be placed in a location or locations within reasonable and convenient 
proximity to all buildings and other uses on site and be at least as convenient to occupants 
and tenants as trash containers.  
 

(b) When a property owner or property manager provides janitorial services to its tenants, 
employees or occupants, the contract for janitorial services shall include recyclables and 

 
Attachment A - First Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 18Packet Page 204



 

 

K:\cmen\o-8045-2nd-a-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

compostables collection service that meets the requirements of this section. 
 

(c) At least once per year, the property owner or property manager shall conduct training and 
distribute to all tenants information about how to use the on-site system established for 
collection of recyclables and compostables pursuant to this section. Property owners and 
managers shall provide new tenants with this information within 30 days of tenant move-
in and no later than the thirtieth day after a substantive change in the recycling or 
composting location or service offered at the property. 
 

(d) Property owners or managers must maintain and make available upon request, to the city 
manager for inspection and copying during normal business hours, any contracts and 
invoices for collection and disposition of recyclable and/or compostable materials for a 
period covering the most recent three years. 
 
Section 5.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-14. - Business Owner Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection. 

(a) All business owners must separate recyclable and compostable material from the trash 
and wherever business owners provide trash containers to employees or customers, they 
must also provide recyclables and compostables containers for employees and customers’ 
use. Containers must be at least as conveniently located as trash and be of adequate size 
and number to prevent recyclables and compostables from being mixed with trash.  
 

(b) At least once per year, business owners must conduct training that instructs all employees 
how to use the containers established for collection of recyclables and compostables 
pursuant to this section. Business owners shall provide new employees with this 
information within 30 days of when the employee begins work and no later than the 
thirtieth day after a substantive change in the recycling or composting service offered at 
the business. 

 
(c) All business owners must provide Spanish and English or picture-only signs at each 

recyclables and compostables container, clearly indicating the appropriate materials to be 
placed inside the container in accordance with rules issued by the city manager. 
 

(d) Business owners or managers must maintain and make available upon request, to the city 
manager for inspection and copying during normal business hours, any contracts and 
invoices for collection and disposition of recyclable and/or compostable materials for a 
period covering the most recent three years. 
 

 
 

 
Attachment A - First Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 19Packet Page 205



 

 

K:\cmen\o-8045-2nd-a-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 6.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-15. - Special Events Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection. 

All special events and temporary events at a venue facility in the City of Boulder must 

provide recyclables and compostables collection in compliance with the city’s Special Event 

Permit requirements.  

Section 7.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-16. – Applicability. 

(a)   The requirements of section 6-3-13, “Property Owner Requirements for Recyclables and 
Compostables Collection” shall apply to all property owners within the City of Boulder 
beginning one year from the date this Ordinance is adopted by city council. 
 

(b)   The requirements of section 6-3-14, “Business Owner Requirements for Recyclables and 
Compostables Collection,” shall apply to all businesses existing within the City of 
Boulder by the date established in a rule adopted by the city manager in accordance with 
Chapter 1-4, “Rulemaking,” B.R.C. 1981.  
 

(c)   The requirements of section 6-3-15, “Special Events Requirements for Recyclables and 
Compostables Collection” shall apply to all special events and temporary events at venue 
facilities beginning on January 1, 2016.  
 
Section 8.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-17. - Exemptions. 

(a) Applications for exemptions from complying with the requirements of sections 6-3-13, 
“Property Owner Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection,” or 6-3-
14, “Business Owner Requirements, must be made by the owner of the property or 
business. Any exemption shall be for a period of one year. Property or business owners 
may re-apply for one additional exemption at the expiration of the initial exemption 
period. City staff will review exemption applications and work with the applicants to 

 
Attachment A - First Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 20Packet Page 206



 

 

K:\cmen\o-8045-2nd-a-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

bring the property owner or business owner into compliance. Applications must be 
received within sixty days of the start of the compliance period established in section 6-3-
17, “Applicability.” The city manager may issue additional rules that govern the 
conditions under which an application for an exemption may be submitted and granted. In 
order to be granted an exemption, applicants must demonstrate they have considered all 
reasonable options that would bring their business or property into compliance and must 
explain to the satisfaction of the city manager why none of these options are viable. The 
city manager shall determine whether an exemption will be granted. Applications for an 
exemption may require submission of an application processing fee.  

 

(b) The following persons are exempt from the provisions of this chapter: 
 

(1) The owner of a business that occupies less than fifty percent of the floor area of a 
residence. 

(2) A business or property owner or manager that can demonstrate extreme economic 
hardship as defined by the city manager. 

(3) Businesses that generate a de minimis volume of trash, recyclables or compostables 
as defined by the city manager. 

(4) Any business owner or manager who can demonstrate that compliance would require 
the business to violate other municipal codes or regulations. 

(5) A businesses or property owner that hauls its own trash, recyclables or compostables 
as certified by a self-hauling certification, the contents and format of which is defined 
by the city manager, may be granted an exemption from section 6-3-3(b). 

(6) A property or business owner that composts on-site in compliance with all applicable 
laws pertaining to Title 6, Chapter 3, Section 6-3-6, “Compost piles permitted if not a 
nuisance.” 

(7) Property owners that share collection service as certified by a shared service 
certification, the contents and format of which is defined by the city manager, may be 
granted an exemption from section 6-3-3(b). 

(8) A business or property owner that can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the city 
manager that the property is sufficiently space constrained so as to preclude 
compliance with the provisions of these sections.   

(9) Innovation exemption - business or property owner may apply for an exemption if 
they are reusing or repurposing a significant portion of their waste stream. 

 

Section 9.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-18. - Violations. 

If the city manager finds a violation of any provision of this chapter, the manager, after 
notice and an opportunity for hearing under the procedures prescribed by Chapter 1-3, "Quasi-

 
Attachment A - First Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 21Packet Page 207



 

 

K:\cmen\o-8045-2nd-a-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981, may impose a civil penalty according to the following 
schedule: 

(a)   For the first violation of the provision, $500; 
 

(b)   For the second violation of the same provision, $1,000; 
 

(c)   For the third and subsequent violations of the same provision, $2,000; and 
 

(d)   The city manager's authority under this section is in addition to any other authority the 
manager has to enforce this chapter, and election of one remedy by the manager shall 
not preclude resorting to any other remedy as well.  
 

(e)   Violations of this chapter are also punishable as provided in Section 5-2-4, "General 
Penalties," B.R.C. 1981.  

 

Section 10.  6-12-6, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-12-6. - Disposition of Recyclable or Compostable Materials.  

(a) No person other than the person placing the recyclables or compostables for collection or 
that person's designated hauler shall take physical possession of any recyclables or 
compostables separated from trash, set out in the vicinity of the curb or alleys, and 
plainly marked for recyclables or compostables collection. 
 

(b) Each property owner, property manager, residential customer, commercial customer, or 
multifamily customer shall relinquish recyclable materials to a hauler only on the 
condition that the hauler deliver the recyclable materials only to a recyclables processing 
center as set forth in subparagraph (c) below. 
 

(c) In the absence of an express written designation to the contrary initiated by the customer, 
it shall be presumed that each property owner, property manager, residential customer, 
commercial customer  or multifamily customer has designated recyclable materials to be 
hauled to the recyclables processing center owned by Boulder County or its successor in 
interest. However, each customer may designate another recyclables processing center by 
notifying the hauler of that designation in writing. This written notification must be given 
at the initiative of the customer, not the hauler, and may not be written on a form 
furnished by the hauler. 

 
(d) Haulers shall take all compostable materials collected to a state permitted compost 

facility that can certify that the material is processed into a compost product. Haulers 
shall maintain receipts and records for a period of five years. Upon request by any 
customer or the city manager, haulers shall produce receipts from the facility utilized. 

 
 

 
Attachment A - First Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 22Packet Page 208



 

 

K:\cmen\o-8045-2nd-a-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 11.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 12.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 5th day of May, 2015. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of June, 2015. 

 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
 
City Clerk 
 

 
Attachment A - First Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 23Packet Page 209



 

K:\CMEN\o-8045-2nd-b-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8045 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTIONS 6-3-2, 

“DEFINITIONS,” 6-3-3, “ACCUMULATION OF TRASH, 

RECYCLABLES, AND COMPOSTABLES PROHIBITED,” 6-3-

9, “SPECIAL TRASH SERVICE REQUIREMENTS ON 

CERTAIN RESIDENTIAL RENTAL PROPERTIES AT 

CERTAIN TIMES,” AND 6-12-6, “DISPOSITION OF 

RECYCLABLE OR COMPOSTABLE MATERIALS,” B.R.C. 

1981, AND ADDING NEW SECTIONS 6-3-13, PROPERTY 

OWNER REQUIREMENTS FOR RECYCLABLES AND 

COMPOSTABLES COLLECTION,” 6-3-14, “BUSINESS 

OWNER REQUIREMENTS FOR RECYCLABLES AND 

COMPOSTABLES COLLECTION,” 6-3-15, SPECIAL EVENTS 

REQUIREMENTS FOR RECYCLABLES AND  

COMPOSTABLES COLLECTIONS,” 6-3-16, 

“APPLICABILITY,” 6-3-17, “EXEMPTIONS,” 6-3-18, 

“VIOLATIONS,” B.R.C. 1981, AND SETTING FORTH 

RELATED DETAILS. 

WHEREAS, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO, 

FINDS AND RECITES THE FOLLOWING: 

The city, through its policies, programs, and laws, supports efforts to reduce the amount 

of waste that must be disposed of in landfills and pursues "zero waste" as a long-term goal by 

emphasizing waste prevention efforts;  

A. The City of Boulder has been managing recycling and composting programs since 

1981 when the Trash Tax, Chapter 3-10, B.R.C. 1981, was first instituted; 

B. The City has found the most effective way to ensure maximum recovery of 

recyclable and compostable materials from  trash is to require they be separated from trash; 

C. City Council encourages businesses that prepare, serve or sell food to investigate 

donating or repurposing edible food waste prior to composting it; 

Attachment B - Alternate, Second Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 24Packet Page 210



 

K:\CMEN\o-8045-2nd-b-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

D. No entity currently exists in Boulder County that will accept mixed trash and 

separate it into recyclable and compostable materials offsite. Such post-collection processing of 

mixed trash and recyclable materials is not an environmentally effective or efficient method of 

managing trash; 

E. The Boulder County Recycling Center is a publicly owned facility that can bolster 

the City’s goals of increasing both the amount of recyclables being processed and the efficiency 

of implementing the City’s Zero Waste Strategic and Action plans; 

F. Therefore, the purpose of this Ordinance is to ensure every person within the City 

of Boulder is able to separate recyclables and compostables from trash and that the materials 

designated by the City Manager to be recyclable and compostable are recycled and composted 

properly. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  6-3-2, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

 

6-3-2.  - Definitions. 

The definitions in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, shall apply to this chapter, 

including, without limitation, the definitions of compostables, hauler, recyclable materials, trash, 

trash container, visible to the public, and wildlife-resistant container. 

The following terms used in this chapter have the following meanings unless the context 

clearly indicates otherwise: 

Bear-resistant container shall mean a container that meets the requirements for such a 

container established by the city manager in a rule adopted pursuant to Section 6-3-11, "City 

Manager Authorized to Issue Rules," B.R.C. 1981. 

Bear-resistant dumpster shall mean a dumpster that meets the requirements for such a 

container established by the city manager in a rule adopted pursuant to Section 6-3-11, "City 

Manager Authorized to Issue Rules," B.R.C. 1981. 

Attachment B - Alternate, Second Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 25Packet Page 211



 

K:\CMEN\o-8045-2nd-b-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Bear-resistant enclosure shall mean a fully enclosed structure that meets the 

requirements for such a container established by the city manager in a rule adopted pursuant to 

Section 6-3-11, "City Manager Authorized to Issue Rules," B.R.C. 1981. 

Business shall have the meaning set forth in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, and 

as used in this section shall also include, without limitation, educational institutions, and 

charitable or nonprofit organizations.  

Owner shall have the meaning set forth in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, and 

as used in this section, shall include a business operator or business manager. With respect to 

requirements relating to the provision of recyclable and compostable materials collection for a 

condominium or cooperatively owned development, “owner shall include the owners’ 

association or its equivalent. 

Person shall have the meaning set forth in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, and 

shall also include, without limitation, owner of any property or vacant land; occupant, owner, 

operator, or manager of any single-unit dwelling, multi-unit dwelling, mobile home, mobile 

home park, private club, or other similar property; or owner, operator, manager, or employee of 

any business or business property. 

Property Manager shall mean any person who is an owner’s representative, has charge 

of, or controls any property of an owner appointed to manage on-site property operations 

including trash collection services for the property. 

Refuse attractant shall mean any trash or other substance which could reasonably be 

expected to attract wildlife or does attract wildlife, including, but not limited to, soiled diapers, 

sanitary pads, food products, pet food, feed, kitchen organic waste, food, food packaging, 

toothpaste, deodorant, cosmetics, spices, seasonings, or grease. Attractants do not include 

recyclable materials properly enclosed in a recycling container, or materials that do not meet the 

definition of trash in Section 1-2-1, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, and is fruit associated with a 

fruit tree or bush, produce associated with a garden, or a bird feeder. 

Self-haul when used in reference to trash, recyclable and/or compostable materials 

generated by a business or person, shall mean the collection and transportation of such materials 

from a property where an owner, employee or agent of the property or business hauls the 

material rather than  a hauler or to perform this function 

Venue facility means any structure used for temporary events.  

Section 2.  6-3-3(b), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-3-3. - Accumulation of Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables Prohibited. 
 

… 

Attachment B - Alternate, Second Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 26Packet Page 212



 

K:\CMEN\o-8045-2nd-b-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(b)  No owner of any property containing one or more rental dwelling units shall fail to 

maintain in effect a current and valid contract with a one or more haulers  providing for 

the removal of accumulated trash, recyclables and compostables from the property, which 

contract shall provide for sufficient trash, recyclables and compostable materials hauling 

to accommodate the regular accumulation of trash, recyclables and compostables from 

the property. Properties containing one or more rental dwelling units shall maintain a 

contract for the collection of trash no less frequently than on a biweekly basis.  

… 

Section 3.  6-3-9(c), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-3-9. - Special Trash Service Requirements on Certain Residential Rental Properties at 

Certain Times.  

(c) Within the special trash service zone and during a designated period, no owner of 

property required to be licensed by Section 10-3-2, "Rental License Required Before 

Occupancy and License Exemptions," B.R.C. 1981, shall fail to maintain in effect a 

current and valid contract with a commercial trash hauler providing for the removal of 

accumulated trash from the property, which contract provides for trash hauling: 

(1) The hauler will check the regular trash containers for the property every day, 

excluding Sundays and holidays. 

(1)(2) The recyclables hauler will check the regular recycling containers for the property 

at least two times per week during the city manager’s designated consecutive days in 

the third quarter of the calendar year.  

(2)(3) Any trash container which is full Monday through Friday will be emptied by the 

hauler. On Saturdays, containers will be emptied if more than half full. 

(4) Any trash which is on the ground or otherwise near the container is picked up by the 

hauler. 

(3)(5) Any recycling container which is more than half full when checked will be 

emptied by the recyclables hauler. 

 

Section 4.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-13. - Property Owner Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection. 

(a) For all services that meet the requirements of this section, the property owner or property 

manager must establish on-site collection areas for recyclable and compostable materials 

that are convenient to occupants and tenants. The recycling and compost collection 

containers shall be placed in a location or locations within reasonable and convenient 

proximity to all buildings and other uses on site and be at least as convenient to occupants 

and tenants as trash containers.  

 

Attachment B - Alternate, Second Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 27Packet Page 213



 

K:\CMEN\o-8045-2nd-b-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(b) When a property owner or property manager provides janitorial services to its tenants, 

employees or occupants, the contract for janitorial services shall include recyclables and 

compostables collection service that meets the requirements of this section. 

 

(c) At least once per year, the property owner or property manager shall conduct training and 

distribute to all tenants information about how to use the on-site system established for 

collection of recyclables and compostables pursuant to this section. Property owners and 

managers shall provide new tenants with this information within 30 days of tenant move-

in and no later than the thirtieth day after a substantive change in the recycling or 

composting location or service offered at the property. 

 

(d) Property owners or managers must maintain and make available upon request, to the city 

manager for inspection and copying during normal business hours, any contracts and 

invoices for collection and disposition of recyclable and/or compostable materials for a 

period covering the most recent three years. 

 

Section 5.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-14. - Business Owner Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection. 

(a) All business owners must separate recyclable and compostable material from the trash 

and wherever business owners provide trash containers to employees or customers, they 

must also provide recyclables and compostables containers for employees and customers’ 

use. Containers must be at least as conveniently located as trash and be of adequate size 

and number to prevent recyclables and compostables from being mixed with trash.  

 

(b) At least once per year, business owners must conduct training that instructs all employees 

how to use the containers established for collection of recyclables and compostables 

pursuant to this section. Business owners shall provide new employees with this 

information within 30 days of when the employee begins work and no later than the 

thirtieth day after a substantive change in the recycling or composting service offered at 

the business. 

 

(c) All business owners must provide Spanish and English or picture-only signs at each 

recyclables and compostables container, clearly indicating the appropriate materials to be 

placed inside the container in accordance with rules issued by the city manager. 

 

(d) Business owners or managers must maintain and make available upon request, to the city 

manager for inspection and copying during normal business hours, any contracts and 

invoices for collection and disposition of recyclable and/or compostable materials for a 

period covering the most recent three years. 

 

Attachment B - Alternate, Second Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 28Packet Page 214



 

K:\CMEN\o-8045-2nd-b-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Section 6.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-15. - Special Events Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection. 

All special events and temporary events at a venue facility in the City of Boulder must 

provide recyclables and compostables collection in compliance with the city’s Special Event 

Permit requirements.  

 

Section 7.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-16. – Applicability. 

(a)   The requirements of section 6-3-13, “Property Owner Requirements for Recyclables and 

Compostables Collection” shall apply to all property owners within the City of Boulder 

beginning one year from the date this Ordinance is adopted by city council. 

 

(b)   The requirements of section 6-3-14, “Business Owner Requirements for Recyclables and 

Compostables Collection,” shall apply to all businesses existing within the City of 

Boulder by the date established in a rule adopted by the city manager in accordance with 

Chapter 1-4, “Rulemaking,” B.R.C. 1981.  

 

(c)   The requirements of section 6-3-15, “Special Events Requirements for Recyclables and 

Compostables Collection” shall apply to all special events and temporary events at venue 

facilities beginning on January 1, 2016. 

 

Section 8.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-17. - Exemptions. 

(a) Applications for exemptions from complying with the requirements of sections 6-3-13, 

“Property Owner Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection,” or 6-3-

14, “Business Owner Requirements, must be made by the owner of the property or 

business. Any exemption shall be for a period of one year. Property or business owners 

may re-apply for one additional exemption at the expiration of the initial exemption 

period. City staff will review exemption applications and work with the applicants to 

bring the property owner or business owner into compliance. Applications must be 

Attachment B - Alternate, Second Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 29Packet Page 215



 

K:\CMEN\o-8045-2nd-b-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

received within sixty days of the start of the compliance period established in section 6-3-

17, “Applicability.” The city manager may issue additional rules that govern the 

conditions under which an application for an exemption may be submitted and granted. In 

order to be granted an exemption, applicants must demonstrate they have considered all 

reasonable options that would bring their business or property into compliance and must 

explain to the satisfaction of the city manager why none of these options are viable. The 

city manager shall determine whether an exemption will be granted. Applications for an 

exemption may require submission of an application processing fee.  

 

(b) The following persons are exempt from the provisions of this chapter: 

 

(1) The owner of a business that occupies less than fifty percent of the floor area of a 

residence. 

(2) A business or property owner or manager that can demonstrate extreme economic 

hardship as defined by the city manager. 

(3) Businesses that generate a de minimis volume of trash, recyclables or compostables 

as defined by the city manager. 

(4) Any business owner or manager who can demonstrate that compliance would require 

the business to violate other municipal codes or regulations, or applicable state or 

federal regulations. 

(5) A businesses or property owner that hauls its own trash, recyclables or compostables 

as certified by a self-hauling certification, the contents and format of which is defined 

by the city manager, may be granted an exemption from section 6-3-3(b). 

(6) A property or business owner that composts on-site in compliance with all applicable 

laws pertaining to Title 6, Chapter 3, Section 6-3-6, “Compost piles permitted if not a 

nuisance.” 

(7) Property owners that share collection service as certified by a shared service 

certification, the contents and format of which is defined by the city manager, may be 

granted an exemption from section 6-3-3(b). 

(8) A business or property owner that can demonstrate to the satisfaction of the city 

manager that the property is sufficiently space constrained so as to preclude 

compliance with the provisions of these sections.   

(9) Innovation exemption - business or property owner may apply for an exemption if 

they are reusing or repurposing a significant portion of their waste stream. 

 

Section 9.  Chapter 6-3, “Trash, Recyclables, and Compostables,” B.R.C. 1981, is 

amended by the addition of a new section to read: 

6-3-18. - Violations. 

If the city manager finds a violation of any provision of this chapter, the manager, after 

notice and an opportunity for hearing under the procedures prescribed by Chapter 1-3, "Quasi-

Attachment B - Alternate, Second Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 30Packet Page 216



 

K:\CMEN\o-8045-2nd-b-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Judicial Hearings," B.R.C. 1981, may impose a civil penalty according to the following 

schedule: 

(a)   For the first violation of the provision, $500; 

 

(b)   For the second violation of the same provision, $1,000; 

 

(c)   For the third and subsequent violations of the same provision, $2,000; and 

 

(d)   The city manager's authority under this section is in addition to any other authority the 

manager has to enforce this chapter, and election of one remedy by the manager shall 

not preclude resorting to any other remedy as well.  

 

(e)   Violations of this chapter are also punishable as provided in Section 5-2-4, "General 

Penalties," B.R.C. 1981.  

 

Section 10.  6-12-6, B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

6-12-6. - Disposition of Recyclable or Compostable Materials.  

(a) No person other than the person placing the recyclables or compostables for collection or 

that person's designated hauler shall take physical possession of any recyclables or 

compostables separated from trash, set out in the vicinity of the curb or alleys, and 

plainly marked for recyclables or compostables collection. 

 

(b) Each property owner, property manager, residential customer, commercial customer, or 

multifamily customer shall relinquish recyclable materials to a hauler only on the 

condition that the hauler deliver the recyclable materials only to a recyclables processing 

center as set forth in subparagraph (c) below. 

 

(c) In the absence of an express written designation to the contrary initiated by the customer, 

it shall be presumed that each property owner, property manager, residential customer, 

commercial customer  or multifamily customer has designated both single stream and 

source-separated, clean fiber recyclable materials as defined by city manager rules to be 

hauled to the recyclables processing center owned by Boulder County or its successor in 

interest (“Boulder County Recycling Center”). However, each customer may designate 

another recyclables processing center by notifying the hauler of that designation in 

writing. This written notification must be given at the initiative of the customer, not the 

hauler, and may not be written on a form furnished by the hauler. The presumption in this 

subsection (c) shall not apply with respect to source-separated, clean fiber recyclable 

materials if the hauler can demonstrate in writing to the city manager that the revenue 

received from the Boulder County Recycling Center is less than eighty-five percent of the 

hauler rebate offered by or revenue received from another recycling center that also 

accepts single stream recyclable materials. 

 

Attachment B - Alternate, Second Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 31Packet Page 217



 

K:\CMEN\o-8045-2nd-b-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(d) Haulers shall take all compostable materials collected to a state permitted compost 

facility that is in compliance with state composting regulations and can certify that the 

material is processed into a compost or biogas product. Alternatively, haulers may deliver 

compostable materials to a facility that repurposes the materials for beneficial uses, such 

as feeding animals, if the facility is in compliance with all federal, state and local laws. 

Haulers shall maintain receipts and records for a period of five years. Upon request by 

any customer or the city manager, haulers shall produce receipts from the facility utilized. 

 

Section 11.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare 

of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 12.  The city council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 5
th

 day of May, 2015. 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

Attachment B - Alternate, Second Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 32Packet Page 218



 

K:\CMEN\o-8045-2nd-b-1974.docx   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON SECOND READING, AMENDED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2
nd

 day of June, 2015. 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

READ ON THIRD READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED 

BY TITLE ONLY this _____ day of _______, 2015. 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

_____________________________________ 

City Clerk 

 

Attachment B - Alternate, Second Reading Ordinance Language

Agenda Item 5A     Page 33Packet Page 219



Universal Zero Waste Ordinance  
City Manager’s Rules 

Outline 
I. Compliance Schedule 

a. As per council direction for existing businesses 
b. All new businesses and property owners must comply with these sections within 30 

days of operating within the City of Boulder. 
 

II. Definition of Recyclable Materials 
a. “Single Stream recyclable materials” is defined as … 
b. “Clean fiber recyclable materials” are defined as source-separated corrugated 

cardboard, newsprint, or any other source-separated paper that conforms to 
national marketing standards as established and reported by the North American 
Pulp and Paper Industry Market Indices 

 
III. Exemption Application Process and fees, if applicable 

 
IV. Violation Process 

a. Three written warnings, delivered in person will be issued prior to any fines being 
assessed. 

 
V. Reporting Requirements 

a. May require a Zero Waste Report in an electronic format provided by the City. 
 

VI. Guidelines for signage 
 

VII. Definition of Extreme Economic Hardship 
 

VIII. Self-Hauling Certification 
 

IX. Shared Service Certification 
 

 
 

 
 

Attachment C - City Manager's Rule outline

Agenda Item 5A     Page 34Packet Page 220



UNIVERSAL ZERO WASTE ORDINANCE  
COMPLIANCE SCHEDULE OPTIONS 

 
Implementation Schedule Option A: 
Applicability: 

The Property Owner Requirements apply to all property owners within the City of Boulder 
beginning <one year from ordinance adoption>. The Business Owner Requirements for 
Recyclables and Compostables Collection apply to all businesses within the City of 
Boulder <fifteen months from ordinance adoption>. The Special Events Requirements 
apply to all special events and temporary events at venue facilities beginning on January 1, 
2016. All new businesses and property owners must comply with these sections within 30 
days of operating within the City of Boulder. 

 
Implementation Schedule Option B: 
 
Applicability: 

The Property Owner Requirements apply to all property owners within the City of Boulder 
beginning <one year from ordinance adoption>. The Special Events Requirements apply to 
all special events and temporary events at venue facilities beginning on January 1, 2016. All 
new businesses and property owners must comply with these sections within 30 days of 
operating within the City of Boulder. 
 
With respect to the requirements included in the section entitled, Business Owner 
Requirements for Recyclables and Compostables Collection, the following compliance 
schedule applies: 

 
Business Owner Requirements for Recyclables Collection 

<Within fifteen months of ordinance adoption>, all business owners must separate 
recyclable material from the trash and wherever business owners provide trash containers 
to employees or customers, they must also provide recyclables containers for employees and 
customers’ use. Containers must be at least as conveniently located as trash and be of 
adequate size and number to prevent recyclables from being mixed with trash.   
 
At least once per year, business owners must conduct training for all employees about 
how to use the containers established for collection of recyclables pursuant to this 
section. Business owners shall provide new employees with this information within 30 
days of when the employee begins work and no later than the thirtieth day after a 
substantive change in the recycling service offered at the business. 
 
All business owners must provide Spanish and English or picture-only signs at each 
recyclables container, clearly indicating the appropriate materials to be placed inside 
the container in accordance with rules issued by the City Manager. 

 
Business Owner Requirements for Compostables Collection 

<Within fifteen months of ordinance adoption>, all businesses that provide landscaping 
services or generate significant vegetative waste on a regular basis must separate 
compostable material from the trash.  
 

Attachment D - Compliance schedule options A, B and C

Agenda Item 5A     Page 35Packet Page 221



<Within fifteen months of ordinance adoption>, all owners of businesses that prepare, serve 
or sell food must separate compostable material from the trash and if these businesses 
provide trash containers for employees’ use, business owners must also provide 
compostables containers for employees’ use.  Owners of businesses that prepare, serve or 
sell food and that provide trash containers for customers’ use, must also provide 
compostable materials containers for customers’ use inside the business and in outside 
eating areas. Containers must be at least as conveniently located as trash and be of adequate 
size and number to prevent compostables from being mixed with the trash. 
 
At least once per year, owners of businesses that prepare, serve or sell food must 
conduct training for all employees about how to use the containers established for 
collection of compostables pursuant to this section. Business owners shall provide new 
employees with this information within 30 days of when the employee begins work 
and no later than the thirtieth day after a substantive change in the composting service 
offered at the business. 
 
All owners of businesses that prepare, serve or sell food must provide Spanish and 
English or picture-only signs at each compostables container, clearly indicating the 
appropriate materials to be placed inside the container in accordance with rules issued 
by the City Manager. 
 
No sooner than <3 years after ordinance adoption>, the City Manager may issue rules to 
require all business owners to separate compostable materials from the trash and wherever 
business owners provide trash containers to employees or customers to also provide 
compostables containers for employees’ and customers’ use. Containers must be at least as 
conveniently located as trash and be of adequate size and number to prevent compostables 
from being mixed with trash. Said rules will also contain requirements for training and 
proper signage for the compostables collection service.  
 

Implementation Schedule Option C: 
Applicability: 

The Property Owner Requirements apply to all property owners within the City of Boulder 
beginning <two years from ordinance adoption>. The Business Owner Requirements for 
Recyclables and Compostables Collection apply to all businesses within the City of 
Boulder <twenty-seven months from ordinance adoption>. The Special Events 
Requirements apply to all special events and temporary events at venue facilities beginning 
on January 1, 2016. All new businesses and property owners must comply with these 
sections within 30 days of operating within the City of Boulder. 

 
 

Attachment D - Compliance schedule options A, B and C

Agenda Item 5A     Page 36Packet Page 222



          May 14, 2015 
To Boulder City Council: 
 
The Environmental Advisory Board would like to present this letter of support for 
the proposed Zero Waste Ordinance. We support the two-year adoption timeframe, 
which allows sufficient time for business’ fiscal cycles and for the disposal center’s 
preparations.   
 
We also encourage Council to promote the positive nature of this ordinance and the 
incentives for businesses to become early adopters rather than comply within the 
required timeframe.  We would like to stress that fines should be issued as a last 
resort. We suggest that the Council consider the economic aspects of the ordinance 
to ensure it is not regressive, burdensome, nor punitive. Implementation costs 
should consider that some larger businesses could achieve economies of scale that 
smaller business cannot. In such cases, smaller business could pay a 
disproportionately high cost to implement the ordinance relative to their operating 
expenses, to the point that the ordinance becomes burdensome and unmanageable. 
 
We welcome any questions the Council may have in reference to our support. 
 
With regards,  
 
The Environmental Advisory Board 
 
Steve Morgan, Chair  
Tim Hillman  
Morgan Lommele  
Brad Queen  
Karen Crofton 
 

Attachment E - May 14, 2015 letter from Environmental Advisory Board

Agenda Item 5A     Page 37Packet Page 223



Colorado’s Leader in Organic Recycling 

February 5, 2015 

Hillary Collins 
Kara Mertz 
Boulder, Colorado. 

Re: Foodwaste Transfer Site – Renewable Natural Gas Cost Estimates 

Dear Hillary and Kara, 

Over the past few weeks, there has been much discussion around the foodwaste transfer option that I have 
been speaking about for several months. During these past months we have also been able to narrow 
down the nature of our operations and cost options related to foodwaste SSO (Source Separated Organics) 
as well as composting of foodwaste bearing greenwaste streams.  I have also been asked my opinion 
related to true sustainability and viability aspects of composting (that of course produces compost) versus 
anaerobic digestion that produces renewable natural gas (RNG) and digested solids (DS).  I know I have 
connected with the two of you during this time as well as others. 

In an effort to provide clarity to the estimated costs, benefits, risks, and rewards associated with 
foodwaste SSO recycling and what my opinions are I felt it would be beneficial to write you as well as 
others addressing these items.  You may want to sit back…this could be a rather lengthy letter. 

My strong opinion is that the most beneficial, viable, and low risk option for SSO is via Anaerobic 
Digestion (AD) to produce renewable energy, be that through the creation of RNG and its option of CNG, 
or electricity.  The challenges, risks to site operations, potential environmental impacts, and back end 
options (marketing of compost) with composting the SSO are considerable and are growing.  I speak from 
25 years in this industry and from the prospective of one of the original pioneers in foodwaste composting 
operations in the country. 

Composting is a viable option of course for SSO, but it is most viable when dealing with lower volumes 
of SSO combined with little time pressure to deal with them.  As the volumes are growing, and as the 
time available to deal with them is decreasing, the challenges and risks have responded in their own way. 
Even without the SSO stream, composting of the mixed greenwaste and foodwaste stream (residential) 
will need to expand as more and more of that stream presents itself. 

The challenges and risks associated with debris management, removal of non-compostable materials as 
well as compostable materials, odor issues, dust issues, fire risk management, neighbor relations, 

A1 Organics Corporate Headquarters:  16350 WCR 76  ●  Eaton, Colorado 80615 
Tel 970-454-3492  ●  800-776-1644  ●  Fax 970-454-3232 

Facilities:  Eaton ● Keenesburg ● Stapleton 
Las Vegas, Nevada  ●  Phoenix, Arizona 

2014 Winner – Colorado Companies to Watch 
www.a1organics.com 

Attachment F - Feb. 5, 2015 letter from A-1 Organics

Agenda Item 5A     Page 38Packet Page 224



Colorado’s Leader in Organic Recycling 

escalating concerns over air emissions (be they viable or not…another debatable item), increasing 
regulatory burden and cost, escalating costs of equipment and labor needed to compost these materials, 
marketability of finished compost produced from SSO, siting challenges and costs, and finally simply 
being able to collect enough revenue to cover the related costs and produce a profit have become 
monumental.   

We also see considerable pressure on the bulking agent (greenwaste stream) that is necessary to compost 
SSO.  These pressures will result in increased costs to obtain the bulking agent needed to compost the 
SSO and once again put pressure on tipping fees.  The AD option does not require bulking agents, it 
reduces the volumes of total materials hauled and handled. 

Additionally we feel a significant responsibility to our front end clients that have invested in compostable 
packaging and containers for us to actually compost these materials and limit the risk that they end up in a 
landfill. AD provides that opportunity, composting diminishes it due to cross contamination, composting 
in windy dry conditions, having to expose these materials to the outside versus the inside of a windrow, 
and on and off site litter  collection.  

Composting of foodwaste is receiving ever increasing publicity and pressure to expand and grow on a 
national level.  While we desire the same goals of diversion and zero waste, we also have seen the major 
negative impact of composting SSO on the composting entities and industry itself.   Many operations 
across the country have been forced to close or have incurred significant penalties.  Especially those that 
receive large volumes of SSO on tight schedules.  Where composting of large volumes of foodwaste has 
been successful it has required major investment in very expensive systems and processes and as such 
requires significant increases in tipping fees for the SSO. Those entities only exist in areas with high 
landfill tipping fees, and they require materials be transported a large number of miles…sometimes in the 
hundreds of miles one way. 

Those are some of the reasons I feel the best sustainability option for SSO is AD. It provides a much more 
controlled environment, reduces volumes of materials that have to be handled. Simplifies the material 
management process, still provides compost out the back side of the plant after removing the VOC’s and 
producing RNG and can not only provide an option to reduce the tipping fees for SSO versus composting, 
but it can also provide stability in pricing through long term RNG offtake and product procurement 
agreements. 

DPS – in the discussion below related to costs you will see reference to the “DPS”.  This is an acronym 
for Digester Processing System.  This digester project is designed to succeed.  In order help insure its 
success, A1 has taken on the challenge of constructing an estimated $3,000,000 DPS system to be located 
on the digester site itself.  

A1 Organics Corporate Headquarters:  16350 WCR 76  ●  Eaton, Colorado 80615 
Tel 970-454-3492  ●  800-776-1644  ●  Fax 970-454-3232 

Facilities:  Eaton ● Keenesburg ● Stapleton 
Las Vegas, Nevada  ●  Phoenix, Arizona 

2014 Winner – Colorado Companies to Watch 
www.a1organics.com 

Attachment F - Feb. 5, 2015 letter from A-1 Organics

Agenda Item 5A     Page 39Packet Page 225



 

The DPS is being designed and built to insure that we can remove packaging from incoming substrates 
(including SSO), blend materials, hydrate them properly for the digester, and deliver them to the digester.  
It will include multiple storage and processing options, redundant systems to remove the packaging, 
compostable containers, and yes non-compostable items that WILL be present.  These as well as other 
recyclable items such as cans, jugs, cardboard, etc. can be segregated so that they can find their final 
recycling or composting home.   

The systems we have invested in will also significantly increase the diversion and recycling opportunities 
for streams that without this option could not even be composted and would have to be landfilled (out of 
date packaged products, liquids in jugs, chips in bags, catsup packets, spoiled meat in packages, etc.) 

The transfer site system is an important part to the success as well.  To hold down our costs at the DPS, 
we are requiring the transfer site itself to be responsible for pre-screening incoming SSO.  It will be 
responsible to detect reject loads, separate them, and landfill them.  We are asking the transfer site to also 
remove larger identifiable non-compostable items in the smaller loads they receive prior to loading on the 
transfer trailer destined for the DPS.  The transfer site cannot be a “low budget” operation. It will need to 
maintain good housekeeping, efficient material management, provide necessary containment and loading 
options, plus the normal administration options, overhead requirements etc.  

OK, having said all that, I am sure additional questions may be out there and I will do my best to respond 
promptly to them.  Meanwhile, below is a summary of costs and conditions for the options identified.  
They are to being presented as estimated at this time until we are sure of the demands and conditions that 
may be presented in the coming weeks from the Boulder County area. 

One other point of clarification.  As all are aware, for years we provided a transfer option at our Stapleton 
Site where we had installed our DODA system.  That site was scheduled for redevelopment and we have 
been in the process of vacating it for several months now.  The replacement site has been located and after 
many months of developmental planning and the approval process we are now moving dirt on it.  It will 
be located near the intersection of I76 and 88th in Commerce City.  The major change with the new site 
will be that we cannot receive and transfer SSO foodwaste at it.  It is not designed as a transfer site, it will 
be a greenwaste and wood waste recycling site.  The DODA will be located at the DPS.  We cannot 
stockpile and ship mixed greenwaste and SSO foodwaste from that site.  That is another reason why 
locating local transfer sites in Boulder is the right move.  

Costs and conditions associated with the SSO transfer option, as well as some costs associated with other 
woody and or mixed stream materials:.  

Option 1: Commercial foodwaste SSO Transfer.  SSO (i.e. restaurants, grocery stores, food 
production facilities, etc.) may contain compostable items such as BPI or ASTM 6400 
certified packaging, paper towels, etc.  This is a range estimate until final inputs are 
considered. This cost loaded on our trailer would be $30-$35 per TON.  This represents 
ONLY the cost of transportation and processing via DPS and digestion. It does not 
include the cost of operations at the transfer site. 
The transfer site would receive, inspect, reject and dispose as needed, and remove light 
contaminants before loading on A1 transfer trailer. The transfer site would be responsible 
for proper permitting, compliant operations, and disposal costs. 

A1 Organics Corporate Headquarters:  16350 WCR 76  ●  Eaton, Colorado 80615 
Tel 970-454-3492  ●  800-776-1644  ●  Fax 970-454-3232 

Facilities:  Eaton ● Keenesburg ● Stapleton 
Las Vegas, Nevada  ●  Phoenix, Arizona 

2014 Winner – Colorado Companies to Watch 
www.a1organics.com 

Attachment F - Feb. 5, 2015 letter from A-1 Organics

Agenda Item 5A     Page 40Packet Page 226



 
A1 would provide special transfer trailers (24-25 ton material capacity) for switch-out 
process.  A1 would switch-out trailers and transport to the DPS system at Heartland 
Biogas Digester 

Estimated minimum volume is 1 load per day, 5-6 days per week. 

This material can also contain containerized or packaged products like out of date plastic 
jugs of milk, cartons of cereal, yogurt and fruit cups, wrapped cheese, canned products, 
potato chips in boxes, etc.  NO GLASS OR CERAMICS. The process would require 
transfer site assistance in separating highly containerized products from standard SSO to 
allow for separation at the DPS of compostables, which will be composted at one of our 
compost sites separately. If loads are co-mingled with standard SSO all packaging 
removed will be landfilled.  Organics will be digested to create RNG (Renewable Natural 
Gas) and digested solids for beneficial reuse. 

Option 2: Direct Delivery to DPS – SSO or packaged product delivered directly to DPS located on 
the HBG Digester site at which is at Weld County Road 49 and 40.  $30-$32 per TON 
FOB DPS site. 

This material will require pre-screening at the DPS site by A1 and the subsequent culling 
and disposal of rejected materials which will need to be transported to a landfill.  This 
option will also entail handling of numerous smaller loads and reduced efficiency at the 
DPS.   

I hope this information is helpful.  There is still much more I can say that I have not included in this letter. 
If you need me to do a Q&A with anyone please feel free to request that and to of course call me as 
needed.  In full disclosure I am copying Bryce Isaacson here as well.  I will also provide these quotes to 
others who desire to consider the transfer site option. Our desire is to work with Boulder and Boulder 
County on options to efficiently and effectively pursue their zero waste goal. 

Sincerely 

Bob Yost 
Vice President, CTO 

Cc: Bryce Isaacson, Western Disposal 

A1 Organics Corporate Headquarters:  16350 WCR 76  ●  Eaton, Colorado 80615 
Tel 970-454-3492  ●  800-776-1644  ●  Fax 970-454-3232 

Facilities:  Eaton ● Keenesburg ● Stapleton 
Las Vegas, Nevada  ●  Phoenix, Arizona 

2014 Winner – Colorado Companies to Watch 
www.a1organics.com 

Attachment F - Feb. 5, 2015 letter from A-1 Organics

Agenda Item 5A     Page 41Packet Page 227



Attachment G - April 27, 2015 letter from Western Disposal

Agenda Item 5A     Page 42Packet Page 228



Attachment G - April 27, 2015 letter from Western Disposal

Agenda Item 5A     Page 43Packet Page 229



Attachment G - April 27, 2015 letter from Western Disposal

Agenda Item 5A     Page 44Packet Page 230



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 

MEETING DATE:  June 2, 2015 

 

 

AGENDA TITLE: Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt and order 

published by title only, Ordinance No. 8048 amending Section 9-6-5, “Temporary 

Lodging, Dining, Entertainment, and Cultural Uses,” B.R.C. 1981, by providing the city 

manager with authority to waive requirement that mobile food vehicles be 150 feet from 

restaurants if the restaurants approve, waiving the requirement for Planning Board review 

of this ordinance and setting forth related details; 

 

or in  the alternative,  

 

Second reading and consideration of a motion to adopt and order published by title only, 

Ordinance No. 8049 amending Section 9-6-5, “Temporary Lodging, Dining, 

Entertainment, and Cultural Uses,” B.R.C. 1981, by providing the city manager with 

authority to waive requirement that mobile food vehicles be 150 feet from restaurants if 

the restaurants approve, only in the BC-1 zone district, waiving the requirement for 

Planning Board review of this ordinance and setting forth related details. 

 

 

 

PRESENTER/S  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  

Tom Carr, City Attorney  

Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer                                                      

David Driskell, Executive Director, Community Planning and Sustainability 

Molly M. Winter, Director, Downtown & University Hill Management 

Division/Parking Services 

Sandra Llanes, Senior Assistant City Attorney 

Mishawn Cook, Tax and License Manager, Finance Department 

 

 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The purpose of this council agenda item is to amend the city’s mobile food vehicle 

regulations to allow the city manager authority to waive the restaurant separation 

requirement if any restaurant within 150 feet supports the mobile food vehicle permit 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 1Packet Page 231



application.  Under the proposed ordinance, the mobile food vehicle operator would be 

required to provide a written statement of such support at the time of application and at 

each renewal.  Under the current code, a permit is valid for 12 months or for such other 

time as established by the city manager.   

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Suggested Motion Language:  

Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 

alternative motions: 

 

Motion to adopt on second reading and order published by title only, Ordinance No. 8048 

amending Section 9-6-5, “Temporary Lodging, Dining, Entertainment, and Cultural 

Uses,” B.R.C. 1981, by providing the city manager with authority to waive requirement 

that mobile food vehicles be 150 feet from restaurants if the restaurants approve, waiving 

the requirement for Planning Board review of this ordinance and setting forth related 

details;  

 

or in the alternative 

 

Motion to adopt on second reading and order published by title only, Ordinance No. 8049 

amending Section 9-6-5, “Temporary Lodging, Dining, Entertainment, and Cultural 

Uses,” B.R.C. 1981, by providing the city manager with authority to waive requirement 

that mobile food vehicles be 150 feet from restaurants if the restaurants approve, only in 

the BC-1 zone district, waiving the requirement for Planning Board review of this 

ordinance and setting forth related details 

 

 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

 Economic: Mobile food vehicles collect and remit required sales tax in 

accordance with the city’s standard operating procedure.  

 Environmental: Availability of food in city park locations would provide options 

that dissuade community members from driving out to purchase meal selections, 

then returning.  

 Social: Mobile food vehicles providing goods and services at city owned facilities 

may lead to a greater sense of community, offering options for neighbors to gather 

inclusively and with fewer economic barriers to entry.  

 

OTHER IMPACTS 
Fiscal – None. 

Staff Time – Implementation of this ordinance should be accomplished within the 

existing work plan with no additional staff resources. 

 

BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 

None.  The ordinance provides an exemption from § 9-1-5 B.R.C. 1981 requiring 

planning board review of changes to title 9.   

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 2Packet Page 232



BACKGROUND 

At the May 5, 2015 council meeting two individuals spoke during the open comment 

period regarding their business plan to open a tavern, which would have mobile food 

vehicles in an adjacent parking area.  The proposed site for their establishment is within 

150 feet of a restaurant.  According to the presenters, the restaurant supports the new 

establishment and the mobile food vehicles associated with the business.  Council 

directed staff to prepare an ordinance providing the city manager with authority to 

exempt mobile food vehicles from the 150-foot restaurant separation requirement when 

all restaurants within 150 feet consent.   Council also instructed staff to bring the 

ordinance directly to council without seeking a planning board recommendation.  The 

ordinance includes a finding that planning board review under Section 9-1-5, 

“Amendments and Effect of Pending Amendments,” B.R.C. 1981, is not required.   

 

The proposal triggering the change is seeking to establish a tavern and mobile food 

vehicle park at the former Rayback Plumbing Building on 2775 Valmont Road.  The 

proposal is to create a tavern in the building with a mobile food vehicle park adjacent.  

The site is as follows:  

 

 
 

The site borders a residential zone district.  Current code prohibits mobile food vehicles 

within 150 feet of a residential district.  Under the code, the distance is measured as 

follows: 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 3Packet Page 233



 

Distances shall be measured by the city on official maps as the radius from 

the closest points on the perimeter of the applicant's mobile food vehicle 

to the closest point of the designated residential zone or property of the 

restaurant. 

 

§ 9-6-5(d)(1)(A).  It appears that the plan is to park the vehicles at least 150 feet from the 

residential zone district boundary to the west.  This would require that all food trucks be 

parked on the east side of the building.  The east edge of the building is approximately 

150 feet from the border of the residential zone district.   

 

The proposed ordinance would apply city-wide.  At first reading, council passed an 

alternative proposed ordinance limiting the application of the change to the BC-1 zone 

district.  Business Community 1 is a mixed use zone district which along with Business 

Community 2 is defined as “Business areas containing retail centers serving a number of 

neighborhoods, where retail-type stores predominate.”  § 9-5-2(c)(2)(g).   Council 

requested that staff provide some information about the other BC-1 zone districts in the 

city.  There are six BC-1 Districts in the city.   The following map shows all of the BC-1 

zone districts in the city:  

 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 4Packet Page 234



 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 5Packet Page 235



 

The proposed site is in a BC-1 district located roughly between Valmont and Iris on both 

sides of 28
th 

Street.  In addition to Thai Shi Restaurant, there are twenty-one other 

restaurants in this zone district.  This BC-1 district is depicted on the map below:   

 

 
 

 

The other BC-1 zone districts are as follows: 

 

1. South of Valmont, west of 55
th

.  There does not appear to be any restaurants in or near 

this zone district. 

 

 
 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 6Packet Page 236



2. At the intersection of Arapahoe and 55
th

.  There is a Wendy’s Restaurant in this zone 

district.   

 

 
 

 

3. At the intersection of Arapahoe and 38
th

.  Fate Brewing Company is in this zone 

district. 

 

 
 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 7Packet Page 237



4. At the intersection of Broadway and Arapahoe.  Alfalfa’s café is in this zone district 

and there are three restaurants across the street.   

 

 
 

 

5.  South of Baseline, east of Mohawk.  Glacier’s Homemade Ice Cream and a Subway 

Restaurant are located in this zone district.  

 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 8Packet Page 238



 

 

Council Options: 

 

1. No Action  

2. Adopt Ordinance Number 8048, with citywide application 

3. Adopt Ordinance Number 8049, applying only to BC-1 zone districts.   

 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Ordinance 8048 (citywide) 

Attachment B – Ordinance 8049 (BC-1 zones) 

 

Agenda Item 5B     Page 9Packet Page 239



 

K:\cmad\o-8048-2nd-1091.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8048 

AN ORDINANCE REGARDING MOBILE FOOD VEHICLE 

SALES, AMENDING SECTION 9-6-5, “TEMPORARY 

LODGING, DINING, ENTERTAINMENT, AND CULTURAL 

USES,” B.R.C. 1981, BY PROVIDING THE CITY MANAGER 

AUTHORITY TO ISSUE A PERMIT ALLOWING A FOOD 

TRUCK WITHIN 150 FEET OF A RESTURANT WITH THE 

RESTAURANT’S PERMISSION, WAIVING THE 

REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 9-1-5(a) “AMENDMENTS 

AND EFFECT OF PENDING AMENDMENTS” AND SETTING 

FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 9-6-5(d), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

9-6-5 Temporary Lodging, Dining, Entertainment, and Cultural Uses.  

… 

  

(d) Mobile Food Vehicle Sales. The following criteria apply to any mobile food vehicle sales 

use: 

(1)  Standards: The city manager will permit mobile food vehicle sales on private 

property, public property, or in the public right of way if the use is permitted in 

the applicable zoning district and meets the following standards and conditions: 

(A)  The use shall be located at least: 

(i)  one hundred fifty feet from any residential zone districts, except as 

provided in subsection (d)(1)(C) below; 

(ii)  one hundred fifty feet from any existing restaurant except as 

provided in subsection (d)(1)(F) below;   and 

(iii)  two hundred feet from any other mobile food vehicle with regard 

to public right of way sales, no more than four mobile food 

vehicles per private property in the MU-1, MU-2, MU-3, BT-1, 

BT-2, BMS, BC-1, BC-2, BCS, BR-1, BR-2, DT-1, DT-2, DT-3, 

DT-4, DT-5  zone districts, and no limitation on the number of 

mobile food vehicles per private property with owner’s permission 

in the Industrial zone districts. 

Attachment A - Ordinance 8048 (citywide)

Agenda Item 5B     Page 10Packet Page 240



 

K:\cmad\o-8048-2nd-1091.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Distances shall be measured by the city on official maps as the 

radius from the closest points on the perimeter of the applicant's 

mobile food vehicle to the closest point of the designated 

residential zone or property of the restaurant. For purposes of this 

section, the term restaurant shall include "eating places" and "retail 

bakeries" as defined by the Standard Industrial Classification 

Manual, the edition of which shall be determined by the city 

manager. With regard to measurement between two or more 

mobile food vehicles in the public right of way, measurement shall 

be in the form of standard measuring devices, including and not 

limited to, a tape measure. 

 

(B)   No person shall operate a mobile food vehicle in a public zone district 

unless in connection with an organized event pursuant to Section 4-18-2, 

"Public Property Use Permits," B.R.C. 1981, or at the Boulder Municipal 

Airport ("Airport") in such areas and manner within the Airport property 

as approved by the city manager pursuant to Section 11-4-4, "Special 

Airport Activity Permits," B.R.C. 1981. For purposes of this section, the 

Airport property shall be defined as Lot 2, Airport South Subdivision.  

 (C)  No person shall operate a mobile food vehicle in a residential zone district 

except with prior approval by the city manager in the parking lot or the 

public right of way adjacent to North Boulder Park or in any other park as 

approved by the manager. 

 

(D)  No person shall operate a mobile food vehicle sales use without a permit 

or in violation of the conditions of a permit. The permit will be valid for 

twelve consecutive months, or such other time as the city manager may by 

rule designate. Such application shall meet the following requirements: 

 

(i)  provide proof of, and maintain, a valid driver's license, vehicle 

registration, and current motor vehicle insurance; 

 

(ii)  provide proof of, and maintain, a Colorado retail food license for a 

mobile unit; 

 

(iii)  provide proof of, and maintain, a valid sales use tax license; 

 

(iv) provide payment of the fee prescribed by Section 4-20-66, "Mobile 

Food Vehicle Sales," B.R.C. 1981. 

 

(E)  As a condition of accepting the permit, the applicant shall sign an 

agreement, in a form acceptable to the city manager, in which the 

applicant agrees to meet all requirements under this section and Chapter 4-

1, "General Licensing Provisions," B.R.C. 1981, and assume responsibility 

for the actions and omissions of its agents and employees in the 

performance of or failure to perform its obligation under the permit. 

Attachment A - Ordinance 8048 (citywide)

Agenda Item 5B     Page 11Packet Page 241



 

K:\cmad\o-8048-2nd-1091.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(F) The city manager may, in his or her discretion, waive the requirements of 

subsection (d)(1)(a)(ii) above if the applicant at the time of issuance, and 

each renewal of the permit, submits to the city manager signed statements 

supporting the issuance of the permit from every restaurant within 150 feet 

of the proposed food truck location.  The city manager may deny a request 

for waiver for any reason, with or without good cause.   

 

Section 2. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 3. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

Section 4. The City councils finds that time is of the essence for the passage of this 

ordinance and therefore review by the Planning Board would unreasonably delay adoption.  

Therefore the provisions of section 9-1-5(a) “Amendments and Effect of Pending Amendments,” 

B.R.C. 1981, shall not apply to this ordinance.   

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 19
th

 day of May, 2015. 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

City Clerk 

Attachment A - Ordinance 8048 (citywide)

Agenda Item 5B     Page 12Packet Page 242



 

K:\cmad\o-8048-2nd-1091.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 2
nd

 day of June, 2015. 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

City Clerk 

Attachment A - Ordinance 8048 (citywide)

Agenda Item 5B     Page 13Packet Page 243



 

K:\cmad\o-8049-2nd-1091.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8049 

AN ORDINANCE REGARDING MOBILE FOOD VEHICLE 

SALES, AMENDING SECTION 9-6-5, “TEMPORARY 

LODGING, DINING, ENTERTAINMENT, AND CULTURAL 

USES,” B.R.C. 1981, BY PROVIDING THE CITY MANAGER 

AUTHORITY TO ISSUE A PERMIT ALLOWING A FOOD 

TRUCK WITHIN 150 FEET OF A RESTURANT WITH THE 

RESTAURANT’S PERMISSION, ONLY IN THE BC-1 ZONE 

DISTRICT, WAIVING THE REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 9-

1-5(a) “AMENDMENTS AND EFFECT OF PENDING 

AMENDMENTS” AND SETTING FORTH RELATED 

DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Section 9-6-5(d), B.R.C. 1981, is amended to read: 

9-6-5 Temporary Lodging, Dining, Entertainment, and Cultural Uses.  

… 

  

(d)  Mobile Food Vehicle Sales. The following criteria apply to any mobile food vehicle 

sales use: 

(1)  Standards: The city manager will permit mobile food vehicle sales on private 

property, public property, or in the public right of way if the use is permitted in 

the applicable zoning district and meets the following standards and conditions: 

(A)  The use shall be located at least: 

(i)  one hundred fifty feet from any residential zone districts, except as 

provided in subsection (d)(1)(C) below; 

(ii)  one hundred fifty feet from any existing restaurant except as 

provided in subsection (d)(1)(F) below;   and 

(iii)  two hundred feet from any other mobile food vehicle with regard 

to public right of way sales, no more than four mobile food 

vehicles per private property in the MU-1, MU-2, MU-3, BT-1, 

BT-2, BMS, BC-1, BC-2, BCS, BR-1, BR-2, DT-1, DT-2, DT-3, 

DT-4, DT-5  zone districts, and no limitation on the number of 

mobile food vehicles per private property with owner’s permission 

in the Industrial zone districts. 

Attachment B - Ordinance 8049 (BC-1 zones)

Agenda Item 5B     Page 14Packet Page 244



 

K:\cmad\o-8049-2nd-1091.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Distances shall be measured by the city on official maps as the 

radius from the closest points on the perimeter of the applicant's 

mobile food vehicle to the closest point of the designated 

residential zone or property of the restaurant. For purposes of this 

section, the term restaurant shall include "eating places" and "retail 

bakeries" as defined by the Standard Industrial Classification 

Manual, the edition of which shall be determined by the city 

manager. With regard to measurement between two or more 

mobile food vehicles in the public right of way, measurement shall 

be in the form of standard measuring devices, including and not 

limited to, a tape measure. 

 

(B)   No person shall operate a mobile food vehicle in a public zone district 

unless in connection with an organized event pursuant to Section 4-18-2, 

"Public Property Use Permits," B.R.C. 1981, or at the Boulder Municipal 

Airport ("Airport") in such areas and manner within the Airport property 

as approved by the city manager pursuant to Section 11-4-4, "Special 

Airport Activity Permits," B.R.C. 1981. For purposes of this section, the 

Airport property shall be defined as Lot 2, Airport South Subdivision.  

 (C)  No person shall operate a mobile food vehicle in a residential zone district 

except with prior approval by the city manager in the parking lot or the 

public right of way adjacent to North Boulder Park or in any other park as 

approved by the manager. 

 

(D)  No person shall operate a mobile food vehicle sales use without a permit 

or in violation of the conditions of a permit. The permit will be valid for 

twelve consecutive months, or such other time as the city manager may by 

rule designate. Such application shall meet the following requirements: 

 

(i)  provide proof of, and maintain, a valid driver's license, vehicle 

registration, and current motor vehicle insurance; 

 

(ii)  provide proof of, and maintain, a Colorado retail food license for a 

mobile unit; 

 

(iii)  provide proof of, and maintain, a valid sales use tax license; 

 

(iv) provide payment of the fee prescribed by Section 4-20-66, "Mobile 

Food Vehicle Sales," B.R.C. 1981. 

 

(E)  As a condition of accepting the permit, the applicant shall sign an 

agreement, in a form acceptable to the city manager, in which the 

applicant agrees to meet all requirements under this section and Chapter 4-

1, "General Licensing Provisions," B.R.C. 1981, and assume responsibility 

for the actions and omissions of its agents and employees in the 

performance of or failure to perform its obligation under the permit. 

Attachment B - Ordinance 8049 (BC-1 zones)

Agenda Item 5B     Page 15Packet Page 245



 

K:\cmad\o-8049-2nd-1091.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(F) The city manager may, in his or her discretion, waive the requirements of 

subsection (d)(1)(a)(ii) above if the applicant at the time of issuance, and 

each renewal of the permit, submits to the city manager signed statements 

supporting the issuance of the permit from every restaurant within 150 feet 

of the proposed food truck location.  The city manager may waive such 

requirements only for the BC-1 zone district.  The city manager may deny 

a request for waiver for any reason, with or without good cause.   

 

Section 2. This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and 

welfare of the residents of the city, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 3. The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by 

title only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk 

for public inspection and acquisition. 

Section 4. The City councils finds that time is of the essence for the passage of this 

ordinance and therefore review by the Planning Board would unreasonably delay adoption.  

Therefore the provisions of section 9-1-5(a) “Amendments and Effect of Pending Amendments,” 

B.R.C. 1981, shall not apply to this ordinance.   

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 19
th

 day of May, 2015. 

 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

___________________________________ 

City Clerk 

Attachment B - Ordinance 8049 (BC-1 zones)

Agenda Item 5B     Page 16Packet Page 246



 

K:\cmad\o-8049-2nd-1091.doc   

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 2
nd

 day of June, 2015. 

____________________________________ 

Mayor 

Attest: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

City Clerk 

Attachment B - Ordinance 8049 (BC-1 zones)

Agenda Item 5B     Page 17Packet Page 247



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 
MEETING DATE:  June 2, 2015 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE: Introduction, first reading and consideration of a motion to order 
published by title only, Ordinance No. 8050 amending Title 10 “Structures” for the 
purpose of allowing and regulating short-term rentals by amending Section 10-1-1 
“Definitions” by amending the definition of “Operator,” amending the definition of 
“Rental Property” adding a new definition of “Short-Term Rental” adding a new section 
10-3-19 “Short-Term Rentals” and setting forth related details.  
 
 
 
 
PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
Tom Carr, City Attorney  
Bob Eichem, Chief Financial Officer                                                      
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The purpose of this council agenda item is to amend the city’s rental licensing code to 
expressly permit short-term rentals.1   At the February 10, 2015 study session the council 
directed staff to bring forward a draft ordinance incorporating concepts from council’s 
discussion.  The intent is that the council will use the legislative process to receive public 
input on various policy questions.  This first reading ordinance should not, therefore, be 
viewed as a reflection of council policy, but more of a sounding board to begin the 
community conversation.   
  
                                                           
1 There are many different terms for the activity addressed by this memorandum.  Historically, staff has 
referred to them as “vacation rentals by owner.”  This seemed appropriate when the principal website 
offering such rentals was vrbo.com.  With the growth of airbnb.com and other companies, it would seem 
that using “VRBO” could lead to confusion.  One group of residents uses the term “Private Guest 
Accommodations.”  This memorandum uses the term “short-term rentals.”  The proposed ordinance 
incorporates the regulatory scheme into the rental licensing program, which regulates rentals of 30 days or 
longer.  The proposed ordinance would add provisions for regulating rentals for less than 30 days.  Thus, 
the name short-term rentals would appear to be appropriate.   

Agenda Item 5C     Page 1Packet Page 248



 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
Suggested Motion Language:  
Staff requests Council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion: 
 
Motion to order published by title only, introduce and adopt on first reading Ordinance 
No. 8050 amending Title 10 “Structures” for the purpose of allowing and regulating 
short-term rentals by amending Section 10-1-1 “Definitions” by amending the definition 
of “Operator,” amending the definition of “Rental Property” adding a new definition of 
“Short-Term Rental” adding a new section 10-3-19 “Short-Term Rentals” and setting 
forth related details. 
 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 
 

 Economic: Short-term rentals provide an alternative to hotels and motels.  They 
may provide increased tourist activity.  Short-term rentals also could provide 
revenue to city residents.  Short-term rentals could have an adverse economic 
effect on hotels and motels.  

 Environmental: Increased visitation generated through short-term rentals could 
also increase the city’s carbon footprint.   

 Social: Short-term rentals provide increased opportunities for residents to interact 
with visitors from other parts of the country or the world.  Short-term rentals 
could adversely affect the neighborhoods in which they are located.  

 
OTHER IMPACTS 
 
Fiscal – Regulation of short-term rentals will require the expenditure of city funds for 
which there is no budget.  Staff intends to bring forward a proposed tax measure for the 
fall 2105 ballot that would provide revenue to support the regulatory program.   
 
Staff Time–Regulation of short-term rentals will require additional staff. 
 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
 
None 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
At a February 10, 2015 study session, council considered regulation of short-term rentals 
in Boulder.   Boulder residents have long rented their homes to visiting vacationers. 
Previously, such rentals were sporadic and incidental. The so-called “sharing economy” 
growing out of almost universal internet usage has caused a significant increase in this 
type of rental activity in Boulder. This growth has coincided with and been spurred by the 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 2Packet Page 249



evolution of companies created to facilitate such rentals.  In 2008, city staff examined all 
listings for vacation rentals in Boulder on the website www.vrbo.com.  Staff found 31 
properties listed, with only 21 actually located in the City of Boulder.  In December 2014, 
staff accessed the website www.airbnb.com and found over 1800 listings referring to the 
City of Boulder. Of these, staff confirmed 514 in the city. 
 
 
Boulder’s Current Regulations  
 
Boulder’s current code was not drafted in contemplation of large-scale rental of private 
residences for less than thirty days.  Accordingly, the Boulder Rental Licensing code 
applies only to rentals for thirty days or more.  There are regulations for motels, hotels 
and bed and breakfasts, but nothing directed specifically at the short-term rental of 
residential properties.   
 
Because these rentals fall between the cracks, enforcement has been challenging.  Staff 
has applied several code sections.  Strict enforcement of these sections would effectively 
prohibit most residential vacation rentals.  
 
Zoning  
 
The city’s land use code includes the following definitions:  
 

"Bed and breakfast" means a building of a residential character other than a 
hotel or motel compatible with the neighborhood offering:  
 
(1)   Temporary lodging for less than one month;  

 
(2)   Twelve or fewer rooms for guests;  

 
(3)   At least one meal daily for guests; and  

 
(4)   A manager residing on the premises, but not providing the accessory 

uses normally associated with a hotel.  
 
"Hostel" means a facility for residence of under one month that provides 
simple dormitory or sleeping rooms and common rooms for cooking, 
meeting, recreational, and educational use; that is chartered or approved by 
the International Hostel Federation or its national or regional affiliates, or 
similar organizations; and that is supervised by resident house-parents or 
managers who direct the guests' participation in the domestic duties and 
activities of the hostel.   
 
"Hotel/motel" means an establishment that offers temporary lodging in 
rooms, for less than one month, and may include a restaurant, meeting 
rooms, and accessory uses and services, including, without limitation, 
newsstands, gift shops, and similar incidental uses conducted entirely 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 3Packet Page 250



within the principal building but excludes a bed and breakfast, as defined 
in this section. 
 

§ 9-16-1, B.R.C. 1981, “General Definitions.”  
 
Most vacation rentals could be considered either a “Hotel/motel” or a “Bed and 
breakfast.” If categorized as a hotel/motel, most short-term rentals would be illegal, 
because the code prohibits hotels and motels in all residential zones.  Bed and Breakfasts 
are permitted in residential zones.  The definition quoted above would only include short 
term rentals with a resident operator that served at least one meal.  Arguably such 
arrangements are legal under current code.  However, the investigative and proof issues 
make effective enforcement very difficult.   
 
The purpose of the proposed ordinance is to attempt to develop a coherent, policy-based 
regulatory system for short-term rentals. 
 
 
Proposed Ordinance 
 
The proposed ordinance, which amends the city’s current rental licensing code,2 would 
include the following: 
 

 Short-term rentals would need to meet all of the requirements of a rental license.   
 Short-term rentals would be an accessory use and therefore would be permitted in 

any zone that permits dwellings, dwelling units, rooming units, or rooms.  This 
would include all residential zones.   

 Short-term rentals would be limited to the lessor’s principal residence.   
 Renters would be permitted to engage in short-term rentals.   
 The resident would be required to reside in the unit at least 275 days each year.   
 The short-term rental occupancy would be limited to the occupancy otherwise 

permitted by the code.   
 Short-term rentals would be prohibited in permanently affordable units.   

 
 
Alternative Proposal 
 
While developing the proposed ordinance, staff met with a group of individuals who rent 
properties in Boulder that they do not occupy.  This group drafted a proposed ordinance 
that reflects a different regulatory approach.  Staff has attached a copy of this draft as 
Attachment B.  Some features of this proposal are as follows: 
 

 Short-term rentals would be limited to no more than 5% of the number of long-
term rental licenses issued.   

                                                           
2 Because the proposed ordinance is intended to fit within the existing regulatory scheme, staff has attached 
a copy of the current rental licensing code for reference. 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 4Packet Page 251



 No more than 5% of the properties on a block could be issued short-term rental 
licenses. 

 Requires a responsible party residing at, or located within ten miles of, the 
property. 

 Require that the owner or manager respond to any complaint within 90 minutes. 
 Only 3% of the units in a census block could be non-owner occupied short-term 

rentals. 
 Owners would have a fifteen day cure period for any violations. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 
 
Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance  
Attachment B - Ordinance Proposed By Community Members 
Attachment C - Current Rental Licensing Code  
 

Agenda Item 5C     Page 5Packet Page 252



 

K:\ccad\o-8050-1st-2329.docx  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

ORDINANCE NO. 8050 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 10 “STRUCTURES” AMENDING 
SECTION 10-1-1 “DEFINITIONS” BY AMENDING THE DEFINITION OF 
“OPERATOR,” AMENDING THE DEFINITION OF “RENTAL PROPERTY” 
ADDING A NEW DEFINITION OF “SHORT-TERM RENTAL” ADDING A 
NEW SECTION 10-3-19 “SHORT-TERM RENTALS” AND SETTING 
FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

Section 1.  Amend section 10-1-1 as follows: 

10-1-1. – Definitions. 

. . .  

 Operator means any person, who is an owner, is an owner’s representative, has charge of, 
or controls any dwelling or parts thereof.  An operator includes a lessee.   

. . . 

 Rental Property means all dwellings, dwelling units, and rooming units located within the 
city and rented or leased for any valuable consideration, but excludes dwellings owned by the 
federal government, the state, or any of their agencies or political subdivisions and facilities 
licensed by the state as health care facilities. Rental Property includes any property used as a 
short-term rental. 

. . . 

 Short-term rental means any dwelling, dwelling unit, rooming unit, room or portion of 
any dwelling unit, rooming unit, room rented or leased for valuable consideration for periods of 
time less than 30 days, but excludes commercial hotels, motels or bed and breakfasts.  A short-
term rental is a use that is accessory to such dwelling, dwelling unit, rooming unit, or room. 

. . . 

 Section 2.  A new section 10-3-19 is added to read: 

10-3-19. – Short Term Rentals.  

Short-term rentals are prohibited except: 

(a)   The rental is of the operator’s principal residence; 
(b)   The occupancy during any rental period does not exceed the occupancy permitted 

pursuant to section 9-8-5, B.R.C 1981 (“Occupancy of Dwelling Units”);  

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5C     Page 6Packet Page 253



 

K:\ccad\o-8050-1st-2329.docx  

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

(c)   The operator resides in the premises rented for a period of at least 275 days in each 
calendar year; and 

(d)   The rental property is not a permanently affordable unit.   

Section 6.  The City Council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title 

only and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for 

public inspection and acquisition. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE ONLY this 2nd day of June, 2015. 

 
 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
  
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED, ADOPTED, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY this 21st day of July, 2015. 

 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 
 
 
______________________________ 
City Clerk 
 

Attachment A - Proposed Ordinance

Agenda Item 5C     Page 7Packet Page 254



Ordinance Language pertaining to Private Property Rentals for a duration of less than 30 days. 

LEGISLATIVE INTENT:  The rental of homes by the owner can provide a flexible housing inventory that allows 
people a safe accommodation while contributing to the Boulder economy; hotel taxes from such 
accommodations can be used in the community to support the low-income housing goals for future community 
residents and address other housing needs in the Boulder community; the needs of long-term residents will be 
balanced with the allowance of flexible rentals. 

 

Private Guest Accommodations Properties (PGAP’s).  

For purposes of this ordinance, “Private Guest Accommodations Properties (PGAP)” shall mean a residential 
dwelling unit containing not more than four (4) sleeping rooms that is used and/or advertised as a private 
accommodation for occupancy by guests, per terms defined in Boulder City code, as less than thirty (30) days. 
Residential dwelling units rented to the same occupant for more than thirty (30) continuous days, Bed and 
Breakfast establishments, boarding houses, hotels, and motels shall not be considered a PGAP.  

I. No person or entity shall operate a PGAP or advertise a residential property for use as a PGAP without 
the owner of the property first having obtained a PGAP permit and Rental License issued by the City. 

a. To protect the inventory of properties that can be leased to long term permanent residents in 
the City of Boulder, the total number of PGAP licenses shall not exceed five-percent (5%) of 
the total Boulder Rental Licenses at any point in time.  Should the five-percent (5%) threshold 
be reached, no additional licenses shall be issued until allowable. 

b. Additionally, to protect the integrity of Boulder’s neighborhoods, there shall be no more than 
five-percent (5%) of the rental properties on a given block awarded a PGAP license in a given 
year.   

II. The permit holder shall be responsible for collecting and remitting all applicable room, occupancy, and 
sales taxes required by state law or City Code.  The applicable sales tax rate shall be ten-percent 
(10%) of the gross rental amount excluding cleaning fees.  All revenues from PGAP’s shall be directed 
to Boulder’s Affordable Housing Program.   

III.  PGAP Permit Application Contents: 
a. Name, number, address, and email address of the owner or property manager (“responsible 

party”) residing or located within ten (10) miles of the PGAP that is responsible for addressing 
all maintenance and life safety concerns  and is available twenty-fours (24) hours per day 
during any occupancy period.  

b. The owner or property manager will respond within 90 minutes should a complaint arise and 
face $500 penalty if response isn’t within this time period. 

c. Results of  Boulder Rental Inspection; 
d. A PGAP marketing plan detail where the property will be listed and the associated listing 

identifiers 
IV. All PGAP’s shall utilize marketing companies that provide due diligence vetting of both the property 

and the potential guests.  Classified advertisements shall be strictly prohibited due to their 
susceptibility to fraud.  A list of approved marketing vendors shall be provided with licensing materials 
and posted to the city’s website. 

V.  All PGAP’s shall provide upon demand proof of insurance evidencing homeowner’s fire, hazard, and 
liability insurance. Liability coverage shall have limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence. 

VI.  If the PGAP unit shares a common wall or a common driveway with another property owner, proof of 
written notification to such neighboring property owner(s) prior to filing the application. 

VII. Signage. Signs, advertising, or any other display on the property indicating that the dwelling unit is 
being utilized, in whole or in part, as a PGAP is prohibited. 

VIII. All PGAP occupants shall abide by all applicable noise and waste restrictions. 
IX. The PGAP permit shall expire three hundred sixty-five (365) days after it is issued. PGAP permits may 

be renewed upon the payment of a XXX dollar renewal fee. 
X. No more than 3% of the single-family or detached two-family residential units within each census block 

shall be permitted as non-owner-occupied short-term rental use.  

Attachment B - Ordinance Proposed By Community Members

Agenda Item 5C     Page 8Packet Page 255



XI. Before revoking any permit, the department of codes administration shall give the permit holder fifteen 
days written notice of the alleged violation(s) against him/her.  If the department of codes 
administration determines that more than 3 violations of this section or any other ordinance or law 
relating to PGAPs have occurred, the permit to operate a PGAP may be revoked.  

 

Attachment B - Ordinance Proposed By Community Members

Agenda Item 5C     Page 9Packet Page 256



   

Current Rental Licensing Code 

10-1-1. - Definitions.  

(a) The following terms used in this title have the following meanings unless the context clearly indicates 
otherwise:  

Accessible means, with respect to energy conservation measures, able to be modified to comply with 
this code at reasonable expense. The city manager shall determine the reasonableness of any expense 
after submission of evidence by the owner and a request for such determination. In such regard, the 
manager shall take account of the payback period for the measure, its contribution to the capital value of 
the dwelling unit, and whether or not the measure can be financed.  

Air infiltration means the leakage of air through cracks in a building, including, without limitation, 
cracks associated with doors, windows, baseboards, penetrations for entry of pipes and wires, and places 
where dissimilar materials meet.  

Approved means approved by the city manager to serve the purpose for which it is intended to be 
used.  

Approved semi-rigid tubing connector means a flexible metal pipe connecting a gas residential dryer 
or range, if it meets the requirements of and is installed in accordance with the city mechanical code, or, if 
it is a commercial gas dryer or range, it is a connector supplied with the appliance from the manufacturer, 
or is an equivalent commercial grade flex connector, and is installed in accordance with the 
manufacturer's instructions.  

Approved sewer system means a sewer system authorized by the city manager to be connected to 
the municipal waste water system or by the Boulder County Health Department to be connected to a 
properly constructed individual sewage disposal system.  

Approved water system means a water system authorized by the city manager to be connected to 
the municipal water system or by the Boulder County Health Department to be connected to a potable 
water system.  

ASTM means American Society for Testing Materials.  

Baseline inspection as used in Chapter 10-3, "Rental Licenses," B.R.C. 1981, means a physical 
inspection of a dwelling unit performed by a qualified city-licensed contractor for the purpose of 
determining compliance with all required items specified on a rental housing inspection checklist 
developed by the city manager based on the requirements of Chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance 
Code," B.R.C. 1981.  

Basement means any floor level below the first story in a building, except that a floor level in a 
building having only one floor level shall be classified as a basement unless such floor level qualifies as a 
story as that term is used in Chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981.  

Caulk means material designed to reduce air infiltration and having an estimated effective life 
exceeding five years.  

Cellar means that portion of a dwelling that is located partly or wholly below grade and has half or 
more than half of its clear floor-to-ceiling height below the average grade of the adjoining ground abutting 
the exterior walls of the dwelling unit.  

Cleanable means having a smooth, hard surface that is free from unsealed breaks and impervious to 
the amount of water that would be used in cleaning.  

Condominium unit means a form of property ownership of airspace, as defined in § 38-33-103, 
C.R.S.  

Cooking device excludes, where cooking devices are prohibited or excluded in this section or in 
Chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981, one microwave oven unit or one microwave 
oven unit combined with a refrigerator-freezer.  

Attachment C - Current Rental Licensing Code

Agenda Item 5C     Page 10Packet Page 257



   

Door means an opening in a solid wall for the ingress and egress of persons, including, without 
limitation, doorways, lintels, or headers, casing, frames, sills, and doors with or without glazing.  

Draft diverter means a device attached to or made part of the vent outlet from an appliance and 
designed to: insure the ready escape of products of combustion in the event of no draft, back draft, or 
stoppage in the vent or flue beyond the draft hood; prevent a back draft from entering the appliance; and 
neutralize the effect of stack action of the flue upon operation of the appliance.  

Dwelling means any building, structure, or other housing accommodation that is wholly or partly used 
or intended to be used for living or sleeping by human occupants, but excludes temporary housing.  

Dwelling unit means one room or rooms connected together for residential occupancy and including 
bathroom and kitchen facilities. If there is more than one meter for any utility, address to the property or 
kitchen; or if there are separate entrances to rooms which could be used as separate dwelling units; or if 
there is a lockable, physical separation between rooms in the dwelling unit such that a room or rooms on 
each side of the separation could be used as a dwelling unit, multiple dwelling units are presumed to 
exist; but this presumption may be rebutted by evidence that the residents of the dwelling share utilities 
and keys to all entrances to the property and that they: 1) share a single common bathroom as the 
primary bathroom, or 2) share a single common kitchen as the primary kitchen.  

Electrical convenience outlet means a point on the electrical wiring system equipped with one 
receptacle box that may contain one or more receptacles to receive plugs from which current is taken to 
supply electrical appliances.  

Elements means wind, rain, snow, hail, or sleet, or surface run-off water.  

Energy efficiency requirements inspection means a physical inspection performed by a class G city-
licensed contractor for the purpose of determining compliance with the Prescriptive Energy Efficiency 
Option under Section C101.2.2.  

Extermination means control and elimination of insects, rodents, vermin, or other pests by 
eliminating their harborage and materials that may serve as their food or by taking recognized, legal 
methods of eliminating pests, including, without limitation, poisoning, spraying, fumigating, or trapping.  

Garbage means putrescible animal or vegetable waste resulting from the preparation, cooking, and 
serving of food or the storage or sale of produce.  

Grade means the average of the finished ground level at the center of all walls of a building. When 
walls are parallel to and within five feet of a sidewalk, grade means the sidewalk level.  

Habitable room means a room or enclosed floor space used, intended to be used or designed to be 
used for living, sleeping, eating, or cooking and excludes bathrooms, toilet compartments, closets, halls, 
and storage places.  

Infestation means the presence of insects, rodents, vermin, or other pests of a kind or in a quantity 
that endanger health within or around a dwelling.  

Makeshift repairs means repairs not made in accordance with the requirements of this code, any 
ordinance of the city, or rule or regulation adopted thereunder; accepted practices; prevailing standards; 
design of a licensed contractor; or manufacturer's recommendations.  

Occupant means any person living in, sleeping in, cooking in, or possessing a building or part 
thereof.  

Operator means any person who is an owner, is an owner's representative, has charge of, or 
controls any dwelling or parts thereof.  

Owner means a person as defined by this code, who, alone, jointly or severally with others, or in a 
representative capacity (including, without limitation, an authorized agent, executor, or trustee), has legal 
or equitable title to any property in question.  

Permanently affordable unit has the same meaning as in Chapter 9-13, "Inclusionary Housing," 
B.R.C. 1981.  

Attachment C - Current Rental Licensing Code

Agenda Item 5C     Page 11Packet Page 258



   

Qualified heating maintenance person means a licensed professional engineer; a licensed 
mechanical contractor; or an employee of a regulated public utility whose duties include such inspections.  

Qualifying carbon offset means a financial instrument aimed at a reduction in greenhouse gases, 
purchased from the Colorado Carbon Fund (CCF) or from an alternative fund established by the city. One 
qualifying carbon offset represents the reduction of one metric ton of carbon dioxide or its equivalent 
(CO2e) in other greenhouse gases (if purchased from CCF) or another level of reduction specified by any 
alternative fund established by the city.  

Readily accessible means capable of being reached safely and quickly for operation, repair, or 
inspection without the necessity of climbing over or removing obstacles, or using portable access 
equipment.  

Renewal inspection means, with respect to any rental housing unit covered by a current rental 
license, an inspection performed by a qualified city-licensed contractor for the purpose of determining 
compliance with all required items specified on a rental housing renewal inspection checklist that are 
likely to become noncompliant over time, based on the requirements of Chapter 10-2, "Property 
Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981.  

Rental housing inspector means a person licensed as a D-9 contractor under Chapter 4-4, "Building 
Contractor License," B.R.C. 1981, to perform inspections under contract to owners or operators of rental 
housing to determine compliance with Chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981, using 
forms supplied by the city manager, and to certify compliance to the manager as part of the process of 
licensing rental housing.  

Rental property means all dwellings, dwelling units, and rooming units located within the city and 
rented or leased for any valuable consideration, but excludes dwellings owned by the federal government, 
the state, or any of their agencies or political subdivisions and facilities licensed by the state as health 
care facilities.  

Rooming house means an establishment where, for direct or indirect compensation, lodging, with or 
without kitchen facilities or meals, is offered for one month or more for three or more roomers not related 
to the family of the heads of the household.  

Rooming unit means a type of housing accommodation that consists of a room or group of rooms for 
a roomer, arranged primarily for sleeping and study, and that may include a private bath but does not 
include a sink or any cooking device.  

Sound condition means freedom from defects that would endanger the health, safety, and welfare of 
the occupants of the structure, and in good working condition if applicable.  

Stairway means all stairwells, and includes stair stringers, risers, treads, handrails, banisters, and 
vertical and horizontal supports.  

Story means that portion of a building included between the upper surface of any floor and the upper 
surface of the floor next above, except that the topmost story shall be that portion of a building included 
between the upper surface of the top-most floor and the ceiling or roof above. If the finished floor level 
directly above a usable or unused under-floor space is more than six feet above grade for more than fifty 
percent of the total perimeter or is more than twelve feet above grade at any point, such usable or unused 
under-floor space shall be considered as a first story.  

Supplied means paid for, furnished, provided by, or under the control of the owner or operator.  

Temporary housing means any mobile home, camper, or other structure used for human shelter that 
is designed to be transportable and is not attached to the ground, to another structure, or to any utilities 
system.  

Trap means a fitting or device in a plumbing system designed and constructed to provide, when 
properly vented, a liquid seal that will prevent the back passage of air without materially affecting the flow 
of sewage or wastewater through it.  

Vent means a pipe designed to convey the product of combustion from an appliance to a flue or 
chimney.  

Attachment C - Current Rental Licensing Code

Agenda Item 5C     Page 12Packet Page 259



   

Ventilation means not less than one square inch of area of contiguous inside and outside air for 
every square foot of floor space.  

Water heater insulation means a thermal insulation blanket with a membrane facing which has a 
flame spread classification of no more than two hundred for an electric water heater and twenty-five for an 
oil- and gas-fired water heater when tested in accordance with ASTM E 84-80, or originally installed 
insulation integral to the water heater which provides equivalent resistance to heat loss.  

Window means an opening in a solid wall for the interior illumination and ventilation of a structure 
and includes lintels or headers, casings, sills, frames, and glazing.  

(b) Words defined in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, have the meanings therein expressed if 
not differently defined by this chapter.  

(c) For the purposes of Chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981, a word not defined in 
this chapter or in Chapter 1-2, "Definitions," B.R.C. 1981, but defined in the International Building 
Code adopted in Chapter 10-5, "Building Code," B.R.C. 1981, the International Residential Code 
adopted in Chapter 10-5.5, "Residential Building Code," B.R.C. 1981, the National Electrical Code 
adopted in Chapter 10-6, "Electrical Code," B.R.C. 1981, the International Energy Conservation 
Code adopted in Chapter 10-7, "Energy Conservation Code," B.R.C. 1981, the International 
Mechanical Code adopted in Chapter 10-9, "Mechanical Code," B.R.C. 1981, the International Fuel 
Gas Code adopted in Chapter 10-9.5, "Fuel Gas Code," B.R.C. 1981, and the International Plumbing 
Code adopted in Chapter 10-10, "Plumbing Code," B.R.C. 1981, has the meaning expressed in such 
code if it and the housing code provision concern similar subjects.  

Chapter 3 - Rental Licenses  

10-3-1. - Legislative Intent.  

This chapter provides for comprehensive enforcement of chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance 
Code," B.R.C. 1981, by establishing a system of rental licenses for all dwelling and rooming 
accommodations in the City that are rented to tenants.  

10-3-2. - Rental License Required Before Occupancy and License Exemptions.  

(a) No operator shall allow any person to occupy any rental property as a tenant or lessee or otherwise 
for a valuable consideration unless each room or group of rooms constituting the rental property has 
been issued a valid rental license by the city manager.  

(b) Buildings, or building areas, described in one or more of the following paragraphs are exempted from 
the requirement to obtain a rental license from the city manager.  

(1) Any dwelling unit occupied by the owner or members of the owner's family and housing no more 
than two roomers who are unrelated to the owner or the owner's family. An owner includes an 
occupant who certifies that the occupant owns an interest in a corporation, firm, partnership, 
association, organization or any other group acting as a unit that owns the rental property.  

(2) A dwelling unit meeting all of the following conditions: 

(A) The dwelling unit constitutes the owner's principal residence; 

(B) The dwelling unit is temporarily rented by the owner for a period of time no greater than 
twelve consecutive months in any twenty-four-month period;  

(C) The dwelling unit was occupied by the owner immediately before its rental; 

(D) The owner of the dwelling unit is temporarily living outside of Boulder County; and 

(E) The owner intends to re-occupy the dwelling unit upon termination of the temporary rental 
period identified in subparagraph (b)(2)(B) of this section.  

Attachment C - Current Rental Licensing Code

Agenda Item 5C     Page 13Packet Page 260



   

(3) Commercial hotel and motel occupancies which offer lodging accommodations primarily for 
periods of time less than thirty days, but bed and breakfast facilities are not excluded from rental 
license requirements.  

(4) Common areas and elements of buildings containing attached, but individually owned, dwelling 
units.  

10-3-3. - Terms of Licenses.  

(a) License terms shall be as follows: 

(1) Licenses, other than reduced term licenses issued under section 10-3-4, "Reduced Term 
License," B.R.C. 1981, or temporary licenses issued under section 10-3-9, "Temporary License 
Appeals," B.R.C. 1981, shall expire four years from issuance or when ownership of the licensed 
property is transferred.  

(A) In addition to any other applicable requirements, new licenses and renewals shall require 
that the licensee submit to the city manager a completed current baseline (for a new 
license) or renewal inspection report, on forms provided by the City. The report shall satisfy 
the following requirements:  

(i) The section of the report concerning fuel burning appliances must be executed by a 
qualified heating maintenance person certifying compliance with those portions of 
chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981, for which the report form 
requires inspection and certification.  

(ii) The section of the report concerning smoke and carbon monoxide alarms must be 
executed by the operator certifying that the operator inspected the smoke and carbon 
monoxide alarms in the licensed property and that they complied with the 
requirements of chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981.  

(iii) The section of the report concerning trash removal must be executed by the operator 
certifying that the operator has a current valid contract with a commercial trash hauler 
for removal of accumulated trash from the licensed property in accordance with 
subsection 6-3-3(b), B.R.C. 1981.  

(b) The city manager shall issue separate licenses for individual buildings. Such licenses shall cover all 
dwelling units and rooming units within such buildings. In a building containing attached but 
individually owned dwelling units, or any other dwelling units which may be separately conveyed, the 
city manager shall issue separate licenses for each dwelling unit. A structure, or group of structures, 
shall be considered to be a single building if it has been assigned a single street address by the City. 
If a complex of buildings on one property is under common ownership, and this owner is willing to 
have a common expiration date for the licenses for all dwelling and rooming units, the city manager 
may consider the whole complex to be the equivalent of a single building for the purposes of 
licensing and the fee schedule in section 4-20-18, "Rental License Fee," B.R.C. 1981.  

(c) Whenever an existing license is renewed, the renewal license shall be effective from the date of 
expiration of the last license if the applicant submits a complete renewal application by or within 
ninety days from the expiration date. Licenses not renewed within ninety days will be considered 
expired, requiring a new baseline inspection report.  

(d) Issuance of any license (new or renewed) extending beyond December 31, 2018 requires meeting 
the energy efficiency requirements of chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code, Appendix C - 
Energy Efficiency Requirements," B.R.C. 1981.  

10-3-4. - Reduced Term License.  

(a) The city manager shall issue a reduced term license whenever the city manager determines that:  

Attachment C - Current Rental Licensing Code

Agenda Item 5C     Page 14Packet Page 261



   

(1) Violations of chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981, revealed during an 
inspection, individually or in combination, demonstrate a failure to maintain the rental property in 
a safe, sanitary and clean condition so that the dwelling endangers the health and safety of the 
occupants;  

(2) There is or has been a violation of a limitation on numbers of occupants or numbers of dwelling 
units found in title 9, "Land Use Code," B.R.C. 1981, which demonstrates a failure to maintain 
the rental property in compliance with that title; or  

(3) The term of an initial license or renewal of an existing license would otherwise extend beyond 
December 31, 2018 for a property that has not received an "Energy efficiency requirements 
inspection" demonstrating compliance with chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," 
Appendix C - "Energy Efficiency Requirements," B.R.C. 1981.  

(A) For violations of chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981, the license term 
shall be reduced to twenty four months.  

(B) For violations of title 9, "Land Use Code," B.R.C. 1981, the license term shall be reduced to 
twelve months.  

(C) In the case of failure to demonstrate a satisfactory energy efficiency requirements 
inspection for the subject property, under paragraph (3), above, the license term shall 
expire December 31, 2018, unless, before that date, the city manager receives an energy 
efficiency requirements inspection demonstrating compliance, in which case the license 
term shall extend the full period otherwise prescribed by this chapter.  

(b) If an operator disagrees with the decision of the city manager to issue a reduced term license under 
subsection (a) of this section, such person may appeal the city manager's decision within thirty days 
after the issuance of the reduced term license, as follows:  

(1) For reduced term licenses issued as a result of violations of chapter 10-2, "Property 
Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981, the appeal shall be made as provided in section 10-2-2, 
section 111, "Means of Appeal," B.R.C. 1981.  

(2) For reduced term licenses issued as a result of violations of title 9, "Land Use Code," B.R.C. 
1981, the appeal shall be made to the board of zoning adjustment, although the fee amount 
shall be as specified for an appeal to the board of building appeals.  

10-3-5. - License Procedure for Newly Constructed Rental Property.  

Baseline inspections are not required before issuance of the first rental license for newly constructed 
rental property if a license application is submitted by or within one year after the date of issuance of the 
first certificate of occupancy or temporary certificate of occupancy.  

10-3-6. - License Application Procedure for Buildings Converted to Rental 

Property.  

Every operator converting a property to rental property shall follow the procedures in this section for 
procuring a rental license:  

(a) Submit a written application for a license to the City, on official city forms provided for that purpose, 
at least thirty days before rental of the property including:  

(1) A rental housing inspector's certification of baseline inspection dated within twelve months 
before the application. The operator shall make a copy of the inspection form available to city 
staff and tenants of inspected units within fourteen days of a request; and  

(2) A report on the condition and location of all smoke and carbon monoxide alarms required by 
chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981, made and verified by the operator; 
and  

Attachment C - Current Rental Licensing Code

Agenda Item 5C     Page 15Packet Page 262



   

(3) A trash removal plan meeting the requirements of subsection 6-3-3(b), B.R.C. 1981, made and 
verified by the operator.  

(b) Pay all license fees prescribed by section 4-20-18, "Rental License Fee," B.R.C. 1981, at the time of 
submitting the license application.  

(c) Take all reasonable steps to notify any occupants of the property in advance of the date and time of 
the inspection. The operator shall be present and accompany the inspector throughout the 
inspection, unlocking and opening doors as required.  

10-3-7. - License Renewal Procedure for Buildings Occupied as Rental Property.  

Every operator of a rental property shall follow the procedures in this section when renewing an 
unexpired license:  

(a) Pay all license fees prescribed by section 4-20-18, "Rental License Fee," B.R.C. 1981, before the 
expiration of the existing license.  

(b) Submit to the city manager, on forms provided by the manager: 

(1) A rental housing inspector's certification of renewal inspection within twelve months before 
application. The operator shall make a copy of the inspection form available to city staff and 
tenants of inspected units within fourteen days of a request;  

(2) A report on the condition and location of all smoke and carbon monoxide alarms required by 
chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981, made and verified by the operator; 
and  

(3) A trash removal plan meeting the requirements of subsection 6-3-3(b), B.R.C. 1981, made and 
verified by the operator.  

(c) Take all reasonable steps to notify in advance all tenants of the property of the date and time of the 
inspection. The operator shall be present and accompany the inspector throughout the inspection, 
unlocking and opening doors as required.  

10-3-8. - Temporary License.  

If the inspection shows that there are violations of chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," 
B.R.C. 1981, in the building, and the operator cannot correct the deficiencies before the housing is to be 
occupied (in the case of new rental property) or the existing license expires (in the case of a renewal), the 
operator may apply, on forms specified by the city manager, for a temporary license. If the manager finds, 
based on the number and severity of violations, that such a temporary license would not create or 
continue an imminent health or safety hazard to the public or the occupants, the manager may issue a 
temporary license. The manager shall specify the duration of the temporary license, for a period 
reasonably necessary to make the needed repairs and changes. Upon receipt of an additional certificate 
of inspection showing correction of the deficiencies, and an additional housing license fee, the manager 
shall issue the housing license.  

10-3-9. - Temporary License Appeals.  

Any operator denied a temporary license, or aggrieved by the period of time allowed for correction, 
may appeal the denial or the time for correction, or both, as provided in section 10-2-2, section 111 
"Means of Appeal," B.R.C. 1981. As to an appeal of the time reasonably required to correct a violation, 
the board shall either affirm the city manager's originally prescribed time or grant a longer time to correct 
the alleged violation.  

10-3-10. - Time of License Expiration.  

Every rental license expires upon the earliest of the following dates:  

Attachment C - Current Rental Licensing Code

Agenda Item 5C     Page 16Packet Page 263



   

(a) The expiration date on the license unless temporary authority to rent is allowed under section 10-3-8, 
"Temporary License," B.R.C. 1981, of this chapter;  

(b) Thirty days after the date upon which transfer of ownership of the rental property occurs. However, 
for purposes of this section and section 10-3-11, "Change of Rental Property Owner or Agent," 
B.R.C. 1981, shall not include situations in which a rental property is transferred from ownership by 
one or more individuals into a limited liability company form of ownership, if all of the following 
conditions exist:  

(1) At least one transferring owner is a member of the limited liability company; 

(2) No exchange of consideration takes place as a condition of the transfer; and 

(3) The transferring owners certify on forms approved by the city manager that there will be no 
significant change in the persons who manage the rental property or, in the alternative, in the 
persons who are responsible for managing the rental property.  

(c) The effective date of any order or notice to vacate the rental property issued under any provision of 
law;  

(d) The expiration of the temporary certificate of occupancy for the rental property if a permanent 
certificate of occupancy has not been issued; or  

(e) The revocation of the certificate of occupancy for the rental property. 

10-3-11. - Change of Rental Property Ownership or Agent.  

(a) Within thirty days after transfer of ownership or change of local agent of a licensed property, the 
operator shall notify the city manager of the identity and mailing address of the new owner or new 
local agent.  

(b) Within sixty days after transfer of ownership of a property for which there is a current and valid 
license, the new operator of the property shall apply for a new license under section 10-3-6, "License 
Application Procedure for Buildings Converted to Rental Property," B.R.C. 1981.  

(c) Issuance of any licenses extending beyond December 31, 2018, requires meeting the energy 
efficiency requirements of chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," Appendix C, "Energy 
Efficiency Requirements," B.R.C. 1981.  

10-3-12. - License Fees.  

(a) Applicants for any rental housing license, and operators renewing an existing rental housing license, 
shall pay the license fees prescribed by section 4-20-18, "Rental License Fee," B.R.C. 1981, upon 
submission of any license application.  

(b) If an operator of rental property legally changes the use of a structure by adding units for which such 
operator receives a license under this chapter separate from the license for the remainder of the 
rental property, the operator shall apply for a single rental license to cover the entire property no later 
than thirty days before the expiration date of the license that first expires. There shall be no 
additional fee assessed for the dwelling units or rooming units that were added to the structure at the 
time the separate licenses are consolidated.  

(c) If an operator of rental property reduces the number of dwelling units or rooming units within a rental 
property, the operator is not entitled to a refund of any fee previously paid.  

(d) The city manager shall charge no license fee for the following rental dwelling units, so long as such 
units have also been individually certified to the city manager as low income rental property by the 
housing authority of the City of Boulder, and such certification is valid at the time the fee would 
otherwise be due:  

(1) Units owned by or leased and operated by the housing authority of the City of Boulder; 

Attachment C - Current Rental Licensing Code

Agenda Item 5C     Page 17Packet Page 264



   

(2) Units owned by or leased and operated by an entity which has a current valid tax status 
determination by the United States Internal Revenue Service as a section 501(c)(3) tax exempt 
organization and such units are permanently affordable, as that term is defined in chapter 9-16, 
"Definitions," B.R.C. 1981; or  

(3) Units covered by an assistance payment contract under 49 U.S.C. § 1437(b), "Lower-income 
housing assistance - authorization for contracts for assistance payments for existing dwellings."  

(4) If a housing complex under common ownership operates a fixed number or percentage of units 
as qualifying units under this subsection, but the individual units occupied by low income 
tenants vary over time, the license and fee waiver allowed by this subsection shall be applied 
pro rata to the total amount.  

10-3-13. - Availability of License.  

No operator who holds a rental license shall fail to make the rental license available to anyone within 
seventy-two hours of receiving a request. Posting of a rental license at the rental property is not required.  

10-3-14. - Local Agent Required.  

Whenever any rental property is required to be licensed under this chapter, and neither the owner 
nor the operator is a natural person domiciled within Boulder County, Colorado, the owner shall appoint a 
natural person who is domiciled within Boulder County, Colorado, to serve as the local agent of the owner 
and the operator for service of such notices as are specified in section 10-2-2, "Property Maintenance 
Code," section 108, "Unsafe Structures and Equipment," and section 109, "Emergency Measures," B.R.C 
1981, and notices given to the local agent shall be sufficient to satisfy any requirement of notice to the 
owner or the operator. The owner shall notify the city manager in writing of the appointment within five 
days of being required to make such an appointment, and shall thereafter notify the city manager of any 
change of local agent within fifteen days of such change.  

10-3-15. - City Manager May Order Premises Vacated.  

(a) Whenever the city manager determines that any rental housing is in violation of this chapter or of 
chapter 10-2, "Property Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981, and has caused a summons and 
complaint requiring the operator to appear in municipal court to answer the charge of violation to 
issue, and the summons cannot be served upon the operator despite reasonable efforts to do so, or, 
having been served, the operator has failed to appear in the municipal court to answer the charges 
or at any other stage in the proceedings, or, having been convicted or entered a plea of guilty or no 
contest, the operator has failed to satisfy the judgment of the court or any condition of a deferred 
judgment, then the city manager may, after thirty days' notice and an opportunity for a hearing to the 
tenants and the operator, require that the premises be vacated and not be reoccupied until all of the 
requirements of the Property Maintenance Code and the rental licenses code have been satisfied 
and a rental housing license is in effect. No person shall occupy any premises as a tenant after 
receiving actual or constructive notice that the premises have been vacated under this section.  

(b) Any notice required by this section to be given to an operator is sufficient if sent by first class or 
certified mail to the address of the last known owner of the property as shown on the records of the 
Boulder County Assessor as of the date of mailing. Any notice to the tenant required by this section 
is sufficient if sent by first class or certified mail to or delivered to any occupant at the address of the 
premises and directed to "All Tenants."  

(c) The remedy provided in this section is cumulative and is in addition to any other action the city 
manager is authorized to take.  

 

 

Attachment C - Current Rental Licensing Code

Agenda Item 5C     Page 18Packet Page 265



   

10-3-16. - Administrative Remedy.  

(a) If the city manager finds that a violation of any provision of this chapter or chapter 10-2, "Property 
Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981, exists, the manager, after notice to the operator and an 
opportunity for hearing under the procedures prescribed by chapter 1-3, "Quasi-Judicial Hearings," 
B.R.C. 1981, may take any one or more of the following actions to remedy the violation:  

(1) Impose a civil penalty according to the following schedule: 

(A) For the first violation of the provision, $150.00; 

(B) For the second violation of the same provision, $300.00; and 

(C) For the third violation of the same provision, $1,000.00; 

(2) Revoke the rental license; and 

(3) Issue any order reasonably calculated to ensure compliance with this chapter and chapter 10-2, 
"Property Maintenance Code," B.R.C. 1981.  

(b) If notice is given to the city manager by the operator at least forty-eight hours before the time and 
date set forth in the notice of hearing on any violation that the violation has been corrected, the 
manager will reinspect the building. If the manager finds that the violation has been corrected, the 
manager may cancel the hearing.  

(c) The city manager's authority under this section is in addition to any other authority the manager has 
to enforce this chapter, and election of one remedy by the manager shall not preclude resorting to 
any other remedy as well.  

(d) The city manager may, in addition to taking other collection remedies, certify due and unpaid 
charges to the Boulder County Treasurer for collection as provided by section 2-2-12, "City Manager 
May Certify Taxes, Charges and Assessments to County Treasurer for Collection," B.R.C. 1981.  

(e) To cover the costs of investigative inspections, the city manager will assess operators a $250.00 fee 
per inspection, where the city manager performs an investigative inspection to ascertain compliance 
with or violations of this chapter.  

10-3-17. - Penalty.  

(a) The penalty for violation of any provision of this chapter is a fine of at least $500.00 and not more 
than $2,000.00 per violation, or incarceration for not more than ninety days in jail, or both such fine 
and incarceration. In addition, upon conviction of any person for violation of this chapter, the court 
may issue a cease and desist order and any other orders reasonably calculated to remedy the 
violation. Violation of any order of the court issued under this section is a violation of this section and 
is punishable by a fine of not more than $4,0000.00 per violation, or incarceration for not more than 
ninety days in jail, or both such fine and incarceration.  

(b) It shall be a condition of any deferred prosecution or deferred or suspended sentence under this 
chapter that the defendant commit no violations of this chapter for at least one year from the date of 
such deferred prosecution or deferred or suspended sentence.  

(c) Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, the following specific sentencing considerations shall 
apply to fines imposed for violations:  

(1) The court shall consider any evidence presented by the defendant that a potential fine would be 
confiscatory. A confiscatory fine is a fine that would deprive a normally capitalized owner of the 
ability to continue operating a rental housing business of the sort involved in the case before the 
court. No fine that is confiscatory shall be enforced by the court.  

(2) In imposing a fine in any single case or in any consolidated cases, the court may weigh all 
factors normally and properly considered in connection with the imposition of fines, including the 
seriousness of the violation, the past record of the defendant, the economic circumstances of 

Attachment C - Current Rental Licensing Code

Agenda Item 5C     Page 19Packet Page 266



   

the defendant and all mitigating or aggravating factors relevant to the violation or to the 
defendant. In addition, in determining the amount of any fine, the court may consider:  

(A) The imposition of a fine that would deprive the defendant of any illegal profit collected 
because of the occurrence of the violation or violations on the rental housing property;  

(B) The imposition of a reasonable penalty in addition to any level of fine that is attributable to 
illegally obtained profit; and  

(C) The imposition of such additional fine as is determined by the court to constitute a 
reasonable amount to be suspended in order to ensure compliance with any terms of 
probation imposed by the court.  

(d) No fine imposed in a single case alleging multiple dates of violation, nor any fine in consolidated 
cases alleging multiple days of violation, shall exceed the maximum fine that might be imposed for 
fifteen separate violations unless the court finds special aggravating circumstances. Where special 
aggravating factors are at issue, the following procedures shall apply:  

(1) The defendant shall be entitled to ten days' notice of any special aggravating factors upon 
which the prosecution intends to rely at the sentencing hearing or about which, based upon 
evidence previously presented, the court is concerned. If necessary in order to provide such 
notice, a defendant shall be entitled to a continuance of the sentencing hearing.  

(2) A judicial finding of the existence of special aggravating factors shall not mandate that the court 
impose any particular level of fine but will, rather, provide the sentencing court with discretion to 
determine a fine based upon all the criteria set forth in this subsection.  

(3) Special aggravating factors, for the purpose of this subsection, shall require a judicial finding of 
one or more of the following:  

(A) The violations at issue were flagrant and intentional on the part of the defendant; 

(B) The defendant, after learning of the violation, failed to attempt corrective action over a 
sustained period of time; or  

(C) A fine equivalent to the maximum fine permitted for fifteen separate violations would be 
inadequate to disgorge the defendant of illegal profits obtained as a consequence of the 
violations or would be inadequate to ensure that the violation is neither profitable nor 
revenue neutral for the offender.  

10-3-18. - Authority to Issue Rules.  

The city manager may adopt reasonable rules to implement this chapter.  

10-3-19. - Owner Occupied Designation.  

Repealed.  

Attachment C - Current Rental Licensing Code

Agenda Item 5C     Page 20Packet Page 267



 
                   

TO:  Members of Council 
FROM: Danielle Sears, City Clerk’s Office 
DATE:  June 2nd, 2015 
SUBJECT: Information Packet 
 
 

1. CALL UPS 
 
A.  Concept Plan Review 3600 Hwy. 119 (LUR2015-00028) 

 
2. INFORMATION ITEMS 

 
 None. 
 

3.  BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
 
A. Beverages Licensing Authority – April 15, 2015 

 
B. Human Relations Commission – May 18, 2015 

 
C. Landmarks Board – May 6, 2015 

 
D. Library Commission – March 4, 2015 

 
E. Library Commission – April 8, 2015 

 
F. Open Space Board of Trustees – May 13, 2015 

 
G. Water Resource Advisory Board – February 23, 2015 

 
H. Water Resource Advisory Board – April 27, 2015 

 
 DECLARATIONS 

 
A. Aphasia Awareness Month Declaration – June 2015 
 
B. Honoring the Uniformed Services Declaration – May 2015 

 

Packet Page 268



INFORMATION PACKET 
MEMORANDUM 

To: Members of City Council 

From: Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning + Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 

Date: June 2, 2015 

Subject:  Call-Up Item: Concept Plan Review 3600 Hwy. 119 (LUR2015-00028)

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

On May 7, 2015 the Planning Board reviewed and commented on the above-referenced application. City 
Council may vote to call-up the Concept Plan to review and discuss within 30 days of the Planning 
Board hearing. There is one City Council meeting within this time period for call-up consideration on 
June 2, 2015.  The draft minutes from the Planning Board hearing are provided in Exhibit A and the staff 
memorandum Concept Plan analysis is provided in Exhibit B. Additional materials including Planning 
Board hearing audio and the applicant’s submittal materials are available on the city website for Planning 
Board, follow the links: www.bouldercolorado.gov  A to Z Planning Boardsearch for past 

meeting materials planning board20155.7.2015 PB Packet.   

During the review process there were 16 public comment letters and two neighbor phone calls received.  
Since that time an additional letter was received that is provided at the end of Exhibit B.  At the Planning 
Board Hearing, there were seven members of the public who spoke.  The majority of public comments 
were consistent with staff findings and Planning Board comments that the site is not optimal for 
residential.  Concerns included traffic, noise, and visual quality. The Planning Board noted that the site 
may be more suitable for sensitively designed and understated office, retail or service industrial with 
very intensive landscaping that would allow the Flatirons to serve as the primary gateway element into 
Boulder from Highway 119. The Planning Board suggested that the property owners may want to 
explore other uses on the site or consider a land use change and rezoning, and that the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan Update process would be the best opportunity to explore those options.  

Consistent with recently amended land use code section 9-2-13(a)(2), B.R.C. 1981 City Council shall 
vote to call up the application to review and comment on the concept plan within a 30-day call up period 
which expires on June 8, 2015. 

EXHIBITS 
A.  Draft May 7, 2015 Planning Board Minutes 
B.  May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 1Packet Page 269

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


DRAFT
CITY OF BOULDER 

PLANNING BOARD ACTION MINUTES 
May 7, 2015 

1777 Broadway, Council Chambers 

A permanent set of these minutes and a tape recording (maintained for a period of seven years) are 
retained in Central Records (telephone: 303-441-3043). Minutes and streaming audio are also 
available on the web at: http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 

PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Aaron Brockett, Chair 
Bryan Bowen 
Crystal Gray 
John Putnam 
John Gerstle 
Leonard May 
Liz Payton 

PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT: 

STAFF PRESENT: 
Hella Pannewig, Assistant City Attorney 
Susan Meissner, Administrative Assistant III 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager for CP&S 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
David Thompson, Civil Engineer- Traffic 

1. CALL TO ORDER
Chair, A. Brockett, declared a quorum at 6:03 p.m. and the following business was conducted. 

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

On a motion by C. Gray and seconded by J. Putnam the Planning Board approved 7-0 the 
August 28, 2014 minutes. 

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
1. Dean Dinair, 1507 Bluebell Avenue, thanked Sloane Walbert for explaining the Bluebell

project to him. He wanted to assure that the project is sensitive to the neighborhood
character. He also felt that the limits for subdivision should be limited.

4. DISCUSSION OF DISPOSITIONS, PLANNING BOARD CALL-UPS/CONTINUATIONS

A. Call Up Item: USE REVIEW to establish a 1,605 square foot restaurant, "Troovi Eatery & 
Juice Bar" in currently unoccupied retail space at Solana Apartments 3060 Pearl Parkway 
under case no. LUR2015-00025. Expires May 8, 2015. 

Attachment A - Draft May 7, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 2Packet Page 270

https://webmail.bouldercolorado.gov/owa/redir.aspx?C=I5NO4b26akWhgmZpN9k_L3ln-0EqYNAIb3BQVECXatq4pRtRPkpbxOOxLA_bEvetV-NSpTIFrBA.&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.bouldercolorado.gov%2f


DRAFT

B. Call-Up Item: Minor subdivision review, case no. LUR2015-00008, for the creation of a 
second residential lot with frontage on 15th Street. Lot 1A to be 7,605 square feet and Lot 2A 
to be 7,404 square feet. This approval is subject to potential call-up on or before May 11, 
2015. 

C. Call-Up Item: NONCONFORMING USE REVIEW (LUR2015-00017): Request for 
an expansion to a nonconforming use to remodel the kitchen facilities at the Alpha 
Chi Omega house located at 1162 12th Street, including mechanical equipment and
screening located on the building rooftop and associated ductwork within the rear 
yard setback. The project site is zoned Residential - High 5 (RH-5). The call-up 
period expires on May 15, 2015. 

Board Questions: 
C. Gray asked a question about item 4B. 
D. Thompson answered board questions. 

None of these items were called up. 

5. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS
A. CONCEPT PLAN & REVIEW - Proposed mixed-use development (Alexan Flatirons) located at 

McKenzie Junction, 3600 Highway 119 (Diagonal Highway), that includes 295 market-rate 
multi-family units, 83 affordable-rate multi-family units, associated community buildings and 
54,000 SF of commercial office space (with options for partial retail and coffee shop). Reviewed 
under case no. LUR2015-00028. 

Applicant: Bill Holicky  
Property Owner: Birch Mountain, LLC 

Staff Presentation: 
C. Ferro introduced the item. 
E. McLaughlin presented the item to the board. 

Board Questions: 
E. McLaughlin answered questions from the board. 
D. Thompson answered questions from the board. 

Applicant Presentation: 
Matt Schildt, the applicant, presented the item to the board. 
Bill Holicky, the architect, presented the item to the board. 

Board Questions: 
Bill Holicky, the architect, answered questions from the board. 

1. Michael O’Keeffe, 4520 Nassau Place, asked for clarification and spoke in opposition to the
project. He did not feel that the location was conducive to residential for health and
transportation reasons.

2. David Williard, 3975 hesa Court, expressed some concerns about this development. He
supports affordable housing but noted that this is a loud area and is not a pleasant place to be.
He did not think that people would use the proposed open space and would instead go to the

Attachment A - Draft May 7, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 3Packet Page 271



DRAFT

park adjacent to his house. He thought it would put pressure on the existing community. He 
asked that the applicant put a playground into the complex in an area that would be utilized. 

3. Hunter Smith, 5105 Independence Rd, is a neighbor and felt that this development would
impact the rural character of the properties to the north and east. He was concerned about the
impacts on traffic and noted that the intersection at Independence is a dangerous intersection;
he recommended slowing traffic or adding a traffic light.

4. John Harneg, 3880 N. 57th Street, lives east of the development and expressed concerns
regarding safety and traffic. The Intersection at Independence and the Diagonal is very
dangerous. He thought the impact of the residential units and commercial space would be
problematic. Traffic speeds are fast on Independence and 57th Street. The airport is close by
and asked where this sits in relation to the flight path.

5. Holly Hyatt Langdon, 3702 Star Lane, expressed concerns about the impact of the views of
open space and surrounding areas. She did not think that the community would be conducive
to bike and bus connections for seniors. She felt that it was in a median and would not be a
nice place to live.

6. Jean Aschenbrenner, 4816 Baldwin Place, noted that the train tracks will be loud for
residents. She noted that the current traffic bottlenecks at that location and causes backups.
She did not think that there would be sufficient space to expand the highway. Consider the
cost of flood repairs to the open space area.

7. Bob Murphy, 4075 N. 57th Street, expressed concerns about the air traffic over that
development. Other neighbors in the area already do not like the air traffic. He had traffic
concerns as well; there are already traffic jams and this would add pressure to that area. He
noted that there are many runners, cyclists and horses that use Independence Road; he
wanted to assure the safety of all users.

Board Comments: 

Summary: 
 Board members did not find the proposed project to be entirely compliant with the BCVP.

 Though the residential use is allowed per the zoning, many did not feel that it was an
appropriate use. Though not currently allowed, business industrial or other light commercial
uses could be more appropriate given traffic, noise, siting and accessibility concerns.

 Members recommended that Open Space consider purchasing or rezoning the property with
the BVCP update.

 Some board members recommended that the site be considered for a park and ride. Others
did not feel that it would be appropriate given the traffic congestion

 The edge conditions of the site are challenging. The board members felt that the proposed
plan allowed for views of the Flatirons and liked that “soft” edge to the city.

 Move the historic well out into the open space on the site.

Attachment A - Draft May 7, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 4Packet Page 272



DRAFT

Detailed Comments: 
Consistency with the BVCP and Land Use 
J. Putnam was unsure about this project as it has many contradictory cross currents. Though the 
current vacant state seems to provide a good edge, it is private property and allowed to be developed. 
Unless the city changes its mind about acquiring this property, they must allow for it to be 
developed. Service industrial uses, especially with the Kum and Go adjacent to the property, could 
be an appropriate use.  

L. May did not think that the proposal was entirely consistent w the BVCP policies; it would be 
better suited as an infill project within the city. He agreed that service industrial uses might make 
better sense on the site. Given that it has a current land use designation, he didn’t think it was 
appropriate to say that nothing should be built there. He did not think that office space would be 
appropriate for the same reason as residential because it is a large traffic generator. He thought uses 
like service industrial with light traffic impacts were most appropriate. 

J. Gerstle agreed that service industrial would be a better use for the site. He expressed concerns 
about senior housing given the transportation limitations for residents who may not drive. Though 
the residential use was granted by-right, he did not think that it met the BVCP intentions.  

A. Brockett thought that this site would function best as open space and expressed concern about 
putting residential uses on this site. He did not think that this would be a good place to live given the 
fumes and noise from the two highways, trains and planes. He thought service industrial or office 
would be a better use for the site. He could possibly imagine a small amount of residential cloaked 
within other uses. Though there are bus stops, they are difficult to access and thought cyclists would 
not likely use the path regularly to run errands. Community Cycles did not advocate for this 
proposal. 

B. Bowen felt warmer to the site than the others. He used to commute by bike through this site and 
understood why cycling could be a theme for the project and the way to tackle residential on this 
site.  

C. Gray thought that the applicant did a good job with a tough site but did not think the predominant 
use should be residential. She worried that it would not be a liveable place for residents and felt the 
site was isolated on an island. She would prefer to see commercial uses and buffer the site as has 
been proposed. 

L. Payton appreciated the staff memo and wanted to incorporate staff’s concerns into her comments 
without reiterating them. She noted that when a development was last proposed on this site, the 
Planning Board said it was uninhabitable. The DRCOG report said that the traffic will increase 
considerably in the future and habitability will get worse. She did not think that the residents would 
open windows or go out to use the open space. 

Edge Conditions 
J. Putnam felt that the site is challenged, but he did not consider this to be a median. He did not 
think that a park and ride would be appropriate in this location as the traffic was already problematic. 
He thought that the McKenzie well should be sited to stand out by itself in the field. This could serve 
as an historical reminder of fossil fuel use. 

Attachment A - Draft May 7, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 5Packet Page 273



DRAFT

 

 
 
 

 
L. May thought a natural edge to the city would be most effective and suggested that the city should 
buy this site. 
 
J. Gerstle thought that a park and ride or rest station would be a good use and was worth 
considering in conjunction with service industrial.  
 
A. Brockett agreed with the applicant that the view of the Flatirons should be the gateway, but 
thought the proposal was less of a gateway and more of an edge. Keep it subtle to let the views of the 
Flatirons be the edge. He cited the large art project at the entry point to Longmont. Something of that 
nature could be incorporated on this site. 
 
B. Bowen  agreed that softer edge to town was more appropriate than a large and powerful building. 
Small houses make good edges from rural highways. The gateway is the view to the flatirons.  
 
C. Gray liked the landscape concept but felt that it would be more natural to continue the softer 
edge from Four Mile Creek. She did not think that iconic architecture was appropriate and noted that 
it is unlikely that the city would purchase the site for open space; the city’s policy is not to buy Area 
1 properties due to cost. 
 
Residential Use  
J. Putnam noted that there are other residential sites that have higher noise loads and asked that the 
applicant address acoustic considerations through design. This will be a rental property and therefore 
will likely have a higher tolerance for noise. He asked the applicant to return with noise levels in 
terms of LEQ and day/night levels integrating the train and aircraft considerations. His largest 
concern about residential uses on this site pertained to the islanding effect. Bike connections could 
help. Use alternate transit data to show that the site will not be isolated. 
 
A. Brockett thought this site would always be predominantly accessed by cars. Consider 
incorporating retail that is predominantly accessed by car, i.e. washing machine vendors. 
 
B. Bowen agreed that the site could be good for other uses with less traffic and trips. He thought the 
proposed neighborhoods functioned well without the open space within them as mountains and 
views work as open space.  
 
C. Gray thought transition and office uses would be okay for the property but expressed concern 
about residential use. Some office uses generate less traffic than others. Keep bike connection 
concept. Don’t underestimate Boulder bikers and where they’ll ride.  
 
L. Payton felt that the site should be used as a well designed rest stop as opposed to residential. 
Incorporate interpretive signage with the history of the oil rig, Diagonal Highway, etc. Consider 
AMPS goals as well; this could be a site for well-designed parking outside of the city to connect to 
bus service. She felt that the site is a median; the continuity of the median from Boulder to 
Longmont is important 
 
 
Transportation and Access 
J. Putnam requested that the applicant provide an intense traffic analysis with a TDM plan that 

Attachment A - Draft May 7, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 6Packet Page 274



DRAFT

includes a large amount of alternate modes and traffic generation potential. Look at planned 
improvements to sidewalks and access. Include vehicle charging infrastructure. He liked the 
proposed bike and locker infrastructure. 

A. Brockett noted that the proposed underpass is critical and important. 

B. Bowen noted that the traffic concerns were important and questioned what the surrounding roads 
will be like in the future. Look at means for mitigating and funneling traffic. Have good retail 
exposure and mental mapping for parking. Look at simplifying traffic circulation specifically driving 
through retail to get to residential areas and the absence of a left hand turn onto Jay Road. Work with 
the County to add infrastructure connections through adjacent open space. 

C. Gray wanted to see a vibrant TDM plan and possible Eco Passes through she noted that bus 
access is difficult from this site.  

L. Payton requested that the applicant provide an analysis of the expected traffic on all adjacent 
roads in the future, not just traffic to and from the development.  

Other Comments 
B. Holicky, the applicant, noted that service industrial and some of those uses discussed by the 
Planning Board are not currently allowed on this site. 

L. May recommended that the BVCP update consider this parcel and make other uses allowable. He 
did not feel that the current land use and zoning are appropriate for this parcel because of its 
isolation and location between highways. 

5. MATTERS FROM THE PLANNING BOARD, PLANNING DIRECTOR, AND CITY
ATTORNEY

 The Planning Board will meet at 5 p.m. before the next meeting to discuss findings
from the APA conference.

 Brockett mentioned that staff might consider a two night hearing for the SPARK
project.

 BDAB would like feedback from the Planning Board where they would be the most
useful.

 B. Bowen noted that it is difficult for the Planning Board to make changes to
architecture during site review; it could be appropriate to send such items to BDAB
and to clarify their focus areas.

 L. May thought it would be valuable for BDAB to focus on the architecture. There
have been times that projects went to BDAB before they came to Planning Board and
there were problems with discrepancies n feedback/opinions. He thought it would be
better for projects to go to BDAB after Concept Review and before Site Review. That

Attachment A - Draft May 7, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 7Packet Page 275



DRAFT

would allow the boards to work together better. He thought Design Review on 
Landmarks Board works well and suggested instating a similar process utilizing 
BDAB. 

 A. Brockett requested that BDAB concentrate on architecture and refrain from
commenting on use, scale and mass.

 C. Gray agreed and asked that BDAB also address public realm.

 L. May noted that he and C. Gray are on the Housing Process Committee. Council is
interested in having a similar committee for the Comp Plan update. Reserve space to
discuss this at the June agenda.

6. DEBRIEF MEETING/CALENDAR CHECK

7. ADJOURNMENT

The Planning Board adjourned the meeting at 10:49 p.m. 

APPROVED BY 

___________________ 
Board Chair 

___________________ 
DATE 

Attachment A - Draft May 7, 2015 Planning Board Minutes

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 8Packet Page 276



I. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

C I T Y  O F  B O U L D E R 
PLANNING BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: May 7, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE:  CONCEPT PLAN & REVIEW - Proposed mixed-use development (Alexan Flatirons) 
located at McKenzie Junction, 3600 Highway 119 (Diagonal Highway), that includes 295 market-rate multi-
family units, 83 affordable-rate multi-family units, associated community buildings and 54,000 SF of 
commercial office space (with options for partial retail and coffee). Reviewed under case no. LUR2015-00028 
Applicant: Bill Holicky 
Property Owners: Birch Mountain LLC 

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT: 
Community Planning & Sustainability  
David Driskell, Executive Director  
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director  
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 

OBJECTIVE: 
1. Hear applicant and staff presentations
2. Hold public hearing
3. Planning Board discussion of Concept Plan. No action is required by Planning Board.

SUMMARY: CONCEPT PLAN & REVIEW - Proposed mixed-use development (Alexan Flatirons) 
located at McKenzie Junction, 3600 Highway 119, that includes 295 market-rate multi-
family units, 83 affordable-rate multi-family units, associated community buildings and 
54,000 SF of commercial office space (with options for partial retail and coffee). 
Reviewed under case no. LUR2015-00028 

Project Name: Alexan Flatirons 
Location: 3600 Highway 119, north of Independence Road at Highway 119 
Size of Tract: 20 acres 
Zoning:   Business Transition-1 (BT-1) 
Comprehensive Plan: Transitional Business 
Key Issues: Staff is recommending three key issues for discussion of the Concept Plan: 

 Consistency with the BVCP Land Use Designations;

 Predominate use on site of residential consistent with BVCP Policies;

 Concept Plan responsiveness to City “Edge and Entryway” Design Considerations

The vacant 20-acre property was annexed and zoned Transitional Business in 1981.  The previous review history 
for this property includes an issues identification review in 1995 and a non-binding concept plan review in 1998 
for an office and hotel development; a site review in 2000 for five office buildings that was withdrawn; and a 
Concept Plan review in 2006 for a mixed use development.  In addition, in 1998, the Open Space Board of 
Trustees was asked to consider purchase of the property given the context and surroundings with open space. 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 9Packet Page 277



II. PROJECT DESCRIPTION

At that time the OSBT declined to purchase the property based on the very high market price as a business-
zoned property. Attachment A provides minutes from the two previous Planning Board Concept Plan review 
discussions.   In previous discussions, this site has been referred to as a “gateway” given the high visibiltiy of 
the site entering Boulder from the north on Highway 119.   

The proposed Concept Plan   consists of 295 market rate multi-family residential and 83 permanently affordable 
on-site senior attached units, along with two commercial buildings for office and retail totaling 54,000 square 
feet.  Community amenities proposed include landscaping and open space along with two swimming pools.  
The applicant noted that the development is organized around an internal greenway to provide connections into 
an existing trail network, opportunities for a variety of open space and to create a transition from the lower 
density scale of the north end of the site to the larger buildings of the south side. A reduced version of the 
Concept Plan is provided in Figure 1, and a link to the Concept Plan submittal is provided in Attachment A.  
Tables 1 and 2 provide a preliminary tally of the number of bedrooms proposed for each type of apartment 
building.  While the applicant has not identified specific demographics anticipated for the site, the number of 
bedrooms per building type can be summarized as follows: 

Market Rate: 295 Units Total 
2 Bedroom: 88 
1 Bedroom: 177 
Studio: 30 

Affordable Rate: 82 Units Total 
2 Bedroom: 19 
1 Bedroom: 63 

Open Space 

256 Apartment Units 

83 P.A. Senior Housing Units 

Commercial/Office 

Figure 1:  Concept Plan 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 10Packet Page 278



 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 

2a: Senior Attached Residential Units Massing 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2b: Market Rate Apartment Building Massing 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2c: Market Rate Apartment Buildings Massing 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2d:  Office/Retail Massing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2e: Office/Retail Massing 

Figures 2a thru 2e: Conceptual Massing Sketches:   

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 11Packet Page 279



 

 
 
 

 
 

 

  

Table 1:   
Market Rate Apartment: Preliminary Bedroom Count per Building 

Table 2:   
Affordable Senior Residential Units: Preliminary Bedroom Count per Building 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 12Packet Page 280



 

 
 
 

 
 

  

(g) Guidelines for Review and Comment: The following guidelines will be used to guide the planning 
board's discussion regarding the site. It is anticipated that issues other than those listed in this section 
will be identified as part of the concept plan review and comment process. The Planning Board may 
consider the following guidelines when providing comments on a concept plan: 

(1)  Characteristics of the site and surrounding areas, including, without limitation, its location, 
surrounding neighborhoods, development and architecture, any known natural features of the site 
including, without limitation, mature trees, watercourses, hills, depressions, steep slopes and 
prominent views to and from the site; 

 
Existing Site.  As shown in the aerial of Figure 3 
and the street views of Figures 4a and 4b, the 
approximately 20 acre site is located on the 
northeast side of the main part of the city, in a 
prominent location and entryway from southbound 
Highway 119, the Diagonal Highway.  The site is 
flanked on both the east and west by the separated 
highway, as well as an access ramp on the north 
side of the site to the highway and Independence 
Road on the south side of the highway.  An elevated 
and bermed portion of 47th Street also flanks a 
portion of the western side of the site.  
 
The site is currently vacant with no previous site 
development except for previous oil drilling.  There’s 
a landmarked remnant oil well located on the 
northern portion of the site.  Historic information 
about the oil well is provided in the comment section 
under “Landmarks Preservation.”   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

III.  CONCEPT PLAN REVIEW AND COMMENT per Section 9-2-13 
 
 

Site 

Site looking toward south west 

Site  
Figure 3:   Site Location 
Figure 4a: View of Site from Hwy 119 
Figure 4b: View of Site from on-ramp 

portion of Hwy 119  
 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 13Packet Page 281



 

 
 
 

As shown in Figure 5, the topography of the site is 
essentially flat across the 20 acres. However, there is a 
low point on the northern end of the site, below the on-
ramp to the highway.  A topographic map is illustrated 
below with the direction of the slight slope on the site.  
 
Fourmile Canyon Creek is located at the northern most 
point of the site.  The northern triangular shaped portion 
of the site is entirely within the 100 year flood zone and 
a portion of the point includes high hazard flood zone 
along with “high functioning” wetland area.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

The site contains mostly “weedy” type plant species 
and there’s essentially no trees with the exception 
of the farthest point of the site on the north where 
mature trees such as willow and cottonwoods align 
the Fourmile Canyon Creek as shown in Figure 7.   
 
The site surroundings are varied and include rural 
agricultural land that historically has been an area of 
farming and cattle ranching. Cattle are still grazed on the property to the east.   
 
Hayden Lake to the southeast is a man-made reservoir which is owned by Boulder & Left Hand Ditch Company 
where water is stored and then released later in the season into Boulder & Left Hand Ditch.  A trailhead for the 
Cottonwood Trail east of Highway 119 is located on the north side of Hayden Lake. A recently approved Kum 
and Go Gas Station is located to the south as a redevelopment of the site to the south of Independence Road.   
 
To the west directly across 47th Street is the city owned Pleasant View Soccer Fields. Further west is the low 
and medium density residential developments of Northfield Village and the Four Mile Creek neighborhoods.   
There are photos of the surroundings in Figure 9 on page 7. 

Figure 5:  Topograhpic Map of the Site  
 

Figure 6:  Flood Mapping of the Site  
 

Figure 7:  Looking toward Fourmile Canyon Creek on North 
Portion of the Site 

 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 14Packet Page 282



 

 
 
 

Also located nearby is the Boulder Municipal Airport and the subject property is located within an Airport 

Influence Zone (AIZ) and would be required to comply with the Land Use Code section 9-3-10(e) that states, 

(1) Zone Four:(A) A person annexing to the city and thereafter constructing a new principal structure in the city shall be 

required to sign an avigation easement as a condition of obtaining a building permit, and the easement shall be recorded. 

An applicant for a development permit pursuant to chapter 9-2, "Review Processes," B.R.C. 1981, may be required to sign 

an avigation easement as a condition of obtaining a building permit, and the easement shall be recorded. (B) All new utility 

lines shall be placed underground. 

A map of the Airport Influence Zone in relation to the site is provided along with images of the surrounding 
context on the following page.   

Subject  

Property 

Figure 8:  Site in Context of Airport Influence Overly Zone Map 

 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 15Packet Page 283

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-2.htm


 

 

 
Figure 9:  Photos of Site Surroudings 

 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 16Packet Page 284



 

 

 

(2)  Community policy considerations including, without limitation, the review process and likely 
conformity of the proposed development with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and 
other ordinances, goals, policies, and plans, including, without limitation, sub-community and 
sub-area plans; 

 
Shown in Figure 9, the site is designated as Transitional Business under the Comprehensive Plan defined as: 

 
“along certain major streets of the valley. These are areas usually zoned for less intensive business uses than in the General 
Business areas, and they often provide a transition to residential areas.” 
 

While the comprehensive plan land use designation indicates an intent for “less intensive business” the BT-1 
zoning on the site permits attached residential by-right, Figure 10 illustrates the zoning on the site.   Other policies 
are related to the need for housing and in particular permanently affordable housing, as is provided in the plan. 
Refer to criteria #8. 
 
Other comprehensive plan policies help to inform development on this site.  In particular, the site is considered 
a community edge and entryway and would need to be consistent with policy 2.05 as follows:  
 

2.05 Design of Community Edges and Entryways 
Well-defined edges and entryways for the city are important because they support an understanding and appreciation of the 
city’s image, emphasize and preserve its natural setting, and create a clear sense of arrival and departure. Natural feature are 
most effective as edges, but public open land, major roadways or heavy tree planting can also function as community edges. As 
new areas are developed, the definition of a community edge will be a design priority. Major entryways into the Boulder Valley 
will be identified, protected and enhanced. 

The applicant would need to provide greater information on how to establish a feature that would establish an 
“effective” edge as is recommended in the policy.  Today, just the roadway establishes the site as an edge.  In 
previous Concept Plan reviews recommendations were made to either establish iconic architecture on the site 
and/or tree plantings. Staff notes that the surface parking lots shown on the Concept Plan would not be 
acceptable as defining features within this city entryway. Refer to Key Issue 3 for additional discussion. 

 

(3)  Applicable criteria, review procedures, and submission requirements for a site review; 

 Site Review Criteria of the Land Use Code section 9-2-14(f), B.R.C. found here. 
 

 Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan policies  
 

 Traffic Impact Study is required since the project’s trip generation is shown to exceed the residential 
threshold of 20 vehicles during the peak hour, as described in Section 2.02 of the City of Boulder Design 
and Construction Standards (DCS).   
 

 Transportation Demand Management (TDM) plan consistent with section 2.03(I) of the DCS and section 9-2-
14(h)(2)(D)(iv) and (v) of the Boulder Revised Code (BRC) which outlines strategies to mitigate traffic 
impacts created by the proposed development and implementable measures for promoting alternate modes 
of travel. 
 

 A CDOT Access Permit will be required for the proposed ¾ access from the Diagonal Highway.  The CDOT 
Access Permit must be applied for concurrently with Site Review submittal for preliminary CDOT approval 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 17Packet Page 285

https://www.municode.com/library/co/boulder/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT9LAUSCO_CH2REPR_9-2-14SIRE


 

 
 
 

and must have final approval prior to final engineering plan approval. 
 

  

Figure 9: Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map 

 

Figure 10: Zoning Map 

 

Within the County: 
Open Space 

 

Within the County:  
Open Space 

 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 18Packet Page 286



 

 
 
 

(3)  Applicable criteria, review procedures, and submission requirements for a site review (continued); 

 Inclusionary Housing:  each new residential unit developed on the property is subject to 9-13 
B.R.C., 1981, “Inclusionary Housing.” The general Inclusionary Housing (IH) requirement is that all 
residential developments must dedicate 20 percent of the total dwelling units as permanently 
affordable housing.  For rental projects this requirement may be met through the provision of on-
site affordable rental units or comparable existing or newly built off-site permanently affordable 
rental units or through the dedication of land appropriate for affordable housing or by payment of a 
cash-in-lieu contribution. The proposed 387 units result in an inclusionary requirement of 77.4 
permanently affordable units. The applicant’s proposal to provide 83 permanently affordable senior 
units on-site would meet or exceed that requirement. 
 

 Inclusionary Housing:  Per 9-13 B.R.C., 1981, and associated regulations, permanently affordable 
dwelling units must be proportionate in type (such as detached, attached or stacked units) and 
number of bedrooms to the market rate units. Attached permanently affordable units must have an 
average floor area no less than 80 percent of the market-rate units, however this is a minimum and 
larger units are encouraged.  Permanently affordable dwelling units must meet the “Livability 
Standards for Permanently Affordable Housing.” No unit shall be considered a permanently 
affordable unit until the location, construction methods, floor plan, fixtures, finish and the cabinetry 
of the dwelling unit have been approved by the city manager. 
 

 Inclusionary Housing: Any required documents including the Determination of Inclusionary Housing 
Compliance form, Covenants to secure the permanent affordability of the units, and an Agreement 
must be signed and if necessary recorded prior to application for any residential building permit. On 
or off-site permanently affordable units must be marketed and constructed concurrently with the 
market-rate units.   

 

 Inclusionary Housing: Rental developments that meet the requirement with a cash contribution are 
required to acknowledge and agree to comply with that portion of the IH Ordinance which requires 
that if an owner chooses to convert the rental units to for-sale units within five years they will be 
required to pay the difference between the rental and for-sale CIL amount that was due when the 
building permit was issued. 

 

 Inclusionary Housing: Any applicable cash-in-lieu contribution must be made prior to receipt of a 
residential building permit.  The cash-in-lieu due is based on the amounts in place when paid.  
 

(4)  Permits that may need to be obtained and processes that may need to be completed prior to, 
concurrent with, or subsequent to site review approval;  

Assuming the applicant pursues a Site Review application after Concept Plan, other types of permits may be 
necessary as the project plans progress:  

 Technical Document for final plans (i.e. landscape, irrigation, architecture, lighting, engineering) 

 A CDOT access permit must be reviewed and approved through a separate Technical 
Document Review process.   

 A Special Use Permit will be required for the public improvements to be constructed within the 
CDOT right-of-way.  The CDOT Special Use Permit must be applied for concurrently with Site 
Review submittal for preliminary CDOT approval and must have final approval prior to final 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 19Packet Page 287



 

 
 
 

engineering plan approval.  

 
(5)  Opportunities and constraints in relation to the transportation system, including, without 

limitation, access, linkage, signalization, signage, and circulation, existing transportation 
system capacity problems serving the requirements 
of the transportation master plan, possible trail 
links, and the possible need for a traffic or 
transportation study; 

   
The site is situated with Highway 119, 47th Street and 
Independence Road along with highway access lanes 
surrounding property.  Opportunities exist to connect the project 
to the Fourmile multi-use path network that extends east to the 
Cottonwood Trail shown to the right. The site is challenged by 
the lack of close proximity to transit stops. As shown below, 
there are existing bus routes along the Diagonal Highway 
including the BOLT and the “J.”  However, as indicated on the 
map, there is one bus stop located within one-quarter mile of the 
site for north bound BOLT route only.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  

Figure 11: 
Fourmile Multi-Use Path 

 

Figure 12: Walking Distances from Site to Bus Stope 

 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 20Packet Page 288



 

 
 
 

In addition, given that the applicant is proposing a parking reduction, the challenge will be the preparation of a 
Transportation Demand Management plan without the benefit of transit on the site.    
 
 (6)  Environmental opportunities and constraints including, without limitation, the identification of 

wetlands, important view corridors, floodplains and other natural hazards, wildlife corridors, 
endangered and protected species and habitats, the need for further biological inventories of 
the site and at what point in the process the information will be necessary; 

     
Portions of the site are located in the Four Mile Creek floodplain. The northernmost “triangular area” north of the 
off-ramp is primarily located in the conveyance and high hazard flood zones and development in these areas 
will be restricted in accordance with city floodplain regulations.  The applicant will be required to dedicate a 
public flood control easement for the conveyance zone. A small area of the site south of the highway off ramp is 
also in the 100-year floodplain, and partially located in the high hazard and conveyance zones. Refer to the 
graphic on page 10. 
 
There are no known special status species on the property.  There are a number of large, mature trees on the 
northern most point of the site where the point of the site interfaces with the Fourmile Canyon Creek.  That 
portion of the site doesn’t appear to have any plans for redevelopment.  However, at the time of Site Review an 
existing Tree Inventory will be warranted.  
 
The property contains the individually landmarked #1-21 McKenzie Oil Well. Dating from 1901-1902, the 
Boulder Oil Field’s McKenzie Well was designated a Landmark by Boulder City Council in November of 2002 
and listed in the National Register of Historic Places in 2004. The well has significance not only for its 
association with the Boulder Oil Field, but the impact that the discovery of crude had on the growth and 
development of the city during the first decade of the twentieth century. These events have been recognized as 
making a significant contribution to the broad patterns of Boulder history. 
 
Any physical change to the pump jack or well itself, including relocation, would require review by the Landmarks 
Board. Relocation of the pump jack would disassociate that element of the landmark from the well itself and 
would likely be found to be inconsistent with the historic preservation ordinance and the General Design 
Guidelines.  Shown below is the original oil derrick from 1902, and as the pump appears today. 

 
 
 
  

Figure 13: Images of the McKenzie Oil Well (from 1902 on the left and today on the right) 

 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 21Packet Page 289



 

 
 
 

(7)  Appropriate ranges of land uses;  
 
The existing Transitional Business zoning supports a mix of uses as the intent in the zoning is to provide a 
transition between business and residential uses.  This site is unique and differs from most sites in the 
Transitional Business zone in that there’s little in the way of a built context surrounding the site with the 
exception of the highway. Typically, transitional business exists where there is a change in zoning from 
commercial or business uses and residential.  The intent is to buffer the residential.  The closest residential to 
this site, is ¼ to ½ mile away, as is the nearest business or office buildings.  Therefore, while the existing 
zoning is intended to create a transition, there’s little in the way of land use to transition to or from.   
 
The appropriateness of the site for residential uses was a key issue raised during previous Concept Plan review 
discussions.  Concerns about the lack of bicycle and pedestrian connections, safety and noise impacts from the 
nearby airport, traffic noise from the surrounding highway and lack of nearby services were discussed as 
reasons why this site may not be very livable.  This is particularly true for the proposed senior housing on the 
site.  Therefore, the question of residential on the site is less an issue of compatibility or appropriateness of 
land uses, but rather one of addressing the challenges of the site’s location to create a desirable neighborhood. 
 
Shown to the right are the ¼ to ½ mile distances surrounding the center of the site. As is noted, there’s little in 
the way of walkable proximity to services or employment.   
 

  

½  
mile 

¼ 
mile 

¼ 
mile 

½  
mile 

Figure 14: Walkable proximity to services or employment  

 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 22Packet Page 290



 

 
 
 

 
8)  The appropriateness of or necessity for housing  
 
The proposed project’s provision of housing, particularly affordable senior housing on site, along with a 
diversity of housing would help to meet several BVRC policies that address the need for housing.  The 
challenge for this particular site, while meeting many of the policies for housing, is that the location doesn’t 
meet the intent for mixed use and multi-family development proximate to transit, employment or services.  
The need for transit facilities in this location along with other services beyond the small retail and/or coffee 
shop proposed on site makes the site less appealing for residential and senior residential than other locations 
within the city.  The following are the BVRC policies regarding the need for and provision of housing: 
 
7.01 Local Solutions to Affordable Housing 
The city and county will employ local regulations, policies, and programs to meet the housing needs of their low and moderate income 
households and workforce. Appropriate federal, state and local programs and resources will be use locally and in collaboration with 
other jurisdictions. The city recognizes that affordable housing provides a significant community benefit and will continually monitor 
and evaluate its policies, programs and regulations to further the city’s affordable housing goals.  
 
7.02 Permanently Affordable Housing 
The city will increase the proportion of permanently affordable housing units to an overall goal of at least ten percent of the total 
existing housing stock through regulations, financial subsidies and other means. City resources will also be directed toward 
maintaining existing permanently affordable housing units and securing replacements for lost low and very low income units. 
 
7.03 Populations with Special Needs 
The city and county will encourage development of housing for populations with special needs including residences for people with 
disabilities, populations requiring group homes or other specialized facilities, and other vulnerable populations where appropriate. The 
location of such housing should be in proximity to shopping, medical services, schools entertainment and public transportation. Every 
effort will be made to avoid concentration of these homes in one area. 
 
7.06 Mixture of Housing Types 
The city and county, through their land use regulations and housing policies will encourage the private sector to provide and maintain 
a mixture of housing types with varied prices, sizes and densities, to meet the housing needs of the full range of the Boulder Valley 
population. 
 
7.09 Housing for a Full Range of Households 
The city and county will encourage preservation and development of housing attractive to current and future households, persons at 
all stages of life and to a variety of household configurations. This includes singles, couples, families with children and other 
dependents, extended families, non-traditional households and seniors. 
 
7.10 Balancing Housing Supply with Employment Base 
Expansion of the Boulder Valley housing supply should reflect to the extent possible current employer locations, projected 
industrial/commercial development sites, variety of salary ranges, and the demand such developments bring for housing employees. 
Key considerations include housing type, mix, and affordability. The city will explore policies and programs to increase housing for 
Boulder workers by fostering mixed-use and multi-family development proximate to transit, employment or services and by 
considering the conversion of commercial and industrial zoned or designated land to residential use. 
 
7.13 Integration of Permanently Affordable Housing 
Permanently affordable housing, whether publicly, privately or jointly financed will be designed as to be compatible, dispersed, and 
integrated with housing throughout the community. 
 

  

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 23Packet Page 291



 

 
 
 

 
 
 
The intent of Transitional Business is to provide less intensive business uses than General Business and 
provide a transition to residential areas.  The BVCP land uses for the entire city are illustrated with the 
Transitional Business land use areas circled in Figure 15a below. As can be noted, the majority of these areas 
do serve as a transition from higher intensity business or industrial land use to residential.  The exception is the 
subject site given that it is straddled on both the east and west sides with open space, as shown in Figure 15b. 
Because of this distinction, there are few precedents to compare to the site.   

 

 
 
  
 
 

 
  

KEY ISSUE 1:  Is the proposed project consistent with the BVRC Transitional Business Land Use 
 
 

Figure 15a: Transitional Business Areas throughout the City (above);  15b: Land Use Context of Site (below) 

 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 24Packet Page 292



 

 
 
 

The closest land use precedent in the city 
that is a “transitional business” area 
surrounded by open space and major 
roadways is another “entryway” site located 
at the southeast end of the city at the apex 
of Highway 36/Foothills Expressway and 
South Boulder Road as shown in Figure 16.  
In that case, office buildings were 
constructed and are considered consistent 
with the intent of the Transitional Business 
Land Use.    
 
Given the more intensive highway context 
of the subject site and the predominant use 
of the site for residential, rather than office, 
the Concept Plan is arguably contrary to the intent of the BVRC Transitional Business Land Use.  However, it is 
important to note, that while the BVRC Transitional Business Land Use is intended to provide for “less intensive 
business uses” the Business Transition – 1 (BT-1) zoning does permit attached residential as a by-right use.  
Because the development on the site would require Site Review, analysis of the consistency of a site with the 
vision of the BVCP land use and policies is important to consider appropriateness of a use for the context.   
 
 
 
 
While the Concept Plan does illustrate a mix of uses, the predominant use on the site is residential, with 295 
attached residential units along with 83 permanently affordable senior units shown to occupy approximately 
three quarters of the development area. The question of appropriateness of the site for residential was 
discussed in previous Concept Plan reviews where residential was also the main use proposed on the site. At 
that time, the board acknowledged the need for residential in the city but questioned the site as a livable place 
for residential and comments noted that the site “in the middle of a cloverleaf” and that, “people would be living 
in a sea of traffic.”  Another comment noted that there would be a need to, “demonstrate that the site is livable.”   
These issues remain with this Concept Plan.   
 
Staff notes that with the surrounding highway traffic, noise and air quality would be among the impacts to any 
future residential.  Accessibility for residents, particularly seniors, from this site to other services and transit 
outside of this site would be challenging as well.  In previous reviews, there was a suggestion that an 
underpass for pedestrian connections would be important. While in the previous review, one board member 
suggested that perhaps the site would be more appropriate for seniors because of “fewer auto trips” and the 
ability for development to be “inward focused” as well as “residents may not be as affected by noise.”  Staff 
notes that there are BVCP policies that apply universally to residential development.   
 
For example, BVCP policy 2.14 “Mix of Complementary Land Uses” states, 

“The city and county will strongly encourage, consistent with other land use policies, a variety of land 
uses in new developments… Wherever land uses are mixed, careful design will be required to ensure 
compatibility, accessibility and appropriate transitions between land uses that vary in intensity and 
scale.” 

The adjacent Highway 119 has a significant intensity creating impacts.  Given that there is little ability to 
mitigate these impacts on the site through an “appropriate transition” staff finds that this policy would not be met 

KEY ISSUE 2:  Is the predominant use of the site for residential consistent with relevant BVCP Policies? 
 
 

Figure 16:  Comparable “Entryway ”Transitional Business Site 

 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 25Packet Page 293



 

 
 
 

by the Concept Plan. 
Similarly, BVCP policy 2.21, “Commitment to a Walkable and Accessible City”  states, 

  
“The city and county will promote the development of a walkable and accessible city by designing 
neighborhoods and business areas to provide easy and save access by foot to places such as 
neighborhood centers, community facilities, transit stops or centers, and shared public spaces and 
amenities.  The city will consider additional neighborhood-serving commercial areas where appropriate 
and supported by the neighbors they would serve.” 

 
While the applicant is illustrating 53,000 square feet of retail office, there is little in the way of neighborhood 
serving commercial.  There is also little opportunity to provide easy and safe access given the surrounding 
highway on the majority of the site.  In addition, the site would need to create a sense of a neighborhood for 
residents that mitigates external impacts and provides for daily on-site services, something difficult to achieve in 
the highway context.   
 
 
 
 
In past Concept Plan and Site Reviews for the site, reference has been made to the site being a ‘”gateway” or 
at an “entryway” to the city as defined in BVCP Policy 2.05.  This is evident in Figure 17, aerial photo;  
Figures 18 & 19, street views, the site is not only an “edge” or “entryway” into the main part of the city, but also 
is in the foreground of significant views from Highway 119 of the Flatirons.  
 

2.05 Design of Community Edges and Entryways 
Well-defined edges and entryways for the city are important because they support an understanding and appreciation of the 
city’s image, emphasize and preserve its natural setting, and create a clear sense of arrival and departure. Natural feature 
are most effective as edges, but public open land, major roadways or heavy tree planting can also function as community 
edges. As new areas are developed, the definition of a community edge will be a design priority. Major entryways into the 
Boulder Valley will be identified, protected and enhanced. 

KEY ISSUE 3:  Does the Concept Plan respond to the Design of the Community Edge and Entryway context? 
 
 

Figure 17:  Birds Eye Aerial Showing Entryway Context of Site and in Relation to Flatiron Views 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 26Packet Page 294



 

 
 
 

 

 
 
There are no images provided which depict the proposed massing on the site from this viewshed. However, 
because of the high visibility of this site from Highway 119, the development plans would need to make a strong 
statement for design excellence and simultaneously preserve the significant view corridor toward the Flatirons.  
Previous discussions about development on this the site have noted that this unique site context would warrant 
emphasis on iconic architecture yet in a style that would simultaneously be understated in relation to the views.  
 
As currently configured, there are parking areas that are shown to abut the highway. While typically such an 
approach could provide a buffer for the buildings for the living/working areas of the site from a highway, in this 
case, parking lots would not be an appropriate design response to the “entryway” context.  
 
CONCLUSION: 
The Concept Plan is challenged by questions of consistency with the BVCP Land Use designation of 
Transitional Business, by accessibility and compatibility of the site in relation to the surrounding highway as well 
as the responsibility of building upon a city entryway site.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS: 
Required public notice was given in the form of written notification mailed to all property owners within  
one-half mile of the subject site and a sign posted on the property for at least 10 days. It is important to note 
that while the Land Use Code standards for mailing are to property owners within 600 feet, given the 
surrounding open space to the site, staff determined that a radius of ½ mile would better serve the process by 
notifying the nearest neighbors.  Therefore, all notice requirements of section 9-4-3, B.R.C. 1981 have been 

Figure 18:  Distant view of the site when approaching from southbound Highway 119 

Figure 19:  Close in view of the site when approaching from southbound Highway 119 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 27Packet Page 295



 

 
 
 

met.  At the time of the memo preparation, eleven comment letters were received and are provided in  
Attachment B.   
  
 
 
STAFF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION: 
No action is required on behalf of the Planning Board. Public comment, staff, and Planning Board comments 
will be documented for the applicant’s use.  Concept Plan Review and comment is intended to give the 
applicant feedback on the proposed development plan and provide the applicant direction on submittal of the 
Site Review plans.   
 
Approved By:                                                  
 
 
________________________ 
David Driskell, Executive Director  
Community Planning & Sustainability 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A:   Planning Board Minutes from previous Concept Plan review 2001 and 2006 
B: Community Comments 
C: Concept Plan Submittal 
 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 28Packet Page 296



 

 

 

Attachment A:1 
Planning Board Minutes: 

Concept Plan Review from 
2001 Proposal on Site 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 29Packet Page 297



 

 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 30Packet Page 298



 

 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 31Packet Page 299



 

 

  

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 32Packet Page 300



 

 

CITY OF BOULDER 
PLANNING BOARD ACTION MINUTES 
August 3, 2006 
 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Elise Jones, Chair 
Simon Mole, Vice Chair 
John Spitzer 
Phil Shull 
Adrian Sopher 
Claire Levy 
Richard Sosa 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Robert O. Cole, Land Use Review Manager 
Ruth McHeyser, Acting Planning Director 
David Gehr, Assistant City Attorney 
Brent Bean, Senior Planner 
Steve Durian, Engineer 
Jody Jacobson, Communications 
Mary Wolff, MRW & Assoc. 
 
ACTION ITEMS 
A. Public hearing and consideration of Concept Plan LUR2006-00044, 
McKenzie Junction. Concept Plan proposal includes the development of 
up to 344 residential units and 35,000 square feet of non-residential use. 
 
Applicant: Scott McFadden, Trammell Crow Residential Development 
Owner: Birch Mountain Limited Liability Company 
 
Elise Jones: 
The site is a median, not good for residential. It is an entrance to the city though. What 
might go there - perhaps a church, one piece of incredible architecture or more soccer 
fields. Residential doesn’t work on the perimeter. Service Industrial might work on the 
south end where it’s less visible. Disagreed with Commissioner Spitzer that this site was 
appropriate for affordable housing because the site is so undesirable. Keep the 
connection to the bike path on 4-mile creek. Not adverse to some residential but it needs 
to address noise, open space, and have a lower density and a different configuration. The 
notion that it’s a glorified highway median is what the developer has to overcome. 
 
Simon Mole: 
Is the proposal compliant with the park service area requirements? Concerned about the 
access; ingress and egress. Perhaps we can transfer Service Industrial zoning from 
somewhere else in the city. This site is just about uninhabitable due to noise etc. but 
some kind of building would be acceptable here. I do not believe you can get a 
neighborhood or community here. This is a place that is auto-oriented, maybe service 
industrial with some live-work. Height is not an issue at this location. If the developer 
can answer the question of who and how people will live residential may be supportable. 

Attachment A:2 
Planning Board Review of 

Concept Plan from 
2006 Proposal on Site 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 33Packet Page 301



 

 

Noise is a problem overall, building techniques can mitigate the indoor impacts but it’s a 
problem for outdoor living. 
 
John Spitzer: 
Development that results in a fortress will create a sound wall, but as a gateway site is a 
wall of buildings appropriate. Site needs less density and more of a whimsical flavor. 
Affordable housing, this site has potential because it is so undesirable that the developer 
might be able to meet an affordable price point. Perhaps a live/work, service industrial 
environment. 
 
Phil Shull: 
I don’t think the site will ever work as a gateway. There’s no distinguishing 
characteristics to celebrate. It is an abrasive even hostile site for residential. The 
commercial tenants would also struggle, the location is wrong, and the site is too small. 
The Site has a limited chance of surviving as a mixed-use site. Some built form won’t 
damage the view-shed irreparably. Biggest issue is the noise buffering, how to mitigate. 
Service industrial could be a viable use for this site. I do think limited residential could 
C:\Documents and Settings\HabeH1\Local Settings\Temp\8.3.06 min.doc 3 
work on the interior, with a campus feel. View impacts are not an issue at this location. 
The site is auto oriented but doesn’t need all the streets proposed. Density does not work 
here – half what is proposed. There would be a high turnover of rentability, no one 
would want to live here for any length of time. 
 
Adrian Sopher: 
The site is not a gate way, it projects out and is disconnected from the rest of the 
community. The site is designated Area I on the BVCP. Only at the center of the site is 
the sound reduced to a point where housing might work. I can see small scale estate 
residential buffered by trees in the center, if you wanted to do res. here. High density 
residential is not appropriate for this site. As a gateway, no building on the site will block 
the views of the mountains, this is not a concern. Do not put residential on the perimeter, 
office or service commercial would work to protect the interior for possible residential. 
The central area should have a fair amount of green/park space. Not sure the egress on 
the East works because of acceleration distances. The balance of uses is not supportable 
to make this a viable community. The noise issue must address. The site is not a 
comfortable place for residential with traffic on all sides at all times. 
 
Claire Levy: 
This really is a median. I can’t see putting a community of people here. Though we need 
affordable housing, this location is disconnected and has access issues. This is a place for 
service industrial. The site is not appropriate for retail due to access and location. Three 
story structures would be acceptable at this location. But could work for small services 
and to get things fixed. I don’t think development will mar the view to the flatirons. I 
wouldn’t object to something messy on the site, we need places for messy things to 
happen in the community. Housing on this site would be a real challenge due mainly to 
the noise. Access is also a challenge, what’s proposed is circuitous. Residential density 
will need to be lower. The site is an island, hemmed in with no connectivity, nowhere to 
walk. 
 
Richard Sosa: 
Site should be Open Space, because it has noise issues that probably can’t be resolved. 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 34Packet Page 302



 

 

Health and safety for residents is difficult given that the site is surrounded by highways. 
The corridor is an important view-shed as an entryway. The proposal does not have 
discernible entryways. The noise issue will be difficult to overcome. Walls are not a 
good idea as a planning feature. The proposed site plan has cluttered roads and too many. 
I want to see more usable, functional green space/park area. 
 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 35Packet Page 303



 

 

From: Sharon Penny [mailto:penny.sharon@gmail.com]  

Sent: Monday, April 20, 2015 4:51 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Subject: Alexan Flatirons project 

 
 
I would like to make known my objection to the Alexan Flatirons project at 3600 SH 119, review #LUR2015-00028.   
 
1.  Traffic issues:  The area is basically the median of the diagonal highway, and the intersection of many roads.  Traffic 
congestion is already bad there, and adding this project would seriously impact people's ability to get to and from work in a 
timely fashion, as well as increase the number of accidents. 

2.  Size:  The project is way too ambitious for the size of the property. 

3.  Lack of parking:  The notification letter did not specify whether any parking would be provided.  But I would point out 
that the soccer fields right across the street already have issues with inadequate parking, causing illegal parking in the 
adjoining neighborhoods.  This problem would only exacerbate the problem. 

4.  No public transportation:  To my knowledge there is no public transportation to the area, so all access would be by 
private vehicle. 

5.  Comment:  If this project were suggested for the area north of BT-1, it might be a feasible use of the space, but the BT-1 
area in question would serve the city better as a small green area or park to greet visitors coming into to town from the NE. 

Thank you for your consideration of my input. 

Sharon Penny 
4894 Hopkins Pl. 
Boulder 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: K.C. Gordon [mailto:kc9989@comcast.net]  
Sent: Tuesday, April 14, 2015 7:18 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Concept plan comment 
 
Elaine, 
 
I'm commenting on the concept plan LUR2015-00028. 
 
After receiving in the mail from the City of Boulder Planning and Development Services a 
notice on this plan I have only one comment for consideration. I think you will need a 
traffic signal at the intersection of RH-4, Diagonal Hy and Independence Rd. It almost 
needs one now as the traffic entering that intersection from the east on Independence Rd. 
has been increasing. Travelers usually want to go into Boulder, south on RH-4, Diagonal Hy 
from Independence Rd., and with the speed of cross traffic, it can be a tricky maneuver. 

Attachment B:  Community Comments 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 36Packet Page 304



 

 

Adding this density to this area will certainly require some safety improvement, like a 
traffic signal. Speed limits in RH-4, Diagonal Hy are 55mph north and 45mph south. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Kenneth Gordon 
3265 34th Street Apt.53 
Boulder, CO 80301-1964 
tel-303-444-6689 
kc9989@comcast.net  

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 37Packet Page 305

mailto:kc9989@comcast.net


 

 

 

  

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 38Packet Page 306



 

 

 
 
From: Josh Kahn [mailto:boulderkahn@gmail.com]  
Sent: Thursday, April 16, 2015 5:45 PM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: LUR2015-00028 

 
All those family units and surrounded by major roads. Is there any retail nearby that will not keep 
everyone out of their cars? I cannot see how this development makes any sense? Maybe retail but a 
neighborhood surrounded by the highway and other roads with no other infrastructure nearby? 
 
Josh Kahn 
3990 Montclair Lane 
Boulder, CO 80301 
 

 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 39Packet Page 307



 

 

From: suzywolf@gmail.com [mailto:suzywolf@gmail.com]  

Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 11:17 AM 
To: Dean E. Wolf 

Cc: McLaughlin, Elaine; dean wolf 
Subject: Neighbor Comments/Concerns regarding Alexan flatirons development. 

 
Dear Elaine, 
I would like to submit the following comments/concerns to be placed in the Staff memorandum to the 
Planning Board. 
 
I agree with my husband, Dean Wolf's, comments (below) and would like to add a concern for the 
prairie dogs who currently reside in that field. Is it possible to relocate them and then dig a barrier so 
that they do not come back? What is the plan to avoid killing them while building any development on 
this property. Our nine year old daughter is very worried about them and we wanted that to be on the 
record.  
 
Thank you! 
 
~Suzy Wolf  
4 Mile Creek Resident 
 

From: Dean E. Wolf [mailto:law@ipmls.com]  

Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 2:01 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Cc: law@ipmls.com 
Subject: RE: Neighbor Comments/Concerns regarding Alexan flatirons development. 

 

1. The developer is seeking approval to build 368 high density multi-family units on the property.  
That number seems very high (and greedy).  The families would be packed in like sardines with so 
many units.  I'm curious to know how many persons total would inhabit this development.  If one 
assumes 3 persons per unit, then we're talking 1,104 additional persons.  
 
2. The proposed development would essentially be an isolated island of 368  high density multi-family 
units surrounded by freeways (Hwy 157), high-speed roadways, and train tracks.  The noise and 
pollution factors alone would seem to make this development prohibitive of such a large residential 
development.  The location of this development seems much more suited for low density residential 
with a larger proportion of the property allocated for business/commercial use. 
 
3. Noise of Train - I am a resident of 4 mile Creek Development, and live near 47th street.  Trains 
running on the train tracks near the proposed development site frequently blow their horns multiple 
times between 12am and 4am. From my house, the noise of these train horns sounds very loud, even 
with the windows of our home closed. these train horns would most definitely be very disruptive to the 
residence of the proposed development. 
 
4. No sidewalks/pedestrian access.  As far as I can tell, the proposed development plan does not 
include any plans for building sidewalks around the entire development.  this presents a major safety 
issue, as it is very likely that the residents of the development will wish take the shortest path (e.g., via 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 40Packet Page 308



 

 

jaywalking across diagonal highway and other nearby streets) to access (via foot) the Pleasant View 
Soccer fields and open space areas (e.g. cottonwood trail) 
 
5. Possible toxic environmental/soil contamination due to presence of existing oil well on property.  
Has any study been conducted to determine the extent to which the soil and groundwater on the 
property has been contaminated by the oil well?  If such contamination exists, it could be very harmful 
for children living in the development, as well as adults. 
 
6. Increased probability of pedestrians attempting to illegally cross over the train tracks to access open 
space areas (e.g., cottonwood trail).  There is already an issue with users of the multi-use path (on the 
north side of train tracks) illegally crossing over the train tracks to access open space areas (e.g., 
cottonwood trail). The addition of 1000 additional nearby residents would greatly exacerbate this 
problem. 
 
7.  Insufficient allocation of outdoor recreational space in development plan.  where would the 
children of the development play outside? In the development's concrete parking lots?  For the 
development of this size, one would expect that adequate outdoor recreation space be allocated for the 
recreation of the residents of the development, including, for example, a large grass field (for sports 
such as soccer, baseball, football), a playground area and play structure for younger children, picnic 
tables, shade structures, etc.  
 
8. Wetlands issue. There currently exists a wetlands on the property.  Has the developer conducted an 
adequate environmental impact report (EIR) to determine how the development might affect the 
wetlands and native species which inhabit the wetlands? 
 
9. Traffic congestion issue.in addition to the obvious traffic congestion issues relating to 400-800 
vehicles attempting to enter/exit the development property, there is also the issue of southbound on 
ramp to the Diagonal Highway at 47th St., which, currently, is accessible only via a left turn lane that 
can accommodate at most 20 vehicles before the line backs up into the intersection of Diagonal 
Highway/47th 
 
10. School Over Enrollment Issues.  Where would the children from this development attend school?  
Has the developer addressed this issue at all? Which elementary school would be the "local" school? 
Which middle school?  The closest public elementary school Crest View Elementary, which is already 
over capacity (with over 600 students).  I am a member (and former chairperson) of the Crest View 
Elementary School Accountability Committee (SAC), and I know that Crest View Elementary is 
already struggling with significant issues relating over enrollment of students at that school.  There is 
ongoing concern that these over enrollment issues will further be exacerbated by the enrollment of 
additional new students from the new development communities just west of Pleasant View Fields.  
Similar over enrollment issues also currently exist at Centennial Middle School.  it is not feasible or 
practical to assume that there is adequate space at either Crest View elementary or Centennial middle 
school to accommodate the children of the proposed Alexan flatirons development. 
 
____________________ 
Dean E. Wolf 
Intellectual Property Attorney 
Corporate Counsel 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 41Packet Page 309



 

 

Tel:  510.655.9111 
Fax: 510.868.2711  
Telecon: 712-832-8310 x 3887328 
http://www.linkedin.com/in/deanwolf 

 
 

 
From: McLaughlin, Elaine  
Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 1:56 PM 

To: 'Dean E. Wolf' 

Cc: 'dean wolf' 
Subject: RE: Neighbor Comments/Concerns regarding Alexan flatirons development. 

 

Hi Dean- 
 
We appreciate your thoughtful concerns. Could you please authorize attachment of these comments 
into the staff memo that goes to the Planning Board?  Your email has a disclaimer statement that 
requires authorization.  Then, per your request, I’ve provided some preliminary responses to your 
questions in bold italic below.  Some of the points you bring up were similarly identified by staff in 
comments to the applicant and in the draft memo to Planning Board. Additional or expanded 
information will come from other disciplines (such as transportation or engineering) prior to Planning 
Board, but I did want to respond to your request to address the comments.   
All the best- 
Elaine 
 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791 
 
303-441-4130 (phone) 
303-441-3241 (fax) 
 
http://www.boulderplandevelop.net 
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 

 

  

 
From: Dean Wolf (iPhone) [mailto:law@ipmls.com]  

Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 11:13 AM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Subject: Re: Neighbor Comments/Concerns regarding Alexan flatirons development. 

 

Thanks for confirming, Elaine. Unfortunately, I will be out of town on May 7, and will not be able to 
personally attend the planning board meeting.  
Just curious… Are you able to address any of my comments/concerns with me either by phone or 
email? 
 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 42Packet Page 310

http://www.linkedin.com/in/deanwolf
http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/
mailto:law@ipmls.com
https://www.facebook.com/bouldercolorado.gov
https://twitter.com/bouldercolorado
https://vimeo.com/channels/boulder8
http://www.youtube.com/bouldercoloradogov
http://www.flickr.com/photos/bouldercolorado/


 

 

------------------ 
Dean E. Wolf 
Intellectual Property Attorney 
law@ipmls.com • 510.290.8866 
www.provisionalpatentlawyer.com 
 
 

 
 
From: Dean E. Wolf [mailto:law@ipmls.com]  
Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 2:48 AM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Cc: 'dean wolf'; law@ipmls.com 
Subject: Neighbor Comments/Concerns regarding Alexan flatirons development. 

Importance: High 

 

Dear Elaine: 
 
I am a resident of 4 Mile Creek Development, and wish to su  bmit the following comments/concerns 
to be placed in the Staff memorandum to the Planning Board regarding Alexan flatirons development. 
 
Kindly confirm receipt of this email communication. 
 
Thank you. 
 
Regards, 
--Dean Wolf 
Resident of 4 Mile Creek Development  
 
1. The developer is seeking approval to build 368 high density multi-family units on the property.  
That number seems very high (and greedy).  The families would be packed in like sardines with so 
many units.  I'm curious to know how many persons total would inhabit this development.  If one 
assumes 3 persons per unit, then we're talking 1,104 additional persons.  At this stage of the review 
process, Concept Plan, the applicant hasn’t prepared detailed plans illustrating the number of 
bedrooms so it’s difficult to be definitive at this early stage.  The plans include 83 senior residential 
units, so the number of residents per unit may be less than the three. Beyond that information, there 
is no definitive demographic data at this point. 
 
2. The proposed development would essentially be an isolated island of 368  high density multi-family 
units surrounded by freeways (Hwy 157), high-speed roadways, and train tracks.  The noise and 
pollution factors alone would seem to make this development prohibitive of such a large residential 
development.  The location of this development seems much more suited for low density residential 
with a larger proportion of the property allocated for business/commercial use. Staff has noted this in 
comments to the applicant as well as the draft staff memo.  The zoning on the site is Business 
Transition – BT-1 which is intended for lower intensity office/commercial, but for which attached 
residential is permitted by-right.  

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 43Packet Page 311

mailto:law@ipmls.com
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/1jWVIq4x0SyMCqenHCzB5NwTsSZtxNdxcSZtxNdZcSDtBxBwQsFEECQXIe6zBYsMOOrlIvHp4Cva7wExlIZ3USGvmeElUzkOr8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCO5TAPhOO-_R-poKNtVzHTbFFTjUsyMCYyDORQr8EGTujVkffGhBrwqrhdETdTVcsCej79zANNKVI04J6FCl9lxFWSP-4PZc5LzOVI_j0aAIGvjBPrdNMVUS2_id40c-h4CgH4Qg2lllvxeC2lom-ca6y2fAtyxa14Qg21_x-Md43F-PB6Ia6y13PfDRml-4-dzHCO6S_
mailto:law@ipmls.com
mailto:law@ipmls.com


 

 

 
3. Noise of Train - I am a resident of 4 mile Creek Development, and live near 47th street.  Trains 
running on the train tracks near the proposed development site frequently blow their horns multiple 
times between 12am and 4am. From my house, the noise of these train horns sounds very loud, even 
with the windows of our home closed. these train horns would most definitely be very disruptive to the 
residence of the proposed development.  The proximity of residential to trains are not currently 
regulated.  There are discussions about creating “quiet zones” in limited places in the city which 
require implementing infrastructure at crossings in coordination with the BSNF Railroad.   
 
4. No sidewalks/pedestrian access.  As far as I can tell, the proposed development plan does not 
include any plans for building sidewalks around the entire development.  this presents a major safety 
issue, as it is very likely that the residents of the development will wish take the shortest path (e.g., via 
jaywalking across diagonal highway and other nearby streets) to access (via foot) the Pleasant View 
Soccer fields and open space areas (e.g. cottonwood trail) Staff recognizes this concern and has 
indicated this in comments to the applicant and the staff memo.  
 
5. Possible toxic environmental/soil contamination due to presence of existing oil well on property.  
Has any study been conducted to determine the extent to which the soil and groundwater on the 
property has been contaminated by the oil well?  If such contamination exists, it could be very harmful 
for children living in the development, as well as adults.  Drainage reports are required for 
development and if contamination is indicated it the report, regulation of any mitigation is through 
the State of Colorad . 
 
6. Increased probability of pedestrians attempting to illegally cross over the train tracks to access open 
space areas (e.g., cottonwood trail).  There is already an issue with users of the multi-use path (on the 
north side of train tracks) illegally crossing over the train tracks to access open space areas (e.g., 
cottonwood trail). The addition of 1000 additional nearby residents would greatly exacerbate this 
problem.  Independence Road on the south end of the site does connect to the trailhead for 
Cottonwood Trail east of Highway 119. The information about illegal crossings is helpful to 
understand however, and I will share this with our transportation engineers. 
 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 44Packet Page 312



 

 

7.  Insufficient allocation of 
outdoor recreational space in 
development plan.  where would 
the children of the development 
play outside? In the development's 
concrete parking lots?  For the 
development of this size, one 
would expect that adequate 
outdoor recreation space be 
allocated for the recreation of the 
residents of the development, 
including, for example, a large 
grass field (for sports such as 
soccer, baseball, football), a 
playground area and play structure 
for younger children, picnic tables, 
shade structures, etc.   This would 
need to be further studied as 
project plans progress as what 
they are illustrating today is very general.  Staff concurs that adequate open space would be 
important and the applicant will be required to meet and exceed city standards for open space for 
BT-1 zoning which requires 1,200 square feet of open space per dwelling unit that can be 
aggregated together. This is a good point particularly about the qualitative nature of opens space 
provided, particularly given the highway surroundings.  
 
8. Wetlands issue. There currently exists a wetlands on the property.  Has the developer conducted an 
adequate environmental impact report (EIR) to determine how the development might affect the 
wetlands and native species which inhabit the wetlands? The wetland appears to be confined to the 
area aligning Fourmile Canyon Creek (shown in green on the attached map). They are not showing 
any development near the creek or north of the round access ramp.   
 
9. Traffic congestion issue.in addition to the obvious traffic congestion issues relating to 400-800 
vehicles attempting to enter/exit the development property, there is also the issue of southbound on 
ramp to the Diagonal Highway at 47th St., which, currently, is accessible only via a left turn lane that 
can accommodate at most 20 vehicles before the line backs up into the intersection of Diagonal 
Highway/47th   At the time of Site Review, if the applicant chooses to proceed, a Traffic Impact 
Study will be required to be prepared.   
 
10. School Over Enrollment Issues.  Where would the children from this development attend school?  
Has the developer addressed this issue at all? Which elementary school would be the "local" school? 
Which middle school?  The closest public elementary school Crest View Elementary, which is already 
over capacity (with over 600 students).  I am a member (and former chairperson) of the Crest View 
Elementary School Accountability Committee (SAC), and I know that Crest View Elementary is 
already struggling with significant issues relating over enrollment of students at that school.  There is 
ongoing concern that these over enrollment issues will further be exacerbated by the enrollment of 
additional new students from the new development communities just west of Pleasant View Fields.  

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 45Packet Page 313



 

 

Similar over enrollment issues also currently exist at Centennial Middle School.  it is not feasible or 
practical to assume that there is adequate space at either Crest View elementary or Centennial middle 
school to accommodate the children of the proposed Alexan flatirons development.  There is not an 
identified school for students at this point as there’s little information provided at this conceptual 
stage about the potential tenants. A portion of the development is intended for senior housing and 
that’s the only demographic that the applicant has defined at this stage.   If and when project plans 
progress, additional information would need to be provided about the number of bedrooms and the 
likely demographic that the units would be marketed to or if there’s any units planned that would be 
appealing to families with young children in this location.   
 
--Dean Wolf 
 
____________________ 
Dean E. Wolf 
Intellectual Property Attorney 
WolfIP Law Group | Gaming IP Specialists 
Tel:  510.655.9111 
Fax: 510.868.2711  
Telecon: 712-832-8310 x 3887328 
http://www.linkedin.com/in/deanwolf 
http://gamingipattorney.com/ 

  
PLEASE CONSIDER OUR ENVIRONMENT BEFORE PRINTING THIS E-MAIL 
======================================================= 
This email message is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and may contain confidential and privileged 
information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution is prohibited. If you are not the intended 
recipient, please contact the sender by reply email and destroy all copies of the original message. 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

From: Jean Aschenbrenner [mailto:jeanasch@hotmail.com]  
Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 8:22 AM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Alexan Flatirons Concept Plan 

 
I am writing to present my objection to the Alexan Flatiron Plan. 
 
 I live at 4816 Baldwin Place,  east of 47th St., North of Kings Ridge. 
 I am currently retired but I spent 25 years working at IBM north of Boulder before that and have 
lived in this house for 26 years. 
 
The area proposed for development is not large so, given the number of multi-family units, it will be 
densely populated.  Traffic in and out of the development will be a major problem.  It appears it will 
need to exit onto 47th Street.   It will flow to the intersection of 47th St and the Diagonal where they 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 46Packet Page 314

http://www.linkedin.com/in/deanwolf
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/avndxMQ839J5xcQszxPPMVwTsSZtxNdxcSZtxNdZcSDtBxBwQsFEECQXIe6zBYsMOOrlIvHp4Cva7wExlIZ3USGvmeElUzkOr8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCTy291VBZ_HY-MMUOeLRXBQSkT-hhhhuph7sJteOaqJPhONOEuvkzaT0QSyrhdTVeZXTLuZXCXCM0p7lpg8OmSsWNxVrBYdDWo1kBBjWsKrhd7bbbVI6v8yj8lyq81aGGLMDj1aIbv653h17OeNgB0yq810_M_o6y1Q_pOzm53h0xVDPWHa_2v6T73s_uhlgYwGPXh


 

 

join with Foothills Parkway.   This intersection area seems to be designed creatively to deal with 
complicated traffic merging.   Feeding lots more traffic into that intersection will cause major 
problems. 
 
Further, given that Boulder is growing, one could expect more traffic at the Foothills/Diagonal 
junction.   If the area is developed as proposed, it will preclude other necessary enlargements of the 
roads and intersections in the area. 
 
Note that there is a railway line also in this area which limits road expansion.   Already there are 
backups on 47th Street south of the Diagonal due to trains.   Supposedly Light Rail will be using those 
lines in the future.  The large amount of extra traffic will not be able to be supported. 
 
There are ball parks just west of the proposed development.   These are important for our youth  and 
should not be moved or diminished.  The large amount of extra traffic on 47th Street may require 
road widening and will also complicate access to the ball fields. 
 
I sincerely hope that this Concept Plan  is modified to become more reasonable. 
 
Jean Aschenbrenner 
303-786-9411 
jeanasch@Hotmail.com 
 
 
 
Sent from Windows Mail 
 
  

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 47Packet Page 315

mailto:jeanasch@Hotmail.com


 

 

-----Original Message----- 
From: Sam Lloyd [mailto:samrlloyd@comcast.net]  
Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 12:29 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: Alexan Flatirons Concept Plan 
 
Greetings Ms. McLaughlin. One of my neighbors forwarded the message about the Alexan 
Flatirons Concept Plan & Review and I would to provide some thoughts for 
consideration. 
 
The proposal would seem to be a high density apartment complex plus some commercial 
properties. The majority of the residents in our development (Four Mile Creek) use 
47th Street as one of our primary entrances and route into the city of Boulder and we 
have some concern about the increased volume of traffic that would result from this 
development. 
 
378 multi-family units sounds like a very large number of homes (houses, apartments, 
condominiums?) for that rather compact area of land!  
 
We also have a very high rate of usage of 47th Street by bicyclists. Even though 
there are bicycle lanes on that street the proposed development could create a more 
hazardous route for the bicycle riders! 
 
We appreciate your notification and information. 
 
Best regards, 
 
Sam Lloyd 
4012 Mustique Court 
Boulder, CO 80301 
samrlloyd@comcast.net 
303-998-0248  Work/Home/Cell 
 
 

 
From: Micki [mailto:1028micki@gmail.com]  

Sent: Friday, April 24, 2015 10:47 AM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Subject: Alexan Flatirons 

 
This is in response to the notification that the project known as Alexan Flatirons - 3600 SH 119. 
 
I am not in agreement that this is a good place to build the number of homes and businesses as 
presented in the letter sent out.  The land is far too small to handle the number of people that will be 
moving in there.  The congestion alone is reason enough to find another location - such as property to 
the north on the west side of the Diagonal Highway. 
 
The accessibility to the proposed homes is going to cause a huge increase of the use of 47th Street. 
This street was meant to be a frontage road and already experiences very high levels of traffic during 
rush hour times.  

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 48Packet Page 316

mailto:samrlloyd@comcast.net


 

 

 
I am an  affordable housing condominium owner in the NoBo Holiday Theater area.  I am happy to see 
that Boulder is continuing to add affordable housing.  I have lived in Boulder for 40+ years now and 
have watched the housing developments cram as many homes as is possible into the properties 
purchased.  I am saddened to see numerous overcrowded neighborhoods with next to nothing yards for 
children to play in,, smaller streets that are very difficult to navigate particularly when it snows, lack 
of adequate parking, and a very high turnaround of homes up for sale as families begin to grow.   
 
The properties chosen for these developments are always in the least desirable parts of town so that a 
developer can buy at a the lowest possible price in  a city that everyone wants to live in.  I may be 
wrong but I don't see these kinds of neighborhoods developed anywhere west of Broadway.  I see 
nothing wrong with trying to get the most for your money but as the influx of families continues to rise 
at a very fast rate, I think the quality of our town's neighborhoods should be taken into consideration.  
Too many rats in the box causes havoc.   
 
Micki Sugar 
1735 Yaupon Avenue 
Boulder, CO 80304 
 
 
From: Susan Enfield [mailto:susan.enfield@yahoo.com]  

Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 9:43 PM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Alexan Flatirons proposed development 

 
 Hi Elaine, 
 
I am a neighbor of Dean Wolf & just read his letter & your replies. Although in general, I 
support higher density within Boulder to theoretically mitigate the number of people 
commuting to work here, I think Dean raises several good points.  
 
In particular, the Diagonal has had some terrible accidents on it, given that people drive at 
speeds of 55-70 mph (speeding on their commute), but people also turn on & off it from a 
dead stop, often without a stop light. I regularly use Independence Rd as a "shortcut" to get 
to 47th when stuck at the long red light at the Diagonal. That turn is very poorly marked, 
especially for night driving. At the same time as I am trying to turn west onto Independence, 
people often turn south onto the Diagonal from the eastern extension of Independence, 
crossing traffic and potentially causing collisions if they don't properly assess all the different 
vehicle directions & speeds. 
 
As a Crestview & Centennial parent, I can also attest to those schools becoming more over-
enrolled. In contrast to the abundance of elementary & middle schools in South Boulder, it 
seems that North Boulder needs another school or two, not just bigger schools! 
 
Thanks, 
Susan 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 49Packet Page 317



 

 

.......................................... 
Susan Enfield 
cell: 720-289-2301 
email: susan.enfield@yahoo.com 
  

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 50Packet Page 318

mailto:susan.enfield@yahoo.com


 

 

 
From: david williard [mailto:williardwilliard@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Friday, April 24, 2015 2:22 PM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Subject: Alexan Flatirons Development 

 
Hi Elaine, 
 
Thanks for the opportunity to submit comments regarding the Alexan Flatirons development. 
 
I live on East Palo Park (which is within 1/3 of a mile of the new development) which has 
seen a huge rise in use over the last two years, for several reasons:  
1.) The city recently redeveloped the playground (it is beautiful) which attracts lots more kids 
to the park. 
2.) The city thus far has refused to enforce the leash law at the park, resulting in as many as 
15 dogs running around the park off-leash. There is a lot of barking, as you can probably 
imagine.   
3.) In addition to many people driving to the park so that their kids can use the playground, 
many people drive from other areas to the park to let their dogs run off leash. It is considered 
a dog park by many.  
4.) As Palo Park is one of the last affordable areas in Boulder, many families are moving to 
the area, resulting in a higher proportion of homeowners with young children. 
The result -- an extremely loud park that feels like a free-for-all and is incredibly crowded on 
the weekends. I now no longer enjoy going outside my home because of so many screaming 
kids at the playground. I hear them all day inside my home, too, especially on the weekends. 
I have tried to roll with this, but I ma frustrated with the city because developments are going 
in around us that include NO amenities for children.  
 
I have mentioned these issues to city officials in several city council meetings involving the 
planned affordable housing development on east Palo Parkway. What I see in developments 
like Northfield Commons, the development at Jay and 47th near us, and the upcoming 
affordable housing development is a lack of attention on spreading noise out and having 
consideration for people who live along East Palo Park who didn't realize 10 years ago that 
the city was going to overload the area with dense housing and not put in any additional 
playgrounds or parklands. Now the city is considering an additional 400 units in a really weird 
spot, and I am concerned that there are no plans to develop a park for these people. the 
ONLY park in the area is east palo park, and I assume it will be overrun even further if the 
development is allowed to proceed. If so, I fear that I will have to move because the park will 
be used all the time, and my wife and I will have no peace and quiet.  
 
Thanks for hearing me out.  
 
Regards, 
David Williard 
303-641-7761 
  
 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 51Packet Page 319



 

 

RECEIVED SINCE THE MAY 7, 2015 PLANNING BOARD HEARING 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: Pegi [mailto:pegipat@gmail.com]  
Sent: Friday, May 15, 2015 3:40 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine; Council 
Subject: Alexan Flatirons 
 
I am a Boulder resident in Four Mile Creek (47th and Jay).   I do not support the 
Alexan Flatirons development for the following reasons: 
- Traffic congestion - there is too much traffic! 
- School Over Enrollment Issues.  Need I say more?  Crestview is the fullest, busiest 
school there is.  To say these people won’t have families is just not accurate. 
- Area NOT conducive to that much housing - the open space and the train and the fact 
that it is surrounded by streets is really strange for that many houses. 
 
Thanks, 
 
Pegi Patwardhan 
303.887.9998 

  

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 52Packet Page 320



 

 

 
 
 
Found at the following weblink: 
 
www.bouldercolorado.gov  A to Z Planning Boardsearch for past meeting materials planning 

board20155.7.2015 PB Packet.   
 

Attachment C:  Concept Plan Submittal 

Attachment B - May 7, 2015 Planning Board Memo

Call Up 
3600 Hwy. 119

1A     Page 53Packet Page 321

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


Boards and Commissions 
Becerage Licensing Authority 04 15, 2015

3A     Page 1Packet Page 322



Boards and Commissions 
Becerage Licensing Authority 04 15, 2015

3A     Page 2Packet Page 323



Boards and Commissions 
Becerage Licensing Authority 04 15, 2015

3A     Page 3Packet Page 324



Boards and Commissions 
Becerage Licensing Authority 04 15, 2015

3A     Page 4Packet Page 325



Boards and Commissions 
Becerage Licensing Authority 04 15, 2015

3A     Page 5Packet Page 326



Boards and Commissions 
Becerage Licensing Authority 04 15, 2015

3A     Page 6Packet Page 327



Boards and Commissions 
Becerage Licensing Authority 04 15, 2015

3A     Page 7Packet Page 328



Boards and Commissions 
Becerage Licensing Authority 04 15, 2015

3A     Page 8Packet Page 329



City of Boulder 
BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING SUMMARY FORM 

 
NAME OF BOARD/COMMISSION: Human Relations Commission 
DATE OF MEETING:  May 18, 2015 
NAME/TELEPHONE OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY: Robin Pennington 303-441-

1912 
NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT: 
Commissioners –  Amy Zuckerman, Shirly White, Nikhil Mankekar, Emilia Pollauf 
Staff  – Carmen Atilano, Robin Pennington 
Commissioners absent –  José Beteta        
WHAT TYPE OF MEETING (CIRCLE ONE)  [REGULAR]  [SPECIAL]  [QUASI-JUDICIAL] 
AGENDA ITEM 1 – CALL TO ORDER – The May 18, 2015 HRC meeting was called to order at 

6 p.m. by A. Zuckerman.   
AGENDA ITEM 2 – AGENDA ADJUSTMENTS – Add Nomination of HRC Chair and Deputy 
Chair as Action Item 5. A. and Community Action Programs (CAP) Request as Action Item 5. B.  
AGENDA ITEM 3 – APPROVAL OF MINUTES – E. Pollauf moved to approve the April 20, 
2015 minutes with amendments.  A. Zuckerman seconded.  S. White abstained. Motion carries 3-
0.   
AGENDA ITEM 4 – COMMUNITY PARTICIPATION (non-agenda action items) – 
Community member Darren O’Connor addressed the commission regarding homelessness, policing, 
the city spam blocker and racial issues. Rob Smoke spoke on homelessness. 
AGENDA ITEM 5 – ACTION ITEMS 
A.    Nomination of Chair and Deputy Chair – S. White nominated A. Zuckerman as Chair. E.  
        Pollauf seconded.  A. Zuckerman nominated S. White as Deputy Chair. E. Pollauf 
        seconded. N. Mankekar nominated himself as Deputy Chair. A. Zuckerman seconded.    
B.    CAP Request  –  S. White moved that the HRC purchase an ad in the CAP Multicultural 
        Awards Banquet program. N. Mankekar seconded. Motion carries 4-0.  
C.    2015 HRC Work Plan 
        1.    Funding Allocations – N. Mankekar moved to re-open the Community Impact Fund (CIF) 
        to applicants.  S. White seconded. Motion carries 4-0. Allocations of $6,000 will remain in 
        reserve for Celebration of Immigrant Heritage and $8,530 for the Community Impact Fund.  
AGENDA ITEM 6 – DISCUSSION/INFORMATIONAL ITEMS 
A.    Inclusive and Welcoming Community Work Plan – Staff and commissioners discussed the 

HRC partnering with the City Manager’s office on a community survey as part of their work 
plan development related to a safe and welcoming community. Commissioners agreed that two 
commissioners would participate on a rotating basis in the development of the RFP, selection of 
the consultant and survey design process. 

B.    Living Wage Update – C. Atilano gave an update on work of the city staff committee on Living 
Wage. 

C.    Civic Area Master Plan Update – C. Atilano will forward commissioner comments and 
questions on the plan to the Civic Area Team.  

D.    June HRC Meeting Venue – The June 15 HRC meeting will be held at the West Senior Center.       
E.    Event Reports – S. White attended the Dia Del Nino event on April 25.  N. Mankekar and A. 

Zuckerman spoke on the Right to Rest Act at the April 21 City Council meeting and N. 
Mankekar attended  Boulder Startup Week events the week of May 11-15.  

F.     Follow Up Items – Obtain information about city spam filter, revise the April minutes, reopen 
the CIF application and place on the city website, update the City Manager’s office on HRC 

Boards of Commissions 
Human Relations Commission 05 18, 2015

3B     Page 1Packet Page 330



participation in the Safe and Welcoming Community Work Plan and survey, forward comments 
and questions on Civic Area Master Plan to appropriate staff, provide commissioners with 
upcoming event dates for Community Event Fund grantees.     

AGENDA ITEM 7 – IMMEDIATE ACTION ITEMS – None.    
AGENDA ITEM 8 – Adjournment – N. Mankekar moved to adjourn the May 18, 2015 meeting. 
S. White seconded. Motion carries 4-0.   The meeting was adjourned at 7:42 p.m. 
TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL 
HEARINGS: The next regular meeting of the HRC will be June 15, 2015 at 6 p.m. at the West 
Senior Center, 909 Arapahoe Ave.   

Boards of Commissions 
Human Relations Commission 05 18, 2015

3B     Page 2Packet Page 331



CITY OF BOULDER  
LANDMARKS BOARD  

May 6, 2015 
1777 Broadway, Council Chambers Room 

6 p.m. 
 
The following are the “unapproved and unsigned” action minutes of the                City of 
Boulder Landmarks Board meeting. A digital recording and a permanent set of these minutes 
(maintained for a period of seven years) are retained in Central Records (telephone: 303-441-
3043).  You may also listen to the recording on-line at: www.boulderplandevelop.net. 
 
BOARD MEMBERS:   
Kate Remley, Chair 
Mike Schreiner 
Fran Sheets 
Deborah Yin 
*John Gerstle  *Planning Board representative without a vote 
  
STAFF MEMBERS: 
Debra Kalish, Senior Assistant City Attorney 
James Hewat, Senior Historic Preservation Planner 
Marcy Cameron, Historic Preservation Planner 
Angela Smelker, Historic Preservation Intern 
 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 The roll having been called, Chair K. Remley declared a quorum at 6:01p.m. and the 
 following business was conducted.  
 
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

On a motion by M. Schreiner, seconded by F. Sheets, the Landmarks Board approved (4-0) 
the minutes as amended of the April 1, 2015 board meeting.  
 

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
 

4. DISCUSSION OF LANDMARK ALTERATION AND DEMOLITION 
APPLICATIONS ISSUED AND PENDING 
• 1035 Kalmia Ave. Stay of Demolition expires August 29th, 2015 
• Statistical Report 

 
5.   ACTION ITEMS 
A. Public hearing and consideration of a Landmark Alteration Certificate to remove a 

second-story gambrel roof at the rear addition and in its place to construct a 529 sq. ft. 
second story at the contributing house at 801 Maxwell Ave. in the Mapleton Hill 
Historic District, per section 9-11-18 of the Boulder Revised Code (HIS2015-00080). 
Applicant: Kristin Lewis.  Owner: Michael and Susan Shepard. 

Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks Board  05 06 2015

3C     Page 1Packet Page 332

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/


 
Motion  
On a motion by F. Sheets, seconded by D. Yin, the Landmarks Board approved (3-1) (M. 
Schreiner opposing) the proposed removal of the second story addition and construction of a 
new second story addition as shown on plans dated May 6, 2015 finding that they generally meet 
the standards for issuance of a Landmark Alteration Certificate in Section 9-11-18, B.R.C. 1981, 
subject to the conditions below, and adopts the staff memorandum dated May 6, 2015 as findings 
of the board with the following conditions:  
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

1. The applicant shall be responsible for constructing the house and in compliance with the 
approved plans dated May 6, 2015, except as modified by these conditions of approval.  

2. Prior to submitting a building permit application and final issuance of a Landmark 
Alteration Certificate, the applicant shall submit design details to the Landmarks design 
review committee (Ldrc) including: window and door details, wall material details, siding 
material details, paint colors, roofing material details and details regarding any 
hardscaping on the property to ensure that the approval is consistent with the General 
Design Guidelines and the Mapleton Hill Historic District Guidelines and the intent of 
this approval.   
 

This recommendation is based upon staff’s opinion that the modification of the roof form of a 
contributing building will be consistent with Section 9-11-18, Boulder Revised Code 1981, the 
Mapleton Hill Historic District Design Guidelines and the General Design Guidelines.  
 
 
B. Public hearing and consideration of issuance of a demolition permit for the house 

located at 2245 Arapahoe Ave., a non-landmarked building over 50 years old, pursuant 
to Section 9-11-23 of the Boulder Revised Code (HIS2015-00053).  Applicant/ Owner: 
Blake Heren. 

 
Motion 
On a motion by K. Remley, seconded by M. Schreiner, the Landmarks Board issued (5-0) a 
stay of demolition for the building located at 2245 Arapahoe Ave., for a period not to exceed 180 
days from the day the permit application was accepted by the city manager, in order to explore 
alternatives to the demolition of the building, and adopted the following as findings of the board: 
 
Staff encourages the applicant to consider landmark designation of the accessory buildings and 
their incorporation into future redevelopment plans for the site.  A 180-day stay period would 
expire on Sept.14, 2015.  
 
Should the board choose to issue the demolition permit, or if the permit is allowed to expire, staff 
recommends that prior to demolition the following be submitted to CP&S staff for review, 
approval and recording with Carnegie Library: 

Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks Board  05 06 2015

3C     Page 2Packet Page 333



 
1. A site plan showing the location of all existing improvements on the subject property; 

and 
2. Color medium format archival quality photographs of the interior and exterior of the 

house and shed. 
 
 
6. MATTERS FROM THE LANDMARKS BOARD, PLANNING DEPARTMENT AND 

CITY ATTORNEY 
A. Administrative Rule – Clarifying the Demolition Review Process 
B. Letter to City Council 
C. Update Memo  
D.  Subcommittee Update 

1) Demolition Review  
2) Design Guidelines and Code Revisions 
3) Outreach and Engagement 
4) Potential Resources 

 
7. DEBRIEF MEETING/CALENDAR CHECK 
   
8. ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting adjourned at 8:59 p.m. 
 
 
 

Boards and Commissions 
Landmarks Board  05 06 2015

3C     Page 3Packet Page 334



   

 
 
 

 CITY OF BOULDER 

BOULDER, COLORADO 

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING 

MINUTES 

Name of Board/ Commission:  Library Commission 

Date of Meeting: March 4, 2015 at the Carnegie Branch Library for Local History, 1125 Pine St. 

Contact Information Preparing Summary: Carrie Mills, 303-441-3106 

Commission Members Present: Anne Sawyer, Paul Sutter, Joni Teter and Alicia Gibb 

Commission Members Absent: Donna O’Brien 

Library Staff Present:    

                          David Farnan, Director of Library & Arts    

                          Wendy Hall, Carnegie Library branch manager                     

                          Carrie Mills, Administrative Specialist II 

City Employees: 

                          Joe Paulson, Transportation Engineer (Signals & Lighting) 

                          Bill Cowern, Transportation Operation Engineer 

                          Glenn Magee, Facilities Design and Construction Manager 

                          Devin Billingsley, Senior Budget Analyst 

Public Present: 

                          Peter Richards 

                          Celeste Landry 

              

Type of Meeting:  Regular  

Agenda Item 1:  Call to Order and Approval of Agenda                                                  [6:02 p.m., Audio 0:11 min]                                                                                  

The meeting was called to order at 6:02 p.m.  

 

Agenda Item 2:  Public Participation                                                                                  [6:02 p.m., Audio 0:28 min]   

Richards thanked Sawyer for her time on the commission. Further, Richards spoke about a recent visit to the Salida 

Regional Library. He was impressed with Salida, noting that while the Boulder Public Library spends money on new 

furniture, the Salida Regional Library has original 1906 furniture.  He was also pleased with Salida’s collections of 

newspapers and periodicals. 

 

Agenda Item 3:  Consent Agenda                                                                                          [6:05 p.m., Audio 3:00 min]   

 

Item 3A, Approval of Feb. 4, 2015 minutes (p. 2-5) 

Teter moved for approval of the minutes as presented. Gibb seconded. Approved unanimously, 4-0. 

 

Agenda Item 4:  Update on Yarmouth/Broadway Intersection – Joe Paulson and Bill Cowern (p. 6-10)                                                                                                                             

                                                                                                                                                [6:05 p.m., Audio 3:35 min] 

Paulson and Cowern distributed documents to the commissioners, found here: https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-

content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Mar-LC-Handouts.pdf.  Cowern began by explaining why Boulder installs pedestrian 

crossing treatments, noting that the intent is not for safety, but for keeping transportation moving. He explained that 

while most believe crosswalks are for pedestrian safety, there is no research to support that claim. For the 

Yarmouth/Broadway intersection, Cowern gave a brief history of departmental evaluations. Other analysis must occur 

and warrant an enhanced crossing treatment before one can be installed. Paulson discussed the series of 9 warrants, like 

vehicle volume and accident history, used to determine the need for a traffic signal. Ultimately, analysis seeks to 

evaluate whether a signal would more likely than not make the intersection better. Paulson added that based on the 

scenarios at this intersection, the focus moved to the accident experience warrant (minimum of 5 correctable accidents 

in 5 year period with less intensive intervention) and  the peak hour delay warrant (extreme undue delay on the side 

street). Ultimately, the intersection does not meet the threshold for intervention, concluding that a signal would do more 

harm than good. For additional information, please consult the Commission report from the April 2015 packet on page 

22: https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-April-LC-Packet.pdf.  

Commission discussion, questions, and comments included: 

 Referencing the handout, Teter asked why traffic has decreased since a peak in 2006. Paulson marked it as a 

citywide trend, citing the citywide master plan and a vehicle decrease likely associated with economic 

Boards and Commissions 
Library Commission 03 04 2015

3D     Page 1Packet Page 335

https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Mar-LC-Handouts.pdf
https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Mar-LC-Handouts.pdf
https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-April-LC-Packet.pdf


   

 
 
 

downturn.  
 Sawyer asked how bicycles are classified in the data. Paulson explained that bicycles are counted based on 

how they behave, where bicyclists on the road are counted as cars, and those in the crosswalk are counted as 

pedestrians. Sawyer responded that bicyclists often assemble near this intersection and wondered if the 

analysis will occur at varying times of year.  
 Gibb confirmed with Paulson that the data was publically available. 
 Teter asked Cowern to detail the possible pedestrian treatments. Cowern listed them in order of 

implementation from marked crosswalk to crosswalk with ballard to flashing crosswalks. Cowern reiterated 

that none are categorically safer than the next, but encourage higher compliance.  
 Sawyer asked for possibilities for improving the sight line. Sutter imparted his experience maneuvering this 

intersection, noting that some drivers may become so involved in road traffic that they become “pedestrian-

blind.” 
Agenda Item 5:  Feedback from the City Attorney’s Office about the Library Commission’s proposed changes to 

the city charter (p. 11-12)                                                                                                   [6:35 p.m., Audio 33:24 min] 

Sutter moved to use this document as amended as a recommendation for charter changes. Teter seconded. Approved 

unanimously, 4-0. 

Commission discussion, questions, and comments included: 

 Farnan reviewed the recommended language changes proposed by the City Attorney’s Office. 

 Following a comment from Teter, the commissioners agreed to strike “community” from the recommended 

title in Sec. 92. 

 Sawyer echoed Teter’s written comments regarding Sec. 91, noting that nothing in text is authorized 

explicitly. Farnan suggested striking the clause.  

 

Agenda Item 6: Main Library renovation project update – Glenn Magee (p. 6-7)      [6:47 p.m., Audio 44:50 min] 

Magee confirmed that work has begun on the bridge, noting that the framing is complete for the café. At this time, the 

café is slated to open in mid to late April. The crew is preparing for the LEED certification process for commercial 

interiors. Magee believed that the building may make it to silver. Further, Magee distributed budget statistics on the 

renovation, found here:  https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Mar-LC-Handouts.pdf 

 

Agenda Item 7: 2015 Library budget update: 1
st
 round of budget adjustments – Devin Billinglsey (p. 15) 

                                                                                                                                              [7:10 p.m., Audio 1:08:06 hr] 

Billingsley stated that the first adjustment to base (ATB) goes to council in May, remarking that this is earlier than 

usual. He reiterated that the list of adjustments are proposed and are changeable until the end of April.  

Commission discussion, questions, and comments included: 

 Sawyer asked about the remaining balance considering so much is coming out of the library fund. Billingsley 

replied that at the end of 2014, the balance was roughly $2.2 million. Projecting out into 2015, he anticipates 

$1.4 million after adjustments. 

 Farnan responded to Teter’s written comments on filtering, Meadows renovation, and more, found here:  

https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Mar-LC-Handouts.pdf.  

 Sawyer asked about the $75,000 request for e-book collection. Farnan noted this was a one-time expense with 

anticipations for an increased budget in the future to develop the consortium’s e-book collection. Sutter noted 

a strategic dimension of contributing to the consortium based on use.  

 

Agenda Item 8: Library Commission review and approval of The Foundry terms of use (p. 16-19) 

                                                                                                                                              [7:51 p.m., Audio 1:33:29 hr] 

Farnan prefaced the discussion by explaining that while the commission’s feedback at the last meeting prompted staff 

to reconsider the idea of how broadly the Foundry should be opened to broader use, deciding that the space is no 

conducive to wide-scale use by the community at large. Sutter responded that the staff response was reasonable in so 

far as there is a plan for a large maker space. He recommended a focus on more programming in the space for teens. 

Commission discussion, questions, and comments included: 

 Gibb asked about the available hours during the day. Farnan noted that this window is for homeschoolers and 

seniors. Gibb inquired about the orientation process, and Farnan assured that it was not required for teens 

because of the supervision. 

 Sawyer and Gibb discussed the wording in #9 of the Terms of Use. Gibb inquired about the intention behind 

“receiving.” After debate about removing the word, commissioners ultimately agreed to keep it in the text. 

Commissioners considered striking the second sentence, but Teter noted that leaving in the sentence provided 

some protection for the library.  

Boards and Commissions 
Library Commission 03 04 2015

3D     Page 2Packet Page 336

https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Mar-LC-Handouts.pdf
https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/2015-Mar-LC-Handouts.pdf


   

 
 
 

Agenda Item 9: Library Commission review the draft policy on security cameras in the library 

                                                                                                                                              [8:11 p.m., Audio 1:53:40 hr] 

Sawyer explained that the policy is still being reviewed by the attorneys, noting that there may be revisions in the 

future. Farnan indicated that the review is complete and the recommendations have been incorporated. Sawyer decided 

to postpone approval until the April meeting to ensure that Jennifer Miles, deputy library director, could be in 

attendance. 

Commission discussion, questions, and comments included: 

 Sutter asked about the history of this policy. Farnan explained that there is no existing policy, but it is 

recommended that libraries do have a policy. Farnan noted that the library has had cameras for some time.  
 Sawyer asked if the police department would have access to the footage. Farnan replied that access would be 

given if a crime was committed. Sawyer was surprised that the images fell under the Colorado Open Records 

Act.  
 The commissioners recommended changes for grammar and clarity. 

 
Agenda Item 10: Thank you to Library Commissioner, Anne Sawyer, whose terms ends Mar. 31, 2015                                     

                                                                                                                                              [7:31 p.m., Audio 1:29:41 hr]                                                         

Note: This item was bumped up on the agenda during the meeting. 

Sutter presented Sawyer with a scanned and framed Polson and Fine print. Farnan presented Sawyer with an award for 

her dedication to the Library Commission.  

 

Agenda Item 11: Library Commission update (from memo) (p. 21-26)                       [8:17 p.m., Audio 1:59:35 hr] 

 

Item 11A, Update on email responses to Library Commission (p. 22) 

Sutter asked if there were any remedies to the patron concern regarding low shelves. Farnan noted that the bottom shelf 

is 10 inches off of the ground, and staff excluded use of the bottom shelf. However, excluding the two bottom shelves 

would require a new set of furniture. Farnan suggested that patrons who have difficulty should ask staff for assistance. 

Teter posited that some staff reinforce this problem while in discussion with patrons. Ultimately, the commissioners 

agreed that the shelving is not any lower than it was prior to the renovation. 

 

Item 11B, Internet Filtering – Commission Strategy 

Sawyer asked the commission if they wanted to post a press release or hold a public forum on this topic. Teter asked 

Farnan for his recommendation, to which he said that he had initially anticipated taking a very public approach. 

However, he noted that this issue had been published in the newspaper as part of the Library Commission’s agenda 

three times and this issue still had not resulted in public comment. In light of this, Teter recommended that the 

commission proceed without a specific public comment period. Sutter largely agreed but saw no harm in including a 

public hearing for this issue in an upcoming meeting. Commissioners decided to hold an informational session in the 

April meeting, and finalize a decision at the May meeting. 

 

Item 11C, Discussion on Library Commission Job Description 

Sawyer recommended that this task be handled by a subcommittee following Commissioner O’Brien’s return. 

Teter suggested holding off on Library Commission bylaw changes until the recommended charter language is 

approved. 

 

Item 11D, Library Commission Handbook update – review process document revision (p. 25-26) 

In response to a question from Sutter, Teter recommended posting commissioner comments on the website prior to the 

meeting. Sawyer explained that this suggestion was denied previously by the city. Sawyer recommended that email 

discussions between commissioners should go in the packet. Commissioners discussed points of the document, 

ultimately electing to keep or further refine existing passages. 

 

Agenda Item 12: Library and Arts Director’s Report (p. 27-29)                                  [8:44 p.m., Audio 2:26:30 hr] 

 

Item 12A, Update on the Flatirons Library Consortium (p. 27) 

The commissioners did not have any questions or comments on this item. 

 

Item 12B, STEAM Saturdays: Play-Well event (p. 27-28) 

Farnan reported that this event pulled in about 1000 attendees as kids worked to build the city of Boulder. Gibb heard 

positive remarks from many about the event. 

 

Boards and Commissions 
Library Commission 03 04 2015

3D     Page 3Packet Page 337



   

 
 
 

 

Commissioner Sutter approved these minutes on May 6, 2015; and Carrie Mills attested to this 

approval on May 6, 2015. 
 

An audio recording of the full meeting for which these minutes are a summary, is available on the Library Commission web page 

at https://boulderlibrary.org/about/commission/.  

Item 12C, RFID Update (p. 28) 

The commissioners did not have any questions or comments on this item. 

 

Item 12D, Update on Spring 2015 Boulder Library Foundation funding requests (p. 28) 

Teter asked if a funding request had been submitted for the Jaipur Literature Festival. Farnan confirmed that a request 

was made for $50,000, but it had not yet been determined who would administer the grant. 

 

Item 12E, Bees at the Library (p. 29) 

The commissioners did not have any questions or comments on this item. 

 

Agenda Item 13: Future Items/Scheduling                                                                      [9:07 p.m., Audio 2:49:25 hr] 

 Welcome/swear in new commissioner 

 Elect new officers and Boulder Library Foundation members 

 Take commission photo for website 

 Public works/Facilities and Assets Management to discuss impact fees 

 Main Library Renovation Celebration and RFID updates 

 Review of policies for security cameras and The Foundry 

 Meeting room schedule of non-library events 

 Demo of new Discovery layer 

 Information about filtering software options 

 Report on the Foundation grants 

 
Before adjourning the meeting, Sawyer shared some parting words and wisdom with fellow commissioners. 

 

Agenda Item 14:  Adjournment                                                                                        [9:14 p.m., Audio 2:56:14 hr] 

There being no further business to come before the commission at this time, the meeting was adjourned at 9:14 p.m. 

 

Date, Time, and Location of Next Meeting: 

The next Library Commission meeting will be at 6 p.m. on Wed., Apr. 8, 2015, in the Canyon Meeting Room at the 

Main Library, 1001 Arapahoe Ave., Boulder, CO 80302. 

 

Boards and Commissions 
Library Commission 03 04 2015

3D     Page 4Packet Page 338

https://boulderlibrary.org/about/commission/


   

 
 

 
 

 CITY OF BOULDER 
BOULDER, COLORADO 

BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING 
MINUTES 

Name of Board/ Commission:  Library Commission 
Date of Meeting: April 8, 2015 in the Canyon Meeting Room, Main Library, 1001 Arapahoe Ave. 
Contact Information Preparing Summary: Carrie Mills, 303-441-3106 
Commission Members Present: Paul Sutter, Donna O’Brien, Joni Teter and Alicia Gibb 
Commission Members Absent: Tim O’Shea 
Library Staff Present:    
                          David Farnan, Director of Library & Arts    
                          Jennifer Miles, Deputy Library Director   
                          Jennifer Bray, Communication Specialist III 
                          Kathy Lane, Programs Specialist                
                          Carrie Mills, Administrative Specialist II 
City Employees Present: 
                          Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning and Sustainability 
                          Glenn Magee, Facilities Design and Construction Manager 
                          Devin Billingsley, Senior Budget Analyst 
                          Peggy Bunzli, Budget Officer 
              
Type of Meeting:  Regular  
Agenda Item 1:  Call to Order and Approval of Agenda                                                  [6:00 p.m., Audio 0:10 min]   
The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m.  
 
Agenda Item 2:  Public Participation                                                                                  [6:01 p.m., Audio 1:20 min]  
There was no one from the public in attendance. 
 
Agenda Item 3:  Consent Agenda                                                                                         [6:01 p.m., Audio 1:27 min]  
 
Item 3A, Approval of Mar. 4, 2015 minutes (p. 2-5) 
Teter submitted changes prior to the meeting, which can be found here: https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-
content/uploads/2014/12/LC-Handouts-2015-Apr.pdf. Sutter offered a change to page 2, changing “quickly” to 
“efficiently” in regards to the movement of pedestrians in a crosswalk. Teter suggested that the sentence should refer to 
traffic including pedestrians, instead of solely pedestrians. Gibb motioned to approve with the suggested changes. Teter 
seconded. Vote 3-0, O’Brien abstained because she was not in attendance at the previous meeting. 
 
Agenda Item 4: Elections                                                                                                      [6:03 p.m., Audio 3:26 min] 
 
Item 4A, New Commission Officers 
Teter nominated Sutter for commission chair. O’Brien seconded. Sutter accepted the nomination. Vote 3-0.  
O’Brien nominated Teter for commission vice chair. Sutter seconded. Vote 3-0. 
O’Brien nominated Gibb for commission secretary. Teter seconded. Vote 3-0. 
 
Item 4B, Boulder Library Foundation Board Members 
Sutter nominated Teter and O’Brien for Boulder Library Foundation (BLF) board members. Gibb seconded. Vote 4-0, 
unanimous. Sutter raised the question on the number of commissioners that can serve as foundation board members. 
Teter combed through foundation documents and discovered that the current BLF bylaws call for three commissioners 
as board members. Teter supported additional commission representation on the foundation board, but reminded others 
that this is a time commitment. Teter recommended discussing long-term representation at the July retreat. Sutter asked 
if three commissioners on the BLF board triggered legal requirements for open meetings. Farnan agreed to consult with 
the City Attorney’s Office on this issue. Sutter recommended that the commission revisit this topic at the May meeting. 
 

Boards and Commissions 
Library Commission  04 08 2015

3E     Page 1Packet Page 339



   

 
 

 
 

Agenda Item 5:  Impact Fees Discussion – Susan Richstone                                         [7:26 p.m., Audio 1:26:04 hr] 
Richstone distributed a handout with answers to some of the commissioners’ questions, found here: 
https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/LC-Handouts-2015-Apr.pdf Richstone provided a brief history 
to the use of impact fees in the city. Richstone addressed issues and comments with definitions and specifics while 
describing the underlying methodology for use. Billingsley reported that there are development excise taxes and impact 
fees available to the library in the amounts of $2.1 million and $520,000 respectively. Teter asked if the excise tax total 
included unspent funds collected for the NoBo Corner Library. Sutter asked how the library accesses the money, and 
Richstone confirmed that it goes through the usual budget process.  

 
Agenda Item 6: Main Library renovation project update – Glenn Magee (p. 6)           [6:09 p.m., Audio 9:36 min] 
Magee reported great progress on the bridge. Seeds Library Café anticipates opening on April 24, 2015. Magee 
confirmed that the bridge will be open during The Main Event on April 11, but that not all equipment will be installed 
at that time. Further, the furniture for the bridge will be delivered on Friday, April 10, and ready to go for The Main 
Event. Teter asked if Magee would be involved in the creation of the new maker space. Farnan and Magee agreed that 
he would likely be involved.  
 
Agenda Item 7: Main Library Renovation Celebration update- Kathy Lane and Jennifer Bray 
                                                                                                                                              [6:12 p.m., Audio 12:20 min] 
Lane distributed a schedule of events, scavenger hunt, and giveaways, found here:  https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-
content/uploads/2014/12/LC-Handouts-2015-Apr.pdf . Lane shared details about story times, STEAM events, PlayWell 
Teknologies, dancers, music, screen printing, and tours. Refreshments by the Seeds Library Café will be served at 12 
p.m. and 2 p.m. on the bridge. There is a plan for a hula hoop contest, sponsored by Hoopla. The day will begin with 
African drumming at 9:30a.m., followed by a ribbon cutting at 9:45a.m. by David Farnan and other city and library 
officials.  
Commission discussion, questions, and comments included: 

 Sutter asked about the types of publicity for the event. Bray expects 4-6,000 attendees. Publicity includes 
social media outreach, a news release, a walk through with Daily Camera, print ads, and digital invitations. 

 O’Brien asked if there would be advertisements at the Farmer’s Market for The Main Event. Bray and Lane 
noted that this was a good idea that could be arranged. 
 

Agenda Item 8: Review and/or approval of draft policies                                              [6:23 p.m., Audio 21:42 min] 
 
Item 8A, Approval of The Foundry Terms of Use policy (p. 8-10) 
Sutter submitted changes prior to the start of the meeting, which can be found here:  https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-
content/uploads/2014/12/LC-Handouts-2015-Apr.pdf Commissioners confirmed the changes made since the last review 
regarding age limits and supervision. Teter moved to approve the policy as written with Sutter’s changes. Sutter 
amended the motion to include allowing staff leeway to accept or reject his changes as appropriate. O’Brien seconded. 
Vote 4-0, unanimous.  
 
Item 8B, Review and approval of the Boulder Public Library Security Camera policy (p. 11-12) 
Sutter submitted changes prior to the start of the meeting, which can be found here:  https://boulderlibrary.org/wp-
content/uploads/2014/12/LC-Handouts-2015-Apr.pdf .Commissioners reviewed changes proposed by Sutter. Gibb 
moved to approve the policy with Sutter’s changes. Teter seconded. Vote 4-0, unanimous.  
 
Item 8C, Review of the draft Computer and Internet Use, and Filtering policy (p. 13-14) 
Teter expressed concerns about the limitations of the purpose of the policy relating only to children. Gibb understood 
that scope to be driven by the law requiring the filtering service. Sutter recommended opening the policy with reference 
to the law to make the motivation clear. Commissioners discussed language, grammar, and syntax throughout the 
policy to ensure clarity and accuracy. Sutter recommended a more elegant title for the policy. Commissioners will 
revisit this policy at their May meeting. 
  
Agenda Item 9: Update on filtering software and Connect Boulder                             [6:50 p.m., Audio 50:35 min] 
Farnan confirmed that the wireless Internet in the city will not be filtered, but stated that devices provided by the library 
must be filtered by law. O’Brien asked if patrons could bring their personal devices into the children’s area and access 
inappropriate material, which Farnan confirmed was possible. Miles and Farnan noted that doing so would be a 
violation of the library’s rules of conduct, and possibly the law. Sutter pointed out that the new layout of the children’s 
area made policing that behavior easier than before. 

Boards and Commissions 
Library Commission  04 08 2015

3E     Page 2Packet Page 340



   

 
 

 
 

 

Commissioner Sutter approved these minutes on May 19, 2015; and Carrie Mills attested to this 
approval on May 19, 2015. 

An audio recording of the full meeting for which these minutes are a summary is available on the Library 
Commission web page at https://boulderlibrary.org/about/commission/. 

Agenda Item 10: Library Commission update (from memo) (p. 18-23)                        [6:52 p.m., Audio 52:36 min] 
 
Item 10A, Update on email responses to Library Commission (p. 19-22) 
Commissioners agreed that Sutter would serve as the point of contact for the commission when receiving emails from 
the public.  In regards to one message received, Sutter asked about how the lower shelves have been received by the 
public. Farnan noted that chairs and stools are available for patron use, and staff stopped stocking the lowest shelves.  
 
Item 10B, Main Library meeting room update (p. 24) 
Teter felt that the memo included by staff addressed her concerns raised in her email. 
 
Agenda Item 11: Library and Arts Director’s Report (p. 25-37)                                  [7:00 p.m., Audio 1:00:21 hr] 
 
Item 11A, Results of Boulder Public Library Foundation 2015 Spring Grant Round (p. 28) 
Farnan reported that the BLF agreed to fund all of the proposed programs. Sutter asked for more details regarding the 
early literacy app. Farnan explained that the app is part of the Every Child Ready to Read (ECRR) program. Many 
libraries agreed to share their ECRR materials. Staff plans to market the app to parents statewide. The Colorado Early 
Literacy Group will help design content. Staff hopes to solicit donations from other libraries to match the grant from 
the foundation. If they exceed the match with donations, they plan to put the money towards a Spanish translation. 
Commissioners inquired about plans for the new maker space. Farnan explained where the space would be located and 
the early ideas of what equipment would be included. Teter expressed sentiments from the foundation regarding the 
number of proposals that came with community partners, noting that the board members were excited by the larger 
involvement. 
 
Item 11B, Civic Area update (p. 25) 
Farnan said that the study session went well. The most debated issues in the plan relate to parking and the band shell. 
Many council members agreed that the band shell is not functional and should be moved, though not too far. Teter 
recommended putting the band shell on top of a parking structure to solve two problems at once. 
 
Item 11C, Jaipur Literature Festival update (p. 25) 
Farnan reported that organizers have decided to centralize the festival on the municipal campus and in the library. Staff 
is considering limiting services during the festival to allow space for events. Farnan cited his inclination to limit 
services for the event, but recognized the impact that this will have on many patrons. 
 
Item 11D, Nature Play (p. 25, 29-36) 
Farnan introduced the Nature Play details. Teter recommended signage along the creek to announce that a Nature Play 
area is coming. Lane noted that there will be buzz for the area during the Summer Festival on June 6, 2015. 
 
Item 11E, Service levels per capita (p. 25, 37) 
Farnan noted that the collection circulation levels are not as high as desired, citing the need for more e-books and 
materials that appeal to library users. During this discussion, Susan Richstone joined the meeting. The commissioners 
returned to Agenda Item 5.  
 
Agenda Item 12: Future Items/Scheduling                                                                      [7:46p.m., Audio 1:46:23 hr] 
Sutter announced that he will move the alcohol policy from May to June. Sutter reminded commissioners that the 
commission photo will be taken in June. 
 
Agenda Item 13:  Adjournment                                                                                        [7:48 p.m., Audio 1:48:11 hr] 
There being no further business to come before the commission at this time, the meeting was adjourned at 7:48 p.m. 
 
Date, Time, and Location of Next Meeting: 
The next Library Commission meeting will be at 6 p.m. on Wed., May 6, 2015, in the Canyon Meeting Room at the 
Main Library, 1001 Arapahoe Ave., Boulder, CO 80302. 
 

Boards and Commissions 
Library Commission  04 08 2015

3E     Page 3Packet Page 341



    
 
 

 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 

Boards and Commissions Minutes 

 
NAME OF COMMISSION:  Open Space Board of Trustees 

DATE OF MEETING: May 13, 2015 

NAME/EXTENSION OF PERSON PREPARING SUMMARY:   Leah Case  x3440 

NAMES OF MEMBERS, STAFF AND INVITED GUESTS PRESENT:   

 

MEMBERS:  Shelley Dunbar , Frances Hartogh, Kevin Bracy Knight, Tom Isaacson 

 

STAFF:  Tracy Winfree, Jim Reeder, Mark Gershman, Kelly Wasserbach, Jim Schmidt, Steve Armstead, 

Annie McFarland, Don D’Amico, Deryn Wagner, Don D’Amico, Alyssa Frideres, Alycia Knutson, Leah 

Case 

 

GUESTS: Annie Noble, Greenways Program Coordinator; Kurt Bauer, Engineering Project Manager; 

Kristin Dean, Utilities Planner; Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities; George Gerstle, Boulder 

County Transportation; Julian Maskeroni, Central Federal Lands Highway Division of the U.S. Dept of 

Transportation 

 

TYPE OF MEETING:                     REGULAR        CONTINUATION          SPECIAL 

SUMMATION:  

 

AGENDA ITEM 1- Approval of the Minutes 

Tom Isaacson moved the Open Space Board of Trustees to approve the minutes from April 8, 2015 as 

amended. Frances Hartogh seconded. This motion passed unanimously. 

 

AGENDA ITEM 2- Public Participation 

Mike Barrow, Boulder Mountainbike Alliance (BMA), said he appreciates the positive change in how 

OSMP is communicating with the public. 

 

Janet Streater, Boulder, urged staff to move forward with the foot bridge over Anderson Ditch.   

 

Suzanne Webel, Longmont, thanked staff for putting Chapman Drive and Joder Ranch Trailhead on the 

agenda.  

 

AGENDA ITEM 3- Matters from Staff  

Tracy Winfree, Open Space and Mountain Parks (OSMP) Director, gave an update on the 2016 Workplan.  

 

 

Boards and Commissions 
Open Space Board of Trustees 05 18, 2015

3F     Page 1Packet Page 342



Annie McFarland, Visitor Access Coordinator, gave a presentation on the status of closed trails due to the 

recent rain. 

 

Kelly Wasserbach, Engineering Manager, gave a presentation on Chapman Drive and Joder Ranch 

Trailhead. 

 

Steve Armstead, Environmental Planner, gave an update on the status of the North TSA planning process. 

 

AGENDA ITEM 4- Matters from the Board 

The Board expressed their support for televising of OSBT meetings to continue.   

 

Tom Isaacson and Annie Noble summarized information from the Greenways CIP.  

 

AGENDA ITEM 5- Public hearing and consideration of a recommendation to City Council regarding 

the South Boulder Creek Major Drainageway Flood Mitigation Plan. 

Don D’Amico, Ecological Systems Supervisor and Kristin Dean, Utilities Planner gave a presentation on the 

South Boulder Creek flood mitigation. 

 

This item spurred one motion: 

Tom Isaacson moved the Open Space Board of Trustees to support staff’s recommendation for City 

Council to accept the South Boulder Creek Major Drainageway Flood Mitigation Plan, specifically 

Option D (single berm using Colorado Department of Transportation Right of Way - and requiring no 

disposal of City of Boulder Open Space and Mountain Parks lands) which significantly lessens 

environmental impacts to Open Space Lands for Regional Detention at US 36. This is conditioned 

upon staff returning to the Open Space Board of Trustees in the event staff determines construction 

will involve non-trivial impacts to Open Space. Shelley Dunbar seconded. This motion passed 

unanimously.  

 
 

AGENDA ITEM 6 – Recommendation to dispose of an interest in Open Space lands pursuant to 

Boulder City Charter Section 177 through the conveyance of  three (3) acres of  Right of Way plus an 

additional 7 acres for the associated slope easements to Boulder County for the realignment and 

rebuilding of Lefthand Canyon Drive between Buckingham Park and Jamestown Road and a further 

recommendation to accept fee ownership to all lands currently owned by Boulder County between the 

south boundary of the new Right of Way and Left Hand Creek. 
George Gerstle, Boulder County Transportation, gave a presentation on a possible disposal in Lefthand 

Canyon.   

 

This item spurred one motion: 

Tom Isaacson moved the Open Space Board of Trustees approve and recommend that City Council 

approve 1) the disposal of an interest in Open Space lands pursuant to Boulder City Charter Section 

177 through the conveyance of  no more than five (5) acres of Right of Way plus an additional seven 

(7) acres for the associated slope easements to Boulder County for the realignment and rebuilding of 

Lefthand Canyon Drive between Buckingham Park and James Canyon Drive, and 2) acceptance of fee 

ownership to all lands currently owned by Boulder County between the boundary of the new Right of 

Way and Left Hand Creek. Kevin Bracy Knight seconded. This motion passed unanimously.   

 

AGENDA ITEM 7 – Consideration of a motion to approve and recommend that City Council approves 

the disposal of an interest in Open Space lands pursuant to Boulder City Charter Section 177 through 

the grant of easements to Public Service Company of Colorado for overhead power lines along 

Thomas Lane and on the T.H.P. Open Space property, as described in Attachment D, conditioned 

upon Public Service Company of Colorado executing a quit claim deed in a form acceptable to the city 

Boards and Commissions 
Open Space Board of Trustees 05 18, 2015

3F     Page 2Packet Page 343



terminating whatever rights and interest it may have to the  Lower Big Bluestem power line access 

route. 

Jim Schmidt, Property Agent, gave a presentation on a possible disposal along Thomas Lane.  

 

This item spurred one motion: 

Frances Hartogh moved the Open Space Board of Trustees approve and recommend that City Council 

approve the disposal of an interest in Open Space lands pursuant to Boulder City Charter Section 177 

through the grant of easements to PSCo for overhead power lines along Thomas Lane and on the 

T.H.P. Open Space property, as described in Attachment D, conditioned upon PSCo executing a quit 

claim deed in a form acceptable to the city terminating whatever rights and interest it may have to the  

Lower Big Bluestem power line access route. Shelley Dunbar seconded. This motion passed 

unanimously.   
 
 

ADJOURNMENT: The meeting adjourned at 9:53 p.m. 

 

ATTACH BRIEF DETAILS OF ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS:   

Many people spoke in favor of the staff recommendation regarding the South Boulder Creek flood 

mitigation plan. One person said he was skeptical that the proposed plan could happen without damaging the 

native grasslands on OSMP.  

 

 

TIME AND LOCATION OF ANY FUTURE MEETINGS, COMMITTEES OR SPECIAL HEARINGS:   

The next OSBT meeting will be Mon. June 15
th

 at 6 p.m. at 1777 Broadway in the Council Chambers  

 

Boards and Commissions 
Open Space Board of Trustees 05 18, 2015

3F     Page 3Packet Page 344



CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING MINUTES 

Name of Board / Commission:  Water Resources Advisory Board 

Date of Meeting: 23 February 2015 

Contact Information of Person Preparing Minutes:  Andrea Flanagan 303.413.7372 
Board Members Present: Vicki Scharnhorst, Mark Squillace, Dan Johnson, Lesley Smith, Ed Clancy 
Board Members Absent: None 
Staff Present:   Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 
                          Bob Harberg, Principal Engineer-Utilities 
                          Annie Nobel, Flood and Greenways Engineering Program Coordinator 
                          Bret Linenfelser, Water Quality and Environmental Services Manager 
                          Kurt Bauer, Engineering Project Manager 
                          Russ Sands, Watershed Sustainability and Outreach Supervisor 
                          MaryAnn Nason, Water Conservation Outreach Coordinator 
                          Heidi Hansen, Floodplain and Wetlands Administrator/ Civil Engineer  
                          Edward Stafford, Development Review Manager 
                         Andrea Flanagan, Board Secretary 
Cooperating Agencies Present:  
Monica Bortolini, Consultant with Leonard Rice Engineers, Inc.  
Meeting Type:  Regular  
Agenda Item 1 – Call to Order                                                                                                [7:05 p.m.] 
Agenda Item 2 – Approval of the 26 January 2015 Meeting Minutes:                                [7:06 p.m.]                                                                                                                                                                                                 
Motion to approve minutes as amended from January 26 as presented.  
Moved by: Johnson; Seconded by: Squillace 
Vote: 4:0 (Ed Clancy abstaining) 
Agenda Item 3 – Public Participation and Comment                                                            [7:10 p.m.]  
Public Comment:  
 
Patrick McAteer 
Chief Financial Officer at Frasier Meadows Retirement Community. Campus severely impacted by 2013 
floods, lost about 40% of operating capacity, only half-way returned to normalcy.  Requesting advocacy for 
Frasier Meadows, which is in its 55th year assisting seniors in Boulder. Lost entire bottom level of skilled 
nursing and entire assisted living wing, and much more infrastructure, including independent living 
structures, approximately $7.5 to 10 million in loss.  Here for long-term needs for seniors in Boulder 
community.  They are coming out of the flood and recreating what the organization will provide in the long 
run. Would appreciate continued advocacy of the Board.  
 
Chuck Howe 
Emphasized how severe the effects of the flood were on Frasier Meadows and is here to ask Board to 
promote maximum flood control off Highway 36 and any other alternatives.  Qualla Drive area was badly 
impacted with 100 damaged homes, as well as Frasier Meadows.  On the basis of FEMA’s first ruling, 
Frasier Meadows would be out of the floodplain if they built a retaining wall around its campus.  FEMA 
recently reversed their decision, saying that they would still fall in the floodplain due to two structures 
being out of compliance with construction regulations.  All residents would then be subject to flood 
insurance, with current rates quoted, causing a tremendous impact to residents.  Feels that adequate storage 
around Hwy. 36 would protect the Qualla Drive area and would give grounds for appealing FEMA ruling, 
which has severe implications for Frasier.  Hopes Board will consider the alternative, which would provide 
a legitimate argument to FEMA to have them reconsider their decision.  Final recommendation is to 
consider other alternatives on the other side of Highway 36.   
 
Tom LeMire  
President HOA of 100-unit, 5 building complex, which is about 15 years old, north of Frasier Meadows 
Manner.  As with Frasier, their building was under water during flood, small fraction of loss compared to 
what Frasier endured.  $42,000 worth of electrical damage to meters, with biggest issue being with 
settlement with insurance company.  In their 80-page umbrella insurance document, they didn’t see 
exemption that insurance company found, which stated that they should not be covered for upgrading 
electric meters even though City of Boulder says that meters should be upgraded, per the 2011code.  The 

Boards and Commissions 
Water Resource Advisory Board  02 23 2015

3G     Page 1Packet Page 345



insurance company does not cover upgrading, which is a catch-22.  
 
There were so much mechanical repairs and now years of frustrating efforts that require very expensive 
insurance policy. Experienced 3 feet of water that probably came from Bear Creek/ NCAR area.  Asks that 
Board please work with CU to open South Campus for natural retention in large low-lying areas around 
CU.  
 
Rick Mahan  
Member South Boulder Creek Action Group. Wants to reemphasize that the group’s main priority is to stop 
the overtopping of US36 during floods. 
 
Agenda Item 4 - Matters From Staff:                                                                                      [7:21 p.m.]                                                                                                                                                                                                      

a) Update on South Boulder Creek Mitigation Study  
b) Update on National Flood Insurance Program – Community Rating System  
c) 2015 Flood Outreach Program  
d) Water Conservation Program  

Agenda Item 5 – Matters from the Board:                                                                              [8:55 p.m.]                                                                  
 
Board Member Smith brought up the below matter(s): 
• Attended Watershed Forum, which was fantastic and thought-provoking. 
• Feels that the more our public can be educated about water use and average per-capita consumption, 

and the more information people have, the more they may realize that it is a critical resource.  
 
Board Member Johnson brought up the below matter(s): 
• Thanked Board Secretary for receiving the meeting packet in one succinct package this month, as 

opposed to separate documents and attachments.   
• Stated that he will miss April meeting and questioned whether date could be changed?   
• Questioned status of snowpack in the watershed? 

 
Board Member Clancy brought up the below matter(s): 
• Questioned whether the city’s water supply lines’ range of leakage falls between 7% and 14%. 
• Discussed email that was sent to Board about study regarding “submarines” that were sent through 

collection systems and that it would be nice to see this subject revisited by city staff.  
• Questioned if we are going to be doubling our existing collection system rehabilitation efforts. 
• Questions about flow meters that were put in sewage lines and what current infiltration rate is? 
• Questioned if Frasier Meadows is an area that would be metered to determine flows? 
• Questioned conditioning monitors and the status of the “big pipes” in the city’s sewer mains. 
• Questioned if the problem with Casey Middle School is related to sewer main issues?    
 
Agenda Item 6 – Future Schedule                                                                                           [ 9:05 p.m.]  
Several board members expressed interest in rescheduling future meetings due to conflicts.  Staff will 
follow up.   

Adjournment                                                                                                                              [9:07 p.m.]    
There being no further business to come before the Board at this time, by motion regularly adopted, the 
meeting was adjourned at 9:07 p.m. 
Motion to adjourn by: Johnson; Seconded by: Squillace 
Motion Passes 5:0  
Date, Time, and Location of Next Meeting: 
The next WRAB meeting will be Monday, 16 March 2015 at 7:00 p.m., at the City's Municipal Services 
Center, 5050 Pearl St., Boulder, CO 80301 

 
APPROVED BY:      ATTESTED BY: 
_______________________________   __________________________________ 
Board Chair      Board Secretary 
_____________________________                 ___________________________________ 
Date         Date 
 

Boards and Commissions 
Water Resource Advisory Board  02 23 2015

3G     Page 2Packet Page 346



An audio recording of the full meeting for which these minutes are a summary, is available on the Water 
Resources Advisory Board web page.  
https://bouldercolorado.gov/boards-commissions/water-resources-advisory-board-next-meeting-agenda-and-packet 
 
 
 

Boards and Commissions 
Water Resource Advisory Board  02 23 2015

3G     Page 3Packet Page 347

https://bouldercolorado.gov/boards-commissions/water-resources-advisory-board-next-meeting-agenda-and-packet


CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS MEETING MINUTES 

Name of Board / Commission:  Water Resources Advisory Board 

Date of Meeting: 27 April 2015 

Contact Information of Person Preparing Minutes:  Andrea Flanagan 303.413.7372 
Board Members Present: Vicki Scharnhorst, Dan Johnson, Ed Clancy, Mark Squillace 
Board Members Absent: Lesley Smith  
Staff Present:   Jeff Arthur, Director of Public Works for Utilities 
                          Annie Noble, Flood and Greenways Engineering Program Coordinator 
                          Katie Knapp, Engineering Project Manager 
                          Kristin Dean, Utilities Planner 
                          Ken Baird, Utilities Financial Manager 
                          Douglas Sullivan, Acting Principal Engineer for Water, Wastewater and Stormwater 
                          Tom Settle, Water Treatment Manager 
                          Ward Bauscher, Engineering Project Manager 
                          Kevin Clark, Utilities Project Manager, Sourcewater Infrastructure 
                          Steve Buckbee, Engineering Project Manager 
                          Christin Shepherd, Civil Engineer 
                          Milford John-Williams, Budget Analyst 
                          Andrea Flanagan, Board Secretary 
Cooperating Agencies Present: 
                          Alan Turner, Senior Project Manager, CH2M HILL  
                          Shea Thomas, Urban Drainage and Flood Control District 
Meeting Type:  Regular  
Agenda Item 1 – Call to Order                                                                                                [7:00 p.m.] 
Agenda Item 2 – Approval of the 16 March 2015 Meeting Minutes                                    [7:00 p.m.]                                                                                                                                                                                                 
Motion to approve minutes from March 16 as presented.  
Moved by: Squillace; Seconded by: Johnson 
Vote: 4:0 (Lesley Smith absent) 
Agenda Item 3 – Swearing In/ Election of Officers                                                                [7:03 p.m.] 
Ed Clancy was sworn in for his term on the WRAB. 
 
Motion by:  Clancy; Seconded by: Squillace 
Move to postpone election of officers until such a time as all five board members are present to vote. 
Current arrangement of officers would continue until that time. 
Vote: 4:0 (Lesley Smith absent) 
Agenda Item 4 – Public Participation and Comment                                                            [7:04 p.m.] 
Public Comment:  
 
Karl Anuta, Crif Crawford, Bruce Thompson (each speaker took a portion of the pooled time) 
Karl Anuta spoke on behalf of residents of Frasier Meadows Retirement Community and presented a 
petition with signatures to the Board to ask for their support in the construction of a flood control facility, 
south of highway US 36.  Citizens are concerned about the South Boulder Creek area, which the city has 
studied for many years.  Over 300 homes of the total homes damaged by the flood event were on the west 
side of Foothills.  This is not a flood that came up through basements, or caused by an over-taxed sewer 
system.  This flood damage was caused strictly by surface water flowing over the turnpike and into homes, 
as well as the retirement community.  Much of the Frasier Meadow’s infrastructure was severely damaged, 
including several major buildings.  Asking for Board support for construction of this area.   
 
Crif Crawford: 
 Showed videos of flooding at: Table Mesa and US 36, Frasier Meadows (from Thunderbird), Underground 
Garage to illustrate the flows and seriousness of the flood waters in their community.  
 
 
Bruce Thompson 
Asking for Board support to further prevent water from South Boulder Creek Basin from topping over US 
36 and overflowing into residential areas, west of Foothills Parkway.  Highest priority is saving lives.  If 

Boards and Commissions 
Water Resource Advisory Board  04 27 2015

3H     Page 1Packet Page 348



anyone had been in the Frasier Meadows parking garage, they might not have survived. It took less than 15 
minutes to take 88 cars.  Residents had to be carried across 3 feet of water to safety, which is a miracle that 
no one was lost.  43 residents of Frasier Meadows are present today and instead of speaking individually, 
they signed a sheet agreeing to these comments.  
 
Al LeBlang  
Concurs with the aforementioned statements.   
 
Clinton Heiple 
This was not a gently rising flood; this was water that came on very quickly and if anyone had been 
sleeping in their basement they could have died.  Primary responsibility of government is to protect the 
lives and safety of its citizens.  Hopes for Board to move forward.  
 
Laura Tyler 
Member of the South Boulder Creek Steering Committee, shared update about what the group is doing.  
Concerned that safety piece was not addressed at earlier study session.  Group has reached out to City 
Council members, as well as University of Colorado (CU) staff.  Reactions have been overwhelmingly 
positive.  Council sees this as an opportunity to cooperate with CU.  CU representatives are very positive 
and both groups clearly see the seriousness of this situation.  There is a feeling of momentum.  Shared a 
clip from Daily Camera about annexation and shared quote about the city’s plans for South Boulder Creek 
Mitigation Project and Southeast Boulder section and wanted to include this as part of the conversation.  
This conversation is happening and it is very positive. 
 
Payson Sheets 
Spoke about a possible future hazard that he would like to have avoided, with regard to expansion of Eldora 
ski area.  Family moved to Boulder in 1920’s and remembers ski area working cooperatively with 
residents, but they are now unwilling to listen to residents.  Sediment load is going into Peterson Lake and 
they would like to build additional trails, which would cause greater sediment issues. The ski area has been 
granted an expansion in both directions.  EPA in Denver looked at their plans and found that the 
environmental impact statement was incomplete, and they were unable to assess the environmental impacts.  
Feels that this needs to be reassessed by the City.  Nederland Advisory Board is preparing objections and 
he urges Board to file a firm objection to the expansion.  Read from a key statement by Bret Linenfelser 
from April, 2014.  Appreciates anything the Board can do to protect Boulder Creek.   
 
Jim Johnson  
Represents Southeast Boulder Neighborhood Association, which includes surrounding neighborhoods. 
Appreciates Board hearing the group’s message, which is that they want to work together with the City, 
County and FEMA to prevent water from further flooding these neighborhoods.  Held up a map to show the 
Board. Hopes group can plan ahead with University of Colorado and would appreciate anything the Board 
can do to work with these entities to help protect residents.  Mitigation is needed badly.   
Agenda Item 5 –                                                                                                                         [7:28 p.m.] 
                                                                                                                 
Public Hearing and Consideration of a Recommendation to City Council Regarding the Gregory 
Creek Mitigation Study 
Katie Knapp and Utilities staff presented the item to the board. 
 
Executive Summary from the Packet Materials: 
The purpose of this memorandum is to present the Gregory Canyon Creek Draft Flood Mitigation Plan 
(Attachment A) for the WRAB’s consideration, input and recommendation to Council.   

The city has retained CH2MHill to evaluate potential alternatives to help alleviate future flooding along 
Gregory Canyon Creek.  CH2MHill’s Alternative Analysis Memorandum (“Analysis”) is included as 
Appendix A of the Draft Flood Mitigation Plan (Attachment A).  This Analysis contains a detailed 
description of the data and models used to determine the improvements which would help flood 
conveyance along Gregory Canyon Creek.  The intent of the Analysis was to identify various types of 
improvements which could be constructed along the creek corridor, assess the costs and benefits associated 
with each improvement, and include an engineer’s recommendation.      

Staff reviewed the Analysis and developed a staff recommended plan based on the engineering 
recommendation, input from the public and observations from the 2013 flood event.  The staff 

Boards and Commissions 
Water Resource Advisory Board  04 27 2015

3H     Page 2Packet Page 349



recommended plan is illustrated graphically in Section 6 of the Draft Flood Mitigation Plan (Attachment 
A) which also includes additional information about the Gregory Canyon Creek watershed, the planning 
process and the alternatives considered.  Please note that not all sections of the document have been 
completed.  Pending consideration and input from WRAB, conceptual drawings will be developed and the 
mitigation plan will be finalized and presented to City Council for acceptance.      

WRAB Discussion Included:  
• Question about four private culverts and asked if property owners agree to dedicate easements in 

order for city to install   
• Question if residents support installing a pedestrian bridge. 
• Stated that it is likely that we will exceed a ten-year flood and questioned if infrastructure will 

support anything greater than a 10-year flood.  
• Asked about the cost-to-benefit analysis and questioned the numbers presented because they did 

not match what is in the report.   
• Commented that a 7% discount rate is not realistic. Concerned that if the discount rate is changed, 

the numbers will be skewed.   
• Suggests the calculations be made under different discount rates.  Numbers seem speculative.  
• Stated that the culvert replacement over the ten-year event does make sense. 
• Asked for further clarification on method used for property acquisition. 
• Stated that it is odd that city would agree to pay for the easements and suggested further 

discussion of this topic.  
• Asked if there is a consideration at this time for what would come first as a priority, so that larger 

problems are not created and requested further clarification of the overall timeline approach. 
• Questioned how the benefits get assessed in this situation.   
• Requested further clarification on road improvements and property acquisition and whether these 

aspects could not be made part of the recommendation and instead, be a part of another program? 
• Stated that this project affects neighborhoods directly and recommends a more adaptive approach 

that allows adjustments as more information is found out and suggests adding this to 
recommendation.   

• Requested clarification on whether there is a reason that street improvements need to be included 
in the recommendation.   

• Stated that Board has been discussing Gregory Creek since 2008 and something needs to happen.   
• Requested whether it is normal practice for landscaping to be replaced, if damaged. 
• Recommended that residents be asked to grant easements without compensation, as to allow 

funding to be stretched.   
• Stated that if property value increases, it seems odd that the city would pay for easements.  

 
Public Comment:  
 
Holly Pearen 
Stated that staff and Board have been very open and solicitous to the neighborhood concerns.  As the plan 
has developed, the landowners have some concerns, both on macro and micro scales. Inconsistencies lead 
to deep concern.  Glad that benefit-cost analysis has been addressed.  The value of the damages presented 
in the documents are inconsistent.  Has to be some sort of calibration to what actually happened. 
Understands that the damages are estimated, but this cannot be accurate.  No realistic assumptions about 
the value can be made based on these numbers.  Open to hearing explanation as to how these numbers were 
arrived at from CH2M Hill.  Landowners would appreciate if city and CH2M Hill could be more 
transparent about the cost to landowners.  If in fact properties gain or lose value, tell them how much and 
reflect this in the budget.  If easements will be given to the city for free, this may not be realistic, especially 
based on her experience throughout this process. 
 
Stewart Machle 
Would like to thank city for all the help given to him since the flood.  Rock walls have been rebuilt.  
Question about intersection of Anderson Ditch and Gregory Creek.  Heard comment about an overhead 
culvert or culvert separate from Gregory Creek and agrees they should be separated. Asks if a decision has 
been made about what is going to be done with this location, as this is a critical area. 
 
Laz Nemeth 
Asked why everyone is in favor with box culverts.  They are ugly.  Preference is for keeping Anderson 

Boards and Commissions 
Water Resource Advisory Board  04 27 2015

3H     Page 3Packet Page 350



Ditch open so children can play there.  Running water is aesthetically pleasing.  Based on personal 
experience, Anderson Ditch was actually shut off during the flood.  There was no more flow in Gregory 
Creek afterwards.  Something needs to be done. Asks if there is a reason for always having two box 
culverts and if it is more cost-effective.   
 
Rebecca Roser 
Part of her property is Anderson Ditch, which goes to the edge of her property.  Flows stopped in Anderson 
Ditch, because it was filled to the top with silt during the flood.  Agrees that the area where Gregory Creek 
and Anderson Ditch come together is an issue because it’s at the edge of her property.   Appreciates that 
neighbors have been solicited and looking forward to working with city with regard to easements. 
 
Motion by: Squillace; Seconded: Johnson 
Vote: 4:0 (Lesley Smith absent)  
Motion Passes  
 
Staff requests Water Resources Advisory Board consideration of this matter and action in the form of the 
following motion: 

Motion to recommend the Gregory Canyon Creek Flood Mitigation Plan be finalized based on the 
Staff Recommended Plan and presented to City Council for acceptance. 
Agenda Item 6 –                                                                                                                         [8:40 p.m.] 
 
Information Item – Preliminary Draft 2016 Utilities Budget (Water, Wastewater and Stormwater/ 
Flood Management) including the 6-year Capital Improvement Program (CIP)   
 
Douglas Sullivan, Ken Baird, Annie Noble, Kevin Clark, Steve Buckbee,  and other Utilities staff 
presented the information item to the board. 
 
As part of the city’s annual budget process, Utilities develops a six-year planning budget, this year for the 
time period of 2016 through 2021.  The Water Resources Advisory Board (WRAB) role in this process is 
defined in the Boulder Revised Code: “. . . to review all environmental assessments and capital 
improvements conducted or proposed by the utilities division.”  Utilities staff has formulated initial revenue 
and expenditure projections for each of the three utility funds through the year 2021.  Within the budget 
process, City Council approves and appropriates funds only for the first year, 2016.  In addition to the six 
year CIP described above, Utilities staff develops a 20-yr CIP.   The purpose of the 20-yr CIP is to look at 
long range needs for all three utilities.  The 20-yr CIP is a valuable mechanism to look at upcoming 
regulatory requirements, asset management needs for aging facilities, and the associated debt service for 
existing bonds. 
 
This agenda item provides an opportunity for the WRAB to discuss a “preliminary draft” of the CIP.  Input 
from WRAB will guide staff in preparation of a draft CIP for discussion by WRAB at the May meeting.  
WRAB will be asked to make a recommendation to City Council regarding the 2016-2021 CIP at its June 
meeting.  The Planning Board will review the complete city CIP, including utilities, in July.  City Council 
generally plans for two study sessions in September, prior to adopting the 2016 budget. 
 
 
WRAB Discussion Included:  

• Stated that there is some concern that the rate increases may be a bit heavy, considering they have 
been flat for so long.  Concerned that rate increases won’t stop.  This could largely impact 
commercial users.   

• Stated that perhaps we should exercise more thoughtfulness on how we conserve water and 
consider the possibility of selling our product (water) while we have it.  If we continue to 
conserve, what are we losing in revenue? 

• Stated that the issue is complicated, because if we don’t conserve, then we need to acquire new 
water supplies.   

• Stated that these changes could be more significant than the public may even understand.   
• Expressed concern that we may be on a track that is not aligned with inflation.  
• Stated that what some local communities want that is in the best interest of protecting their 

properties, may not actually be what’s best for the community at large.  
• Commented that we do need to play catch-up on sewage updates, as we saw what happened during 

Boards and Commissions 
Water Resource Advisory Board  04 27 2015

3H     Page 4Packet Page 351



the flood event in 2013.   
• Stated that CII was never completed and suggest revisiting. 
• Asked whether there is any potential to sell any of our resources to generate additional revenue.   
• Questioned whether our plant investment fee is high enough and whether or not it is fair for people 

who buy in later. 
• Questioned if there was any conclusion that came from the inspection of sewer lines that were 

inspected by a pipeline ‘submarine.’   
Agenda Item 7 – Matters from the Board:                                                                            [10:12 p.m.]                                                                  

 
Board Member Clancy brought up the below matter(s): 

• Requested clarification on dates for future open houses. 
• Requested to find out if PowerPoint presentations will be posted following meetings.  

 
Board Member Johnson brought up the below matter(s): 

• Requested more information on Eldora expansion, with regard to public comment.  
Agenda Item 8 – Matters from Staff:                                                                                     [10:15p.m.]  

•  Kim Hutton provided an update on water supply for 2015.  There is no need to implement water 
restrictions at this time, based on current snow pack conditions.  

• Department of Health and Human Services has recently released a fluoride recommendation.   
City is determining next steps and will follow up at future meeting. 

Agenda Item 9 – Future Schedule                                                                                           [10:24p.m.]  
May:  

• South Boulder Creek Mitigation 
• Skunk Creek Mapping Update 
• Update on Wastewater and Stormwater Collection System Master Plans 
• Preliminary Capital Improvements Program update 
• Boulder Civic Area Update  
• Boulder Creek Mitigation Plan Update 

Adjournment                                                                                                                            [10:31 p.m.]    
There being no further business to come before the Board at this time, by motion regularly adopted, the 
meeting was adjourned at 10:31p.m. 
Motion to adjourn by: Johnson; Seconded by: Squillace  
Motion Passes 4:0 (Lesley Smith absent) 
Date, Time, and Location of Next Meeting: 
The next WRAB meeting will be Monday, 18 May 2015 at 7:00 p.m., at the City's Municipal Services 
Center, 5050 Pearl St., Boulder, CO 80301 

 
APPROVED BY:      ATTESTED BY: 
_______________________________   __________________________________ 
Board Chair      Board Secretary 
_____________________________                 ___________________________________ 
Date         Date 
 
An audio recording of the full meeting for which these minutes are a summary, is available on the Water 
Resources Advisory Board web page.  
https://bouldercolorado.gov/boards-commissions/water-resources-advisory-board-next-meeting-agenda-and-packet 

Boards and Commissions 
Water Resource Advisory Board  04 27 2015

3H     Page 5Packet Page 352

https://bouldercolorado.gov/boards-commissions/water-resources-advisory-board-next-meeting-agenda-and-packet


Packet Page 353



Packet Page 354



Packet Page 355



Packet Page 356



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Project 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

CC: Open Access Transmission Tariff    

SS: Power Supply 
SS (2): Rates, Energy Services, Power 

Supply
Project update  Project update

 Budget update  Budget update  Budget update  Budget update
Staff Activities Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan Municipalization Transition Plan

Council 
SS: Review interim goals, targets and 

strategies

Staff Activities Launch action plan 
Energy system transformation; blue 

print convening Implementation based on action plan Implementation based on action plan

Council Briefing SS (2)

Staff Activities
Housing Matters launch event, 

engagement activities 
Draft strategy development

Implementation based on adopted 
strategy

Implementation based on adopted 
strategy

SS: Direction of preferred scenario SS : Draft plan and action plan

Next Corridor - 30th St or Colorado

Staff Activities Develop East Arapahoe action plan
Council SS Direction or IP Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Develop scoping plan Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development
Council SS Direction or IP Direction or IP

Staff Activities Issues identification Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development Strategy analysis and development
Council Update and coordinate with BVCP Update and coordinate with BVCP

Staff Activities

Council Briefing Briefing
Staff Activities

SS : Review options & Update; 
including recommendations for TDM 

tool kit for new development

Council action on TDM Tool Kit for 
new development

Recommendations including planning 
code changes

SS: Review options and update 
Ongoing work plan in 7 focus areas Ongoing work plan Ongoing work plan Ongoing work plan
Alternatives analysis and specific 

option development

Specific option 

development/refinements
Joint Board workshop & public 

engagement
Joint Board workshop & public 

engagement

Council

Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan

Sustainable Streets and Centers/ East Arapahoe

Council 

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

a
ti

o
n

C
li

m
a

te
 a

n
d

 
E

n
er

g
y

 Comprehensive Housing Strategy (Housing 
Boulder)

 Energy Future and Associated Projects 

H
o

u
si

n
g

/L
a

n
d

 U
se

 
P

la
n

n
in

g

Climate Commitment

Resilience

Transportation Master Plan Implementation

Staff and elected official activities ongoing 
Regional Travel

Access Management and Parking Strategy (AMPS)

Staff Activities

Council

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 1 3/26/2015
Packet Page 357



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Project 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council SS: Parkland Concepts Plan CC: Approval of Concept Plan
Outreach to community & partners; 

create delivery plan for spring, 
summer, fall events

Deliver spring events Deliver summer activities and events
Review 2015 activation; compare lessons 

from 2014 and revise for 2016

Draft of parkland concept plan options 
for public workshop, Boards, Council 

review 

Board/Commission input on Concept 
Plan

Begin detailed design work on park 
improvements

Complete detailed design work for 
bidding 

Develop overall site master plan 
concepts, begin to formulate major 

capital projects

Initial feasibility planning on major 
capital projects

Continue to develop capital projects, 
identify potential partners, explore 

financing options

Continue to develop capital projects, 
identify potential partners, explore 

financing options

Council IP and local meals for Council Pilot

Council consideration of Local Food 
Procurement Policy; Review and 

acceptance of Ag Resources 

Management Plan

Council consideration of Local Food 
Procurement Policy; Review and 

acceptance of Ag Resources Management 

Plan

Staff Activities

SS: Review options IP 
CC: Public Hearing and Decision                                                                                                          

Recommendation & development of 
ordinances, changes and recommend 

other strategies to address 
Moratorium goals 

Follow up on other strategies & 
coordination with Hill Reinvestment 
Strategy; incorporate strategies into 

other work plan

Board review & public engagement Board review & public engagement

 Direction  on 14th Street 
redevelopment proposal 

SS 

SS: Update on strategy 
Residential service district (RSD) pilot 

program
RSD pilot program RSD pilot program RSD pilot program

Work plan implementation Work plan implementation Work plan implementation On-going work plan  implementation

Establish benchmarks  and evaluation 
criteria

Commercial district: Eco Pass Study & 
Commercial bear dumpsters

Implement volunteer program for 
clean up

Evaluate existing programs

Integration of strategy 
recommendations from Moratorium

Research options for sustainable 
governance & funding

Develop options for sustainable 
governance & funding

14th Street Lot public/private 
partnership redevelopment options re: 

work force affordable housing

14th Street Lot public/private 
partnership redevelopment options 

re: work force affordable housing

Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement Stakeholder engagement

Council IP: 2014 Accomplishments 
SS: As part of Human Services strategy 

update 
IP - Services and Regional coordination 

update
Staff Activities

Council 
Council update and input on testing 

phase
Briefing

SS: Adoption of Community Cultural 
Plan

Staff Activities
Research phase complete. Drafting 

phase complete. Testing phase begins
Testing phase complete. Certification 

phase begins
Implementation begins. New public art 

policy drafting
Public Art Policy drafting 

L
iv

a
b

il
it

y
L

o
ca

l 
F

o
o

d

Sustainable Agriculture and Local Foods 

Homeless Action Plan

C
iv

ic
 A

re
a

Community Cultural Plan 

Staff Activities

University Hill Moratorium

Council

Council

Staff Activities

 University Hill  Reinvestment Strategy 

Civic Area Implementation
Staff Activities

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 2 3/26/2015
Packet Page 358



City of Boulder
2015 Work Plan
 (Tentative as of December 16, 2014)

Projects 1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

Council 

Staff Activities Ongoing redevelopment coordination
North Side of Pearl and Goose Creek 

bridge landscaping install. Bridge 
opens 

Depot Square opens 

Council Ongoing and Wastewater Collection 

System Rehabilitation program begins

Ongoing SS: 2016-2021 CIP Ongoing

Staff Activities

Council Report on 2015 City Events Summary of 2015 City Events

Staff Activities
Implement new events application and 

internal review process
Refine systems as needed Refine systems as needed

Improve events application for new 
online Landlinks System in 2016

Council SS SS

Staff Activities
Broadband Action Group formation 

and consultant assessment 
Consultant assessment continued Consultant assessment continued Present findings and recommendations 

Council
SS: Staff Recommendations design 

tools/process changes 
IP

CC: Draft recommendations/Adopt 
strategy 

Staff Activities
Issues identification/  preliminary  

work on design tools/ process changes
Technical analysis /develop options Draft recommendations

Public engagement Boards/public engagement Boards/public engagement 

Council

Staff Activities Flood Annexations - Individual Flood Annexations - Old Tale Rd Ongoing Ongoing

Council SS Public Hearing 
Staff Activities

Council

IP: Stormwater Master Plan and 
Wastewater Collection System Master 

Plan consideration

Staff
Stormwater Master Plan and 

Wastewater Collection System Master 
Plan updates continue

Stormwater Master Plan and 
Wastewater Collection System Master 

Plan updates continue

Council CC: Second reading 

Staff Activities Education campaign Enforcement begins Monitor Outcomes Monitor Outcomes

Council SS

Staff Activities
Research regulations and possible fees 

or taxes 

Human Services Strategy

O
th

er

 Boulder Junction

Capital Projects Activity 

CityWide Special Events 

Community Broadband

Design Excellence

 Flood-related  Annexations 

 Flood Management 

Smoking Ban - Implementation

Vacation Rental by Owner (VRBO)

C:\Users\burnt1\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\SGAYQBHC\CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5)CAG Timeline12 12 16 14 FINAL (5) 3 3/26/2015
Packet Page 359



                                                             COUNCIL MEMBERS 
 

Matthew Appelbaum  Mayor 
Suzanne Jones  Mayor Pro Tem 
Macon Cowles  Council Member 

George Karakehian  Council Member 
Lisa Morzel  Council Member 

Tim Plass  Council Member 
Andrew Shoemaker  Council Member 

Sam Weaver  Council Member 
Mary Young  Council Member 

                                                               
 
                                                             COUNCIL EMPLOYEES 
 

Thomas A. Carr  City Attorney 
Jane S. Brautigam  City Manager 

Linda P. Cooke  Municipal Judge 
                                                                
 
                                                              KEY STAFF 
 

Mary Ann Weideman 
Bob Eichem 

 Assistant City Manager 
Chief Financial Officer 

Alisa D. Lewis  City Clerk 
Patrick von Keyserling  Communications Director 

David Driskell  Executive Director of Community Planning and Sustainability and 
Acting Director of Housing 

Molly Winter  Downtown, University Hill Management & Parking Services 
Director 

Heather Bailey  Executive Director of Energy Strategy and Electric Utility 
Development  

Michael Calderazzo  Fire Chief 
Joyce Lira  Human Resources Director 

Karen Rahn  Human Services Director 
Don Ingle  Information Technology Director 

Eileen Gomez  Labor Relations Director 
David Farnan  Library and Arts Director 

James Cho  Acting Municipal Court Administrator 
Tracy Winfree  Acting Open Space and Mountain Parks Director 

Yvette Bowden  Parks and Recreation Director 
Greg Testa  Police Chief 

Maureen Rait  Executive Director of Public Works 
Cheryl Pattelli  Director of Fiscal Services 
Mike Sweeney  Acting Transportation Director 

Jeff Arthur  Utilities Director 
 

Packet Page 360



 Approved   02-17-2015 

 
 

2015 City Council Committee Assignments 
 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Beyond the Fences Coalition Morzel, Plass (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Boulder County Consortium of Cities Young, Morzel (alternate) 
Colorado Municipal League (CML) – Policy Committee Jones,  Cowles (Castillo – staff alternate) 
Denver Regional Council of Governments (DRCOG) Jones, Plass 
Housing Authority (Boulder Housing Partners) Shoemaker 
Metro Mayors Caucus Appelbaum 
National League of Cities (NLC) Appelbaum, Cowles 
Resource Conservation Advisory Board Morzel (at large seat), Plass 
Rocky Flats Stewardship Morzel, Plass (1st alternate), Castillo (2nd alternate) 
University of Colorado (CU)/City Oversight Cowles, Shoemaker, Weaver 
US36 Mayors and Commission Coalition Appelbaum 
US36 Commuting Solutions Karakehian, Morzel (alternate) 
Urban Drainage and Flood Control District Jones 

 
LOCAL ORGANIZATIONS 
Boulder Museum of Contemporary Art (BMoCA) Young 
Boulder Convention and Visitors Bureau Plass, Cowles (alternate) 
Dairy Center for the Arts Jones 
Downtown Business Improvement District Board  Weaver, Young 
 
INTERNAL CITY COMMITTEES 
Audit Committee Cowles, Morzel, Shoemaker 
Boards and Commissions Committee Plass, Shoemaker 
Boulder Urban Renewal Authority (BURA)  
Mayoral Appointment 

Karakehian 

Charter Committee Karakehian, Morzel, Weaver 
Civic Use Pad/ 9th and Canyon Karakehian, Morzel, Young 
Council Employees Salary Review Cowles, Shoemaker 
Council Retreat Committee Jones, Morzel 
Evaluation Committee Morzel, Plass 
Housing Strategy Process Sub-Committee Morzel, Shoemaker, Young 
Legislative Committee Jones, Karakehian, Weaver 
School Issues Committee Morzel, Plass, Shoemaker 
 
SISTER CITY REPRESENTATIVES 
Jalapa, Nicaragua Jones 
Kisumu, Kenya Morzel 
Llasa, Tibet Shoemaker 
Dushanbe, Tajikistan Weaver 
Yamagata, Japan Plass 
Mante, Mexico Young 
Yateras, Cuba Karakehian, Cowles (alternate) 
Sister City Sub-Committee Morzel, , Karakehian 
 

Packet Page 361



2015 Study Session Calendar

5/27/20153:08 PM

1
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58

59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83

84
85
86
87
88

A B C D E F G H I

Date Status Topic Location Contacts
Materials 

Due

Draft 
Summary 

Due

Final 
Summary 

Due

Approved Briefing: Form Based Code 5:30-6:30 PM Chambers Sam Assefa/Melinda Melton
Approved Update on the Community Cultural Plan 6:30-7:30 Chambers Matt Chasansky/Carrie Mills 05/14/15 06/04/15 06/10/15
Approved AMPS Update 7:30-9PM Chambers Molly Winter/Ruth Weiss 05/14/15 06/04/15 06/10/15

Approved Housing Boulder 6-7:30 PM Chambers Jay Sugnet/Edy Urken 05/28/15 06/18/15 06/24/15
Approved BVCP/Resilience 7:30-9 PM Chambers Lesli Ellis/Melinda Melton

06/23/15
06/30/15

Approved Ballot Measures 6-7:30 PM Chambers Elena Lazarevska/Bob Eichem 07/02/15 07/23/15 07/29/15
Approved Discussion on Potential Head Tax 7:30-9 PM Chambers Elena Lazarevska/Bob Eichem

Approved Briefing: Civic Area Park Site Plan Update 5:30-6 PM Chambers Jeff Haley/Melinda Melton N/A N/A N/A
Approved Climate Commitment Goal and Strategy Proposal 6-7:30 PM Chambers Brett KenCairn/Melinda Melton 07/16/15 08/06/15 08/12/15
Approved West Fourmile area (Ponderosa MHP) planning grant 7:30-9 PM Chambers Chris Meschuk/Melinda Melton 07/16/15 08/06/15 08/12/15

Approved 2016 CIP Study Session 6-7:30 PM Chambers Elena Lazarevska/Bob Eichem 07/30/15 08/20/15 08/26/15
Approved Form-Based Code Pilot 7:30-9 PM Chambers Sam Assefa/Melinda Melton 07/30/15 08/20/15 08/26/15

OPEN Briefing: 5:30-6 PM Chambers N/A N/A N/A
Approved TMP Implementation Follow Up (pending first check-in on 2/24) 6-7:30 PM Chambers Randall Rutsch/Rene Lopez 08/13/15 09/03/15 09/09/15

Approved
Envision East Arapahoe Transportation Analysis and Phase II 
Medical Office Use 7:30-9 PM Chambers Randall Rutsch/Rene Lopez 08/13/15 09/03/15 09/09/15

Approved 2016 Budget Study Session 6-7:30 PM Chambers Elena Lazarevska/Bob Eichem 08/27/15 09/17/15 09/23/15
Approved Emerald Ash Borer 7:30-9 PM Chambers Kathleen Alexander/Sally Dieterich 08/27/15 09/17/15 09/23/15

OPEN Briefing: 5:30-6 PM Chambers N/A N/A N/A
Approved 2016 Budget Study Session 6-7:30 PM Chambers Elena Lazarevska/Bob Eichem 09/10/15 10/01/15 10/07/15
Approved Mobile Home Parks 7:30-9 PM Chambers 09/10/15 10/01/15 10/07/15

No Meeting 6-7:30 PM Chambers 09/17/15 10/08/15 10/14/15
7:30-9 PM Chambers

Approved Resilience Strategy Study Session 6-7:30 PM Chambers Greg Guibert/Melinda Melton 10/01/15 10/22/15 10/28/15
Approved 30th and Pearl City-owned Site Options (moved from 7/28, 9/29)
OPEN 7:30-9 PM Chambers

Approved Briefing: Boulder Energy Future 5:30-6 PM Chambers Heather Bailey/Heidi Joyce N/A N/A N/A
Human Services Strategy Update 6-7:30 PM chambers Karen Rahn 10/15/15 11/05/15 11/11/15
Homelessness 7:30-9 PM Chambers Karen Rahn 10/15/15 11/05/15 11/11/15

AMPS Update 6-7:30 PM Chambers Molly Winter/Ruth Weiss 10/29/15 11/19/15 11/25/15
Broadband Working Group Status Update 7:30-9 PM Chambers Don Ingle

11/24/15

Approved Utility Rate Study: Preliminary Findings 6-7:30 PM Chambers Eric Ameigh/Jeff Arthur/Rene Lopez 11/25/15 12/17/15 12/23/15
Hill Reinvestment Strategy Update 7:30-9 PM Chambers Molly Winters/Ruth Weiss 11/25/15 12/17/15 12/23/15

12/22/15
12/29/15 New Years Holiday Week

05/26/15

06/09/15

07/14/15

07/28/15

08/11/15

Council Recess June 17-July 12

Christmas Holiday Week

Council Recess June 17-July 12

Thanksgiving Holiday Week

11/10/15

12/08/15

08/25/15

09/08/15

9/17/2015 
(tentative)

09/29/15

10/13/15

10/27/15

Packet Page 362



CAO to 
Prepare 

Ord.?

Power 
Point

Agenda Section Item Name Time

Municipalization

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 0:00

June 1, 2015
Start Time: 6:00 PM Executive Session

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

Packet Page 363



CAO to 
Prepare 

Ord.?

Power 
Point

Contact
Preliminary: 5/21 :: Final 5/27

Agenda Section Item Name Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS Minutes
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT Notice of Sale for Stormwater/Flood Bonds 15 Minutes no Bob Eichem/Elena Lazarevska

Study Session Summary 4/14: Fire Dept Operations Mike Calderazzo/Laurie Ogden
Study Session Summary 4/28: Human Services Strategy no no Todd Jorgensen/Linda Gelhaar
OSMP disposal of land in Left Hand Canyon Jim Schmidt/Cecil Fenio
20-year lease for ROW encroachment (portion of historic garage) at 1900 Bluebell 
Ave Sloan Walbert/Melinda Melton
Motion for IGA for Sustainability Matching Grant funding Elizabeth Vasatka/Melinda Melton
Four items related to Authorization of Parks Disposal and conveyance of city 
easements to BWRD Co no no Kurt Bauer/Erin Raney

PUBLIC HEARINGS 1st Rdg Ordinance Regulating Short Term Rentals 90 Minutes Tom Carr/Heather Hayward
2nd Reading Ordinance 8045 for Zero Waste Requirements 90 Minutes yes yes Kara Mertz/Melinda Melton
2nd Rdg re Food Truck Ordinance 60 Minutes yes no Tom Carr/Heather Hayward

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL

CALL-UPS
Potential Call-up for concept plan review for a proposed mixed-use development 
(Alexan Flatirons) located at McKenzie Junction, 3600 Hwy 119. Elaine McLaughlin /Melinda Melton 

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 5:00

CAO to 
Prepare 

Ord.?

Power 
Point

Contact
Preliminary: 6/4 :: Final 6/10

Agenda Section Item Name Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS Minutes
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT Study Session Summary: 5/12 - Boulder Energy Future 15 Minutes Heather Bailey/Heidi Joyce

Study Session Summary: 5/12 Proposed Commercial & Industrial  Energy Efficiency Kendra Tupper/Melinda Melton
Study Session Summary : 5/12 Resilient Boulder Greg Guibert/Melinda Melton
Study Session Summary: 4/14 Finance Bob Eichem/Elena Lazarevska
Bond Ordinance - Sale of the Stormwater/Flood Bonds no Bob Eichem/Elena Lazarevska
Disposal of a Utility Easement Jim Schmidt/Cecil Fenio
Lefthand Canyon property disposal and construction easement Jim Schmidt/Cecil Fenio

June 2, 2015 
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Tour of Boulder Community Hopsital (Broadway Location) 4-5:30 PM
June 16, 2015

Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting
Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 364



Ordinance re Council Pay Ballot Measure yes Tom Carr/Heather Hayward
Reimbursement Resolution-Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds yes no Bob Eichem/Elena Lazarevska
Ordinance re Charter Revisions for the Library yes Dave?
Motion to approve Museum Disbursement Agr no no David Gehr/Sarah Bennett

PUBLIC HEARINGS Public Hearing and Acceptance of Updated Civic Area Master Plan/Discussion of 
BCH (Boulder Community Hospital Property) 120 Minutes yes Joanna Crean/Melinda Melton
Living Laboratory Phase II Complete Streets pilot projects 60 Minutes no yes Marni Ratzel/Erin Raney

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER Consideration of Guiding Principles for the Form Based Code (FBC) 45 Minutes no yes Karl Guiler/Melinda Melton
Neighborhood Grant Guidelines 10 Minutes no no Mary Ann Weideman/Dianne Marshall

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL
CALL-UPS

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 4:55

Council Recess - June 17 to July 12

Packet Page 365



CAO to 
Prepare 

Ord.?

Power 
Point

Contact
Preliminary: 7/9 :: Final 7/15

Agenda Section Item Name Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS Minutes
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT Study Session Summary for 6/9 BVCP/Resilience item 15 Minutes Lesli Ellis/Melinda Melton

Study Session Summary for 6/9 Housing Boulder item Jay Sugnet/Melinda Melton
2nd Rdg Ordinance re Regulating Short Term Rentals
1st Rdg Ordinance re Short Term Rental Tax yes Tom Carr/Heather Hayward
1st Rdg Ordinance re Acquisition of prop 28th st fm Pearl to Glenwood for 
Transportation Improvement projects Noreen Walsh/Erin Raney
1st Rdg Ordinance re Occupancy Extension Tax yes Tom Carr/Heather Hayward

PUBLIC HEARINGS BVCP schedule, work plan, and process for landowners and the general public to 
submit requests for changes to the plan

45 Minutes no yes Lesli Ellis/Melinda Melton

Coleman Acquisition- OSMP purchase of Coleman property
10 Minutes no yes John D'Amico/Cecil Fenio

Flood Mapping Studies for Upper Goose and Twomile Canyon Creek and Skunk, 
King's Gulch and Bluebell Creeks

50 Minutes no yes Annie Noble/Erin Raney

Community Cultural Plan Final Review 90 Minutes no yes Matt Chasansky/Carrie Mills
MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY Minutes
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL Minutes
CALL-UPS Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 4:15

July 21, 2015
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 366



CAO to 
Prepare 

Ord.?

Power 
Point

Contact
Preliminary: 7/23 :: Final 7/31

Agenda Section Item Name Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS Minutes
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT 1st Rdg of the Building Performance Ordinance 15 Minutes yes no Elizabeth Vasatka/Melinda Melton

PUBLIC HEARINGS South Boulder Creek Mitigation Plan 120 Minutes no yes Annie Noble/Erin Raney
Ballot Measures Placeholder 90 Minutes yes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER Minutes
MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY Minutes
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL Minutes
CALL-UPS Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 4:30

CAO to 
Prepare 

Ord.?

Power 
Point

Contact
Preliminary: 8/6 :: Final 8/12

Agenda Section Item Name Time Minutes
SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS Minutes
OPEN COMMENT 45 Minutes
CONSENT Water and Sewer Bonds Notice of Sale 15 Minutes Bob Eichem/Elena Lazarevska

Study Session Summary for July 28 Climate Commitment Brett KenCairn/Melinda Melton
Motion to approve 20 yr water lease to CU's Mountain research station na na Joe Taddeucci/Laurel Olsen-Horen

PUBLIC HEARINGS Final Reading Ballot measures 60 Minutes
Minutes

MATTERS FROM CITY MANAGER
Key Questions and Guiding Principles for the Utility Rate Structure Analysis 
(moved from 6/16)

45 Minutes no yes Eric Ameigh/Erin Raney

MATTERS FROM CITY ATTORNEY Minutes
MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL Update from Council Employee Evaluation Committee 30 Minutes no no Aimee Kane
CALL-UPS Minutes

Total Estimated Meeting Time (Hours:Minutes) 3:15

August 4, 2015 
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

August 18, 2015
Start Time: 6:00 PM Business Meeting

Location: Council Chambers, 1777 Broadway

Packet Page 367


	00_Agenda FINAL 20150602
	3A_Fire  Overview SS summary
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY, STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
	BACKGROUND, NEXT STEPS
	ATTACHMENT A: APRIL 14 STUDY SESSION SUMMARY

	3B_ HS Strategy SS summary
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY, STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	NEXT STEPS
	ATTACHMENT A-HS STRATEGY UPDATE
	ATTACHMENT B-DREAM BIG

	3C_1900 Bluebell ROW Lease
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Impacts, Feedback, Background
	Analysis
	Options
	Attachment A- ROW Lease

	3D_Realignment of Lefthand Canyon
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION, IMPACTS
	FEEDBACK, ANALYSIS
	ATTACHMENT A-VICINITY MAP
	ATTACHMENT B-LOCATION MAP

	3E_IGA with BOCO Grant - Final
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION, IMPACTS, BACKGROUND
	ANALYSIS, NEXT STEPS
	ATTACHMENT A- DRAFT IGA

	3F_Wonderland Creek easement disposal
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION
	IMPACTS
	FEEDBACK, BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS 
	ATTACHMENT A-RELOCATION MAP
	ATTACHMENT B-PROPOSED EASEMENT HOWARD H PARK
	ATTACHMENT C-PROPOSED LIMITED ASSIGNMENT OF EASEMENT
	ATTACHMENT D- EASEMENT WITHIN HAYDEN PLACE

	3G_Storm Water and Flood Management Notice of Bond Sale
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION, IMPACTS
	BACKGROUND AND ANALYSIS
	ATTACHMENT A-RES NO 1160
	ATTACHMENT B-DRAFT OF PRELIM OFFICIAL STMT
	ATTACHMENT C-BOND DISCLOSURE

	5A_ Zero Waste Ord -2nd Rdg
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION, ASSESSMENTS, IMPACTS
	FEEDBACK, FIRST READING ANSWERS
	BACKGROUND, ANALYSIS
	NEXT STEPS
	ATTACHMENT A: 1ST RDG ORD 8045
	ATTACHMENT B - ALTERNATE 2ND RDG  ORD 8045
	ATTACHMENT C- CITY MGRS RULE OUTLINE
	ATTACHMENT D-COMPLIANCE SCHEDULE
	ATTACHMENT E-ENVIRONMENTAL ADV BOARD LETTER
	ATTACHMENT F-A-1 ORGANICS LETTER
	ATTACHMENT G-WESTERN DISPOSAL LETTER

	5B_Food Truck Ord - 2nd  Rdg
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Impacts, Feedback
	Background
	Options
	Attachment A-Ordinance 8048
	Attachment B-8049

	5C_Short-term Rentals - 1st Rdg
	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
	STAFF RECOMMENDATION, IMPACTS, FEEDBACK, BACKGROUND
	ATTACHMENT A-ORDINANCE 8050
	ATTACHMENT B-ORD PROPOSED BY COMMUNITY MEMBERS
	ATTACHMENT C- CURRENT LICENSING CODE

	88 20150602_IP
	00 Cover Sheet
	1A  Call Up  3600 Hwy. 119
	Executive Summary
	Attachment A 05.07.2105 PB Minutes
	Attachment B 05.07.15 PB memo

	3A  BLA  04.15.2015
	3B  HRC  5.18.2015
	3C  LB  5.6.2015
	3D  LC  3.4.2015
	3E  LC  04.08.2015
	3F  OSBT  05.13.2015
	3G  WRAB  02.23.2015
	3H  WRAB 04.27.2015
	4A  Aphasia Awareness Month Declaration June 2015
	4B  Honoring the Uniformed Services Declaration May 2015

	99 ref materials
	1. Council Working Agreements
	2. 2015 Work Plan
	3. Key Staff
	4. Council Assignments
	Council_Master_Calendar06-2-15
	2015 Study Sessions
	June '15
	July '15
	August '15
	Council_Master_Calendar part June 1.pdf
	June '15






